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CA IMMo

CoMpAny pRoFIle 

CA ImmobIlIen AnlAgen Ag 

- Founded in 1987 and consistently developed into  
one of the leading property investment companies in 
Austria and europe 

- Invests in commercial property (focusing on offices 
and business hotels) in Austria, germany and, via the 
subsidiary CA Immo International, in eastern europe

- Property holdings in 12 countries with a market value  
of about € 3.8 billion

- listed on the Vienna Stock exchange since 1988
- About 90 % in free float with private and institutional 

investors

buSIneSS AreAS 

- Income producing properties: acquisition and 
management of commercial properties with a medium 
to long-term investment horizon

- Project development: planning, construction and 
marketing of commercial properties. Investment 
objective: incorporation in the company’s own stock 
properties or sale to third parties (as early as the concept 
stage or immediately after completion and letting)

 
StrengthS  

- Internal management with many years of experience
- excellent networking and strong partnerships with local 

property experts in the individual countries
- Strong equity capital base
- Well-balanced portfolio
- high-quality site reserves
- Practising transparency and corporate responsibility

mISSIon StAtement  

our goal is to use property to create permanent assets 
that provide sustainable benefits to both shareholders  
and tenants. the focus of our everyday business, in 
 addition to increasing the value of our properties, is on 
human requirements and meaningful use of resources.  
We concentrate on our core business, in which we are 
among europe’s top players: the management and devel-
opment of commercial properties in germany, Austria 
and eastern europe. our experience acquired over more 
than 20 years, our international network and the long-
term strategic perspectives of CA Immo form the basis  
for achieving our goals.

CA IMMo – pRopeRty InVeStMent SInCe 1987



CA IMMo

Key FIGuReS

InCome StAtement
2008 2007

Rental income € m  175.3 123.3
eBItDA € m  137.8 90.7
operating result (eBIt) € m – 152.6 151.5
net income before taxes (eBt) € m – 295.4 106.2
Consolidated net income € m – 294.9 84.0
Consolidated net income w/o minorities € m – 237.1 52.1
operating cash flow € m  114.6 83.4
Capital expenditure € m  1,859.1 411.0

BAlAnCe SHeet
2008 2007

total assets € m  4,394.8  3,823.4 
Shareholders’ equity € m  1,854.7  2,265.5 
long- and short-term financial liabilities € m  1,923.7  1,407.6 
net debt € m  1,591.1  839.6 
Gearing % 86 37
equity ratio % 42 59
equity-to-fixed-assets ratio % 49 71
net Asset Value (nAV) € m  1,623.0  1,922.9 
net Asset Value (nnnAV) € m  1,758.4  1,964.4 

pRopeRty poRtFolIo
2008 2007

total usable space (excl. parking, excl. projects) sqm 1,528,837 1,118,778
Gross yield of property assets let % 6.3 5.8
Book value of properties € m 3,788.3 2,535.3
Book value of property assets let € m 2,520.7 2,319.6



CA IMMo

Key FIGuReS oF SHARe

1) Before deferred taxes 

2) excluding treasury shares

ISIn: At0000641352 / ReuteRS: CAIV.VI / BlooMBeRG: CAI:AV

Key FIGuReS peR SHARe
2008 2007

Rental income /share € 2.02 1.58
operating cash flow /share € 1.32 1.07
net income /share € – 2.73 0.67

nnnAV/share € 20.50 22.51
nAV/share € 18.92 22.04
price (31.12.)/nnnAV per share  –11)  % – 79.51 – 31.92

MultIplIeRS
2008 2007

p/e ratio (peR) – 2 23
price/cash flow 3 14
Ø eV/eBItDA 19 27

VAluAtIon
2008 2007

Market capitalisation 2) € m 360.2  1,335.1
Market capitalisation (annual average) € m 968.9 1,600.0
Stated value (equity) (including minority interests) € m 1,854.7 2,265.5
enterprise value (eV) € m 2,560.0 2,439.6
net asset value (nnnAV) € m 1,758.4 1,964.4

SHAReS
2008 2007

number of shares (31.12.) 87,258,600 87,258,600
of which treasury shares (31.12.) 1,494,076 –
Ø number of shares 86,739,128 77,935,078
Ø price/share € 11.17 20.53

Closing price (31.12.) € 4.20 15.30
Highest price € 15.88 25.15
lowest price € 3.15 13.20

01



BetWeen tHe lIneS

Content

16  JouRnAlISt’S 
 InteRVIeW WItH tHe 
MAnAGeMent BoARD

Developments on the stock markets and, in 
particular, among public property companies 
have been and continue to be extreme. this is 
reason enough not to whitewash the situation 
but to confront the CA Immo Management 
Board with critical questions.

19  SuStAInABIlIty 
In ACtIon

As for the CA Immo Group, 
sustainability doesn’t mean merely 
ecological construction but also 
social sustainability. An example 
of this concept in action can be 
seen in the „AtMoS“ office block 
in the Arnulfpark urban district 
in Munich.

32 enDuRInG VAlue
Around the globe, falling property values are 
having a negative impact on the balance sheets 
of real estate companies. In this interview, the 
independent real estate writer Walter Senk 
discusses the causes and effects of recent 
developments – and the value of real estate 
as a commodity – with Wolfhard Fromwald, 
member of the CA Immo Management Board 
and property valuation experts professor Alfons 
Metzger and Georg Fichtinger.
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eDItoRIAl

DeAR SHAReHolDeRS  
AnD ReADeRS,

the 2008 business year will long be remembered 
for the impact of the global financial crisis on the real 
estate sector. Despite this highly challenging set of 
circumstances, we scored some striking operational 
successes in 2008, including a rise in rental income 
and satisfactory levels of new lettings. However, these 
achievements were counteracted by significant value 
adjustments to the property portfolio, a development 
that led to the unfortunate result of clearly negative 
consolidated net income. 

What were the causes of this result? A great deal has 
been written about the general economic situation, so 
we will content ourselves with offering a summary of 
the key factors and their impact on our sector.

In the second half of 2008, the drastic distortion on 
the capital markets produced a clear rise in refinanc-
ing costs for banks as risk surcharges on loans hit new 
highs. As a highly capital-intensive sector, the real 
estate industry segment was directly and adversely 

affected by the tightening of loan terms and the higher 
cost of credit. Restricted access to debt financing was 
also the main reason behind the sharp fall from the 
third quarter onwards in the volume of transactions 
on the property investment market. the decline in the 
number and volume of real estate transactions across 
europe also put severe pressure on property prices. 
needless to say, we regard it as our duty to value our 
properties in line with market realities. even when 
real estate prices are falling, this market trend is re-
flected in our portfolio in the shape of depreciation 
and revaluation losses.

Focus on strengthening cash flow
As the Management Board of CA Immo, we are not 

prepared to hide behind the effects of macroeconomic 
factors and sectoral trends. Instead, we will utilise all 
possible scope for action in order to ensure CA Immo 
is positioned as strongly as possible within the chal-
lenging environment. In 2009, the clear operational 

Bruno ettenauer, Wolfhard Fromwald
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eDItoRIAl

emphasis will be on measures aimed at maintaining 
and strengthening our operational cash flow as well as 
the selective implementation of strategically significant 
development projects. to this end, we are currently 
introducing a package of proactive initiatives designed 
to avoid vacancy – in times of deep economic uncer-
tainty in particular, securing rental revenue is priority 
number one. Accordingly, we also plan to adapt our 
entire organisation around the new pace of expansion 
and development and cut our operating costs.

As far as development projects are concerned, the 
 realisation of planned projects is one way to release 
capital tied up in these ventures, thereby strengthening 
the capital base of the Group for the long term. How-
ever, restrictive conditions on the financing market 
will necessitate a reduction in development activity on 
projects of long-term strategic importance. More over, 
we will not be undertaking any purely speculative 
development projects. We will place security first by 
maximising pre-letting and agreeing forward sales be-
fore construction starts. In our view, the recent sharp 
drop in building costs also represents an opportunity. 
on the sales front, recent successes (such as the sale of 
the AtMoS building in Munich, sold in March 2009 
immediately after completion) prove that even in dif-
ficult climates such as that which currently prevails, 
quality and prime locations can produce demand for 
our properties at acceptable prices.

Uncertain environment persists for CA Immo shares
In view of continuing uncertainty on the capital 

markets, it is impossible to say when the operational 
measures we are currently introducing will bring 
about an upturn in our share price. last year, our 
share sustained a fall of around 73 %, a develop-
ment in line with other property securities in Austria 
(the I-Atx, the Austrian real estate securities index, 

slumped by over 82 % over the year). our share price 
was recently trading at less than one fifth of its intrin-
sic value (nAV). In historic terms, this painful trend 
represents an extreme movement in share prices, not 
only for us but for the entire listed real estate sector. 
Most analysts agree that a sustained recovery will 
only come about when the banking sector – closely 
aligned to the property sector – regains a measure of 
stability.

Outlook for 2009
As 2009 began, the banking sector was continuing 

to issue gloomy reports and macroeconomic forecasts 
were still pointing to a worsening of the economic 
downturn. there can be little doubt, therefore, that 
2009 will be a difficult year for the property sector and 
thus for CA Immo. this makes it all the more critical 
that we consistently implement the measures we have 
set ourselves, in particular,: the stabilisation of rental 
income, the reduction in operating costs, the selec-
tive realisation of strategically significant development 
projects and the careful monitoring of risk.

We can achieve all of this on the basis of our funda-
mentally sound substance: thanks to long-term rental 
agreements and creditworthy tenants, CA Immo is 
well placed to count on a secure revenue stream, even 
in tough times; similarly, existing liquidity and the 
balanced maturity profile of our financial liabilities 
provide the robust capitalisation needed to ensure we 
can cope with a market phase of restrictive financing 
conditions.

Rest assured that in the future, despite the difficult 
conditions we are currently experiencing, we will do 
everything in our power to return the figures that we 
present to positive territory for the long term. thereby, 
revive the attractive picture that reflects the sound 
foundations of CA Immo. 

Bruno ettenauer
Member of Management Board

and spokesman

Wolfhard Fromwald
Member of Management Board
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RepoRt oF tHe SupeRVISoRy BoARD

CoopeRAtIon BetWeen SupeRVISoRy AnD MAnAGeMent BoARDS 
BASeD on open DISCuSSIon

DeAR SHAReHolDeRS!

During business year 2008, the Supervisory Board held 
eight meetings with the Management Board; all members 
thus complied with the statutory minimum attendance 
requirements. these meetings took the form of open 
discussions on the business activities of the CA Immo 
Group in a market environment that has become con-
siderably more difficult. Regular reporting provides the 
Supervisory Board with full and timely updates on all 
pertinent issues linked to the economic situation, current 
business developments, core processes, staff changes and 
investment plans within the CA Immo Group. to evalu-
ate the altered risk position of CA Immo, a risk manage-
ment project was devised, with the results presented 
to the Supervisory Board. the strategic alignment of 
CA Immo was coordinated with the Supervisory Board, 
and progress on strategy implementation was discussed 
at regular intervals. the Supervisory Board received 
regular reports on economic developments affecting the 
CA Immo Group’s target markets and the capital market, 
and discussed the associated opportunities and threats 
with the Management Board on many occasions. From 
the third quarter of 2008 onwards, the Supervisory Board 
received numerous special reports on central themes 
relating to the company’s financing and the  valuation 
of properties; these issues were discussed in full and 
detailed advice was given. the Supervisory Board 

chairman also maintained close contact with the Man-
agement Board, which fully explained any departures 
from agreed plans and targets. Decisions and measures 
taken by the Management Board were transparent and 
raised no objections. 

Decision-making by committee
no new appointments to the Management or Supervi-

sory Boards were made in the past business year. Gerhard 
nidetzky and Christian nowotny were confirmed as 
the chairman and deputy chairman at the constitutive 
meeting held on 29 May 2008. In addition to the audit 
committee, CA Immo has established an investment com-
mittee, a remuneration and nomination committee. the 
composition of the Supervisory Board and the commit-
tees, and the specific spheres of responsibility, are set out 
in detail in the Corporate Governance Report.

the audit committee convened once (on 14 March 2008) 
to discuss and examine, with the auditor and the Man-
agement Board, the annual and consolidated financial 
statements for 2007 (including management reports), 
the Corporate Governance Report and the Management 
Board’s proposal on the distribution of profit. A statement 
was obtained from the proposed auditor, whose legal 
relationship with CA Immo and its senior executives was 
scrutinised.the fee for carrying out the audit was negoti-
ated and a recommendation on the selection of an auditor 
was submitted. the internal monitoring system and the 
implementation of risk management within the company 
were also examined. no objections were raised.

With the exception of agendas reserved for the audit 
committee, all matters were addressed by the full Super-
visory Board in 2008. there was no cause to convene the 
investment committee, or the remuneration or nomina-
tion committees. A decision to reform the organisational 
structure was taken in 2007, and the overhaul of the per-
formance bonus for Management Board members and sen-
ior executives continued to apply in business year 2008.

the rules of procedure for the Supervisory Board and 
Management Board were adapted by resolution on 28 Au-
gust 2008 in the area of business subject to approval.

Agendas in 2008
the past business year was notable, amongst other 

things, for the incorporation of Vivico, the company 
acquired at the turn of 2007/2008. In this regard, the Su-
pervisory Board was constantly involved in the strategic 
realignment of the CA Immo Group and the exploitation 
of long-term value potential.

Gerhard nidetzky
Chairman
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RepoRt oF tHe SupeRVISoRy BoARD

the conversion of acquisition financing linked to the 
purchase of Vivico into a long-term financing structure 
was resolved on 26 november 2008, and realised as 
planned despite a market phase of restrictive financing 
conditions. In connection with this, a financing package 
of € 330 m was concluded. 

the Supervisory Board also held several meetings to 
discuss the current implementation status of CA Immo 
Group development projects initiated in 2007 and contin-
ued in 2008. Written reports on project controlling were 
submitted to the Supervisory Board at regular intervals in 
line with newly established core processes. In addition 
to existing projects, the Supervisory Board, at its meet-
ing of 14 March 2008, authorised the acquisition of the 
remaining condominium shares and the renovation of the 
Galleria shopping centre in Vienna, a project with a total 
investment volume of around € 32.5 m. A hotel project 
on Altmannsdorferstrasse was subsequently approved 
on 28 August 2008 at an investment volume of approxi-
mately € 34 m. 

Having resolved to increase the shareholding of 
CA Immo in the listed subsidiary CA Immo International 
at meetings on 23 January and 28 August 2008, the Su-
pervisory Board authorised the acquisition of own shares 
through CA Immo on 8 July 2008. the authorisation 
provides for the repurchase of up to 2.7 million shares, 
equivalent to 3.09 % of current share capital, through the 
stock exchange. For more information on these subjects, 
please refer to the Share chapter.

the Supervisory Board held a number of meetings 
around the balance sheet date to consider real estate 
valuations for the annual financial statements for 2008. 
In view of rapidly rising yields across europe, and the 
associated sharp decrease in the value of the CA Immo 
Group‘s entire property stock, the full Supervisory Board 
closely examined the general economic conditions as 
well as external assessments.

Given the negative economic reports from around the 
world, the Supervisory Board is supportive of the Man-
agement Board’s proposal to make no compromise in the 
compilation of the annual financial statements for 2008 
and to be appropriately conservative as regards the finan-
cial accounting options.

Commitment to the Austrian Corporate  
Governance Code
At its meeting of 14 March 2008, the Supervisory 

Board discussed at length the demands of good corporate 

governance as well as compliance with the provisions of 
the Austrian Corporate Governance Code. An evaluation 
of compliance with the Code carried out by KpMG Wirt-
schaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungs GmbH confirmed 
that public pronouncements made by CA Immo in con-
nection with observance with the Code are accurate. Ad-
ditional implementation and improvement measures are 
continually assessed, and the Articles of Association and 
rules of procedure are adapted according to the Code. As 
regards of the Compliance Decree for Issuers published by 
the Financial Market Authority (FMA), the annual review 
of CA Immo’s compliance with the Code was presented 
to the Supervisory Board. the regular examinations con-
ducted by the compliance officer did not give rise to any 
objections.

Unqualified auditor’s opinion and 
adoption of annual financial statements
KpMG Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungs GmbH 

has audited the annual financial statements for 2008 
(including the management report) and the consolidated 
financial statements for 2008 (including the Group man-
agement report) and expressed its unqualified auditor’s 
opinion. All documents making up the annual and con-
solidated financial statements, the Management Board’s 
proposal on the distribution of profit and the auditor’s 
reports were discussed in detail by the audit committee 
in the presence of the auditor and the Management Board 
members, examined according to Article 96 of the Aus-
trian Stock Corporation Act and submitted to the Super-
visory Board for endorsement. no objections were raised. 
the Supervisory Board endorsed the annual financial 
statements, which were thus adopted in accordance with 
Article 125 subsection 2 of the Austrian Stock Corpora-
tion Act, and indicated its consent to the Management 
Board’s proposal on the distribution of profit.

the Supervisory Board would like to extend thanks 
to the members of the Management Board and all em-
ployees for their commitment in especially challenging 
circumstances.

Vienna, March 2009

on behalf of the Supervisory Board
Gerhard nidetzky, Chairman
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tHe BuSIneSS ConCept

tHe StRAteGy oF tHe 
CA IMMo GRoup FoR 2009

StRAteGIC 
GoAl

Germany: Selective implemen-
tation of key strategic projects  
CA Immo’s land reserves in 
Germany constitute one of the 
Group’s main assets. As the 
planned development projects 
are realised, the capital tied 
up in these reserves will be 
released, thereby boosting the 
revenue of the Group. However, 
given the present restrictions on 
access to loan capital and exter-
nal equity, it will be necessary 
to reduce development activity 
as regards projects with a long-
term strategic significance. In 
particular, this will affect key 
projects that raise the value of 
certain city districts as a whole 
over the long term (such as the 
t-185 project in the Frankfurt 
europaviertel and the Skygarden 
project in Munich’s Arnulfpark). 

Minimising project risks
the present economic cli-
mate leaves zero scope for 
purely speculative develop-
ment projects. to minimise the 
risks associated with projects, 
therefore, CA Immo will aim in 
particular to maximise the level 
of pre-letting before construc-
tion work begins, and to finalise 
its exit strategy in advance by 
concluding forward sales.

Eastern Europe: Steady imple-
mentation of ongoing projects 
In 2009, the clear focus in 
eastern europe will be on 
the realisation of real estate 
development projects already 
in progress. the number of 
planned projects was cut early 
in 2008. now re-evaluation as 
to whether further investment 
should be postponed will take 
place in connection with those 
projects scheduled for process-
ing in multiple phases and those 
for which building permission 
has been obtained and decisions 
are due on the commencement 
of construction.

the real estate sector was confronted with major 
challenges across the globe in 2009. In the face of the 
persistent tightening of credit, the flow of liquidity from 
the ‘third face, of the sector in particular (i.e. the banks 
and the capital market) as well as individual compa-
nies has become increasingly scarce – and the effects of 
this will be felt on property investment markets across 
europe. As a result, we do not foresee an end to the 
strong reluctance to enter into transactions during 2009. 
Some distress sales are also a distinct possibility; with 
data on the real economy painting a rapidly worsen-
ing picture, and with forecasts pointing to stagnation at 
best, the demand for real estate will diminish, and far 
more attention will surely be paid to the creditworthi-
ness of tenants. Against such a backdrop, the CA Immo 
Group must introduce an immediate and consistent set 
of measures if the company is to steer a steady path 
through the current economic situation.

Despite the tough climate that prevails, however, we 
must also bear in mind the inherently cyclical nature  
of our sector and not neglect to start establishing the 
basis on which we will be able to exploit opportunities 
that emerge as the market recovers. In this way, we can 
fortify the long-term strategic assets of our company. 

In terms of our strategy, this will mean switching the 
focus from the aggressive expansionism of recent years 
to the stabilisation of our core business. With its wealth 
of experience, sound capital basis, well-adjusted port-
folio and high-value land reserves, the CA Immo Group 
has many strengths that will enable us to secure the 
future of the company and grow organically.

the strategic and operational priorities for 2009 are 
therefore as follows:

Exploit the potential of development projects

opeRAtIonAl 
MeASuReS

Invest in development 
projects of approx. 

€ 200 m in Germany 

Minimum pre-letting  
of 60 % for new projects

in Germany

Invest in development 
projects of approx. 

€ 100 m in Eastern Europe

FInAnCIAl AIMS 
FoR 2009
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tHe BuSIneSS ConCept

StRAteGIC 
GoAl

More selective sales to release capital
Making sales from the portfolio diverts equity tied 
up in particular properties back to the company. 
this represents a major contribution to internal 
financing. When selecting potential properties for 
sale, it will be necessary to weigh up whether the 
sale price currently attainable for each particular 
property is appropriate in terms of that property’s 
long-term value to CA Immo. the impact of the 
loss of regular rental income on the Group’s long-
term cash flow must also be taken into account. 
the focus of selling activity will; therefore, be 
divided between undeveloped land reserves on 
the one hand and recently completed development 
projects on the other. 

Securing financing for development projects
Securing the financing for planned projects is 
CA Immo’s biggest operational challenge. In this 
context, seeking out equity partners with whom to 
share the opportunities and threats associated with 
a project assumes great importance. As regards ne-
gotiations over financing with outside capital, we 
are widening the circle of banks to approach and 
actively taking steps to form finance consortia.

Sell off real estate with a book value 
of approx. € 300 m 

Maintain an equity ratio of at least 40 %

Sustain the sound capital basis

opeRAtIonAl 
MeASuReS

StRAteGIC 
GoAl

Optimisation of rental income 
by taking steps to prevent vacancy 
Regular rental income is the basis for the business 
activity of the CA Immo Group. Securing rental 
revenue is therefore the top priority, especially in 
times of high economic volatility. By intensifying 
dialogue with existing tenants, the Group will gain 
a full picture of the business situations and future 
property requirements of tenants, and be in a posi-
tion to identify any necessary amendments well 
before the tenancy comes to an end. this will also 
enable us to take steps at the right time in order to 
agree extensions or find new tenants.

Consistent cost reduction
the CA Immo Group has a strong platform, but this 
must be adapted to the changing pace of expansion 
and development. By utilising the synergies pro-
duced by the integration of Vivico and practising 
consistent cost management, we will aim to reduce 
the administrative costs of the CA Immo Group on 
a sustainable basis.  

Stabilise rental income at 2008 level

Reduce administration costs by 10–15 % compared to 2008 

Secure and consolidate operational cash flow

opeRAtIonAl 
MeASuReS

FInAnCIAl AIMS 
FoR 2009

FInAnCIAl AIMS 
FoR 2009

09



InVeStoR RelAtIonS

tRAnSpARent 
InFoRMAtIon polICy

tHe InteRnAtIonAl enVIRonMent

Market developments in 2008 were characterised by 
dramatic price collapses on the stock market, rescue 
packages and fears of recession. last year, some people 
clung to the hope that the ‘subprime’ crisis would turn 
out to be a localised problem in the uSA which would 
have a short-term effect on international stock markets. 
Such hopes were dashed in the first half of 2008 as the 
global credit and banking crisis spiralled into a world-
wide financial meltdown. In the climate of mistrust 
and insecurity, private and institutional investors alike 
became much more risk-averse, as a consequence of 
which the stock markets entered a phase of high volatil-
ity. economic forecasts were also revised downwards 
as the financial crisis increasingly affected the real 
economy in the second half of 2008. the shockwave 
spread from the uSA to western europe and Japan, en-
gulfing the rest of the world by the autumn. Virtually all 
sectors suffered price falls – not just banks and insur-
ance companies. 

the international stock markets really began their col-
lapse in mid-September when the uS investment bank 
lehman Brothers filed for insolvency, totally paralys-
ing the interbank market around the globe. Benchmark 
indices for all major capital markets dropped, and sharp 

price falls were recorded on commodities markets, par-
ticularly during the fourth quarter of 2008. As a result, 
most automobile manufacturers announced significant 
production cutbacks in response to double-digit down-
turns in sales. 

In the united States, the Dow Jones Industrial Average, 
which reflects the stock prices of 30 of the largest com-
panies in the uS economy, shrank by 34 %. the German 
DAx closed on 4,810.20 points, down 40 % on the year. 
In october 2008, the British benchmark index FtSe 100 
marked its worst performance in the 24 years since the 
Financial times Stock exchange Index of the 100 leading 
companies began: in yearly comparison, the index fell 
by 31 %. this coincided with the decline in sterling. A 
year ago, one pound was worth € 1.36; by the last trading 
day of 2008, its value had plummeted to € 1.04. Between 
the start of January and the end of December 2008, the 
nikkei also fell by 42 % to close on 8,859.56 points – the 
poorest performance in the 58-year history of the index.

Development for the domestic benchmark index was 
even worse than that of indices elsewhere in europe: the 
Atx fell by 61 % to approximately 1,750 points, with the 
Atx prime losing 64 %. this was a year in which one 
record fall followed another, day after day. By the end 
of 2008, market capitalisation for listed companies had 

Stock market 
year 2008 overshadowed 

by financial crisis 

Real estate and financial 
markets heavily impacted 

by distortion 

CA Immo shares  
succumb to downward 
trend on international 

stock markets
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InVeStoR RelAtIonS

plunged from around € 157 bn (on the final day of trading 
of the previous year) to € 52 bn. the Austrian market was 
also characterised by greater than average volatility and 
low turnover. the Vienna Stock exchange thus recorded 
its worst year since the launch of the Atx 18 years ago. 
experts do not envisage any recovery for the Atx in the 
months ahead given continuing insecurity over the future 
pattern of economic activity. 

property shares were amongst the stock most seriously 
affected. In year-on-year comparison, the Austrian Real 
estate Index (IAtx) lost around 82 % of its value, a steep 
fall on the peak price achieved in April of the previous 
year. none of the real estate stock listed on the IAtx fell 
by less than 70 %. Similarly, the value of the key epRA 
index, which represents property stock in europe, con-
tracted by 49 % (ytD).

Outlook for 2009
Despite the rescue packages worth billions aimed at the 

banking and automobile sectors, and the economic recov-
ery programmes introduced by various governments, it re-
mains very difficult to gauge how long the financial crisis 
will persist, and how severe its impact on real economies 
around the world will be. For this reason, market analysts 
are predicting a tough 2009 for the stock markets.

tHe CA IMMo SHARe

In the shadow of the international stock trading cli-
mate, the CA Immo share also experienced extreme tur-
bulence as the market year began. Following a difficult 
start to 2008, the share price started to regain momen-
tum from late March onwards, reaching a peak for the 
year of € 15.88 early in June. However, the recovery 
proved to be short-lived as a stream of bad news from 
the international banks and insurance companies af-
fected by the financial crisis heralded another steep de-
cline in mid-June, a downturn that became more serious 
from mid-September onwards. At the start of December, 
the price of the CA Immo share hit a new low of € 3.23 
(closing price on 5th December 2008); the share closed 
the year on € 4.20, producing annual performance of 
minus 72.55 %. As of the balance sheet date, the share 
price stood around 80 % below its intrinsic value.

At the turn of the year 2008/2009, the CA Immo share 
embarked on a slight upward trend. However, from the 
middle of January 2009 further negative drifts became 
apparent and financial title again came under pressure, 
which also has affected the CA Immo share. For the first 
two months of business year 2009, the highest price was 
€ 4.97 and the lowest price was € 2.35.
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InVeStoR RelAtIonS

Profit distribution
CA Immo has so far maintained a policy of continual 

reinvestment: the company’s profits have been reinvested 
on an annual basis.

Trading volume
During the reporting period, the trading turnover of 

CA Immo shares was down on the turnover level for 
2007. the average trading volume was 368,000 shares 
per day (double-counting) compared to a trading volume 
of 454,000 shares per day on average in 2007; annual 
sales amounted to € 1.0 bn (€ 2.3 bn in 2007), equiva-
lent to average daily sales of € 4.0 m (€ 9.4 m in 2007). 
During 2008, the share price was subject to repeated 
double-digit fluctuation from day to day owing to low 
daily sales, amongst other factors.

Share capital and market capitalisation
During business year 2008, CA Immo did not insti-

gate any corporate action aside from the share buy-back 
programme detailed below. on the last day of the year, 
the company’s share capital stood at € 634.37 m (un-
changed from 2007), divided across four registered shares 
and 87,258,596 bearer shares, of which CA Immo held 
1,494,076 as of year end. the registered shares are held 
by Bank Austria, with each one entitling the nomination 
of one member of the Supervisory Board. the bank has 
not so far exercised this right, and all members of the 
Supervisory Board were elected by the ordinary General 
Meeting. Market capitalisation on the balance sheet date 
was approximately € 366.5 m (€ 1,335.1 m in 2007).

Share buy-back
At the 21st ordinary General Meeting held on 13 May 

2008, the Management Board was authorised to acquire 
its own shares in the company in accordance with article 
65 subsection 1 line 8 of the Austrian Stock Corporation 
Act. With the approval of the Supervisory Board, the 
Management Board proceeded to take advantage of this 
power early in July 2008. the authorisation provides for 
the repurchase of up to 2.7 million shares (equivalent to 
as much as 3.09 % of current share capital) through the 
Vienna Stock exchange. the buy-back may be performed 
for any purpose as resolved by the General Meeting of 
13 May 2008, and in particular to raise acquisition funds 
for buying companies and real estate and to stimulate de-
mand for CA Immo shares on the Vienna Stock exchange 
(whereby trading with own shares as a means of acquisi-
tion is excluded).

the repurchase programme started on 14 July 2008 and 
is scheduled to last for one year; it will therefore termi-
nate on 14 July 2009 at the latest. As of the balance sheet 
date, CA Immo had acquired a total of 1,494,076 shares 
(1.71 % of share capital) on the stock exchange at an aver-
age price of € 9.18, with the highest price being € 12.26 
and the lowest price standing at € 4.50. the total invest-
ment volume for 2008 was approximately € 13.7 m.

More details on the buy-back programme: 
- the resolution of the ordinary General Meeting was 

published in the “Amtsblatt zur Wiener Zeitung” (an 
official insert in the Wiener Zeitung newspaper) on 
14 June 2008.

- the buy-back programme relates to bearer shares in 
CA Immobilien Anlagen AG.

- In accordance with the resolution of the ordinary Gen-
eral Meeting on 13th May 2008, the nominal repurchase 
value may not be 20 % lower than or 10 % above the av-
erage unweighted closing price for the ten trading days 
preceding the buy-back.

- the company reserves the right to resell own shares that 
it acquires, either through the Vienna Stock exchange or 
as otherwise provided by the resolution of the ordinary 
General Meeting of 13 May 2008 (including non-stock 
exchange methods) as well as the right to redeem these 
shares.

- the buy-back programme does not affect the admission 
to official trading of the shares of the issuer.

- publication obligations under articles 6 and 7 of the 
Austrian publication Regulation are fulfilled through 
the publication of information on the CA Immo web-
site (www.caimmoag.com); the site contains a detailed 
breakdown of individual transactions.

Key peRFoRMAnCe FIGuReS 

28.12.2007 bis 30.12.2008

CA Immo share – 72.55 %

IAtx – 82.47 %

Atx – 61.20 %

epRA – 51.10 %
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SHAReHolDeR StRuCtuRe

CA Immo is a genuinely public company. the share 
capital of the company is divided across four registered 
shares and 87,258,596 bearer shares, of which CA Immo 
held 1,494,076 as of year end. the shares are traded in 
the prime market segment of the Vienna Stock exchange.

Bank Austria is the largest shareholder with a stake of 
around 10 %; there are no other major shareholders (with 
interests exceeding 5 %). there are no cross-sharehold-
ings. According to the company’s own estimation, the 
free float of 90 % comprises 40 % institutional investors 
and 50 % private shareholders. Growth-oriented investors 
make up 75 % of the institutional investors.

Geographical distribution is typical for a listed Austrian 
property company: the majority of shareholders (66 %) 
are from Austria, with around 8 % from the Anglo-Saxon 
region (north America and the united Kingdom) and 4 % 
from the netherlands. the remainder are largely from the 
european region.

Research Coverage
the CA Immo share receives regular coverage from ex-

perts in the world of finance. Investment companies pub-
lishing analyses on CA Immo and its shares at periodic 
intervals are Deutsche Bank, Crédit Agricole Cheuvreux, 
erste Bank, Goldman Sachs, Kempen & Co Investment Re-
search, Raiffeisen Centrobank, Sal. oppenheim Research, 
uniCredit Markets and Investment Banking/CA-IB.

Property sector indices
CA Immo is represented in the main property sector 

indices (IAtx, FtSe epRA/nAReIt europe, GRp 250 and 
Atx prime).

The CA Immo bond
the corporate bond issued in business year 2006 (with a 

nominal value of € 200 m) is registered for trading on the 
unlisted securities market of the Vienna Stock exchange 
(ISIn: At0000A026p5). In 2008, the bond was quoted at 
a high price of 100.10 and a low price of 89. the closing 
price as at 31 December 2008 was 91. the bond has a ten-
year term and will be 100 % redeemed on 22 September 
2016. the interest return is 5 1/8 %.

InVeStoR RelAtIonS
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SHAReHolDeR StRuCtuRe By CountRy 

Basis: 87.258.600 shares, correct as at 31.12.2008

treasury shares   2 %

united States 5 %

Switzerland 1 %

France 2 %

others /not identified 17 %

Germany 2 %

Great Britain 3 %

netherlands 4 %

Austria 64 %
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InVeStoR RelAtIonS

InVeStoR RelAtIonS

throughout the severe crisis of trust on the capital mar-
kets last year, CA Immo held firm to its policy of transpar-
ent information. the Management Board and the team 
responsible for investor relations responded to the rising 
demand for information from all market players in a com-
prehensive and personal manner, clarifying facts and the 
reasons for them, explaining developments in the sector 
and elucidating strategic decisions taken within the com-
pany in numerous one-to-one meetings at more than 25 
conferences and road shows and around 40 client events 
aimed at institutional and private investors. Conference 
calls with analysts and account managers from various 
banks were also arranged at least once per quarter.

In addition to the compulsory publication of quar-
terly and annual reports, CA Immo publishes corporate 
presentations, ad hoc reports, press releases and detailed 
information on the website www.caimmoag.com at regu-
lar intervals. the flow of information also includes an 
electronic newsletter. the first investor relations chat ses-
sion on the annual result for 2007 took place during the 
financial results press conference.

oRDInARy GeneRAl MeetInG

the 2008 CA Immo ordinary General Meeting was 
held in the Group’s own Hotel Savoyen Vienna. Around 
290 shareholders took the opportunity to find out about 
the development of the business and to vote on various 
items on the agenda. Resolutions passed included the 
following:

- profit distribution: the proposal of the Management 
Board regarding the reinvestment of balance sheet 
profits earned as at 31 December 2007 was passed in 
its entirety.

- Formal approval of management conduct: the actions 
of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board 
were approved in separate votes.

- Remuneration of the Supervisory Board: Remuneration 
for the Supervisory Board was determined at € 73,333 
for business year 2007.

- KpMG Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungs 
GmbH was appointed unanimously as auditor for the 
annual accounts and consolidated financial statements 
for the business year 2008.

- Convertible bonds: the Management Board was au-
thorised to issue convertible bonds within the next 
five years on shares associated with conversion rights 
for up to 43.6 million bearer shares. An exclusion 
of subscription rights may be provided in the issue 
of convertible bonds. As part of this authorisation, a 
potential capital sum was passed to secure the conver-
sion rights. 

- Share buy-back: the substance of the 2007 resolution 
of the ordinary General Meeting was adapted and 
will apply until 13th october 2010, subject to further 
amendments agreed by the ordinary General Meeting. 
For more information on the share buy-back pro-
gramme, please see page 12.

- Amendments to the Articles of Association: the cur-
rent version of the CA Immo Articles of Association 
is published in the Investor Relations section of the 
company’s website (go to www.caimmoag.com and 
click on Corporate Governance followed by Articles 
of Association).

FInAnCIAl CAlenDAR 2009

24 MARCH
puBlICAtIon oF 2008 AnnuAl ReSultS 

13 MAy
oRDInARy GeneRAl MeetInG

27 MAy
RepoRt on Q1 2009

28 AuGuSt
RepoRt on Q2 2009

26 noVeMBeR
RepoRt on Q3 2009
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InVeStoR RelAtIonS

CA IMMo onlIne SeRVICeS: 
WHeRe tRAnSpARenCy MeetS InnoVAtIon

For all reports published by CA Immobilien Anlagen 
AG, detailed information on the company, key share 
figures, an interactive performance calculator and much 
more, simply go to www.caimmoag.com.

Our online services:
- newsletter: Subscribe to receive the monthly news on 

CA Immo by e-mail
- Mobile services: For corporate information on the move 

– to your pDA, Smartphone or Communicator – go to 
mobile.caimmoag.com

- SMS service: up-to-date share prices and the latest ad-
hoc reports, straight to your mobile phone

- RSS Feed: All the news on CA Immo, delivered 
automatically to your computer – nothing could be 
faster!

- ordering service: All of our financial market 
publications can be supplied by post or e-mail

Any questions?  
Just get in touch!

InVeStoR RelAtIonS ContACt

Shareholders’ free phone line 
(in Austria): 0800 01 01 50
Claudia Hainz
Florian nowotny
t: +43 1 532 59 07
F:  +43 1 532 59 07-595
e-Mail:  ir@caimmoag.com
Website: www.caimmoag.com
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„I wouldn’t like to predict at 
what point things will start to 
improve again. But one thing I 
do know is that we will manage 
this difficult period because we 
are in a very solid position.“
Bruno ettenauer,  
Speaker of the Management Board of CA Immo since 2006

BetWeen tHe lIneS
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BetWeen tHe lIneS

Question: Your company has not 
remained unscathed by the property 
crisis; did you expect the downturn 
to  occur with such speed?

ettenauer: In all honesty, no! the 
momentum and severity of this 
development was as much of a sur-
prise to us as to everyone else in the 
industry. I can therefore understand 
the consternation of the shareholders 
all too well. the price of our shares 
is totally unsatisfactory and we are 
putting all our efforts into moving 
ourselves back to where we were 
previously. 

Fromwald: We were all shocked 
by the suddenness of the collapse, 
particularly among public property 
companies. the property market 
appeared to be holding up well and 
many people expected that the Aus-
trian property market, in particular, 
would be able grow independently 
of the financial markets.

Question: How deep will the crisis 
in the property sector still bite; has it 
already hit rock bottom? 

Fromwald: It is very difficult to 
make predictions of this kind at the 
moment. european property prices 

have lost between 15 and 25 % over 
the past twelve months but not many 
transactions have taken place either. 
Further developments will depend 
strongly on the economic situation in 
the individual countries. the ques-
tion of rents is also still open. In this 
area, we have not yet been negatively 
affected but the subject could still 
become a challenge as a result of the 
delayed effects of the crisis on the 
real economy.

Question: Are you being forced, 
like others, to undertake emergency 
sales of properties simply to ensure 
liquidity?

ettenauer: no, we normally dispose 
of between 10 and 15 % of our port-
folio per year. We have managed this 
even under the difficult conditions of 
2008. High quality still continues to 
find buyers at reasonable prices.  
We have sold large properties in 
Frankfurt, Munich and Warsaw and 
at the valuations that we had  
originally posted for them in the 
books! But in overall terms, there is 
no doubt that the market has become 
much more difficult.

Question: A period like this must 
surely be a good time to buy cheaply?

ettenauer: yes in principle, but 
at the moment we have to budget 
our resources carefully. What is 
important today is that we gener-
ate revenues from our income 
producing properties that are as 
high as possible and concentrate 
the funds we have available on 
development projects which have 
already started. 

Question: But your share price 
has also gone through the floor ...

Fromwald: until the crisis start-
ed, our net asset value was € 23; 
today it is just under € 19. But 
the share price today – in mid-
March – is under € 3, so that the 
largest part of our assets, whether 
they be cash or real estate, is not 
reflected in this price ...

ettenauer: And in addition there 
is the fact that our equity capi-
talisation is over 40 % and that 
our funding is secured on a very 
long-term basis. this provides us 
with stability. If you compare the 
share price of about € 2.5 with 
the net asset value of € 19, the 
oppor tunity/risk profile reveals a 
far greater potential for profit than 
for loss.

Developments on the stock markets and, in particular, among 
public property companies have been and continue to be extreme. 

this is reason enough not to whitewash the situation but to 
confront the CA Immo Management Board with critical questions.

the interviewer was Dr. Georg Wailand,  
editor of the business magazine GeWInn.

JouRnAlISt’S 
 InteRVIeW WItH tHe 
MAnAGeMent BoARD
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BetWeen tHe lIneS

Question: Then wouldn’t it be 
worthwhile to buy up property shares 
like yours now when the price is low?

Fromwald: I believe that stabilisa-
tion of the economy as a whole is 
what is required for a significant 
recovery in CA Immo share prices. 
With this in mind, I tend to be scepti-
cal about short-term, sustainable 
recovery. the current phase may 
indeed last quite a bit longer. But 
once the wheels of the economy start 
to turn again things may move very 
fast and at that point there is a good 
chance of the price moving back up 
into double figures again at least.

ettenauer: I wouldn’t like to pre-
dict at what point things will start 
to improve again. But one thing I do 
know is that we will manage this 
difficult period because we are in 
a very solid position. We have an 
equity ratio of over 40 %, we have 
sufficient liquidity, we are focus-
ing on our core business, of which 
we really have a very good under-
standing, and, don’t forget, we have 
sufficient income from our ongoing, 
operational business. All of this 
means that our starting position is 
comparatively very good.

Question: All well and good, but 
what about your liquidity, which is 
so essential in a market situation 
like this?

ettenauer: Since november 2008 
we have set up financing deals total-
ling € 850 million, of which € 350 
million were refinancing arrange-
ments. As anyone who knows the 
industry will confirm, this is a very 
good achievement in a period like 
the present.

Question: What is happening to 
returns on the property markets at 
the moment?

Fromwald: In eastern europe, 
where returns were recently at 6 %, 
they have risen to between 7 % (po-
land) and 9.25 % (Bulgaria). the situ-
ation in Russia is even more extreme, 
where an increase of 8.5 % in the 
first six months of 2008 was followed 
by a rise that is currently between 
10 and 11 %. these increases in 
returns have simultaneously led to a 
significant downward adjustment of 
property values.

ettenauer: the situation in Ger-
many is not as striking. Returns there 
rose from 4.5 to a good 5 %.

Question: Talking of eastern Europe 
– hasn’t this region transformed from 
a promising market to a perilous 
time bomb?

ettenauer: Developments are not 
uniform and you need to look at each 
country individually. We have in-
vested € 300 million equity capital in 
this region and a few problems may 
arise from this in the short term, but 
from the medium and long-term view 
we continue to see major potential.

Fromwald: When CA Immo Inter-
national was floated on the stock 
exchange two and a half years ago, 
our aim was to ensure growth and 
also to achieve a better spread of 
risk in project development business 
with our special fund, CA Immo new 
europe. our involvement in eastern 
europe was a good investment op-
portunity for institutional investors 
in particular. the risk of our eastern 
european activities is a relative one 
from the perspective of the Group 
because only just under 20 % of our 
investment outlay is in the east. the 
majority of our real estate is in Ger-
many and Austria.

Question: But you will have to post 
a loss this time?

Fromwald: this year’s result is bad-
ly negative but in operational busi-
ness it was actually possible to ex-
pand rental income. the loss is based 
on negative changes in market values 
in our property assets and these are a 
reflection of the overall poor develop-
ment of the property markets and at 
least have no detrimental effect on 
cash flow and liquidity.

Question: But you won’t be paying 
out any dividends?

Fromwald: In view of the 2008 
results, no dividend is possible at 
present. In addition, after twenty 
years of reinvestment, this year, in 
the midst of the vast financial crisis, 
would be completely the wrong 
time to start paying out dividends 
– liquidity takes precedence at the 
moment! 

Question: And how will things 
progress in the CA Immo Group as 
2009 continues?

ettenauer: We are concentrating on 
securing our ongoing revenues, on 
active management of our properties 
and on taking great care in selecting 
our tenants. We are also focusing on 
financing negotiations and the sale 
of selected real estate. We have al-
ready been continuing to make good 
progress with this in 2009. this year, 
another issue will be in the forefront 
is the concentrated realisation of 
strategically important investments. 
ultimately, even this crisis has a 
positive side. As a result of falling 
construction costs, we are doing bet-
ter than we had planned in terms of 
the production costs of new projects! 
And one final word on the dividend 
question: as soon as the market situ-
ation changes and we are once more 
able to post positive results, we will 
immediately be returning to the sub-
ject of dividends.
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As for the CA Immo Group, sustainability doesn’t mean merely 
ecological construction; but also, social sustainability. An example  

of this concept in action can be seen in the “AtMoS” office  
block in the Arnulfpark urban district in Munich.

text: Walter Senk, independent journalist

SuStAInABIlIty 
In ACtIon

BetWeen tHe lIneS

“particularly at a time when the 
finite nature of our raw materials 
is constantly being drawn to 
our attention, energy-efficient 
construction is an important 
criterion for a property, a criterion 
that is demanded by both 
purchasers and tenants.”

this site, currently under devel-
opment by CA Immo subsidiary 
Vivico, is a former German Railways 
container terminal centrally situated 
close to Munich central station. on 
an area of about 18 hectares, a coop-
erative project involving Vivico, the 
city of Munich, architects, investors 
and tenants is creating a first-class 

location for companies and high-
quality residential life: the Arnulf-
park urban district.

A sophisticated combination of of-
fice buildings, residential projects, 
retail space, cafés and restaurants, 
along with a theatre seating 380 peo-
ple will create around 4,500 jobs and 

some 1,000 apartments. the entire 
district has been laid out around a 
new, centrally situated, park area of 
40,000 sqm with a modern children’s 
playground. 

the important factor in this context 
for those responsible is not only the 
idea of sustainable and ecological 
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construction, but also an element 
of social and societal sustainability. 
Improving quality of life, a harmoni-
ous and efficient interplay of living, 
working and leisure, functioning 
communities and the cultural inher-
itance of future generations all have a 
part to play here. And the reward for 
all the work? A high level of public 
acceptance – among other things.

one of the largest buildings of 
the urban district is the innova-
tive AtMoS office block, in which 
nothing has been left to chance. It 
will meet the highest demands in 
every respect, from architecture to 
furnishings and fittings, from the 
atmosphere to the eco-factor, and is 
intended to create a climate for maxi-
mum efficiency based on the motto 
“Come and work in new spheres”. 

the building’s system descrip-
tion is just one of the things that is 
worth looking at: AtMoS covers 
more than 50 per cent of its energy 
requirements from renewable energy 
sources and undercuts the require-
ments of the current German energy-
saving legislation by 35 per cent. 
Innovative and resource-conserving 
technology allows groundwater to 
be used for cooling and heating the 
rented areas. the groundwater is 
pumped up via a well and then dis-
tributed through the office premis-
es not via radiators, but through 
thermoactive ceilings. Heating is 
supplemented by the district heat-
ing system only for peak loads, but 
in Munich the majority of energy 
for district heating is also derived 
from renewable sources. Another 
fundamental factor was the way in 
which the energy in the building 
itself would be used. For this rea-
son, a costly and complex technical 
procedure was used to equip the 
building with movement detec-
tors. By means of which lights are 
switched on and off as required. But 

sustainability involves not only the 
subject of energy but also the build-
ing itself. only environmentally 
acceptable building materials were 
used on the construction site. Care 
was also taken to ensure that these 
materials were not transported over 
long distances and ideally came 
from the immediate neighbourhood 
of Munich. 

the idea of sustainability is also 
continued inside AtMoS. particular 
attention was also paid to the inter-
nal fixtures and fittings and to the 
attractiveness of the interior of the 
building. the use of a special light 
and colour concept and generously 
dimensioned communications areas 

help to develop a comfortable ambi-
ence customised to the requirements 
of the tenants. 

So far, so good – but reading 
through many brochures of buildings 
described as “sustainable” the de-
scriptions do leave a slight aftertaste 
of esoterically rose-tinted eco-am-
ateurism. Have builders and prop-
erty investors really discovered that 
they are green at heart, and decided 
to accept higher development costs 
for the sake of the welfare of future 
generations? of course, it is not quite 
like that: but the fact that ecological 
construction and operation is becom-
ing an increasingly important market 
requirement. 

BetWeen tHe lIneS

“In principle, there are no 
easy answers in sustainable 
construction, it is a matter of 
a holistic approach, in pursuit 
of the goal of achieving the 
maximum environmental 
protection, energy efficiency and 
recycling at the minimum cost.”
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Sustainable construction is thus 
increasingly becoming an active 
acknowledgement of corporate 
social responsibility, particularly 
among large corporate groups. But 
even purely economic considera-
tions make sustainable buildings 
attractive: particularly at a time 
when the finite nature of our raw 
materials is constantly being drawn 
to our attention. energy-efficient 
construction is becoming more 
and more of an important criterion 
for a property, a criterion that is 
demanded by both purchasers and 
tenants. the subject of efficient 
running costs is thus an important 
aspect of sustainability. to achieve 
this, systems are being installed 

that can be seen to keep running 
costs low. this cost efficiency in 
turn yields competitive advantages 
on the market.

At CA Immo, the topic of sus-
tainability and its most economic 
utilisation has long been a subject of 
discussion. the head of tech nology, 
Roland pomajbik says, “there is 
no doubt that great potential with 
respect to sustainable construction 
is to be found in a greater aware-
ness of the economy, in accepting 
and using energy efficiency and 
making it more economical. there 
is great potential, particularly in the 
fields of geothermics (heat from the 
earth), solar water heating, daylight 

utilisation and the like, that is 
 hardly used at all as of yet.” 

Flagship projects like AtMoS are 
even more important to CA Immo 
as an investor so that awareness of 
this potential can also be generated 
among the public. the CA Immo 
subsidiary, Vivico, employs its 
basic principles of urban district 
development in practice in all its 
construction projects. this means 
that the parameters for the next 
project in the Arnulfpark – the 
SKyGARDen – have already been 
set. A principal tenant mindful 
of sustainable construction has 
already been found in the form of 
pricewaterhouseCoopers.

BetWeen tHe lIneS

MunICH  
office Building AtMoS

the AtMoS office building is one 
of three project developments by the 
CA Immo Group (together with the 
laim290 office building in Munich and 
the high-rise tower185 in Frankfurt), 
which has been certified by the German 
Association for Sustainable Construction 
(DGnB). 
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MAnAGeMent BoARD

CoRpoRAte GoVeRnAnCe

1)  A full list of mandates is published at www.caimmoag.com.

2)  25 % participation (plus four shares) in CA Immo International AG.

BRuno ettenAueR (BoRn 25 JAnuARy 1961)

is responsible for the property management area (investment management, including 
financing and asset management) and has been the spokesman for the Board since 2006. 
In performing these tasks, he is able to draw on over 15 years experience in the field of 
real estate financing. He is also a sworn real estate appraiser.

Date of initial appointment: 1 March 2006
term of office ends: 28 February 2011

SupeRVISoRy BoARD MAnDAteS oR SIMIlAR poStS WItH otHeR DoMeStIC AnD 

FoReIGn CoMpAnIeS outSIDe tHe GRoup 1):

uBM Realitätenentwicklung Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 2) Supervisory Board member

Bank Austria Creditanstalt Real Invest GmbH, Vienna Supervisory Board member

Bank Austria Creditanstalt Real Invest  

Immobilien-Kapitalanlage GmbH, Vienna Supervisory Board member

Bank Austria Creditanstalt Wohnbaubank AG, Vienna Deputy chairman of Supervisory Board

WeD Wiener entwicklungsgesellschaft  

für den Donauraum Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna Deputy chairman of Supervisory Board

Dr. Bruno ettenauer Immobilienhandel KeG, Vienna General partner

WolFHARD FRoMWAlD (BoRn 22 June 1952)

has almost 20 years experience in the property investment business, and has served on 
the CA Immo Management Board since 1990. Having played a key role in explanding the 
company, he is responsible for finance and accounting, controlling, personnel and legal 
affairs, investor relations, corporate communications, It and organisation.

Date of initial appointment: 28 March 1990
term of office ends: 31 February 2011

SupeRVISoRy BoARD MAnDAteS oR SIMIlAR poStS WItH otHeR DoMeStIC AnD 

FoReIGn CoMpAnIeS outSIDe tHe GRoup 1):

uBM Realitätenentwicklung Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 2) Supervisory Board member
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MAxIMuM tRAnSpARenCy: tHe Key to 
MAIntAInInG tHe CoMpAny’S VAlue

the effects of the global banking and financial 
crisis continue to ripple outwards. the property 
crisis that began in the uSA early in the summer of 
2007 (then known as the subprime crisis) initiated a 
world-wide series of liquidity bottlenecks, incurred 
losses and the bankruptcy of international financial 
institutions. even the banks stopped lending money 
to each other. 

In 2008, the crisis became one of trust. the closure 
of hedge funds and the losses incurred by invest-
ment banks led to a lack of faith in the financial 
system as well as greater reluctance to take risks 
amongst private and institutional investors, a de-
velopment that impacted on all stock exchanges. 
even companies in fundamentally healthy posi-
tions found themselves faced with steep share price 
drops.

In such tough times, measures aimed at restor-
ing faith in the capital market and increasing and 
enhancing transparency will be essential if market 
players are to maintain faith in a functioning finan-
cial system.

Corporate governance embraces all national and 
international values and principles that determine 

good and responsible corporate management. At 
CA Immo, good corporate governance means guaran-
teeing management that is accountable, competent, 
transparent and focused on long-term success, and 
which serves the company and its owners as well as 
external interest groups – in other words, manage-
ment that serves all stakeholders. In practical terms, 
CA Immo implements these principles by means of 
clear corporate communications, effective corporate 
management that focuses on sustainable and long-
term value creation, target-oriented collaboration 
between the Management Board and Supervisory 
Board and a willingness to take measured risks. the 
overriding objective is to uphold the interests of all 
stakeholders with a view to consolidating trust in 
the company – and the main means of achieving 
this is to maximise transparency, the key criterion 
in terms of traceability of property valuation in any 
real estate company. In this regard, CA Immo has 
been rated the most transparent real estate corpo-
ration in Austria according to the transparency 
rating for real estate companies determined by Feri 
Rating & Research AG. the full study is published 
at http://frr.feri.de/de/aktuelle-ratingergebnisse/ 
anlageprodukte/immobilienaktiengesellschaften.
aspx.

MAnAGeMent BoARD’S AlloCAtIon oF DutIeS

ettenAueR (SpeAKeR) FRoMWAlD

InVeStMentMAnAGeMent

- Austria

- eastern and Southeast europe (CA Immo International) 

- Holding Management Germany

ASSetMAnAGeMent

- portfolio management

- project development/technology

- project organisation

FInAnCe AnD ACCountInG

ContRollInG

peRSonnel/It AnD oRGAnISAtIon

IR AnD CApItAl MARKet ACtIVItIeS

CoRpoRAte CoMMunICAtIonS

leGAl AFFAIRS
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ReInHARD MADlenCnIK (BoRn 10 ApRIl 1961)

heads the real estate division at Bank Austria, with responsibility for all commercial 
property business as well as property financing. Aside from his Supervisory Board 
mandates at CA Immo and CA Immo International, he holds no other posts with any 
listed companies at home or abroad.

year of initial appointment: 2002 term of office ends: 2012

DetleF BIeRBAuM (BoRn 18 SepteMBeR 1942)

switched from being a general partner at the private bank Sal. oppenheim jr. & Cie to 
become a Supervisory Board member for Sal. oppenheim Germany in April 2008. With 
40 years’ experience in the international financial industry, his services as a consultant 
are highly sought after by many companies and institutions. He served for eight years on 
the executive Board and presiding committee of the Association of German Banks, and 
resigned these posts only recently. He is the Supervisory Board chairman for IVG Im-
mobilien AG, Bonn, and a member of the Supervisory Board of Douglas Holding AG of 
Hagen.

year of initial appointment: 2006 term of office ends: 2011

SupeRVISoRy BoARD 
AnD CoMMItteeS

CoRpoRAte GoVeRnAnCe

GeRHARD nIDetZKy (BoRn 16 June 1947)

is the chairman of the Supervisory Board. He founded the company tpA Horwath 
Wirtschaftstreuhand und Steuerberatung GmbH and continued to play a decisive role 
in its development until stepping down in 2003, nearly three decades later. He is an 
acknowledged real estate expert and textbook author. Alongside his role at CA Immo, 
he is the deputy chairman of the Supervisory Board for the listed subsidiary CA Immo 
International AG and chairs the Supervisory Board of pankl & Hofmann AG of Vienna.

year of initial appointment: 1990 term of office ends: 2009

CHRIStIAn noWotny (BoRn 23 July 1950)

is the executive officer for the Institute of Civil and Corporate law at the Vienna 
university of economics and Business Administration, and has been the deputy 
chairman of the Supervisory Board since 2002. His specialist areas include company 
law, financial reporting and banking. He sits on numerous committees for the Austrian 
Chamber of Chartered public Accountants and tax Consultants and is a member of 
the presiding committee of the Austrian Financial Reporting and Auditing Committee 
(AFRAC), a member of the Working Group for Corporate Governance and a member of 
the Supervisory Board of Andritz AG of Graz.

year of initial appointment: 1990 term of office ends: 2009
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HoRSt pöCHHACKeR (BoRn 16 noVeMBeR 1938)

the öBB’s Supervisory Board president served on the executive Board of porr AG, 
Austria’s second largest construction group, for 30 years. He sits on numerous commit-
tees within the Austrian construction industry and serves as the deputy chairman of the 
Supervisory Board of the Vienna-based uBM Realitätenentwicklung Aktiengesellschaft.

year of initial appointment: 2007 term of office ends: 2012
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ReGInA pReHoFeR (BoRn 2 AuGuSt 1956)

started her career at österreichische Kontrollbank AG before moving to Creditanstalt 
in 1987. In 2003, after three years as head of the Division for Multinational Corporates, 
Corporate Finance and trade Finance, she was appointed to the executive Board of 
Bank Austria. In 2008, the long-serving board director of Bank Austria joined the board 
of BAWAG, where she assumed responsibility for Austrian private and corporate clients. 
Regina prehofer is also the Supervisory Board chairwoman at CA Immo International AG.

year of initial appointment: 2006 term of office ends: 2011

the Supervisory Board of CA Immo comprises a suf-
ficient number of members who are independent of 
the company and its Management Board. no members 
have business or personal links to the company or its 
Management Board that could serve to influence the 
conduct of that member (C Rule 53). of the six elected 
members of the Supervisory Board, only Reinhard 
Madlencnik does not satisfy C Rule 54 of the Austrian 
Corporate Governance Code owing to his representation 
of Bank Austria, which has a shareholding of around 
10 % in CA Immo. the detailed Corporate Governance 
report published on the company’s website contains the 
Supervisory Board guidelines defining its independ-
ence and lists all mandates outside of CA Immo held by 
Supervisory Board members.

CoMpoSItIon oF CoMMItteeS

Audit committee
Gerhard nidetzky (Chairman)
Christian nowotny
Reinhard Madlencnik

Investment committee 
Gerhard nidetzky (Chairman)
Christian nowotny
Reinhard Madlencnik
Horst pöchhacker

Remuneration and nomination committee
Gerhard nidetzky (Chairman)
Christian nowotny
Regina prehofer
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Commitment to observing the provisions of the Austri-
an Corporate Governance Code
the Management Board and Supervisory Board of 

CA Immo are committed to the regulations of the Austri-
an Corporate Governance Code and thus to transparency 
and uniform principles of good corporate management. 
CA Immo has implemented in full the regulations and 
recommendations of the Code as amended in June 2007. 
the Code in its January 2009 amendment came into force 
for CA Immo on 1 January 2009. An evaluation to deter-
mine compliance with the Code was carried out by KpMG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungs GmbH, and 
duly confirmed the validity of public statements concern-
ing compliance with the Code. the results of the evalu-
ation may be viewed on the web site (www.caimmoag.
com). the active implementation of compliance guide-
lines by all executive bodies and employees of CA Immo 
also prevents insider abuse. observance of the guidelines, 
and other rules of conduct, is monitored by the responsi-
ble compliance officer at CA Immo. this demonstrates the 
determination of the Management Board to uphold the 
interests of all stakeholders by ensuring equal treatment 
for all shareholders and avoiding conflicts of interest.

The Austrian Corporate Governance Code
Since 2002, the Corporate Governance Code has been an 

indispensable element in the Austrian system of corpo-
rate governance and a key instrument for building trust 
in corporate management and monitoring. the Code sets 
the standard for good corporate management and control 
on the Austrian capital market. It is reviewed annually 
in the light of national and international developments, 
and adapted as necessary. the last revision of the Code 
took place in the last business year. the revised Code, 
which came into effect on 1 January 2009, is available on 
the web site of the Austrian Working Group for Corporate 
Governance (www.corporate-governance.at). In accord-
ance with the Company law Amendment Act 2008, listed 
companies are obliged to compile Corporate Governance 
Reports under the ‘comply or explain’ principle. our Cor-
porate Governance Report is published on the company’s 
web site.

Shareholders and the Ordinary General Meeting
CA Immo is a public company, with around 90 % of the 

87.3 million ordinary shares in free float. Bank Austria 
holds the remaining 10 %, including four registered 
shares which entitle the bank to nominate one Super-
visory Board member for each share; this right has not 
been exercised. All Supervisory Board members are 
elected by the ordinary General Meeting. CA Immo 
makes every effort to help shareholders take part in 

ordinary General Meetings and exercise their rights to 
speak, access information and vote. the next ordinary 
General Meeting will take place on 13th May 2009. the 
convening of the meeting, along with all motions and rel-
evant information, will be published on the company’s 
web site no later than three weeks before this date. there 
are neither voting caps to limit the number of votes a 
shareholder may cast nor special voting rights. the ‘one 
share one vote’ principle, and the principle of equal 
treatment for both institutional and private investors, is 
upheld in full. the Austrian takeovers Act ensures that 
all CA Immo shareholders would receive the same price 
for their shares in CA Immo in the event of a takeover 
bid. the shareholders alone would decide whether to 
 accept or reject any such bid.

Responsibilities of the Management Board
With Gerhard engelsberger having stepped down at the 

end of January 2008, the Management Board of CA Immo 
now comprises two members. As the spokesman for the 
Board, the duties of Bruno ettenauer are similar to those 
of a Chief executive officer (C Rule 16). Along with perti-
nent legal provisions, the way in which the Management 
Board cooperates is defined in the Articles of Associa-
tion and the rules of procedure passed by the Supervi-
sory Board (including the schedule of responsibilities). 
Important decisions on strategy, investment policy and 
corporate governance are the responsibility of the entire 
Management Board; the Board also decides on commu-
nication tasks of critical importance. All pertinent issues 
are regularly and openly discussed by the Board mem-
bers, agreements are reached and the implementation of 
resolutions passed is continually monitored.

 
Pairing of management and supervisory functions
to enable it to carry out its supervisory function proper-

ly, the Supervisory Board is supplied with regular, timely 
and comprehensive reports on all matters relevant to 
the development of the company. In addition to matters 
subject to authorisation (which are regulated partly by 
legislation and partly by the Articles of Association or the 
rules of procedure), all strategic decisions are coordinated 
in open discussions with the Supervisory Board that ex-
ceed the usual framework of Supervisory Board meetings.

The Supervisory Board and committees
the full Supervisory Board comprised six members in 

2008, all of whom were elected by the ordinary General 
Meeting. Details on the composition of the Supervisory 
Board and the independence of its members are found on 
pages 24–25. there are no cross-links. no former Man-
agement Board members or senior managers sit on the 

CoRpoRAte GoVeRnAnCe 
RepoRt
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Supervisory Board of CA Immo. the Supervisory Board, 
which rules on matters of critical importance and the 
strategic priorities of CA Immo, held eight meetings dur-
ing the year under review. Depending on the significance 
of particular issues, the Supervisory Board also performs 
its monitoring function through committees. three com-
mittees have been set up at CA Immo, the composition of 
which is shown on page 25.

the remuneration and nomination committee is respon-
sible for all Management Board-related matters as well 
as succession planning, which includes the matching of 
suitable candidates to Supervisory Board mandates. the 
nomination committee (or the full Supervisory Board) 
proposes candidates to the ordinary General Meeting 
where mandates emerge within the Supervisory Board; 
the main emphasis is on ensuring a balance of expertise 
across the Supervisory Board and the personal qualifica-
tions of candidates. no new appointments were made to 
the Management Board or the Supervisory Board in the 
year under review. Since the remuneration system for the 
Management Board was redefined in 2007 and remained 
in force until the end of the reporting year, this committee 
did not hold any meetings in 2008.

Working with the Management Board, and bringing in 
competent experts where necessary, the task of the invest-
ment committee is to prepare the ground for significant 
(investment) decisions to be taken by the full  Supervisory 
Board. the investment committee may also approve 
transactions and measures to a maximum volume of 
€ 75 m; beyond this limit value, the full Supervisory 
Board assumes responsibility. the investment committee 
did not meet during the reporting period because all au-
thorisations were granted by the full Supervisory Board.

listed companies are required to establish an audit 
committee, which is responsible for monitoring the 
entire process of financial reporting. the audit com-
mittee at CA Immo carries out preparatory work for the 
full Supervisory Board on all issues connected with the 
annual and consolidated financial statements, the pro-
posal on the distribution of profit and the management 
report. It also monitors the effectiveness of the internal 
control system and the risk management system as well 
as the independence and competence of the auditing 
company (as assessed by ‘peer reviews’). the audit 
committee held one meeting in 2008. A financial expert 
sits on the audit committee of CA Immo in compliance 
with the Code.

the detailed remuneration report on pages 30–31 
encompasses the principles of remuneration policy, a 
breakdown of the emoluments of individual Manage-
ment Board and Supervisory Board members and an 
overview of share ownership.

Preventing conflicts of interest
to prevent conflicts of interest arising, all members of 

the Management Board are obliged to report potential 
conflicts of interest to the Supervisory Board and the 
other members of the Management Board without delay. 
Management Board members may only enter into second-
ary activities (in particular accepting Supervisory Board 
mandates with companies not connected to the Group) 
with the approval of the Supervisory Board. Senior ex-
ecutives may only take up executive functions outside 
the CA Immo Group with the approval of the Manage-
ment Board. the provision prohibiting competition has 
not been rescinded. Supervisory Board members are also 
obliged to report without delay any conflicts of interest, 
and especially those that may arise from consultancy or 
executive functions for a partner or competitor company; 
in such cases, they may be required to abstain from taking 
part in voting procedures. A number of CA Immo Super-
visory Board members perform executive functions for 
similar companies within the sector (under C Rule 45). 
A full breakdown of executive posts held by Management 
and Supervisory Board members is published at www.
caimmoag.com. there are no direct agreements, and in 
particular no consultancy contracts between CA Immo 
and Supervisory Board members; there are no cross-links.

Related party disclosures
Related parties are essentially companies or persons 

who exert control over the company or who at least are 
in a position to exert a decisive influence over opera-
tional decisions of the company. the related parties for 
CA Immo are as follows:

CoRpoRAte GoVeRnAnCe

pARtICIpAtIon In SupeRVISoRy BoARD AnD 

CoMMIttee MeetInGS  

 Supervisory 

Board

Audit 

committee

(8 meetings) (1 meeting)

Detlef Bierbaum 7  

Reinhard Madlencnik 6  

Horst pöchhacker 4  

Gerhard nidetzky 8 1

Christian nowotny 7 1

Regina prehofer 4 1*)

*) As representative of Reinhard Madlencnik
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Bank Austria: Reinhard Madlencnik heads the real 
estate division at Bank Austria, and Regina prehofer was 
a member of the Bank Austria executive Board until 
mid-2008. Bank Austria holds four registered shares in 
CA Immo which entitle the bank to nominate one Su-
pervisory Board member for each share; this right has 
not been exercised. CA Immo processes the bulk of its 
payment transactions and of its credit financing through 
Bank Austria/uniCredit Group. the Group also arranges 
€ 172.9 K of financial investment and 32.6 % of its on-
balance sheet financial liabilities through Bank Austria/
uniCredit Group. In addition, an agreement is in place 
to govern the sale of CA Immo shares. In 2008, CA Im-
mobilien Anlagen AG’s net interest payments (includ-
ing interest income, expenditures respectively income 
from Swaps and loan processing fees) to Bank Austria/
uniCredit Group stood at € 1,205.0 K (€ 342.6 K in 2007) 
and € 6,264.5 K (€ 5,210.9 K in 2007) in CA Immo’s 
subsidiaries. Marketing and distribution fees (rebate) 
amounted to € 614.8 K (€ 3,816 K in 2007). no issue ex-
penses were incurred (€ 18,840 K in 2007).

Directors’ dealings
Members of the Management and Supervisory Boards 

and others performing management tasks at CA Immo 
are obliged to disclose all personal acquisitions and 
sales of shares in CA Immo and CA Immo International. 
the ruling also applies to anyone with a close relation-
ship to such managerial personnel. purchases and sales 
of personal shares by Board members are reported at 
www.caimmoag.com on an ongoing basis; an overview 
of share ownership is provided on page 31.

Auditing company fees
Auditing of accounts has been carried out by KpMG 

Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungs GmbH since 
business year 2003. the auditor performed internal rota-
tion of staff in 2007. CA Immo’s annual and consolidated 
financial statements were once again audited by KpMG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungs GmbH in 2007. 
In the case of foreign subsidiaries, local KpMG account-
ants are generally charged with reviewing and auditing 
the semi-annual and annual financial statements and with 
overseeing the conversion to IFRS. the independence of 
the auditing company is overseen by the audit committee, 
which also verifies the performance of ‘peer reviews’. the 
management letter from the auditing company along with 
a report on the effectiveness of risk management within 
the Group were brought to the attention of the Supervi-
sory Board chairman and discussed by the audit commit-
tee and the full Supervisory Board. A total of € 455.9 K 

(€ 456.2 K in 2007) was charged for auditing the Group 
and associated services. project-related consultancy serv-
ices amounted to € 81.8 K in the reporting period (€ 40 K 
in 2007). no consulting services which could compro-
mise independence (particularly legal/tax consultancy 
services) were rendered. 

Risk management
CA Immo regards its risk management system as an 

integral element of any business process. During the year 
under review, the company reviewed and updated its 
risk profile according to the current business situation 
and the wider economic environment. the Management 
and Supervisory Boards discussed the results of the risk 
evaluation in great detail. Greater understanding of the 
risk situation enhances the basis on which opportunity-
based and risk-oriented decisions are made whilst meet-
ing the requirements of the Company law Amendment 
Act 2008 as regards effective risk management systems. 
Risk awareness is being integrated into existing busi-
ness procedures with a view to establishing a stable and 
sustainable risk management process. early identifica-
tion of risks is ensured thanks to the introduction of 
the dual verification principle, monthly reporting and 
other means. CA Immo still does not require the ‘inter-
nal auditing’ function on account of its clear corporate 
structure (C Rule 18). Internal control and monitoring 
functions are part of the Group controlling area, and 
the results of these measures are regularly reported to 
the Management and Supervisory Boards. Auditing of 
specific areas is intermittently performed by an external 
auditor as part of an audit procedure. If the company 
continues to expand, a separate internal auditing unit 
will be established.

CoRpoRAte GoVeRnAnCe
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peRSonnel 

effective and dynamic staff development is critical to 
the profitable administration of real estate as well as the 
efficient realisation of development projects in a rapidly 
changing market environment. In line with a strategy 
of requirements-based personnel management – and to 
ensure readiness for whatever challenges lie ahead – 
CA Immo invests in the specific further education and 
training of its international team of experts. 

the main spheres of focus last year were the ongoing 
advancement of specialist staff, the insourcing on a cost/
benefit basis of services previously procured from exter-
nal sources and the reorganisation and integration of Ger-
man subsidiary Vivico with a view to consolidating the 
platform in Germany. 

During 2008, 43 % of administrative expenditure was 
invested in human resources. this expenditure was made 
up of wage and salary costs on the one hand, and fees 
for personnel development measures on the other. total 
personnel expenditure in 2008 was € 22.5 m (compared 
to € 8.4 m in 2007), of which CA Immobilien Anlagen 
AG accounted for € 4.8 m. CA Immo International AG 
accounted for € 2.7 m and Vivico GmbH, which was ac-
quired after the turn of the year, accounted for € 15 m. 

on the final day of 2008, the CA Immo Group had a total 
of 330 employees (203 at the end of 2007), comprising 
295 white-collar employees (158 on 31.12.2007) and 35 
blue-collar staff (45 on 31.12.2007).

of the Vienna-based white-collar employees, 48 worked 
for CA Immobilien Anlagen AG (42 on 31.12.2007), 22 
worked for CA Immo International AG (23 on 31.12.2007) 
and four were employees of H1 Hotelentwicklungs GmbH 
(two on 31.12.2007). the subsidiaries in the Cee/See/
CIS states had 39 white-collar workers (94 on 31.12.2007) 
who were responsible for asset management as well as 
commercial and technical property management.

Vivico GmbH, which was acquired after the turn of the 
year, had 182 white-collar employees, including the total 
for the omniCon Group acquired during the summer (134 
on 31.12.2007).

As for blue-collar staff, 10 worked for subsidiaries in 
Austria (12 on 31.12.2007) and 25 (34 on 31.12.2007) 
worked for subsidiaries in the Cee/See/CIS region with 
responsibility for facility management.

the operational business of CA Immobilien Anlagen AG 
is managed by an experienced core team that has been 
with the company for many years. this team has since 
2006 been continually reinforced with suitably qualified 
specialists. 

Salaried staff in CA Immo’s functional areas of investor 
relations, corporate communications, finance and ac-
counting, controlling, legal affairs and personnel, It and 
organisation performs tasks for the Group as a whole (i.e. 
CA Immo and CA Immo International). the associated 
costs are divided between the companies according to 
need, thereby enabling synergies between the two organi-
sations to be exploited cost-effectively.

Asset and investment management as well as holding 
management are managed by the individual companies 
(by CA Immo for Austria and Germany and by CA Immo 
International for eastern and Southeastern europe). 
CA Immo International staff also work in a joint executive 
capacity for the CA Immo new europe property Fund, 
with they and their teams contributing the necessary 
expertise to the management of the special fund. the H1 
hotel fund is run by a core team of just four and obtains 
additional services from the shareholders involved.

Wages and salaries of CA Immo staff are commensurate 
with sector and market norms. In addition to the fixed 
salary component, performance-related bonuses have 
been defined in the form of annual targets agreed with 
the Supervisory Board. the maximum bonus stands at 
10 % of an annual salary for any employee. At manage-
ment level, there is also a bonus scheme linked to the 
company’s growth and earnings. CA Immo pays 2.5 % of 
employees’ annual salaries into a pension fund after they 
have been with the company for three years. 

CA Immo uses flexible working time models to enhance 
compatibility between family and working life, particu-
larly for female staff wishing to return to work after ma-
ternity leave or a career break.

Staff development measures remained a key focus of 
personnel department activity in 2008 in order to ensure 
employees are ideally prepared to meet the constantly 
shifting demands of operational business. Staff develop-
ment expenditure totalled 254,000 € in 2008, compared to 
188,000 € in 2007. Further education and training initia-
tives encompassed all areas of the company. this year, 
CA Immo is planning to introduce staff development ses-
sions in which performance, potential and development 
opportunities will be explained to staff across all depart-
ments. A head of personnel was appointed in response to 
the rising staffing level; as a result, the costs of purchased 
services in the personnel area (especially linked to re-
cruiting) had been reduced significantly by the second 
half of 2008.
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ReMuneRAtIon RepoRt

the remuneration report sets out the principles for 
determining payments to the Management Board and the 
remuneration of the Supervisory Board. It explains the 
relevant amounts and structure and indicates the number 
of shares owned by the members of the Management and 
Supervisory Boards. 

Payments to the Management Board
the employment contracts of individual Management 

Board members were redefined in business year 2007. In 
line with these contracts, Management Board members 
are remunerated for the functions they perform at both 
CA Immo and the listed subsidiary CA Immo Interna-
tional. Remuneration for Management Board members 
comprises a fixed element and a (variable) performance-
related element. 

Fixed salaries
the level of fixed salaries depends on spheres of respon-

sibility as determined in the schedule of responsibilities. 
Fixed salaries are paid in advance in 14 monthly pay-
ments. Fixed salaries charged to CA Immo International 
are settled in line with spheres of responsibility according 
to the following percentages: Gerhard engelsberger 30 %, 
Bruno ettenauer 35 % and Wolfhard Fromwald 35 %. 

Profit sharing
the variable element of remuneration as defined by the 

remuneration committee at the end of the business year 
is checked by the auditor and paid retrospectively. the 
assessment basis for the level of performance-related pay 
is the earnings before taxes (eBt) of the CA Immo Group. 
the eBt, which takes account of all key control para- 
meters that may be influenced by the Management Board, 
is the preferred benchmark for the CA Immo Group in 
terms of detailed analysis and long-term comparisons. 
the variable remuneration is derived from a defined 
percentage of this assessment basis. Members of the 

Management Board are obliged to invest one third of the 
performance-related remuneration in shares in CA Immo 
or CA Immo International. the retention period for the 
shares is one year. the Supervisory Board may also award 
a performance bonus at its discretion. there is no stock 
option plan. the payout of variable remuneration is 
charged to CA Immo International pro rata the share of its 
eBt in the consolidated eBt.

Management Board’s costs: – 40 %
Downsizing the Management Board from three to two 

members and cutting of variable compensation for the re-
maining board members by about 25 %, lead to a decline 
in the cost of the Board by around 40 %, compared to 
the previous year. total salaries paid to the Management 
Board in business year 2008 amounted to € 1,218.4 K 
(€ 2,019 K in 2007). of this, fixed salary components 
accounted for € 580.4 K (€ 817.6 K in 2007) and vari-
able elements totalled € 638.0 K (2007: € 1,202.0 K). the 
variable payment was related to fiscal year 2007 and was 
disbursed in 2008 after determination of the annual ac-
counts of 2007. total salaries of approximately € 741.9 K 
(2007: € 1,057.6 K) were charged to CA Immo Internation-
al. Aside from the remuneration for Management Board 
positions with CA Immo/CA Immo International and the 
Supervisory Board mandate at uBM, no separate payment 
is made for accepting mandates in Group companies.

No performance-related remuneration for 2008
Due to the current business development no perform-

ance-related compensation payments for the 2008 fiscal 
year will arrive in 2009. the outcome of this is a further 
reduction of management costs by about 50 %.

Pension funds and severance payments
All members of the Management Board have pension 

fund settlements into which annually agreed contri-
butions are paid. During the business year, a total of 

MAnAGeMent BoARD eMoluMentS 

 in € 1,000 2008 2007

  Fixed Variable 1) total Fixed Variable 1) total

Gerhard engelsberger 2) 23.1 – 23.1 274.7 360.0 634.7

Bruno ettenauer 277.4 319.0 596.4 269.9 460.0 729.9

Wolfhard Fromwald 279.9 319.0 598.9 273.0 382.0 655.0

Total 580.4 638.0 1,218.4 817.6 1,202.0 2,019.6

1) paid in 2008 for 2007 / paid in 2007 for 2006.
2) Gerhard engelsberger stepped down from the Management Boards of CA Immo and CA Immo International at the end of January 2008. 
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SupeRVISoRy BoARD ReMuneRAtIon 

in € 2008 payments for 2007 2007 payments for 2006

Gerhard nidetzky, Chairman 21,000.0 21,000.0

Christian nowotny, Deputy Chairman 15,000.0 16,000.0

Detlef Bierbaum 10,000.0 6,667.0

Bruno ettenauer (to 27.2.2006) – 1,667.0

Reinhard Madlencnik 11,000.0 11,000.0

ewald nageler (to 7.2.2006) – 833.0

Horst pöchhacker (from 29.5.2007) 5,833.0 –

Regina prehofer 10,000.0 6,667.0

Total 73,333.0 63,833.0
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approximately € 56.5 K (around € 79.6 K in 2007) was 
paid in the form of contributions to pension funds (de-
fined contribution plan) for Management Board members. 
the amount of a legal severance payment is determined 
by the amount of an overall salary as well as length of 
service, with the maximum payout equating to one full 
year’s salary. payment is forfeited in the event of the 
employee serving notice of termination. CA Immo has no 
obligations extending beyond this. In 2008 Gerhard en-
gelsberger obtained a severance pay of around € 275.6 K, 
and a residual settlement in the amount of 100.0 K € for 
contractual claims. payments to form a reserve for sever-
ance payment claims amounted to € 246.7 K in the year 
under review (€ 250.4 K in 2007). no further payments 
were made to former Management Board members or 
their surviving dependents.

Supervisory Board remuneration
Remuneration for the Supervisory Board is determined 

annually by the ordinary General Meeting. In addition 
to the reimbursement of cash expenses, every member of 
the Board will receive a fixed annual payment of € 10 K. 
the chairman will receive double that amount, with the 
deputy chairman paid one and a half times the fixed fee. 
Members of committees are paid € 500 for each attend-
ance at a committee meeting. Remuneration is aliquoted 
where a Supervisory Board member steps down during 
the year. Supervisory Board remuneration amounted to 
roughly € 73.3 K for 2007 (payment in 2008) and € 63.8 K 
for 2006 (payment in 2007). no other fees were paid to 
Supervisory Board members. no remuneration for serv-
ices other than those described above (and in particular 
for consultancy and brokerage activities) was paid. no 

loans or advances were paid to members of either the 
Management Board or the Supervisory Board.

Directors’ dealings
At the end of 2008, 13,973 shares were held by Manage-

ment Board members (7,773 shares in the previous year). 
no shares were owned by CA Immo Supervisory Board 
members. In 2008, under the terms of a share repurchase 
programme, CA Immo acquired 1,494,076 shares (1.71 % 
of the share capital) on the Vienna Stock exchange for an 
average price of € 9.18. For more information on the share 
buy-back programme, please see page 12.

CA Immo also increased its stake in the listed subsidiary 
CA Immo International from 53.85 % to 61.74 % at year 
end. In 2008, the company acquired 3,427,360 shares in 
CA Immo International, bringing the total shareholding to 
26,831,142 on the balance sheet date.

D & O insurance 
At CA Immo Group level, D & o manager liability in-

surance with coverage of € 10 m was taken out for the 
executive bodies of the parent company and subsidiaries. 
the insurance does not provide for any excess. Since the 
scope of business activity has risen disproportionately, 
however, the scope of insurance coverage will be revised 
upwards accordingly. 

nuMBeR oF CA IMMo SHAReS HelD By MAnAGeMent 

BoARD MeMBeRS

as at 31.12.2008 as at 31.12.2007

Bruno ettenauer 5,000 5,000

Wolfhard Fromwald 8,973 2,773

Total 13,973 7,773
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Within one year, global market 
capitalisation has slumped by uS$ 
17 billion. the banking sector has 
ground to a halt and money markets 
around the world have been rocked 
by an unprecedented crisis in finance 
and confidence. this situation began 
with the flood of defaults on the 
American mortgage market as private 
borrowers, deep in debt, found them-
selves unable to cope with interest 
rates and meet the repayments on 
their home loans. eighteen months 
on, the adverse trend has spread to 
virtually all categories of real estate 
all around the world: ultimately, it 
means adjusted numbers on the bal-
ance sheets of property companies. 

Senk: The events we are seeing on 
real estate markets, with property 
prices falling around the world, did 
not come about overnight. Where do 
the roots of these developments lie?

Metzger: you have to look very 
carefully at the fundamentals. the 
foundations of the situation we see 
today were laid out 10 or 12 years 
ago in the course of globalisation. As 
investment activity spread around 
the world, the real estate market be-
came a part of the financial market. 
At the same time, totally new valu-
ation systems for real estate became 
established because people wanted 
similar systems that would allow 

them to value properties in the inter-
national context. 

Senk: Isn’t that a good thing?

Metzger: of course, in a globalised 
property market you must have 
parallel systems and methods. un-
fortunately, though, international 
real estate investments relied on a 
method called DCF, or discounted 
cash flow, which is normally used 
for corporate valuations. Real estate 
was increasingly acquired as part of 
a package, investments were valued 
in the same way as corporate take-
overs, and the result was a displace-
ment of value. Individual valuations 

Around the globe, falling property values are having a negative impact on 
the balance sheets of real estate companies. In this interview, the independent 

real estate writer Walter Senk discusses the causes and effects of recent 
developments – and the value of real estate as a commodity – with Wolfhard 

Fromwald, member of the CA Immo Management Board and property 
valuation experts professor Alfons Metzger and Georg Fichtinger.

enDuRInG VAlue

l.t.r.: Walter Senk, Wolfhard Fromwald,  
Alfons Metzger, Georg Fichtinger.

BetWeen tHe lIneS

32 



were still carried out in isolated 
cases, but portfolios tended to be 
assessed as single packages compris-
ing many different properties, even 
though each property has its own 
background.

Senk: In other words, the method 
was misguided?

Metzger: I don’t think there’s 
anything wrong with the method-
ology, so long as it’s correctly ap-
plied. However, real estate is not a 
product like furniture or shoes, so 
a property portfolio cannot be as-
sessed in the same way as a furni-
ture or shoe factory. the cash flow 
for a property, by which I mean the 
net revenue that a property gener-
ates for me, is a key criterion. De-
spite this, the assessment also calls 
for consideration of factors such as 
net asset value, location, quality, 
tenant profile and the potential for 
opportunities and threats in the 
medium to long term.

Senk: How could a single trigger af-
fect the entire economy?

Metzger: As the borders have come 
down, a world-wide financial circuit 
has emerged. If someone introduces 
poison into the system, nobody can 
tell where it came from or how toxic 
it might be.

Fichtinger: the effects are evi-
dent. prices are falling in nearly 
every country and across all sectors 
– retail, industry and offices. We’ve 
been observing the pattern across the 
world since the third quarter of 2007, 
but around the end of 2008 the prices 
of commercial real estate in Austria 
started to drop particularly steeply.

Senk: Surely prices are falling so 
steeply because they had climbed so 
steeply beforehand?

Fichtinger: prices had been rising 
steadily since 2001, and yields were 
coming down accordingly. A great 
many international investors came 
in when prices were too high. this 
pushed prices up even more. In some 
cases, we would value a property at 
x for a potential buyer, who would 
then offer significantly more because 
of pressure to invest and the favour-
able financing conditions. Real estate 
got more and more expensive, and 
the transactions made at the higher 
rates helped to raise the valuations 
for other properties. 

Senk: CA Immo AG has 
always been highly conserva-
tive when it comes to invest-
ment. Why must the value of 
your portfolio also be revised 
downwards at this time?

Fromwald: We are not im-
mune to developments on 
the international markets. 
Returns on real estate in all 
usage categories have risen 
exponentially, and market 
values have slumped at the 
same time. Despite all of the 
caution that we apply to valuation, 
the change was much more dramatic 
than we could have foreseen. 

Can you clarify that with an 
example?

Fromwald: yes, Bucharest is a very 
good example. At the end of 2007, 
the valuation for our properties in 
prime sites produced a gross yield, 
which we define as rental income 
in proportion to market value, of 
around 7 %. We regarded this as 
conservative, because at that time ac-
quisitions were being made at yields 
of around 6 %. Because of falling 
prices, the comparable yield is now 
8–8.5 %. We were overtaken by the 
market and the expectations of yield. 

obviously we need to correct our 
values as well, but to be precise only 
halfway – from 7 % to 8 %, not from 
6 %. yield development has been 
much the same in the other countries 
of eastern europe. there’s a similar 
trend in Austria and Germany, al-
though not quite as pronounced. the 
pattern shifted very quickly in 2008. 
property yields have risen by aver-
age of 100 base points across europe 
just in the last 12 months, and this 
equates to an average price reduction 
of 15–20 %. 

Metzger: Real estate has not lost its 
essential value. Shares can always 
lose value, but savings accounts can 
collapse too. I believe that an invest-
ment in real estate is still the most 
enduring investment available. over 
the long term, it secures not only 
sound revenue, but also the origi-
nal capital deployed. Just to make 
it absolutely clear, I’d like to say it 
again: when the property market and 
the capital market merged, there was 
a failure to consider real estate in 
isolation. properties were bought and 
turned around, or sold at a profit, 
straight away – that’s what was 
driving prices. In the old days, you 
would buy and hold; as globalisation 
gained ground, the mantra changed 
to ‘buy and sell at a profit’. As a 

“the only positive aspect is the 
fact that revaluation losses do not 
represent an outflow of funds; 
our operational cash flow in 2008 
remained satisfactory thanks to the 
income producing properties.”
Wolfhard Fromwald,  
Management Board member of CA Immo since 1990
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consequence, prices spiralled up and 
up, but the system lost sight of the 
potential for value.

Fichtinger: I would agree that real 
estate became a commodity, but that 
has its positive side. turning real es-
tate into a commodity also makes the 
market more transparent. the market 
developed first, and property is an-
other form of merchandise. that’s 
not a bad thing.

Fromwald: that’s right. Back 
in 1988, everyone in Austria was 
delighted when real estate was sud-
denly being traded for real, and a 
market had emerged. unfortunately, 
trading in real estate soon became an 
end in itself as the retention peri-
ods got shorter and shorter. In most 
cases, the value increases achieved 
were not the result of active manage-
ment, they stemmed from short-term 
speculation based on falling interest 
rates and excessive liquidity in the 
market. the situation we have now is 
the exact reverse. transactions have 
all but dried up, so a key element for 
valuation is absent: comparable, ef-
fectively concluded transactions that 
substantiate values determined by a 
surveyor.

Metzger: Market transactions are 
important, but the lack of purchases 
and sales in response to the extraor-
dinary events we’re now seeing 

within the economy does not mean 
that the value we possess is suddenly 
worthless. transactions made in an 
emergency don’t provide a useful 
yardstick by which to assess the 
value of similar properties. What I 
mean is this: to a certain degree, fluc-
tuations in value are a normal part of 
the property cycle, but extreme short-
term movements are not normal, at 
least in central europe, thanks to the 
legal frameworks, financing criteria 
and ownership structures. this is 
certainly very different from the con-
ditions in the uSA and on the British 
property market.

Fromwald: Calculation methods 
also tend to overlook asset value. 
Clearly, all properties have a value. 
of course a house may not yield 
much of a profit, but it doesn’t lose 
its long-term value potential. Asset 
value has been cast aside, and needs 
to play a greater role. CA Immo AG 
has huge reserves of land in cen-
tral areas of the main west German 
cities. these reserves might not be 
producing regular income at the mo-
ment, but they still have intrinsic 
value and, above all, high potential. 
In my view, the capital market pays 
too little attention to this value ow-
ing to short-term yield targets; it is 
massively underrated because of 
insufficient cash flow and potential 
development risk. 

Fichtinger: All real estate 
has an asset value, calcu-
lated from the land value 
and the breakdown value of 
the building itself. If a com-
mercial property is standing 
empty, you have to ask your-
self why is it vacant? Is there 
a problem with the location, 
the utilisation or the qual-
ity? Does mean that I won’t 
be able to attract tenants, 
or the will rental revenue 

that I obtain be much lower than I’d 
expected? In this case, the net asset 
value – which can and must have 
no influence on valuation – is worth 
much more than the earning power.

Senk: How will the general mar-
ket situation affect the value of real 
estate that makes up CA Immo’s 
assets?

Fromwald: We have had to adjust 
our real estate by around 7 % on 
average across the whole portfolio, 
which includes income producing 
properties as well as projects under 
construction. that’s typical for the 
sector in europe. When you have 
total property assets of around € 4 
billion, though, that produces a con-
siderable revaluation loss. the only 
positive aspect is the fact that this 
loss doesn’t represent an outflow of 
funds; our operational net earnings 
in 2008 remained satisfactory thanks 
to the income producing properties. 
on the basis of actual rents for 2008, 
our income producing properties 
are yielding approximately 6.2 % 
on average.

 
“Just because no transactions 
are taking place at the moment,  
and real estate has got cheaper, 
does not mean that the value we 
possess is suddenly worthless.”
professor Alfons Metzger, FRICS, CRe, owner of  
Metzger Realitätengruppe and internationally  
renowned property valuer
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Metzger: Anyone who invests in 
real estate knows that a return of five 
or six percent is going very good. As 
long as a reasonable financing struc-
ture is in place, long-term returns on 
equity of 6–8 % are possible, depend-
ing on the usage type and the region. 
Real estate is a solid investment with 
guaranteed value. It’s just that over 
recent years, certain activities have 
created unrealistic value potential. 
this has affected a lot of speculative 
investors in particular.

Senk: How often does CA Immo 
AG carry out valuations on its 
properties?

Fromwald: For some years, we 
have valued our properties in eastern 
europe on a quarterly basis. this is 
because property prices increased 
very quickly there on account of 
rapid economic growth, strong de-
mand and short supply. Returns were 
still in the range of 10–12 % until a 
few years ago, but this had halved 
on average by the end of 2007. We 
perform annual valuations in Austria 
and Germany because the shifts in 

value are less erratic and the markets 
are generally more stable. 

Senk: As an investor, I would be 
interested to know how you measure 
the market value of a property?

Fichtinger: the real parameters are 
creditworthy tenants and sustainable 
rents, adjusted to the market wherev-
er possible. then you must consider 
the potential for opportunities and 
threats, location and future variables 
such as investment strategies and 
development options.

Metzger: taking that a step further, 
you also need to think about political 
developments. A local political crisis 
can cause the value of property to hit 
rock bottom – at least temporarily. 

Senk: What’s next for the property 
markets?

Fichtinger: In Austria, the pressure 
on prices will continue and returns 
will carry on rising. In this country, 
developments are not entirely de-
pendent on the sector and utilisation.

the trends for other european coun-
tries will vary. Some countries, such 
as the united Kingdom, have almost 
completed the correction process. 
In the uK there was a major correc-
tion at the end of 2007, followed by 
steady devaluation of one or two 
percent per month last year.

Fromwald: In the event that the 
general situation fails to stabilise or 
gets even worse than we are expect-
ing, we can’t rule out further adjust-
ments. on the whole, though, I’d 
rather be optimistic and suggest that 
we will hit the floor this year, with 
the upturn arriving by 2010 at the 
latest. From our perspective, it’s not 
only developments in eastern europe 
that matter, but also what happens 
in Germany in particular – and the 
forecasts being issued by experts are 
all over the place.

Metzger: there’s no doubt we must 
watch the overall economic picture. 
As soon as economic growth and 
stability make a comeback, real estate 
will be a commodity that’s much in 
demand.

“prices had been rising steadily 
since 2001, and yields had come 
down accordingly. partly encouraged 
by favourable financing, a great many 
international investors came in when 
prices were too high, and this pushed 
prices up even more.”
Georg Fichtinger, Senior Director (Head of Capital Markets)  
in Austria for CB Richard ellis, the world leader  
in commercial real estate services
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ever since 1987, with a watchful eye on the markets 
and experienced real estate professionals at the helm, the 
Vienna-based property investment company CA Immo 
has been steadily building its business and its portfo-
lio. Since 1999 CA Immo has been investing in eastern 
europe, branching into project development in eastern 
europe two years later. to clarify the division of regional 
business within the company, CA Immo underwent re-
structuring in 2006, establishing the subsidiary CA Immo 
International to manage its eastern european property 
portfolio. As the company expanded in that region, it 
continued to build up property assets in Austria and 
Germany.

Shortly after the balance sheet date for 2007, the 
CA Immo Group acquired Vivico, the German railway 
property management group, for € 1.03 bn. the expan-
sion enabled the Group to grow not only in terms of total 
assets and surface area, but also in terms of the quality of 
its business operations. the integration of Vivico gave the 
CA Immo Group valuable reserves of real estate as well as 
expertise in the fields of urban development and project 
management, right across the value chain – from the 

acquisition of properties and the processing of high-yield-
ing projects to the restoration and profitable sale of those 
properties. CA Immo thereby strengthened its position as 
an investment business with acknowledged real estate ex-
perts offering comprehensive knowledge of the sector.

2008 was a year of integration and consolidation. early 
in the year, the company reacted to signals from the 
market by reducing the pace of investment in favour of a 
strategy of cautious, selective growth. Instead of pursuing 
short-term market trends, the emphasis switched to me-
dium and long-term development in specific core regions. 
one particular focus was on developing, with maximum 
profitability and efficiency, the high quality inner city real 
estate in Germany that came into play with the acquisi-
tion of Vivico.

today the CA Immo Group is one of the key players 
on the european real estate investment market. Since 
April 2007, CA Immo has been listed in the prime market 
segment of the Vienna Stock exchange, with a free float 
of around 90 % (shares formerly traded in the standard 
 market auction).

tHe HIStoRy oF CA IMMo 

tHe HIStoRy oF CA IMMo

2008

2007

2006

2005

2003

2001

2000

1999

1988

1987

-  entry to Serbian market
-  Formation of CA Immo new europe special fund 

(CAIne)

-  Acquisition of 78 properties in Austria from the 
former Brau union property portfolio

-  First Cee expansion into office properties in 
Hungary (Budapest)

-  Founding of  
CA Immobilien Anlagen AG

-  Acquisition of office properties in poland (War-
saw)

-  Commencement of development projects in Hun-
gary (Budapest) and Czech Republic (prague)

-  First investments in Bulgaria (Sofia) and Roma-
nia (Bucharest)

- Acquisition of Vivico Group in Germany

-  First investment in Slovakia (Bratislava)

-  Flotation on Vienna Stock exchange

-  Acquisition of real estate package from the Ger-
man state of Hesse

-  Issuance of first public corporate bond

-  entry to Russian market
-  CA Immo International floats on Vienna Stock 

exchange

MAnAGeMent RepoRt
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Measures aimed at transforming the CA Immo Group 
step by step into a broad-based property group operat-
ing across a wider region were introduced in 2006. the 
first step – the flotation of CA Immo International – was 
followed by the acquisition of a shareholding in Vienna-
based property development company uBM Realitäte-
nentwicklung AG and the establishment of special funds 
for project development activities in eastern europe. the 
Group then widened its regional foundation by acquir-
ing Vivico Real estate GmbH in Germany. the aims of 
the realignment were to increase the spread of risk (both 
regionally and by incorporating third-party institutional 
investors), to exploit the earnings potential of project de-
velopment activities and to offer a wider range of capital 
market products to all manners of investor groups.

CA Immo International
the CA Immo Group’s eastern european portfolio 

is managed by the subsidiary CA Immo International. 
CA Immo had a shareholding of approximately 62 % in 
CA Immo International as at 31 December 2008. Shares 
in the company are traded in the prime market segment 
of the Vienna Stock exchange, with market capitalisation 
at around € 123 m on the last day of 2008. CA Immo’s 
holding in CA Immo International, which stood at 51 % 
following the flotation, was steadily increased through-
out 2007 and 2008, reaching 61.74 % by the balance sheet 
date. on this date, the portfolio of CA Immo International 
amounted to approximately € 751.7 m, with the company 
investing in nine countries: poland, the Czech Republic, 
Slovakia, Hungary, Romania, Bulgaria, Slovenia, Ser-
bia and Russia. In terms of asset classes, the portfolio is 
mainly made up of office premises, although the company 
is aiming to increase the proportion of other commer-
cial utilisation types (such as retail, logistical and hotel 
premises) in the medium to long term. 

CA Immo New Europe Property Fund
this project development fund has brought together the 

development projects of CA Immo International since the 
start of 2007. the fund is structured under luxembourg 
law as a SICAR (Societé d’Investissement en Capital à Ris-
que). the total volume of the fund originally envisaged 
was € 1 bn, of which € 400 m was to be made available 
as equity capital; 40 % of the equity capital was pledged 
by four institutional investors at home and abroad, with 
60 % assumed by CA Immo International. the fund has a 
fixed term of seven years. the investment strategy of the 
fund revolves around real estate development projects in 
eastern and Southeastern europe. projects currently in 
progress largely satisfy the originally defined priorities in 

terms of region (20 % of projects in the Cee, with around 
40 % in both the See and CIS) and usage type (less office 
space in favour of more retail and logistical premises).

owing to prevailing market conditions in eastern eu-
rope, initial assumptions have had to be revised on many 
projects, with significant value adjustments and finan-
cial provisions made on that basis. By agreement of the 
co-partners, it has been decided that only development 
projects in progress will be continued; new projects will 
not be initiated until further notice. Around 60 % of the 
necessary equity capital has been made available, and 
most of the remainder will be secured in 2009. the re-
quired loan capital has been secured, with the exception 
of the pulkovo project in St. petersburg. CA Immo new 
europe is managed by CA Immo International, which 
receives in return a one-off acquisition fee (1.25 %), a 
regular fee from ‘assets under management’ (0.85 %) and a 
performance fee upon project completion and rental (hur-
dle rate of 15 % IRR).

The H1 hotel fund
together with Raiffeisen Versicherung (of the unIQA 

Group), CA Immo International founded Cee Hotel De-
velopment AG (the H1 hotel fund) in 2007 with the aim 
of investing in hotel projects in eastern and Southeastern 
europe and Russia. projects were analysed and negoti-
ated through this special fund. Sites in Russia (Moscow, 
St. petersburg, Astrakhan, togliatti), the Czech Republic 
(prague), Slovakia (Bratislava), Hungary (Budapest) and 
Serbia (Belgrade) were prepared and presented to the 
Investment Board. Due diligence was performed for the 
various projects, contracts were negotiated and hotel  
operators were identified.

owing to economic conditions on the international real 
estate and financial markets, and particularly in Russia, 
the partners in Cee Hotel Development AG have decided 
not to make any new investments for the time being. the 
projects outlined were shelved (without incurring ad-
ditional costs) and the activities of H1 Hotelentwicklungs 
GmbH were suspended.

Vivico Real Estate GmbH
Around the turn of the year 2007/2008, the CA Immo 

Group acquired the German urban district developer 
Vivico Real estate GmbH for around € 1.03 bn, thereby 
significantly boosting the Group’s long-term standing 
on the German market. CA Immo has since expanded 
its German subsidiary into an operational platform for 
the all of the Group’s project development and asset 
management activities in Germany. Vivico – formerly a 

eQuIty InVeStMentS 
AnD FunDS
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state-owned collecting society for railway property – has 
a wealth of expertise in the development of inner city 
real estate formerly given over to industrial or railway 
usages. the company’s property assets comprise high 
quality income-generating real estate (with a book value 
of € 207 m on 31 December 2008), undeveloped sites and 
properties under construction (book value of € 858 m 
on 31.12.2008) as well as a portfolio of other properties 
designated for sale. the highest quality reserves of real 
estate are now being developed step by step as dictated 
by current conditions as certain other sites and finished 
properties are sold. 

Investment in UBM
late in 2006, CA Immo International acquired a block-

ing minority of 25 % plus four shares in the listed Vienna-
based property developer uBM Realitätenentwicklung 
AG. With its proven development expertise in the Cee 
region, uBM is ideally placed to bolster CA Immo Inter-
national and the CA Immo Group as a whole. In 2007, 

CA Immo International and uBM embarked on a major 
project set to span several years (the poleczki Business 
park in Warsaw) through a subsidiary company owned 
on a 50:50 basis; uBM is also involved in the airport city 
project in St. petersburg, contributing not only capital 
but also, primarily, project development expertise. the 
investment in uBM generated a dividend of € 825.000 
for CA Immo International for the year 2007, equivalent 
to a yield on invested capital of around 3 %. Despite the 
economic downturn, the uBM Group succeeded in rais-
ing its total revenue by around 16 %, from € 202.4 m to 
€ 234.8 m as at 30 September 2008; the result for the first 
nine months of 2008 was € 14.0 m, compared to € 13.7 m 
in the previous year. Aside from CA Immo International, 
the main shareholder in uBM is the porr Group with 
41.27 %. In view of the market environment and econom-
ic forecasts for 2009, uBM expects sales and earnings to 
fall short of the previous year’s levels, but remain gener-
ally positive nonetheless.

GRoup StRuCtuRe (31.12.2008)

Free float 90 % Bank Austria 10 %

CA IMMo   Austria and Germany

VIVICo ReAl eStAte GMBH CA IMMo InteRnAtIonAl 
Cee/See/GIS

CA IMMo neW euRope

uBM ReAlItätenentWICKlunG AG1)  A minority interest in Vivico of 0.3 % is held 
outside the CA Immo Group.

Free float
≤ 39 %

100 % 1)

60 %

25 % + 4 Shares

≥ 61 %

38 



MAnAGeMent RepoRt

M
A

n
A

G
e

M
e

n
t

 R
e

p
o

R
t

eConoMIC enVIRonMent

eConoMIC enVIRonMent 1)

Global economic data went into freefall during 2008 ow-
ing to the financial crisis, which also prompted analysts 
to revise their forecasts for the immediate future ever 
downwards. In both the second and third quarters of 
2008, the economy of the eurozone contracted by 0.2 %, 
for the first time satisfying the technical definition of a 
recession. the deterioration on financial markets around 
the world, the associated collapse in asset prices, the 
sharp rise in commodities prices (especially the high oil 
price in the first six months) and the strong euro com-
bined to deliver a severe shock to the eurozone in terms 
of external supply and demand. In particular, reduced 
demand from abroad brought about a decline in net ex-
ports of – 0.6 %. the picture for private consumption was 
one of general inertia, with the only positive stimulus for 
domestic demand coming from public spending.

As far as the real estate sector is concerned, develop-
ments in the macroeconomy are having a specific impact 
on demand for rental premises. A sustained recession 
therefore poses the threat of higher vacancy rates and a 
drop in rental rates. 

Austria
With growth expected to stand at 1.7 % for 2008 in real 

terms, Austria is much more favourably placed than 
most countries in the eurozone. However, growth had 
come to a halt by the third quarter, and negative growth 
is expected from the fourth quarter onwards. For a small 
export-oriented economy, future developments are largely 
dependent on external factors; on the positive side, state 
measures and the effects of lower inflation on spending 
power could trigger a resurgence in domestic demand. 

Germany
the european Commission predicted real-terms GDp 

growth of 1.25 % in Germany for 2008, but the growth 
rate reversed dramatically during the year. In terms of 
quarter-to-quarter development, the decline set in during 
the second period, with the downturn hitting – 2.1 % by 
the fourth quarter. Germany, thus finds itself in a full-
blown recession. the main factor behind the trend was a 
sharp drop in exports; the traditional engine of German 
economic growth.

¹) Data correct at the time of going to press in late February 2009: subsequent adjustments to interim figures and forecasts have not been taken into account

DeVelopMent oF exCHAnGe RAteS (to the euro) 
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Eastern Europe
the countries of eastern and Southeastern europe – 

which had achieved much higher growth rates than west-
ern european nations in recent years – have been signifi-
cantly impacted by the distortion on the financial markets, 
especially since mid-2008. this was particularly apparent 
in the sharp falls against the euro in the exchange rates 
for eastern european currencies as well as the significant 
widening in yields of bonds of those countries. 

economic growth for the region as a whole comfort-
ably outpaced that of the eurozone until the third quarter 
of 2008. However, the effects of the turbulence on real 
economies varied from one country to another. Growth 
rates for the eu member states in Central and eastern eu-
rope (poland, the Czech Republic, Slovakia and Hungary) 
abated only gradually, and growth also decelerated com-
paratively slowly in Bulgaria and Romania. By contrast, 
growth has slumped in estonia and latvia.

Russia has been faced with significant outflows of capi-
tal, especially since quarter three of 2008. this led to the 
collapse of the stock market as well as liquidity bottle-
necks on the Russian interbank market. In addition, the 
drop in the oil price is having an especially adverse effect 
on economic development and the balance of payments 
which is contributing to the steep fall in the rate of the 
Rouble. Real-terms GDp growth for 2008 is consequently 
expected to decline to 5.6 %, with a downturn of – 0.8 % 
forecast for 2009 (source: uniCredit).

Outlook
As the financial crisis persists and the global economy 

deteriorates, the prospects for the economies of our key 
markets are darkening considerably. Although the intro-
duction of support packages by national governments 
will make an important contribution in terms of reversing 
the world-wide crisis of confidence, economic output is 
likely to shrink throughout 2009. According to its Janu-
ary 2009 forecast, the european Commission expects the 
eurozone economy to contract by 1.9 % this year, with 
marginal growth of 0.4 % likely to be seen in 2010. 

DeVelopMent oF CountRy SpReADS 
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Source: Bloomberg (5J CDS)
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Money market and interest rate environment
Since mid-2008, money markets have been affected 

by severe distortion, which has led to a sharp rise in 
refinancing costs for banks. Many of the sources of refi-
nancing used by banks had dried up by the time lehman 
Brothers filed for bankruptcy in September 2008. In par-
ticular, the securitisation market – critical to real estate 
financing – ground to a virtual halt. the interbank market 
only started moving again after interventions from cen-
tral banks and other state authorities. In the face of such 
turmoil, the risk surcharges demanded by the capital 
markets and banks reached record highs. As a particu-
larly capital-intensive sector, real estate was directly and 
adversely affected by the scarcity of available credit and 
the tightening of credit terms. Restricted access to debt 
financing was also the main reason behind the steep fall 
in the volume of property investment market transactions 
that began in the third quarter of 2008.

the economic collapse in the second half of 2008 was 
also reflected in the development of interest rates. the 
euro base rates remained unchanged in the first six 
months, followed by a small rise of 25 base points in 
July. From october onwards, however, the eCB joined 
attempts to counter the economic downturn by lower-
ing the interest rate significantly with successive cuts. 
the central banks of the uK and the uSA cut their base 
rates steeply, bringing interest levels to all-time lows by 
early 2009. 

Despite this, the decline in base rates was counteracted 
by the increased risk surcharges outlined above, so the 
reduction in effective interest charges was limited or 
nonexistent for most borrowers. 

DeVelopMent oF InteReSt RAteS  
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Source: eCB, Reuters
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the Austrian real estate market was not immune from 
the effects of the events of 2008. Although the market was 
strong at the start of the year, offering attractive develop-
ment possibilities, economic indicators had changed the 
mood to one of hesitance and caution by the middle of 
2008. towards the end of the year, the crisis impacted 
particularly strongly on the capital-intensive property 
investment market. By contrast, conditions on the lettings 
market remained relatively positive throughout.

The investment market 
Around € 2 bn was invested in real estate in Austria dur-

ing 2008, a drop of 30 % on 2007. thanks to the process-
ing of one very large transaction – the sale of Shopping 
City Süd to the Dutch property investment company 
unibail-Rodamco – the reduction was smaller than may 
have been expected given the current crisis. 

owing to the significantly restricted flow of liquidity 
coupled with the generally circumspect mood of the mar-
ket, the ratio of net rental income to net purchase price 
increased for office premises, especially in the fourth 
quarter 2008. the figure was up 75 base points (Bp) to 
5.5 % in excellent locations. In good locations it rose by 
80–100 Bp to around 6 %. In moderate sites and where 
the rental contract situation is poor, the figure rose by up 
to 150 Bp to approximately 7 % (source: CBRe/Vienna of-
fice Market Report 2008). Applied to office property pric-
es, this represents value decreases in the range of 15–25 % 
according to location. Given the stricter financing terms 
now in place, however, it cannot be assumed that large 
numbers of transactions will be seen, even if conditions 
remain the same and property prices continue to fall.

The office market
the Austrian office market continued to be character-

ised by consistently high demand and stable rent levels 
in 2008, following the pattern of recent years. on the 
Viennese market, rent levels ranged from € 13/sqm 1) to 
a peak value of € 23/sqm in prime locations and from 
€ 10–15/sqm in good locations; in other locations, rents 
were much lower. the demand for modern, high qual-
ity premises remained unaltered and excellent transport 
connections and infrastructure, combined with space 
and energy efficiency were the keys to high rentability. 
owing to the economic downturn, consumers became 
much more price sensitive towards the end of 2008. to 
a greater degree, companies were prepared to forego 
expensive locations in favour of cheaper (but still high 
quality) solutions. the legal introduction of energy per-
formance certificates on 1 January 2009 confirmed energy 

and environmental awareness as decisive factors in new 
lettings and relocations. Improvements in infrastructure 
(such as the extension of the u2 underground line) and 
urban modernisation measures (such as the upgrading 
of the Wien Mitte and Westbahnhof railway stations) are 
likely to provide a boost for currently underdeveloped 
office areas.

Floor space on the Viennese market for office property 
now totals around 10 m sqm, having expanded by around 
250,000 sqm in 2008. thanks to much improved market-
ing performance of around 400,000 sqm, the vacancy rate 
again fell slightly to approximately 5 %. 

The retail market
Retail properties in Austria are globally sought after as 

an investment – thanks to the international mix of ten-
ants, high density of sites and superior design of premis-
es. Despite the financial crisis, demand for properties in 
attractive locations (particularly shopping streets and 
good sites in central Vienna) remains high and rental lev-
els are stable on the Austrian retail market. Availability is 
slowly declining. peak rents had increased slightly by the 
end of the year and well established properties in com-
mercial areas and prime inner city locations continued 
to generate particularly strong returns. Shopping centres 
in favourable sites were commanding peak rents of up to 
€ 90/sqm per month at year end, with peak gross returns 
at around 5.25 %. over the next few years, the market for 
shopping centres in Vienna will be guided principally by 
major railway projects. Shopping centres are planned for 
the new Westbahnhof station and Wien-Mitte station as 
well as Vienna’s new central station which is under con-
struction (source: CBRe, Retail Market Austria 2008).

The residential property market
Despite the gloomy situation on the economic front and 

the labour market, demand remains stable for high qual-
ity properties in particular. Given the anticipated concen-
tration of settlement in Vienna over the decades ahead, 
it is reasonable to assume constantly high demand for 
residential property in the federal capital city. Which in 
turn will drive up prices, especially in the most popular 
districts of the city. Most price falls were seen in formerly 
high-priced districts (especially for averagely sited prop-
erties) as well as convenient locations on the outskirts of 
town. Many businesses relocated from expensive inner 
city areas to lower priced suburban districts in response 
to the deteriorating economic conditions. Some of the va-
cant premises, thereby created, have been expanded and 
turned into highly priced luxury apartments. 

tHe ReAl eStAte MARKet 
In AuStRIA

1) All mentioned rents are net prices.
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The hotel property market
the Austrian tourism and hotel sector experienced a 

record year in 2008. Austrian hotels welcomed more 
guests than ever in 2008, chalking up their 11th consecu-
tive year of growth. All federal states recorded increases 
in the number of overnight stays, led by Vienna (up 6 %) 
and Salzburg (up 4.6 %). over half of guests were from 
Germany and the netherlands.

Vienna has 15 to 20 current hotel projects, half of which 
have reached the construction stage. Four hotels are 
due for completion in the city by 2010, including one in 
the six-star category. Around the turn of the year, inves-
tors started to show a particular interest in projects and 
existing hotels in the three and four-star brackets, as the 
five-star category temporarily took a back seat in response 

to economic developments. CA Immo is planning to com-
mence two hotel projects in 2009: one three-star hotel in 
Salzburg and a four-star hotel in Vienna.

the increasingly fraught financing situation had forced 
delays to many hotel sector projects by the end of the 
year, especially at the luxury end of the market. Although 
Vienna offers lower room prices than many other coun-
tries on average (around € 140 in the four-star-plus catego-
ry), rates were falling by the end of the year. the number 
of overnight stays is also expected to drop in 2009, and 
losses are likely, especially in the high-end (four-star-
plus) conference and business travel segment. Modern 
but good-value low budget and economy hotels (in the 
one- to three-star bracket) will be the main beneficiaries 
of the general trend towards price awareness.

VIennA Hotel Savoyen Rennweg
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Following the sustained and rapid phase of expansion 
that reached its peak in 2007, economic decline char-
acterised 2008. As the financial market crisis coincided 
with a general downturn in the economic cycle, the turn-
over of real estate transactions collapsed in the second 
half of the year in Germany as yield increased. Accord-
ing to the Ifo Institute, the overall economy in December 
2008 had reverted to the level of 2002/2003. 

The investment market
In 2008, total turnover for the German commercial real 

estate market fell by around 65 % to stand at € 20.7 bn. 
the effects of the financial market crisis forced the clo-
sure of numerous open-end property funds for fixed pe-
riods as banks tightened their lending requirements and 
potential consumers waited for purchase prices to fall 
further. All of these factors in combination had brought 
the real estate investment market to a virtual standstill by 
the end of 2008. the steepest fall over the year as a whole 
was in the demand for office properties, which declined 
by 77 % compared to 2007. In the hotel property segment, 
only properties with long-term lease agreements were in 
demand. Real estate investment business centred on the 
prime locations of Berlin, Düsseldorf, Frankfurt, Ham-
burg, Cologne and Munich.

owing to the fraught situation on the capital markets 
and the deteriorating wider economy, returns on real 
estate increased in virtually all of Germany’s property 
strongholds, especially in the fourth quarter of 2008. net 
starting yields for prime properties have now climbed 
to over 5 % across the board, pushing property values 
downwards. Rental prices are also likely to fall in this 
area in the short to medium term. Mindful that security is 
preferable to yield, investment transactions are intensify-
ing the focus on properties with the lowest possible risk, 
characterised by lengthy rental contracts, excellent qual-
ity fittings and creditworthy tenants.

The office market
Vacancy rates on the office markets were still falling at 

the end of 2008. As regards the office centres of Berlin, 
Düsseldorf, Hamburg, Frankfurt, Cologne, Munich and 
Stuttgart, the total vacancy rate again fell sharply from 
the previous year’s level of 9.7 % to 8.6 % by year end. 
In overall terms, vacancy tended to decline in modern, 
newly built premises; in future, rising vacancy levels in 
older properties no longer compliant with market condi-
tions will expand the base vacancy rate. 

owing to the fact that demand levels remained high 
throughout the first two quarters of last year and the 
availability of modern, centrally located office space 

declined as vacancy dropped sharply, peak rents rose 
again in all locations.

At the present time, it is impossible to predict the 
number of office jobs that will be lost in 2009 due to 
the financial crisis, and the impact this will have on the 
demand for office space in Germany. However, demand 
is already starting to shift to alternative, centrally located 
and lower priced sites, which will suppress peak rents 
and raise vacancy levels. At the same time, the restric-
tive financing situation is likely to lead to a reduction in 
the project volume, which will mean a clear marketing 
advantage for projects in progress.

The residential property market
According to figures published by the Federal Statistical 

office, the demand for residential property in Germany 
will continue to rise. Accordingly, the demand for prop-
erty ownership will also remain consistently high. Cur-
rent levels of excess demand will be maintained, espe-
cially in the larger German conurbations. As a result, the 
residential market in German cities still holds a great deal 
of development potential. In overall terms, prices have 
risen in both the rental and ownership segments in Ber-
lin, Frankfurt, Cologne and Munich. the highest average 
rents in good locations are in Frankfurt (€ 13.50/sqm) and 
Munich (€ 12–14/sqm); Berlin and Cologne are relatively 
affordable at € 7–11/sqm. 

The retail market
In Germany, CA Immo focuses on the realisation of local, 

small-scale retail businesses. the financial market crisis 
had no visible effect on consumer behaviour in 2008, and 
thus no impact on the rental market for retail premises. 
expanding product ranges led to greater demand for floor 
space, which in turn was reflected in rising rent prices. 
Across Germany, rent prices for large units (120–260 sqm) 
rose by an average of 3.5 %; for the smaller units (60–120 
sqm), the mean increase was 2.98 %. For the country as a 
whole, the average peak rent stood at € 60/sqm. purchase 
prices for business premises in prime sites were high, 
and unlikely to be forced downwards by the financial 
market crisis for some time. By contrast, the investment 
volume in shopping centres, factory outlet centres and 
specialist retail centres decreased in the second half of 
the year. Although Germany still tops the european table, 
total turnover fell from € 11.3 bn in the previous year to 
€ 6.1 bn in 2008.

The hotel property market
Hotel chains continued to expand in Germany in 2008. 

Both the number of companies and the number of hotels 

tHe ReAl eStAte MARKet 
In GeRMAny
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rose significantly in comparison with the previous year. 
According to the German Hotel Association, average 
prices and room revenues increased in the first half of 
2008. During the second six months, however, the finan-
cial market crisis began to affect the German hotel sector, 
with only low-budget hotels benefiting from the greater 
price-sensitivity of many consumers. 

the CA Immo Group is actively developing high value 
hotel projects in the trade fair centres of Berlin, Basel, 
Frankfurt and Cologne, which are highly popular des-
tinations thanks to their plentiful leisure and cultural 
facilities. Demand for places to stay is continually rising 
in these cities owing to growing numbers of conference 
participants, business travellers and tourists.

DeVelopMent oF oFFICe MARKetS FoR 

CA IMMo pRIMe loCAtIonS In GeRMAny 2008

 2007 2008 Change in % 

Berlin

office space inventory in m sqm 17.8 17.90 +0.6 %

leased office space in sqm 620,000 490,000 – 21.0 %

Vacancy in sqm 1,550,000 1,450,000 – 6.5 %

Vacancy rate in % 8.7 8.1 – 6.9 %

peak rent in €/sqm net exclusive 21.5 22.0 +2.3 %

Düsseldorf

office space inventory in m sqm 7.1 7.1 +0.0 %

leased office space in sqm 520,700 424,100 – 18.6 %

Vacancy in sqm 661,000 626,000 – 5.3 %

Vacancy rate in % 9.3 8.8 – 5.4 %

peak rent in €/sqm net exclusive 22.2 23.6 +6.3 %

Frankfurt

office space inventory in m sqm 11.6 11.6 +0.0 %

leased office space in sqm 550,000 510,000 – 7.3 %

Vacancy in sqm 1,650,000 1,580,000 – 4.2 %

Vacancy rate in % 14.2 13.6 – 4.2 %

peak rent in €/sqm net exclusive 37.0 38.0 +2.7 %

Cologne

office space inventory in m sqm 7.1 7.2 +1.4 %

leased office space in sqm 285,000 300,000 +5.3 %

Vacancy in sqm 600,000 600,000 +0.0 %

Vacancy rate in % 8.5 8.3 – 2.4 %

peak rent in €/sqm net exclusive 21.0 21.5 +2.4 %

Munich (city and environs)

office space inventory in m sqm 12.9 13.2 +2.3 %

leased office space in sqm 696,000 667,000 – 4.2 %

Vacancy in sqm 1,457,000 1,405,000 – 3.6 %

Vacancy rate in % 12.0 11.1 – 7.5 %

peak rent in €/sqm net exclusive 32.5 35.0 +7.7 %

note: All floor space data given as rentable area according to gif, conversion factor: gross floor area x 0.85 
Source: gif e.V., Annual Survey of office Markets 2008; correct as at February 2009
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tHe pRopeRty MARKet 
In eASteRn euRope 

Following positive results for the first half of 2008, the 
deteriorating situation on the financial markets adversely 
affected real economies across eastern europe, thus 
impacting on the property markets of the region. the 
upshot was a steep downturn in the investment volume 
on nearly all eastern european markets between the third 
and fourth quarters of 2008 and a near-total collapse of 
real estate transactions in the fourth quarter along with 
rising yields and vacancy levels. towards the end of the 
year, another symptom emerged as rental prices fell on 
some markets.

During 2008, a total of € 9.5 bn was invested in commer-
cial real estate in the Cee region, 37 % less than in 2007 
but 47 % above the level for 2005. In the final quarter of 
2008 in particular, total transactions fell steeply to overall 
€ 580 m. this was a direct consequence of the limited 
availability of credit, the temporary pull-out of major Ger-
man property funds and uncertainty over future econom-
ic developments. 

The investment market 1)

Investment on the office market accounted for around 
50 % of the total investment volume. the proportion of 
turnover for the retail sector fell from 39 % (in 2007) to 
29 %. Investment activity focused on cities, which pose 
less risk. price adjustment on the real estate markets, 
which is likely in the present climate, will create attrac-
tive investment opportunities in the Cee states in particu-
lar. Investors with sufficient equity are awaiting the right 
moment to make acquisitions. 

 In the countries of Southeastern europe and the Com-
monwealth of Independent States (CIS) in particular, 
office segment yields have risen sharply. yield in Russia 
was in the range of 10–12 % in the fourth quarter of 2008 
(up 250–450 base points in year-on-year comparison) 
and at 8.25–9 % in Bulgaria and Serbia. yields were also 
up on the Cee markets: in the final quarter of 2008, they 
ranged from 6.25 % in Warsaw (up 85 base points) to 9 % 
in Bratislava. yields are expected to continue rising for 
the time being.

The office market
In overall terms, the office markets of eastern europe 

asserted themselves strongly in 2008. the demand for of-
fice space reached record levels in the first six months in 
regions such as Moscow and Belgrade, before imploding 
in the final quarter. However, the markets could not fully 
absorb the high number of completions over 2008 as a 
whole, and vacancy rates increased significantly across 
nearly all of eastern europe (from 6 % to 11.3 % in the 
Cee, and to around 8.5 % in the See; source: CBRe). the 

sharpest rise in vacancy was seen in Russia (5.9 % to 
15.1 %). only Warsaw achieved a lower vacancy level. 
Future developments will be guided by regional market 
conditions, which are linked to the scale of project pipe-
lines and movements in underlying economic data. 

Greater numbers of completed projects – launched in 
more favourable economic times – will come onto the 
market in 2009, which will adversely affect vacancy 
in the light of falling demand. As a consequence of the 
global financial market crisis, financing for development 
projects has become more difficult to secure, which in 
particular is delaying – and even threatening to termi-
nate – those projects still at the planning stage by year 
end. Vacancy levels are therefore expected to start falling 
again by 2010 at the latest.

Having increased markedly in the first half of 2008, 
rental rates in most eastern european nations came un-
der severe pressure in the second six months. In yearly 
comparison, rental growth was generally low, although 
peak rents actually fell in a number of cities (including 
Belgrade and Sofia). the main factors behind this trend 
(apart from the crisis on the international finance mar-
ket) were the massive devaluations sustained by local 
currencies in certain countries and the rising vacancy 
rates. Russia had the highest peak rent on the eastern 
european office market (€ 91.44/sqm per month in the 
fourth quarter of 2008). poland (€ 23–28/sqm), the Czech 
Republic (€ 20–23/sqm) and Hungary (€ 20–22.50/sqm) 
were commanding rents of similar magnitude in the final 
quarter. the lowest rents for office space were found in 
Serbia (€ 15.50–17.50/sqm) and Bulgaria (€ 15–17/sqm), 
although new lettings were no longer commanding these 
rates by the end of the year.

Retail
As the standard of living has improved over recent 

years in the countries of eastern and Southeastern  
europe, shopping centres have experienced a boom, 
with scores of new malls continuing to be built. Retail 
premises are now available in all major cities of the 
region, which is greatly intensifying the level of com-
petition between the various sites. In this segment, the 
choice of location and the quality of the shopping centre 
will be, more than ever before, the determining factors 
behind any successful long-term investment. 

 The hotel property market 2)

the expansion of the eu into eastern europe over 
recent years spurred the development of hotel property 
markets in the region, with scores of international hotel 

1)  Source: CBRe, Cee property investment 2008
2)  Source: CBRe – Market View Hotels Cee 2008
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groups establishing themselves in the main cities of the 
Czech Republic, poland and Hungary. With 12.2 mil-
lion overnight stays in 2007, prague ranks as the best 
performing market in the eastern european hotel sector 
(source: MRG). However, developments on the global fi-
nancial markets have gradually applied the brakes to the 
region’s hotel property market. International banks and 
investors are exercising greater caution in their lending, 
making it more difficult to secure financing for develop-
ment projects in the hotel segment. At the same time, 
compared to the previous year’s level, the capacity of ho-
tels in central and eastern europe fell by 6.7 % in 2008 
to stand at 65 %. yields, which had been falling steadily 
since 2000, rose again last year in response to the lack of 
investment. At the end of 2008, they ranged from 7.50 % 
in prague and Warsaw to 9.25 % in Bucharest. Returns 
are likely to increase further in 2009.

Although the construction market for hotels in the 
three, four and five-star categories is largely saturated 

in poland and the Czech Republic, demand for hotels 
was sustained in Croatia, Slovakia, Serbia, Romania, the 
ukraine and Russia in 2008. However, given the tough 
economic conditions and uncertainty over future devel-
opments, it is not possible to predict which projects will 
actually come to fruition. the proportion of hotels in the 
upper bracket continues to increase across these regions, 
but luxury hotels are gaining ground only gradually. 

Cee pRIMe RentS By yeAR  

  2000       2001       2002       2003       2004       2005       2006       2007       2008  

Source: CBRe, Cee offices 2008
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City Yield

Belgrade 8.2–9.0 %

Bratislava 7.0–9.0 %

Budapest 7.0–8.0 %

Bucharest 7.0–8.0 %

Moscow 10.0–11.0 %

prague 6.2–7.0 %

Sofia 8.5–9.2 %

Warsaw 6.2–7.0 %
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pRopeRty ASSetS

the CA Immo Group invests in commercial real estate 
in Central europe, focusing heavily on office properties. 

As regards regional activity, the Group operates in 
Austria through the parent company CA Immo and in 
Germany through the wholly owned subsidiaries Vivico 
Real estate GmbH and Vivico AG. the Group’s portfolio 
in eastern europe is managed by the subsidiary CA Immo 
International. two business areas encompass the Group’s 
core expertise: portfolio management (concentrating on 
the generation of maximum yield from income producing 
properties) and project development.

In its consolidated balance sheet for 2008, the CA Immo 
Group reported property assets (excluding forward pur-
chases) of approximately € 3.8 bn (€ 2.5 bn in 2007), al-
located as follows:  

property assets let, including properties 

used for own purposes and properties 

intended  for trading 

2.7 bn € 

(71 % of the 

total portfolio)

property assets under development 1.1 bn € 

(29 % of the 

total portfolio)

As of the key date, the Group’s property assets let rep-
resented a total effective area of 1.38 m sqm, of which 
office space accounted for around 57 % and storage facili-
ties made up 18 %. According to estimates, 47 % of the 
property assets let are located in Germany, 30 % are in 
Austria and income-generating real estate of CA Immo 
International in the eastern european states accounts 
for 23 %. 

of development projects with a total value of € 1.1 bn, 
approximately 4 % relates to developments and strategic 
land reserves of CA Immo in Austria; Germany accounts 
for 81 % and the remaining 15 % comprises CA Immo In-
ternational projects in the Cee/See region and the CIS.

In 2008, the Group generated rental income of 
€ 175.3 m (€ 123.3 m in 2007); therefore property assets 
let are producing a yield measured by book value of 
around 6.3 % in 2008 (5.8 % in 2007).

the average economic vacancy rate (measured by 
expected annual rental income) stood at 5.1 % in 2008 
(3.8 % in 2007). 

DIStRIButIon oF BooK VAlue  

By CoMpAny AnD type 

projects and Forward pur-
chases CA Immo Int. 4 %

projects and Forward pur-
chases CA Immo AG  24 %

Income-producing proper-
ties CA Immo Int.   16 %

trading  
CA Immo AG 4 %

owner occupied  
CA Immo AG  1 %

Income-producing proper-
ties CA Immo AG 51 %
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DIStRIButIon oF BooK VAlue CA IMMo  

By ReGIon

Germany 59 %

Austria 21 %

eastern/ 
South east europe 20 %

DIStRIButIon oF BooK VAlue  

By MAIn uSAGe type

Retail 2 %

Commercial  
and warehouse  8 %

Residential 7 %

Hotel 5 %

office 52 %

other 26 %
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oVeRAll poRtFolIo 

Austria Germany Eastern and 

Southeastern 

Europe

Total 

Property assets 31.12.2007 € m 892.5 934.4 708.4 2,535.3

property assets let € m 805.2 915.5 599.0 2,319.6

property assets under development € m 87.3 19.0 109.4 215.7

property own used € m 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

property intended for trading € m 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Acqusition of new properties € m 5.2 1,448.0 112.0 1,565.2

Investments in current projects € m 6.1 118.0 66.5 190.6

Investments in the portfolio stock € m 9.2 35.7 12.0 56.9

Change from revaluation/impairment € m – 81.3 – 112.1 – 92.2 – 285.6

Disposals € m – 31.7 – 187.5 – 55.0 – 274.2

Property assets 31.12.2008 € m 800.1 2,236.5 751.7 3,788.3

property assets let € m 747.9 1,184.5 588.2 2,520.7

property assets under development € m 40.6 876.9 162.2 1,079.8

property own used € m 11.5 7.9 0.0 19.4

property intended for trading € m 0.0 167.1 1.2 168.4

Annual rental income 1) € m 45.2 91.5 38.7 175.3

Annualized rental income € m 46.0 91.4 40.9 178.3

Vacancy rate property assets let  %  9.8  1.3  6.0  5.1 

yield property assets let  %  6.1  6.0  7.3  6.3 

1) incl. annual rental income from properties sold in 2008 (€ 4.4 m)
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pRopeRty ASSetS By BAlAnCe SHeet IteMS 

CA Immo CA Immo Internat. 

Eastern and South

East Europe

CA Immo Group

totalAustria Germany

Property assets let

usable space (excluding parking spaces) thsd sqm 408 745 231 1.384

number of parking space no. 4,463 7,832 3,734 16,029

Book value € m 747.9 1,184.5 588.2 2,520.7

Rental income (actual)1) € m 44.6 66.3 38.7 149.6

Rental income (annualized) € m 45.9 70.8 40.9 157.6

Vacancy % 9.8 1.3 6.0 5.1

yield % 6.1 6.0 7.3 6.3

Property assets under developement

usable space (excluding parking spaces) thsd sqm 12 457 222 691

number of parking space no. 45 3,977 6,259 10,281

Book value € m 40.6 876.9 162.2 1,079.8

Rental income (actual)1) € m 0.1 10.3 0.0 10.4

Property intended for trading

usable space (excluding parking spaces) thsd sqm 0 139 0 139

number of parking space no. 0 634 0 634

Book value € m 0 167.1 1.2 168.4

Rental income (actual)1) € m 0 11.0 0.0 11.0

Investment property own used

usable space (excluding parking spaces) thsd sqm 3 3 0 6

number of parking space no. 40 20 0 60

Book value € m 11.5 7.9 0 19.4

1) excl. rental income for sold objects in 2008 (4.4 Mio. €)
2) excl. 4.099 thsd sqm land reserve

leASe ContRACt AnAlySIS  based on effective rental income of the current lease contracts  

  Austria       Germany       Cee/See

€ m
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17 %

2010 20122011 2013 2014 ff unlimited

50 



the Group’s portfolio strategy is geared to the specific 
conditions on individual markets as well as general eco-
nomic conditions. early in 2008, CA Immo responded 
to the developments on the real estate and financial 
markets stemming from the subprime crisis by focusing 
on realising the current project pipeline as efficiently 
as possible and securing the earning power of income 
producing properties for the long term. operational 
business activities in 2008 thus revolved around the 
consolidation of existing tenancies in income generating 
properties. new projects will be initiated only where fi-
nancing and a high degree of pre-letting can be secured.

Generally speaking, the emphasis has been on income 
producing properties and development projects in the 
office segment with a clear bias towards prime sites. 
CA Immo continued to work within its core regions of 
Austria, Germany and Central eastern and South eastern 
europe during 2008, withholding further expansion. 
this phase of consolidation will carry on throughout 
2009. 

the portfolio strategy also envisages the sale of 
10–15 % of existing income-generating properties each 
year in order to release capital resources that can be 
devoted to pipeline projects. the same objective will 
be pursued in 2009, provided the investment market 
opens up again and sales can be made under reason-
able conditions.

the CA Immo Group continues to rely on an internal 
management team made up of real estate experts who 
have a comprehensive understanding of the markets as 
well as expertise across the sector. For CA Immo, local 
offices, long-standing partnerships with project devel-
opers and the uniCredit Group network constitute the 
basis for the purposeful and high-yielding management 
of real estate – a basis that adds up to a clear competi-
tive advantage.

tHe poRtFolIo StRAteGy 
oF tHe CA IMMo GRoup

InVeStMent StRAteGy

office, Hotel, Retail, logistical, Residential  

type oF utIlISAtIon

ACtIVe exploItAtIon

- technical revaluation

- utilising floor space potential

- optimising costs

- letting, drafting rental contracts

- Raise earnings

- Sustainability

- Value appreciation

BuSIneSS AReAS 

ACtIVIty

AIM

pRoJeCt DeVelopMent ACQuISItIon oF StoCK pRopeRty

- Developing sites

- planning and construction

- Marketing of premises

- Augment asset portfolio

- Raise earnings potential

- Generate yield

- portfolios

- Single properties

- long-term yield

- Consistent cash flow

- Basis for long-term value increase

MAnAGeMent RepoRt

M
A

n
A

G
e

M
e

n
t

 R
e

p
o

R
t

51



oVeRVIeW oF pRopeRtIeS

VIennA 
Mariahilfer Straße 17 
Residential, Retail, office

VIennA  
Handelskai/DBC 388 
office

VIennA
Rennweg 16, Hotel Savoyen 
Hotel, office

VIennA 
Schönbrunnerstraße 247 
office

VIennA 
Döblinger Hauptstraße 66 
Residential, office

VIennA
landstr. Hauptstraße 97–101, Galleria 
Retail, office, Residential

VIennA 
Garnisongasse 22 
Residential, Retail

VIennA 
linke Wienzeile 234 
office

VIennA 
Siebensterngasse 20 
Residential

SeyRInG 
Brünner Straße 160 
Retail, office

VIennA 
prinz-eugen-Straße 72 
office

WelS 
Kaiser-Josef-platz 49 
office, Retail

VIennA 
Stroheckgasse 6 
Residential

VIennA
erdberger lände 26–32 
office, Retail

SAlZBuRG 
Ferdinand Hanusch platz 1 
office, Retail

lInZ 
Altstadt 16 
Residential, Retail

SAlZBuRG 
Getreidegasse 34/36 
Commerce, Retail, Residential

SAlZBuRG 
Rathausplatz 2 
Retail

InCoMe pRoDuCInG pRopeRtIeS 
AuStRIA 
(SeleCtIon)
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oVeRVIeW oF pRopeRtIeS

For a general overview of properties please refer to page 168 ff.

InCoMe pRoDuCInG pRopeRtIeS 
eASt-/SoutHeASteRn euRope 
(SeleCtIon)

BelGRADe
Belgrade office park
office

BuDApeSt
Canada Square
office

WARSAW
Wspólna
office

WARSAW
Warsaw Financial Center
office

BuDApeSt
Vízívaros office Center
office

BuCHAReSt
Bucharest Business park
office

pRAGue
europort
office, Hotel, Commerce

pIlSen
Diplomat Center pilsen
Hotel

BuCHAReSt
opera Center 2
office

lJuBlJAnA
Austria trend Hotel ljubljana
Hotel

BuDApeSt
Buda Business Center
office

BuDApeSt 
R70 office Complex  
office

BuCHAReSt
opera Center 1
office

BuDApeSt
Bartok Ház
office

SoFIA 
europark office Building
office
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oVeRVIeW oF pRopeRtIeS

BeRlIn 
Hallesches ufer 
office

BeRlIn
Spreebogen 
office

BeRlIn 
Königliche Direktion 
office

BeRlIn 
Joachimstaler Straße 20 
office and Retail

WIeSBADen 
Wirtschaftsministerium 
office

KASSel 
Courthouse 
office

ColoGne 
office building Johannisstraße 
office

MunICH 
AtMoS 
office

BeRlIn
Römischer Hof – unter den linden 
office

KARlSRuHe 
lammstraße 19 
office

ColoGne 
Rheinpalais 
office

BeRlIn 
Hamburger Bahnhof 
Museum

ColoGne 
RheinAtrium 
office

MunICH 
Das VeluM 
office and Residential

HAMBuRG  
logistikzentrum H & M 
logistics

InCoMe pRoDuCInG pRopeRtIeS 
GeRMAny 
(SeleCtIon)

For a general overview of properties please refer to page 168 ff.
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oVeRVIeW oF pRopeRtIeS

FRAnKFuRt/MAIn  
europaviertel, nord 4 
Hotel

FRAnKFuRt/MAIn  
urban district europaviertel 
office, Retail and Residential

BeRlIn  
lehrter urban district 
Hotel, office

MunICH 
Arnulfpark, SKyGARDen 
office

FRAnKFuRt/MAIn  
europaviertel, tower185 
office

MunICH 
urban district Arnulfpark 
office and Residential

FRAnKFuRt/MAIn  
europaviertel, Boulevard 
Residential, office, Retail

MunICH 
Schlossviertel nymphenburg  
Residential

MunICH 
lAIM 
office 

BeRlIn 
Gleisdreieck 

pRoJeCt DeVelopMentS 
GeRMAny 
(SeleCtIon)
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SeGMent RepoRt 
FoR AuStRIA

tHe InCoMe pRoDuCInG pRopeRty AReA

the Austrian asset portfolio (including properties own 
used) comprises effective rentable area of approximately 
411,000 sqm, representing an approximate book value 
of € 759.5 m at current valuation. over the past business 
year, this portfolio generated rental income of € 44.6 m, 
equivalent to an average yield of 6.1 %. letting perform-
ance in Austria remained healthy in 2008, with over 
12,400 sqm of office space and 7,400 sqm of residential 
space let for the first time in Vienna alone. 

Activity centred on the active management of the as-
set portfolio and the securing of tenancies for the long 
term. Specifically, this involved renovating and adapting 
premises previously utilised as offices into residential 
units – one sign of the way in which CA Immo is reacting 
quickly to changes in market demand. 

examples of the successful implementation of this 
strategy include the 16 new residential units at Markgraf-
Rüdiger Strasse/löschenkohlgasse in Vienna, and the 
property at Goethestraße in linz. In another property at 
Garnisongasse in Vienna’s 9th municipal district, a loft 
conversion has been completed and major renovation has 
been carried out on all apartments in the old building. 
the proximity of this property to central Vienna is one 
key factor behind the occupancy of all rental units prior 
to completion.

In the retail premises area, CA Immo has significantly 
extended the Haas pyramids building on Brünner Strasse 
in Seyring by adding a storage hall with effective area of 
4,160 sqm.

Having successfully let the hotel on Rennweg 16 to the 
Austria trend Hotel Group, the company also rented the 
‘office by the Botanical Gardens’, which occupies the 
same property, in the first half of 2008. In terms of floor 
space, the handover of more than 3,340 sqm of effective 
area to peek & Cloppenburg was one of the biggest new 
rentals on the Viennese office market last year. Dur-
ing 2008, CA Immo also relocated its headquarters, as 
planned, to a new site at Mechelgasse 1, 1030 Vienna.

Redevelopment of the Donau Business Center office 
building at Handelskai in Vienna’s second municipal 
district (the planned office extension and alternative 
utilisation as a hotel) did not take place owing to cur-
rent market trends. Although this led to an increase in 

year-on-year vacancy as shown below, letting activities 
since initiated with reduced rents are now bearing fruit. 
the present marketing strategy is designed to generate ad-
ditional rental income, cut the costs to the company and 
thus improve cash flow in connection with this property. 
the direct link to the public underground railway net-
work, due to be completed by the end of 2010, will raise 
the value of the location; CA Immo is therefore seeking 
to secure rental agreements with terms of three years to a 
maximum of five years.

the average economic vacancy rate in the asset portfo-
lio (measured by expected annual rental income) stood at 
9.8 % in 2008; as of key date 31 December 2008, vacancy 
was 9.9 %. 

Acquisitions in 2008
throughout 2008, CA Immo steadily acquired condo-

minium shares (including office and residential sec-
tions) in the Galleria Landstrasse shopping centre in the 
Vienna 3 district. CA Immo became the sole owner of the 
entire property in January 2009. Galleria, built as a con-
dominium property nearly 20 years ago, has net rentable 
effective area of some 30,200 sqm. of this, commercial 
premises account for approximately 45 %, with office and 
residential space making up the remainder. A car park 
with 388 spaces is available to customers. Starting in 
2009, CA Immo will be investing in the urgently required 
modernisation of the centre in order to capitalise on its 
advantages (central location on landstrasser Hauptstraße, 
excellent ease of access via private and public transport 
and the attachment of residents to the site). the revitali-
sation of the centre, which is currently being planned, 
will include full restoration of the façade and adaptation 
work in the general mall area.

thanks to the acquisition of a site in Marchtrenk in 
upper Austria, the building on third party land acquired 
in 1988 has been extended to include the corresponding 
plot. Management of the entire site is now possible.

CA Immo invested approximately € 40.7 m in its Aus-
trian portfolio in 2008, including acquisitions. Around 
€ 3.6 m was devoted to maintenance with a view to up-
holding the fabric of buildings and the quality of rental 
units.

Sales in 2008
total revenue of € 30.4 m was generated by selling land 

and properties from the domestic portfolio over the past 
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year. Most of these sales involved smaller properties and 
portfolio-enhancing condominium shares; a plot previ-
ously rented by a commercial tenant was also sold off. In 
total, CA Immo sold approximately 30,200 sqm of land 
and around 8,000 sqm of rentable effective area.

tHe DeVelopMent pRoJeCtS AReA

CA Immo acquired a sizeable package of development 
properties in Vienna back in 2007. Most of these were 
small-scale properties in inner city locations that were 
suitable for residential or hotel utilisation. Appropri-
ate property use approval applications were lodged for 
a number of these in 2008, and planning and market-
ing activities were initiated. the most advanced scheme 
is a hotel project on Altmannsdorfer Straße, for which 

planning permission is expected in spring 2009. the 
four-star hotel will have around 260 rooms. CA Immo is 
realising another hotel project in an income producing 
property on Fürbergstraße in Salzburg: conversion work 
for this budget hotel will start by mid-2009. the total 
investment volume for the two projects is approximately 
€ 32 m; financing with outside capital is under negotia-
tion for both projects, and dialogue with future tenants is 
at an advanced stage.

CA Immo’s biggest development project in Austria is 
planned on Erdberger Lände, a property in Vienna’s 3rd 
district is currently let to Siemens in its entirety. In order 
to secure the site for the long term and to raise its value, 
CA Immo and the city of Vienna have collaborated to 
launch a town planning competition that has been an-
nounced across europe.

Vienna Retail Centre Galleria, visualisation of the new front
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CA Immo has been investing in Germany since the 
autumn of 2006. By the balance sheet date of 31 De-
cember 2008, the company had built up property as-
sets amounting to € 2.2 bn on this market, equivalent 
to approximately 59 % of the CA Immo Group’s total 
property assets. CA Immo moved into europe’s larg-
est real estate market with the acquisition of a package 
of properties worth € 798 m from the federal state of 
Hesse. these properties are leased to the state of Hesse 
for the long term. on average, lease agreements have 
around 23 years left to run. As well as procuring more 
commercial properties in 2007 and 2008, the company 
acquired Vivico Real estate GmbH – a project develop-
ment company with a significant portfolio of centrally 
sited real estate in major German cities – at the turn of 
the year 2007/2008. the purchase price for the stake in 
Vivico was € 1.03 bn, and the property assets thereby 
acquired, which had a total value of around € 1.3 bn, 
was recognised on the balance sheet and in the income 
statement in early 2008. 

the Vivico Group emerged from a collecting society 
for railway properties in 2001, and until recently it was 
wholly owned by the German government. In 2003, its 
property portfolio was streamlined as part of a realign-
ment towards intrinsically valuable real estate and 
properties with development potential. Since then, the 
core competence of Vivico has been urban district en-
hancement. Vivico’s real estate services include portfo-
lio management, portfolio development and trading; its 
portfolio, which comprises intrinsically valuable real 
estate and premises in the most densely populated areas 
of Germany, includes landmark buildings, such as the 
Römischer Hof ® in Berlin and the Rheintriadem® in 
Cologne. Vivico is highly skilled in the transformation 
of inner city real estate formerly given over to industrial 
usages, and specialises in the development of mixed-use 
districts in major cities. the company has head offices in 
Frankfurt am Main, with branch offices in Berlin, Cologne 
and Munich. Vivico’s experienced team of real estate ex-
perts also provides the CA Immo Group with a powerful 
platform on which to implement its activities in Germany 
(and especially its development projects) methodically 
and cost-efficiently.

the integration of Vivico and the restructuring of real 
estate and project development business were key pri-
orities for the CA Immo Group in Germany in 2008. All 
activities in Germany – acquisitions, the management of 
property assets and project development – are now organ-
ised and undertaken through Vivico Real estate GmbH.

Strategically speaking, the CA Immo Group has focused 
its investment activities on the major west German cit-
ies. Development business has been largely concerned 
with accelerating existing projects with a high degree of 
pre-letting, particularly in Munich, Frankfurt and Berlin. 
properties were also sold as planned in order to boost the 
Group’s capital resources and generate capital for new 
projects. 

tHe InCoMe pRoDuCInG pRopeRty AReA

the German property assets let comprises an effective 
rentable area of 745,000 sqm, representing an approxi-
mate book value of € 1,184.5 m at current valuation. the 
occupancy rate for these properties averaged 98.7 % in 
2008, with the typical remaining period on fixed-term 
rental contracts standing at around 24 years and aver-
age rents at € 8.29/sqm. over the past business year, this 
portfolio generated rental income of € 66.3 m. In 2008, 
CA Immo invested approximately € 10.4 m for mainte-
nance of its income producing properties in Germany. 

In response to market trends – which will remain dif-
ficult to predict – and in line with its policy of prudent 
valuation, the CA Immo Group performed a value adjust-
ment for its income producing properties amounting to 
€ 66.8 m at the end of 2008. As at 31 December 2008, 
therefore, the overall portfolio delivered a yield of 6.0 %.

Purchases in 2008
one significant acquisition was a logistics centre for 

the textiles group Hennes & Mauritz in Hamburg. the 
forward purchase for effective area of around 115,000 
sqm was concluded in the third quarter of 2007. It was 
handed over to the tenant in the second quarter of 2008 
and recognised on the balance sheet as of closing on 16 
June 2008. With a term of 15 years, the lease agreement 
with H&M establishes the property as a stable generator 
of revenue. the annual rent of around € 7 m will equate 
to a return of approximately 6.2 % based on the current 
market value of € 112 m.

Sales in 2008
At the start of the year, the company set itself the goal 

of releasing capital and generating liquidity by sell-
ing off specific properties so that development projects 
could be realised on a sound financial footing. total 
sales of roughly € 214 m were recognised on the bal-
ance sheet in 2008, with these stocks producing profits 

SeGMent RepoRt 
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of € 24.2 m for the company. of the total rental income 
2008, rental income of these sold properties accounted 
for € 4 m.

Sales included the Mövenpick Hotel Frankfurt City to 
union Investment Real estate AG for a total consideration 
of € 63 m. the Hotel Mövenpick was the first building to 
be completed as part of the europaviertel urban develop-
ment project in Frankfurt. Constructed by Vivico in 2006, 
it was handed over to the operator Mövenpick as a turn-
key project, with a lease agreement running until 2024. 
the project development was thus successfully conclud-
ed with the sale at the end of September 2008. 

Another property in Germany sold in october was the 
Laim 290 office building in Munich, which was com-
pleted in 2008. the building, which has a rentable area 
of around 9,600 sqm, was also bought by union Invest-
ment Real estate AG for a purchase price of € 36 m. By 
the balance sheet date of 31 December 2008, another 
properties amounting to € 167.1 m are designed for 
trading. these properties yielded by 6.4 % in 2008, 
rental income stood at € 11 m.

In addition, sales with a total value of around € 110 m 
were agreed as part of a forward purchase; these will be 
reflected in the balance sheet in 2009 or 2010. the agree-
ment includes the sale of the Nord 1 office/commercial 

building on the Boulevard in Frankfurt’s europaviertel. 
the development project will go to union Investment 
Real estate AG, with final implementation of the transac-
tion (and hence the date at which it will be considered 
on the balance sheet) taking place after completion, 
which is scheduled for 2010. the sod-cutting ceremony 
for the building took place in october 2008.

tHe DeVelopMent pRoJeCtS AReA

the core activity of Vivico is project development, 
which is expected to deliver a significant contribution 
to future revenue growth for the CA Immo Group. over 
the next few years, the high-quality reserves of real estate 
held by the Group, mainly in inner city locations, will be 
steady developed in line with prevailing conditions on 
the property and financial market. one key priority will 
be the careful control of development risk through a bal-
anced mix of uses, sustainability in the design of build-
ings, high levels of pre-letting and the incorporation of 
project partners. In Germany alone, floor space totalling 
around 140,000 sqm (developed and undeveloped areas) 
was (pre-)let for the first time in 2008.

Hesse portfolio  33 %

Berlin 22 %

Frankfurt 16 %

Munich 13 %

Hamburg 6 %

others 10 %

BooK VAlue GeRMAny By CItIeS 
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With a view to optimising the realisation of its 
planned projects, Vivico acquired omniCon Holding 
GmbH, which specialises in construction manage-
ment, in 2008. thanks to the takeover, the Group has 
acquired significant expertise in the management of 
complex construction projects, from initial concept to 
planning, execution, handover and post-project sup-
port – expertise that previously had to be bought in 
from outside. 

In 2008, steadily deteriorating economic conditions 
had a major impact on project development business. 
Rising real estate yields, the restricted availability and 
higher cost of financing and difficulties in attracting 
new tenants and retaining existing tenants forced the 
company to revise its expectations as regards rental 
income. Delays in construction schedules also necessi-
tated the re-evaluation of some development projects. 
taken together, these factors also led to value adjust-
ments on certain projects. It is also important to point 
out that in determining the value of each individual 
project, future imputed developer’s profit is recognised 
as project costs in the range of 15 to 20 % of calculated 
total investment costs in accordance with the rules of 
valuation to attain market value. For full details on the 
valuation results, please refer to the property Valua-
tion chapter on 68 f.

Falling commodity prices and a general decline 
in building activity are lowering construction costs, 
which will have a positive effect in terms of the ef-
ficient realisation of development projects. Despite the 
largely adverse external influences, positive operation-
al progress was achieved in the development projects 
area in 2008. Key areas of development activity cur-
rently include:

Frankfurt/Main
the Europaviertel is a new city district on a site 

of around 90 hectares, 18 of which were developed 
by Vivico. It is currently the CA Immo Group’s larg-
est development project. the modern city district 
emerging on a site adjacent to the Frankfurt exhibi-
tion Centre and the banking district will combine 
residential apartments, offices, restaurants, a confer-
ence centre and retail premises. Reputable companies 
such as Bnp paribas, Bayerische Versorgungskammer, 
Mövenpick, Realgrund and Meininger Hotel have al-
ready signed up as both tenants and investors in the 
europaviertel.

the main features of the district are the Boulevard 
(six of its twelve lots are either under development 
or sold), the Skyline plaza shopping and conference 
centre with the Grand Hyatt Hotel tower, the tower185 
office high-rise and the Hotel Mövenpick, which has 
already been completed and sold. Foundation work for 
tower185 began with the ground-breaking ceremony 
on 29 September. With planned total investment of 
some € 450 m, the office tower is the largest project 
in the europaviertel; pre-letting had reached the level 
of 60 % by key date 31 December 2008. Construction 
of the 50-storey structure, distinctive amongst other 
things for its impressive energy and space efficiency, is 
scheduled to begin in mid-2009 when ongoing negotia-
tions over finance have been finalised. 

Munich
In the Bavarian state capital, CA Immo has access 

to extensive development sites in good locations with 
respect to infrastructure. one project currently nearing 
completion is the Arnulfpark city district, a central 
quarter of some 18 hectares aimed at businesses and 
high-quality housing close to the city’s main railway 
station. Around 1,000 apartments and 4,500 jobs are 
being created in total, along with two hotels, various 
restaurants, cultural facilities and local amenities. 

the SKyGARDen office building, part of the Arnulf-
park urban district, is being developed by Vivico in a 
joint venture with German developer oFB. the plan 
is for a new building with gross above-ground surface 
area of approximately 32,700 sqm. An important mile-
stone in the successful marketing of the project was 
passed in october 2008 when a lease agreement was 
signed with accounting and consultancy firm pricewa-
terhouseCoopers (pwC) for around 17,500 sqm of office 
space (roughly 53 % of the total area). Construction 
work on the building also began in october 2008. 

Also in Munich, Vivico is developing the Nym-
phenburg castle district, a high-class residential and 
commercial quarter. Around 1,200 apartments are 
envisaged, most of which have already been taken. 
Approximately 57,000 sqm of floor space will also be 
created for office and commercial purposes. AMBIG-
on is a combined business and medical centre with 
a planned gross floor area of 15,500 sqm, of which 
around 3,000 sqm will be devoted to shopping and 
catering outlets on the ground floor and first basement 
level. Marketing for the offices and the planned medi-
cal premises began at the end of the reporting year.
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Berlin
the Group owns three high-value real estate reserves 

in the German capital: the Gleisdreieck site, the lehrter 
area around Berlin’s main railway station and the city 
district bordering Heidestraße to the north. the large 
dimensions of the sites, all of which enjoy prime central 
locations, have made the CA Immo Group the third larg-
est landowner in Berlin.

In connection with the lehrter city district – directly 
adjacent to the city’s main station – plans are at varying 

stages of evaluation and scheduling regarding the con-
struction of hotels in various categories which will pro-
vide around 1,200 beds in total, a conference centre to 
accommodate around 3,500 people and two free-standing 
office buildings. Both an investor and a hotel operator 
have been secured for the first lot. the Meininger Group 
will run a hotel for international business travellers on 
the site, which offers close proximity to the main sta-
tion, the Berlin-Mitte centre and the government quarter; 
construction has now commenced. Discussions with 
other operators are under way for the other four lots.

pRoJeCt pIpelIne GeRMAny
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Heidestraße, Berlin Arnulfpark, Munich

erlenmatt, Basle

europaviertel, Frankfurt

lehrter City District, 
Berlin

Belsenpark, Düsseldorf

Gleisdreieck, Berlin

laim, Munich Schlossviertel, Munich
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SeGMent RepoRt FoR  
eASteRn AnD SoutHeASteRn euRope

the CA Immo Group has been investing in eastern 
europe since 1999. the Group now maintains a presence 
in nine countries in the regions of Central and eastern 
europe (Cee), Southern and eastern europe (See) and 
Russia (CIS) in the form of income producing properties 
and development projects. In 2006, CA Immo amalgamat-
ed its entire eastern european portfolio in the subsidiary 
company CA Immo International, which was floated on 
the stock market. As at 31 December 2008, CA Immo held 
an approximate 62 % stake in CA Immo International, 
having recently acquired additional shares. CA Immo In-
ternational’s real estate business comprises two core areas 
of activity: the acquisition and management of income 
producing properties and the development of projects. 
Since the start of 2007, the project development business 
area has mainly been administered through special funds. 
projects launched prior to 2007 are implemented directly 
by CA Immo International; projects commenced after 
1 January 2007 – provided they meet the fund require-
ments – are realised through the CA Immo new europe 
special fund, in which CA Immo International holds a 
60 % stake. 

poRtFolIo StRAteGy In (SoutH)eASteRn euRope

CA Immo International’s investment strategy takes its 
cue from the conditions prevailing on specific markets as 
well as the general economic situation. Accordingly, the 
focus in 2008 was on developing the existing (project) 
portfolio as efficiently as possible. the portfolio strategy 
also provides for the sale of 10–15 % of existing income-
generating properties per year in order to release capi-
tal resources that will facilitate implementation of the 
project pipeline. the same objective will be pursued in 
2009, provided the investment market opens up again 
and sales can be transacted under acceptable terms.

CA Immo International invests in commercial real estate 
such as offices and business hotels. Although the main 
emphasis is on the office segment at present, the portfolio 
will be diversified in the direction of business and logisti-
cal premises as current projects are implemented.

CA Immo International operated within its core regions 
in 2008, opting against further expansion, and this phase 
of consolidation will continue into 2009. the activities 
of the H1 hotel fund, which specialises in hotel projects 
(and in which CA Immo International holds a 50 % stake) 
have been suspended until further notice in view of the 
current market situation. 

In common with the parent company, CA Immo Interna-
tional continues to rely on an internal management team 
made up of real estate experts with a sound understand-
ing of markets and specific sectoral knowledge. local of-
fices, well established partnerships with project deve- 
lopers and the uniCredit Group network combine to form 
the basis on which CA Immo International can manage 
its real estate with the precision necessary to ensure high 
yield – a major competitive advantage.

tHe InCoMe pRoDuCInG pRopeRty AReA

on the balance sheet date 31 December 2008, the in-
come producing portfolio of CA Immo International had 
a book value of approximately € 588.2 m. the company 
invests in poland, Czech Republic, Slovakia, Hungary, 
Romania, Bulgaria, Slovenia and Serbia, with the Cee 
states accounting for 61 % and nations in the See region 
representing 39 %.

As 2008 progressed, the initially positive market out-
look for eastern europe dwindled in the face of increas-
ingly bleak forecasts and a slowdown in growth of the 
real economy. In response to the trend and the expanded 
country spreads associated with it, an appropriate value 
adjustment for the income producing properties amount-
ing to € 46.7 m was performed at the end of 2008. As at 
31 December 2008, therefore, the overall portfolio deliv-
ered a yield of 7.3 % (6.7 % in 2007); in regional terms, 
properties in the See produced a yield of 7.8 % (7.0 % in 
2007) and property stocks in the Cee region yielded 7.0 % 
(6.5 % in 2007). For full details on the valuation results, 
please refer to the property Valuation chapter on 68 f.

the Group has regional companies in poland, Hungary, 
Romania and Serbia that ensure the regional management 
of income producing properties is as efficient as possible. 
these companies, which have an intimate understanding 
of the market and tenants thanks to their local presence, 
are entrusted with property and project management 
tasks. the advantage of being able to ensure real estate 
quality locally, coupled with active tenant support, is re-
flected amongst other things in the vacancy rate: the aver-
age economic vacancy rate in the asset portfolio (meas-
ured by expected annual rental income) was successfully 
maintained at the low level of 6.0 % in 2008 (3.5 % in 
2007); vacancy on key date 31 December 2008 stood at 
4.7 % (3.2 % in 2007). Rental income of € 38.7 m was gen-
erated in 2008, equating to an average yield of 7.3 %.
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Central and Eastern Europe (CEE)
CA Immo International has always been strongly repre-

sented in the Cee countries, with just under two thirds 
of its assets located in the region. the company’s asset 
portfolio in the core market of Poland includes two high 
quality office properties in Warsaw: the Warsaw Financial 
Center (which is 50 % owned by CA Immo International) 
and another building in the capital’s central business dis-
trict. these properties, both of which are managed by one 
of the Group’s polish companies, are almost fully let (the 
vacancy rate for polish income producing properties was 
0.6 % on key date 31 December 2008) and generate excel-
lent rental prices. taken together, the properties offer a to-
tal rentable effective area of 31,994 sqm and a book value 
of around € 118.8 m according to current valuations.

In the Czech Republic, the company owns a business 
hotel at prague Airport and a building housing the eng-
lish International School. 

In addition, a forward purchase deal was finalised in the 
Czech city of pilsen at the end of July 2008. the Diplomat 
Center, a Marriott Courtyard Hotel, was completed in the 
autumn of 2007 and acquired by CA Immo International 
on 31 July 2008 for a purchase price of € 31 m. Around 
10,000 sqm of the building will be utilised as a hotel, 

with the remaining 4,000 sqm or so devoted to office 
space. the hotel will be let for 10 years, after which an 
operator contract will come into effect. taken together, 
these three properties have rentable effective area of 
38,748 sqm, a book value of approximately € 91.2 m ac-
cording to current valuations and a vacancy rate of 2.8 % 
as of key date 31 December 2008.

CA Immo International has one income producing prop-
erty in Slovakia. the Bratislava Business Center, acquired 
in 1999, has a rentable effective area of 9,257 sqm and a 
value of € 12.9 m. In addition, the company holds a land 
reserve in order to build an extension to the property. 

Contributing five income-generating properties to the 
asset portfolio, Hungary remains CA Immo International’s 
biggest regional market. the office properties, which are 
managed by a team of local experts, provide a rentable 
effective area of 59,832 sqm and have a book value of ap-
proximately € 138.8 m under current valuations.
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By uSAGe

InCoMe pRoDuCInG pRopeRtIeS: 

DIStRIButIon oF BooK VAlue CA IMMo InteRnAtIonAl 

By CountRy 

office 79 %

Hotel 19 %

other 2 %

Romania 20 %

Hungary 24 %

Slovenia 6 %

Czech Rep. 15 %

Bulgaria 4 %

Serbia 9 %

Slovakia 2 %

poland 20 %
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Southern and Eastern Europe (SEE)
CA Immo International invests in Romania, Bulgaria, 

Slovenia and Serbia in the See region. Romania is the 
company’s key target market in this region: CA Immo In-
ternational is investing in three high quality, attractively 
sited office properties in the capital, Bucharest. these 
properties are managed by a local team from CA Immo 
International. they are let at high rates, with a vacancy 
level of 0.0 % as of the key date; they provide a rentable 
effective area of 40,684 sqm and they have a book value of 
around € 115.7 m at current valuations. 

the asset portfolio in Bulgaria includes two office 
buildings in Sofia. Both are fully let, with remaining con-
tract terms of two years (europark office Building) and 
10 years (IBC). In total, the buildings have rentable effec-
tive area of 11,172 sqm and a total book value of around 
€ 25.2 m on the basis of latest valuations. 

In Slovenia, the company owns a hotel in ljubljana 
with an effective area of 17,931 sqm and a book value of 
around € 33.1 m. 

the company moved onto the market in Serbia in 2007 
when the acquisition of the first of two sections in the 
Belgrade Office Park complex was contractually secured 
in the form of a forward purchase. As the first section, 
which has an effective area of roughly 10,101 sqm, was 
acquired, the additional acquisition of another section 
was contractually agreed. this second section was hand-
ed over to the tenants at the end of 2008. 

Sales
the Renaissance tower in Warsaw was sold during the 

first quarter of 2008 for a purchase price of approximately 
€ 60 m, around 10 % above the last valuation carried out 
on 31 December 2007. the property, which was offered in 
a tender, was handed over to the buyer, a polish investor, 
on 8 February 2008.

tHe pRoJeCt DeVelopMent AReA

the steadily deteriorating economic conditions had a 
major impact on project development activities in 2008. 
Rising property yields, the restricted availability and 
higher cost of financing, reduced demand and postponed 
decisions on the part of potential tenants and delays in 
construction schedules combined to necessitate a general 
re-evaluation of development projects as well as value ad-
justments – significant in some instances – on individual 
projects. Whether these adjustments can be compensated, 
and if so, to what extent, will be largely determined by 
external factors as well as variables that the project team 
is able to control. For example, falling commodity prices 
and a general decline in building activity are lowering 
construction costs, which will have a positive effect on 
earnings from projects.

It is also important to point out that in determining the 
value of each individual project, future imputed develop-
ers profit is recognised as project costs in the range of 15  
to 20 % of calculated total investment costs. For full de-
tails on the valuation results, please refer to the property 
Valuation chapter on 68 f.

Despite the largely adverse external influences in 2008, 
major operational progress was achieved in the develop-
ment projects area, especially as regards obtaining neces-
sary approvals, construction processing, marketing and, 
above all, project financing. the majority of projects in 
which CA Immo International holds a majority stake, and 
for which the company is responsible for raising equity 
capital, are fully funded, and as such can be realised on a 
sound financial footing.

In the field of project development, CA Immo Interna-
tional is involved in or contractually committed to the 
following projects through the CA Immo new europe 
project development fund:

BelGRADe Belgrade office park
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Poland 
-  Poleczki Business Park: poland’s largest business park – 

it occupies a site of around 140,000 sqm – is a mixed-
use property complex made up of offices, commercial 
space and storage facilities with excellent infrastructure 
links. the official laying of the foundation stone was 
celebrated on schedule on 25 September 2008. the 
project is being developed in multiple phases as a 50:50 
joint venture between the CA Immo new europe project 
development fund and uBM. the planned total invest-
ment cost of the first phase is around € 120 m; a finance 
pledge of € 84 m has been given by Bank Austria, with 
the first payment of € 15 m already received. Comple-
tion of the first construction phase is scheduled for 
2010; pre-letting agreements and letters of intent (loIs) 
have been obtained for over 20 % of the floor space.

Serbia 
- Sava Business Center: this office project in the capital 

Belgrade is being realised by the CA Immo new europe 
project development fund for a total investment of ap-
proximately € 59 m. Construction work is due to be 
completed by the end of quarter one 2009. 
the project is 40 % financed with equity capital and 
60 % financed with loan capital, with financing secured 
through Bank Austria in the first half of 2008. the net 
rentable effective area will be 18,650 sqm plus around 
400 parking spaces; of this, nearly 17,000 sqm will be 
office space, with the remainder devoted to storage, ca-
tering and other uses. 
the general situation on the Serbian market deteriorated 

sharply during 2008, leading to a slackening of initially 
healthy demand (especially for larger premises) and a 
fall in rental prices. Cancellations that are occurring as 
international concerns review their business location 
policies are making the lettings situation even more dif-
ficult. to ensure this particular property is successfully 
positioned for the long term despite the broader picture, 
rental prices have been adjusted. this move is reflected 
in the valuation of the project.

Romania 
- Special Retail Centre Arad: In cooperation with an 

Austrian joint venture partner, the erection of a special-
ist retail centre is being planned for Arad, one of the ten 
largest cities in Romania. the site was acquired in June 
2008, the effective area will be of around 16,700 sqm,. 
Financing for the project was secured in the final quar-
ter of 2008; the start of construction now depends on a 
sufficient level of pre-letting, amongst other factors.

- Retail Park Sibiu: A double-level shopping centre with 
two single-storey specialist retail centres attached is 
being planned for Sibiu through a joint venture with a 
German/Romanian development group. With around 
170,000 inhabitants and a catchment area of about 
400,000 people, Sibiu is one of the 15 largest cities 
in Romania. the 220,000 sqm site was purchased in 
autumn 2007, since when intensive planning work has 
been continuing. Refinancing for the acquisition of the 
site was secured in mid-2008, along with the necessary 
infrastructure measures. A rental agreement for a 9,800 
sqm DIy store with garden centre has been signed with 

BelGRADe Sava Business Center SIBIu Retail park Sibiu
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an international DIy chain. the total planned retail 
space will amount to around 80,000 sqm. Construction 
work on the first phase of this project is scheduled to 
begin in the first quarter of 2009. total investment costs 
for overall completion are calculated at approximately 
€ 100 m. 
the company has taken account of the tougher econom-
ic situation by splitting the project into smaller phases. 
this will secure the site and ensure development poten-
tial is retained. the current economic climate has forced 
postponements to certain competitor projects, which 
in turn has lowered the completion rate and eased the 
pressure on the supply of new buildings for the local 
market. 

Hungary 
- Duna Center: A specialist retail centre with a total in-

vestment volume of € 18–20 m is being built in Györ 

under the terms of a 50:50 joint venture with a private 
investor group. All necessary planning permission has 
been granted, and a finance agreement of € 11 m has 
been concluded with Bank Burgenland. the effective 
area is approximately 16,500 sqm; some 40 % of the 
total rentable space has already been pre-let to interna-
tional chains, with negotiations in progress for a further 
30 %. Construction work commenced early in october 
2008, with completion and opening scheduled for Sep-
tember 2009. With a population of 130,000, Györ is the 
sixth largest city in Hungary. owing to its proximity to 
Austria and the presence of numerous foreign compa-
nies, the region boasts the second highest purchasing 
power in the country (after Budapest).

Russia 
- Airport City St. Petersburg (formerly pulkovo Business 

park): In St. petersburg, a four-star Crowne plaza Hotel 
and two office buildings will be built on a 62,300 sqm 
site adjacent to pulkovo Airport through a joint venture 
with Warimpex, uBM and the city’s airport. CA Immo 
International’s project development fund holds a 25 % 
stake in the project. the project will be realised in three 
construction phases, with the investment of approxi-
mately € 260 m in the first two phases creating effec-
tive area of around 55,000 sqm. phase one is currently 
in progress. the extremely challenging conditions that 
currently prevail in Russia have delayed negotiations 
regarding finance with outside capital whilst hamper-
ing realisation of the project and utilisation of the rental 
premises. At present, the company, with the consent of 
the joint venture partner, is considering the possibility 
of splitting phase one into two sections. 

- Matryoshka Retail Outlets: the construction of 11 con-
venience stores spanning between 1,500 sqm and 3,000 
sqm is being planned in residential areas of Moscow 
under the auspices of a 50:50 joint venture concluded 
in the city with a German/Russian partner. the first 
instalment in connection with the Matryoshka project 
has now been received, and the project is at the plan-
ning and development stage. owing to the restrictive 
economic conditions and their effect on local purchas-
ing power, the strategic priorities of prospective anchor 
tenants have become unclear; further investment thus 
depends on decisions taken by potential tenants in 
Moscow.

projects initiated before the establishment of the 
CA Immo new europe fund, and which do not satisfy 
the criteria of the fund, are implemented directly by 
CA Immo International. these projects include: GyöR Duna Center
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Russia 
- Maslov: the construction of an office property with 

rentable effective area of over 30,000 sqm is being 
planned for central Moscow with a German joint ven-
ture partner. the investment volume has been calcu-
lated at roughly € 150 m, 50 % of which will be taken on 
by CA Immo International. Work to install the infra-
structure started early in 2009. Despite modest estimates 
as regards rental prices and the good local infrastruc-
ture, revenue targets are falling owing to the uncertain 
developments in rental prices. two important mile-
stones were achieved in 2008 with the granting of prop-
erty use approval and the signing of a financing agree-
ment worth € 133 m. next steps will be agreed with the 
partner when final planning permission is secured, as 
expected, in the first half of 2009.

Slovakia
- BBC 1 plus: An office extension is being developed on 

a site forming part of the Bratislava Business Center of-
fice building (the BBC, an income producing property 
of CA Immo International). the annexe will provide ap-
proximately 14,000 sqm of extra floor space and around 
300 underground parking spaces. negotiations over 
finance and construction costs are currently under way, 
with the project already delayed by several months ow-
ing to the tougher climate. the decision concerning the 
start of construction is about to be made in the first half 
of 2009. As regards the letting situation, tenants from 
BBC I have indicated a particular interest in expanding 
or relocating. 

- Sekyra Tower: In preparation for the realisation of the 
Sekyra tower project in Bratislava, a 50 % stake in a 
project development company was acquired in octo-
ber 2008, and a 50:50 joint venture was agreed with 
project development firm Sekyra, the largest Czech/
Slovak company of its kind. the plan is to build a 
class A-multi-level mixed use (office, retail and resi-
dential) building with a net effective area of 34,000 
sqm and an underground car park with around 500 
spaces. the site of some 7,410 sqm is located close to 
the old town district and the national Bank of Slova-
kia in central Bratislava, and offers excellent public 
transport connections. the procedure from now on de-
pends on contractually agreed preconditions regarding 
the scope of usage approval being met. 

Hungary 
- Capital Square (Forward purchase): this office building, 

being built by HoCHtIeF Development Hungary, enjoys 

a prime location in Budapest: the future government 
quarter. the structural shell was completed in the third 
quarter of 2008. the first section of the edifice will be 
handed over in the spring of 2009, with the remainder 
to follow over the summer. the office project provides 
around 34,000 sqm of net rentable floor space on eight 
levels, along with around 630 parking spaces. CA Immo 
International is expected to take full ownership of the 
structure in mid-2009 under the terms of a forward pur-
chase agreement, with the purchase price depending on 
the level of letting.

other CA Immo International projects at an early stage 
of development include:

Czech Republic
- CITY Deco (Forward purchase): the CIty Deco project 

involves real estate development in a fast-rising district 
of prague. the mixed-use project with a total span of 
around 18,000 sqm will incorporate offices, a health 
centre and car park. Following completion in late 2009/
early 2010, the property will be acquired at an agreed 
fixed yield. the purchase price has been calculated at 
approximately € 45 m. With planning permission yet to 
be obtained, however, realisation of the project is not 
secured yet.

Estonia
- Soravia Business Center Tallinn: An office building 

with a limited amount of retail space and a gross floor 
area of around 22,000 sqm is planned for the estonian 
capital. A joint venture has been set up with the Soravia 
Group to realise the project, in which CA Immo Interna-
tional has a 40 % stake. Financing with outside capital 
was secured in 2008 to acquire the real estate, and plan-
ning permission is expected to be confirmed early in 
the second quarter of 2009. With economic conditions 
having changed for the worse in the Baltic region, the 
revenue potential no longer matches original estimates. 
For this reason, the project is currently being re-evaluat-
ed with the consent of the joint venture partner. 

Serbia
-  LogCenter Novi Banovci: this strategic land reserve 

has an excellent location adjacent to a motorway junc-
tion near Belgrade. CA Immo International acquired 
the reserve under favourable conditions, gaining a 50 % 
stake. At this time, negotiations over rezoning are under 
way; the construction of a logistics centre is one of the 
options envisioned.
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pRopeRty VAluAtIon

It is not without reason that so much attention is paid 
to the valuation of the property assets: it is the substan-
tial basis for evaluation of the real estate company and 
the most important parameter for determining share 
value. the CA Immo Group devalued its property assets 
by about 7 % in 2008 and is posting correspondingly a 
negative consolidated net income. As unwelcome as this 
valuation result may be, we believe that it reflects a real-
istic view of conditions on the property markets as they 
appear at the start of 2009. 

All of our markets saw a general increase in the property 
yields assumed by the valuers. there are a number of 
general factors responsible for this that apply throughout 
europe, in addition to causes affecting individual proper-
ties and the individual regional markets:

Collapse of the property investment market: the 
number and volume of real estate transactions in europe 
fell, particularly as a result of the tighter loan allocations 
by the banks. this tends to increase valuation uncertainty 
since there are fewer reference transactions on the market 
with which to perform plausibility checks of the property 
values than has been the case in previous years. Valuers 
respond to this situation in the form of higher risk sur-
charges or by applying deductions for a lack of liquidity. 

Negative business expectations: economic growth is an 
important driver both for the level of future rents and for 
movements in the vacancy rate. Hence the rapidly wors-
ening economic predictions cause the valuers to lower 
their assumptions with respect to achievable rents and 
occupancy rates. In addition, a decrease in expected infla-
tion results in a reduction in assumed rent growth.

Increasing risk surcharges on the cost of equity: Al-
though the second half of 2008 saw a drop in interest 

levels, with positive effects in principle on property 
values, in view of the recently observed increase in risk 
surcharges there has not so far been any reduction in the 
actual costs of loan capital. Moreover, virtually every 
investment category has seen an increase in the imputed 
or implied costs of equity since mid-2008 at the latest. 
the reason for this is the increased price volatility that 
can be observed in almost every class of investment, and 
a general paradigm shift in the pricing of risk. this aspect 
results, in particular, in decreases in the valuation of de-
velopment projects (see below).

the most striking change in value in relative terms was 
in our Austrian income producing properties. In addition 
to the general rise in property yields, this is the result 
of individual property-related factors: in particular, the 
values of those properties with inadequate occupancy 
rates or reduced estimated rents were adjusted to a very 
significant extent in view of the subdued business ex-
pectations. A figure of € 20.5 m, almost one-third of the 
total devaluation, is accounted for by our largest Austrian 
property in terms of value (erdberger lände 26-32, the 
“Siemens Building”). A fundamental factor relating to 
this value adjustment of almost 16 % to € 109.5 m was an 
adjustment of the projected, estimated rental values for 
the period after notice is given by the principal tenant, a 
possibility that may arise for the first time after 2010. this 
adjustment was made in the light of the increasing weak-
ness of the rental market. the current gross initial yield of 
this property is 8.6 % and thus well above the average for 
our portfolio. 

the change in value of our German income producing 
properties was – 5.3 % reflecting a perceptible increase in 
the property yields being observed on the market. of the 
total devaluation of € 66.8 m undertaken on the German 

VAluAtIon oF InCoMe-pRoDuCInG pRopeRtIeS 

Region Acquisition costs  

(in € m)

Fair Value 

(in € m)

Revaluation Gross Initial Yield

31.12.2008 31.12.2008 in € m in % 31.12.2007 31.12.2008

Austria 807.7 747.9 – 64.6 – 8.0 % 5.5 % 6.1 %

Germany 1,252.9 1,184.5 – 66.8 – 5.3 % 5.4 % 6.0 %

eastern/South east europe 530.8 588.2 – 46.7 – 7.4 % 6.7 % 7.3 %

Total 2,591.3 2,520.7 – 178.1 – 6.6 % 5.8 % 6.3 %
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income producing portfolio, some € 41.8 m is accounted 
for by the “Hesse portfolio”. However, owing to the par-
ticularly long term of the rental agreement and the un-
questionable creditworthiness of the tenant (the German 
“land” of Hesse), this portfolio is exposed to the current 
upheavals on the market only to a very limited extent, a 
fact that can also be seen in a comparatively low increase 
in the gross initial yield from 5.4 % to 5.7 % (correspond-
ing to an adjustment of  –5.3 % in the portfolio value).

In addition to the revaluation of income producing 
properties, there was also amortisation in Austria and 
Germany of properties the Group is using itself. this 
amounted to € 1.5 m.

the collapse of the property investment market was 
particularly pronounced in Eastern and South East 
Europe owing to the lack of foreign capital. the other 
factors, particularly in relation to the availability and 
cost of loan capital, were even more marked than in 
Western europe. the increase in country risk sur-
charges also brought about an increase in the relevant 
reference interest rates. But there were significant dif-
ferences in the extent of market adjustment across the 
entire region. thus, the value of our portfolio in South 
east europe (See) with devaluation of about 9.0 % was 
far more sharply affected than our properties in eastern 
europe, which lost some 6.3 % of their value (Cee). 
this was the result in particular of the robust market 
conditions in poland, which led to an upward revalua-
tion of the properties in Warsaw so that the overall ef-
fect of downward revaluations in the other countries of 
this sub-region was attenuated. In absolute figures, over 
half of the entire change in value in South east europe 
was accounted for by the Bucharest Business park 
property, which was revalued downwards by around 

17 % to € 67.7 m and is now posting a gross initial 
yield of 7.9 %

the trading portfolio contains properties intended for 
sale. these principally involve about 100, generally fairly 
small properties in Germany, which were taken on as part 
of the Vivico acquisition. the valuation of this portfolio 
also reflects the increase in yields in Germany that was 
outlined above.

When valuing our development projects and land 
reserves, the procedure known as the “residual value 
method” is used. this essentially takes the potential 
value on completion (for which the parameters listed 
above for income producing properties are the most im-
portant factors) and deducts the anticipated costs still to 
arise before completion. In addition to the construction 
costs and other secondary expenses, any profit that could 
be expected by a potential purchaser with respect to the 
individual project risk is also subtracted (usually 10-20 % 

VAluAtIon oF tRADInG poRtFolIo 

Region Acquisition costs  

(in € m)

Book Value 

(in € m)

Depreciation Gross Initial Yield

31.12.2008 31.12.2008 in € m in % 31.12.2008

Germany 176.5 167.1 – 9.4 – 5.3 % 6.4 %

Cee 6.3 1.2 – 5.1 – 80.3 % n.a.

Total 182.8 168.4 – 14.5 – 7.9 % 6.4 %

tRAnSpARenCy

the CA Immo Group’s policy of transparent op-
eration applies to the valuation of its properties as 
well and it publishes the value of every property 
on an annual basis, together with the parameters 
used to determine the valuation. these detailed 
data, which are listed in table form at the end of 
this annual report, are intended to allow readers 
of the annual report to satisfy themselves to an 
even greater extent of the market conformity of 
our property values. 
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referred to total investment costs for the project). the re-
sulting amount is then the value set for the project at the 
stage it has reached at the key date.

this method inevitably means that a significant devel-
oper profit is realised when the project is completed on 
schedule. 

the general increase in assumed appropriate return on 
equity capital mentioned above led to an increase for 
2008 in this future developer profit that is at least notion-
ally achievable. these raised expectations of developer 
profit could not be sufficiently offset by reduced construc-
tion costs so that the project valuations fell.

In regional terms, almost half of the figure of € 45.6 m 
for depreciation undertaken on development projects was 
accounted for by eastern/South east europe. Russia was 
the country that was most affected, with the massive re-
duction in credit availability towards the end of the year 
ultimately resulting in many development projects being 
cancelled. the project calculations were also affected 
by estimated rental values that were significantly lower 
than those at the start of the year. the value adjustments 
related to the two Moscow projects, Matryoshka (€ – 12.0 
m) and Maslov tower (€ – 9.1 m).  A value adjustment 
amounting to € – 17.1 m was also made to the 25 % stake 
held via the CA Immo new europe property Fund in the 
project company running the project at St petersburg air-
port (pulkovo), posted under “Stakes in associated com-
panies”. other important value adjustments occurred in 
Belgrade (Sava City) and Bratislava (BBC plus and Sekyra 
tower).

the very significant value adjustment of  – 28 % for 
development projects in Austria largely involved proper-
ties purchased in the context of a portfolio transaction in 
mid-2007, with project calculations being adjusted to the 
altered market conditions. 

In Germany, value adjustment on development projects 
was far lower at –3.8 % than in the other two segments. 
the reason for this is the very positive operational 
progress made in many of the individual projects, which 
contrasted with the negative general market factors. In 
particular, a number of advantageous land zonings were 
achieved that had a direct, value-enhancing effect as a 
result of the higher useful area that could be achieved, 
so that no depreciations were necessary for these proper-
ties and in many cases the estimated values continued to 
be well above the book values. of the value adjustments 
of € 35.1 m, half involved land reserves and half projects 
that are already in the course of realisation. 

VAluAtIon oF DeVelopMent pRoJeCtS 

Region Acquisition costs 

(in € m)

Book value

(in € m)

Depreciation

31.12.2008 31.12.2008 in € m in %

Austria 59.3 40.6 – 16.0 – 28.2 %

Germany 912.8 876.9 – 35.1 – 3.8 %

eastern/South east europe 219.8 162.2 – 40.5 – 20.0 %

Total 1,191.9 1,079.8 – 91.5 – 7.8 %

exteRnAl VAluAtIon to 
InteRnAtIonAl StAnDARDS

A fundamental cornerstone of our commitment 
to transparency and objectifiable valuation is the 
fact that property values are determined by inde-
pendent experts. the value of the Austrian proper-
ties was calculated by CB Richard ellis and the 
Metzger Realitäten Group; the property portfolio 
in Germany was valued by VAleuRo Kleiber and 
partners and CB Richard ellis. Valuation of the 
CA Immo International portfolio is undertaken 
quarterly by CB Richard ellis. All the valuations 
were made in accordance with the standards 
defined by the “Royal Institution of Chartered Sur-
veyors” (RICS).  Summaries of the expert reports 
can be viewed on our home page at www.caim-
moag.com. 
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Gross revenues and net operating income
Rental income increased significantly in 2008 compared 

to 2007, rising 42 % to € 175.3 m. the rise was mainly 
attributable to Vivico being recognised for the first time; 
this accounted for about 22 % of the rental income in 
2008 and also resulted in the contribution from the Ger-
many segment increasing from 36 % in 2007 to 52 % in 
2008. If Vivico is not taken into account, the increase in 
rental income amounts to 10 %.

Income from sale of properties held for sale of € 88.3 m 
was achieved in 2008 in connection with the planned 
sale of Vivico properties held as current assets. this rev-
enue is shown against the expenditure item ‘Disposal of 
properties held for sale’ of € 69.5 m, producing total profit 
from these sales of around € 18.7 m. As a result, an aver-
age sales price of around 27 % above the book value was 
achieved.

the item ‘Revenues from construction contracts’ 
amounting to € 3.7 m relates to revenue from the German 
subsidiary omnicon, a company specialising in the man-
agement of construction projects acquired in mid-2008. 
this revenue item is shown against the expenditure item 
‘expenses for construction contracts’ in the amount of 
€ 2.7 m.

the item ‘other revenues’ relates to revenues of € 1.3 m 
from the operation on own account of a hotel in ljubljana 

until 31 March 2008. From the second quarter of 2008, 
this property has again been generating rental income as 
opposed to direct revenue from the hotel business. 

the item ‘other expenses directly related to the proper-
ties’ saw a rise well above average to € 28.8 m. this de-
velopment is mainly due to non-capitalised expenditure 
in connection with the development projects of Vivico in 
Germany. In addition, increased maintenance costs were 
incurred for certain income-producing properties in Ger-
many in 2008.

As a result of these developments, net operating income 
(noI) rose by 47 % to € 160.2 m compared to € 108.7 m 
in 2007.

Income from sales of properties: Investment properties
the result from the sale of properties held as fixed as-

sets doubled in comparison with the previous year, from 
€ 5.7 m to € 11.7 m. Around € 7 m of this figure can be 
attributed to the sale of the Renaissance tower in War-
saw in the first quarter of 2008. A further € 5.5 m of the 
result (with the greater part in the second half of the year) 
comes from sales of properties in Germany. the main 
sales included the Mövenpick Hotel in Frankfurt as well 
as mostly vacant properties in Berlin and Basle (note: for 
organisational reasons, our properties in Basle are includ-
ed in the Germany segment). In Austria, the sale of invest-
ment properties yielded a negative result of € – 0,8 m.

ReSultS 

RentAl InCoMe By ReGIon

Romania 5.0 %

Serbia 1.0 %

Slovenia 1.0 %

Slovakia 0.7 %

Czech Rep. 2.8 %

Hungary 5.9 %

poland 4.0 %

Germany 52.2 %

Bulgaria 1.6 %

Austria 25.8 %

RentAl InCoMe By SeCtoR

Retail properties 2.0 %

Industrial and 
warehousing 8.1 %

Apartmenthouses 7.1 %

Hotels 6.9 %

office properties 65.4 %

others 10.6 %
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Administrative expenses
the significant increase in indirect expenditure (i.e. 

any administrative expenditure not directly attributable 
to properties) from € 27.9 m to € 52.2 m is mainly due to 
the increase in the number of employees as a result of the 
influx of staff from Vivico (who account for around 51 % 
of total administrative expenditure). Indirect expenditure 
is to be considered jointly with the offsetting item ‘own 
work capitalised’ in the amount of € 5.3 m which neutral-
ises the share of Vivico’s internal expenditure directly at-
tributable to individual development projects and which 
therefore can be capitalised. 

In direct comparison (i.e. without taking into account 
the new expenditure in connection with Vivico), indirect 
expenditure has dropped by about 8 % compared with 
2007. this is due to a series of cost-cutting measures initi-
ated during the course of 2008. the omission of variable 
performance-related salary components had a particular 
impact on staff expenses.

Earnings before taxes and depreciation (EBITDA) 
the net result of these developments was an increase 

in earnings before taxes and depreciation (eBItDA) of 
52 %: the value rose from € 90.7 m the previous year to 
€ 137.8 m. the first quarter contributed € 39.5 m to these 
earnings, the second quarter € 22.6 m, the third quarter 
€ 29.9 m and the fourth quarter € 45.8 m. the fluctuations 
between the quarters are primarily due to the uneven dis-
tribution of profits made from sales.

When broken down into segments, the consolidation 
of Vivico more than doubled the eBItDA attributed to 
Germany. However, Austria (+6 %) and eastern and South 
east europe (+19 %) also contributed to the increase in 
eBItDA in 2008.

Depreciation and revaluation result
the CA Immo Group was faced with a significant drop 

in property values in all segments, especially at the end 
of 2008 (for an explanation of the factors responsible for 
this, see also the property Valuation chapter). In the in-
come statement, this took the form of unscheduled depre-
ciation of € –107.5 m in respect of property assets under 
development, property assets for own use and inventory 
intended for trading and revaluation losses of € –178.1 m 
in respect of property assets let.

Allocation to the individual regions and balance sheet 
items is shown in the table on the next page:

Operating result (EBIT)
the drop in the operating result (eBIt) from € 151.5 m 

in 2007 to € –152.6 m in 2008 is primarily a reflection of 
depreciation and revaluation losses.

Financial results
the financial results reached € –142.8 m in 2008 com-

pared with € –45.3 m in 2007. the increase in financing 
costs from € –57.4 m to € –105.1 m accounted for most 
of this development. this is primarily the result of the 
increase in the volume of financing due to the Vivico 
acquisition. 

the second significant factor was the result from deriva-
tive transactions of € –15.9 m. this item only reflects the 
valuation of SWAp contracts which are used to hedge 
against the risk of interest rate changes. As a precaution-
ary measure, the policy of CA Immo is always to hedge 
the relevant rate of interest for the long term when enter-
ing into a loan agreement. In most cases, this takes the 
form of interest rate SWAp contracts. Apart from transac-
tions purely intended to hedge against the risk of interest 
rate changes, the CA Immo Group is not involved in any 
derivative transactions.

In accordance with the provisions of IAS 39, changes 
in the value of contracts that can be defined as cash flow 
hedges (the majority of the SWAps used by CA Immo fall 
under this category) are shown as changes in sharehold-
ers equity while changes in the value of contracts classi-
fied as fair-value SWAps are directly depicted as expendi-
ture or income in the income statement. the reference 
value for interest rate SWAps is the euribor. In the second 
half of 2008, there was a significant drop in the euribor 
(see section ‘economic environment’) as a result of which 
the net-present values of the SWAp contracts turned nega-
tive. Most of these related to valuation losses which had 
no effect on cash. 

eBItDA 

DIStRIButIon By ReGIonAl SeGMent

Germany 56 %

Austria 21 %

eastern and South 
east europe 23 %
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Besides interest income of € 19.7 m, the result of finan-
cial investments amounting to € 4.4 m includes losses 
from securities of € 15.2 m (of which € 9.8 m are realised 
losses and € 5.4 m are valuation losses) from investments 
in near-money market funds in which some of the liquid 
assets of CA Immo had been invested. Because of the 
banking crisis and increasing yields, the return on these 
funds was not in line with expectations and their valua-
tion came under pressure amid the unrest on the financial 
markets. 

expenses from financial assets (€ –7.8 m) and the in-
vestment result from associated companies (€ –15.1 m) 
derive from property depreciation in companies in which 
the CA Immo Group is only a minority shareholder (and 
which are therefore non-fully consolidated), and from the 
depreciation of investments made in the form of loans 
or down payments to non-fully consolidated companies; 
the biggest single factor was the value adjustment for 
the 25 % share (held through the CA Immo new europe 
property fund) in the project company running the St. 
petersburg (pulkovo) Airport project.

Net income before taxes
As a result of the above-mentioned developments, the 

total net income before taxes (eBt) 2008 was € –295.4 m 
compared with € 106.2 m in 2007. As shown in the table 
below, the change is almost entirely attributable to non-
cash-effective factors:

Taxes on income
the taxes on income of € +0.5 m (€ –22.2 m in 2007) are 

mainly the result of an increase in current taxes payable 
from € –2.3 m in 2007 to € –48.2 m in 2008, counter-
balanced by a positive contribution from the change in 
deferred taxes of € 62.1 m. Current taxes are mainly at-
tributable to local taxes payable in Germany. the change 
in deferred taxes is due to property value adjustments as 
well as re-evaluation of the holding period for real estate 
in eastern and South east europe.

Consolidated net income
Consolidated net income fell from € 84 m to € –294.9 

m. the income attributable to the shareholders of the 
parent company in 2008 was € –237.1 m, compared with 
€ 52.1 m in 2007. 

DeCReASe In VAlue AnD ReVAluAtIonS 

Region Book Value

(€ m)

Depreciation/ revaluation

31.12.2008 € m in %

A Income-producing 747.9  – 64.6 – 8.0 %

A own use 11.5  – 0.7 – 5.9 %

A Development 40.6  – 16.0 – 28.2 %

A Total 800.1  – 81.3 – 9.2 %

G Income-producing 1,184.5  – 66.8 – 5.3 %

G own use 7.9  – 0.7 – 8.6 %

G Inventory for trading 167.1  – 9.4 – 5.3 %

G Development 876.9  – 35.1 – 3.8 %

G Total 2,236.5  – 112.1 – 4.8 %

eastern and South east europe, income-producing 588.2  – 46.7 – 7.4 %

eastern and South east europe, Inventory for trading 1.2  – 5.1 – 80.3 %

eastern and South east europe, development 162.2  – 40.5 – 20.0 %

Eastern and South East Europe, total 751.7  – 92.2 – 10.9 %

Total 3,788.3  – 285.6 – 7.0 %

of which revaluation of property assets let – 178.1 – 6.6 %

of which decrease in value on property assets for own use as well as property  

assets under development and properties held for sale (trading) – 107.5 – 7.8 %
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the details relating to the movement of consolidated 
net income after minorities between 2007 and 2008 are 
shown in the graph below.

Cash flow
Since the main negative factors which led to the 

drop in consolidated net income described above 
were non-cash-related, and due to the strong opera-
tional business performance as well as revenue from 
the sale of inventory intended for trading, the cash 
flow from business activities in 2008 which amount-
ed to € 169.7 m was more than double the value 
for 2007.

the cash flow from investment activities was 
€ –127.8 m, of which € –625.3 m related to the 
direct or indirect (companies, down payments, 
financial assets) acquisition of property assets. the 
main single item was the payment of the second 
half of the purchase price for the acquisition of 
Vivico amounting to around € 0.5 bn which was 
made at the start of 2008. other significant factors 
influencing the cash flow from investment activities 
were the net capital inflow from the sale of properties 
(€ 157.9 m) and the sale of short-term securities from 
current assets of € 414.2 m, primarily to finance the 
acquisition of Vivico.

In 2008, the cash flow from financing activities 
amounted to € 89.1 m. Aside from new loans taken 
out in connection with investments in development 
projects, this includes in particular the financing of 
the Vivico acquisition and refinancing for this carried 
out during the business year. this financing is shown 
against interest payments made of € 102.5 m.

Funds from operations
the funds from operations (FFo) before taxes amounted 

to € 30.3 m in 2008, below the value of € 41.0 m in the 
previous year.
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ReSult BRIDGe BetWeen ConSolIDAteD net InCoMe 2007 AnD 2008

net InCoMe BeFoRe tAxeS

€ m

EBT 2007 106.2

Rental Income 52.0

property expenses – 18.6

Indirect costs net of capitalized services – 19.0

other operating income 8.6

other – 0.6

Result from financial investments – 14.9

Interest result – 36.6

Result from the sale of properties 1) 24.7

Cash effective – 4.4

Revaluations/Impairments – 351.2

Fx gains/losses – 8.2

Result from derivatives – 14.6

Result from financial assets – 7.8

Result from associates – 15.5

other 0.1

Non-Cash effective – 397.2

 

EBT 2008 – 295.4

 

1) including sale of properties held for sale
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BAlAnCe SHeet

Balance sheet: Assets 
there was a significant increase in the balance sheet to-

tal from € 3.8 bn to € 4.4 bn in 2008. this development is 
primarily due to the acquisition of Vivico which was only 
recognised indirectly in the balance sheet for 31 Decem-
ber 2007 with the payment of the first half of the purchase 
price amounting to € 0.5 bn (under the item ‘prepayments 
on investments in properties’). Since the start of 2008, 
Vivico has been fully consolidated in the consolidated 
financial statements of the CA Immo Group. the most vis-
ible effect of this was the recognition of Vivico’s property 
assets, which led to an increase in property assets under 
development in particular. the consolidation of Vivico 
also resulted in the creation of the balance sheet item 
‘properties held for sale’. 

the reduction in the item ‘Securities’ from € 375.6 m 
at the beginning of the year to € 11.3 m and the simul-
taneous increase in ‘Cash and cash equivalents’ from 
€ 192.5 m to € 321.4 m reflect – besides the employ-
ment of funds for acquisitions and loan repayments – the 
regrouping carried out during the first nine months of 
2008 of securities investments held mainly in the form 
of near-money market funds to time deposits. At the end 
of 2008, the remaining investment still being held in a 
near-money market fund was dissolved so that on the one 
hand the monies invested were shifted to time deposits 
while on the other, shares in an ABS fund which had un-
til then been held in the near-money market fund are now 
held directly and so represent the sole remaining security 
item.

Balance sheet: Liabilities 
At the balance sheet date the share capital of the compa-

ny was unchanged to the previous year and amounted to 
€ 634.4 m and was made up by 87.3 million bearer shares. 
Almost 90 % of the shares are free-float, the remaining 
10 % as well as four registered share (that each entitle 
the holder to nominate a supervisory board member) are 
held by Bank Austria. As at December 31 2008 there was 
authorized capital in the amount of € 317.2 m which can 
be exercised until August 8 2012 against contribution in 
cash or in kind as well as unexercised conditional capital 
in the amount of € 317.2 m.

In 2008, shareholders’ equity (including minority in-
terests) fell from € 2,265.5 m to € 1,854.7 m, mainly on 
account of negative consolidated net income. the main 
factors included the following:
- A drop in minority interests due to the losses attribut-

able proportionately to the minority shareholders of 
CA Immo International and the minority shareholders of 
its subsidiary CA Immo new europe property fund.

- A drop in the hedging reserve included in the share-
holders’ equity of € 20.7 m as at 31 December 2007 to 
€ –52.1 m as at 31 December 2008. As outlined above, 
changes in the value of interest rate SWAps classified 
as cash flow hedges are stated directly in the equity 
capital. the steep decline in the general interest rate 
level during the second half of 2008 turned the hedging 
reserve negative (as at 30 June 2008 this item was still 
€ +46.6 m).

- An increase in our share in the fully consolidated sub-
sidiary CA Immo International from 54 % as at 31 De-
cember 2007 to just below 62 % as at 31 December 
2008. the increase in this stake led to a reduction of 

CASH FloW StAteMent: SHoRt VeRSIon 

€ m 2008 2007 Change

Cash flow from    

 - business activities 169.7 84.0 102 %

 - investment activities – 127.8 – 936.9 – 86 %

 - financing activities 89.1 897.5 – 90 %

Change in cash and cash equivalents 130.9 44.6 193 %

   

Cash and cash equivalents    

 - Start of business year 192.5 148.3 30 %

 - Changes in the value of foreign currency – 2.0 – 0.5  

 - end of business year 321.4 192.5 67 %

FunDS FRoM opeRAtIonS (FFo) 

€ m 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

net income before taxes before minorities – 295.4 106.2

Depreciation 112.3 4.6

Revaluation gains/losses 178.1 – 65.4

Foreign currency gains/losses 3.5 – 4.8

corr. at equity income 16.5 0.4

Valuation of financial instruments 15.3 0.0

Funds from operations before taxes 30.3 41.0

taxes paid – 11.5 – 3.2

Funds from operations after taxes 18.8 37.8
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€ 50.5 m in the minority interests as well as an increase 
of € 21.9 m in capital reserves as the shares were pur-
chased at prices significantly below the book value. In 
overall terms, therefore, this had a direct positive effect 
on net asset value for the shareholders of CA Immobil-
ien Anlagen AG.

- the buy-back of own shares which resulted in a reduc-
tion in capital reserves of € 11.9 m. All in all, as the 
shares were repurchased at prices significantly below 
their book value, and the reduction in the number of 
outstanding shares was greater than the reduction in the 
shareholders’ equity, the effect on the book value per 
share was positive. the board received the authorization 
for the share buy-back in the 21st AGM on 13 May 2008. 
the authorization is valid for a buy back of up to 2.7 m 
shares (equivalent to about 3.09 % of the share capital) 
over the Vienna Stock exchange. As of the balance sheet 

date CA Immo had acquired a total of 1,494,076 shares 
(1.7 % of the share capital) over the stock exchange at an 
average price of € 9.18.

the equity ratio as at 31 December 2008 was 42 % (59 % 
on 31 December 2007). this drop is the result of both 
the increase in the balance sheet total due to the Vivico 
acquisition and the reduction in the shareholders’ equity 
presented above. 

Deferred taxes
Another significant outcome of the acquisition of Vivico 

is the increase in long-term deferred tax liabilities from 
€ 92.9 m as at 31 December 2007 to € 205.7 m as at 
31 December 2008. this is mainly due to the deferred tax 
liabilities formed in connection with the initial consoli-
dation of Vivico. 

ConSolIDAteD BAlAnCe SHeet: SHoRt VeRSIon

2008 2007 Change

in € m in  % in € m in  % in  %

property assets 3,619.9 82 2,535.3 66 43

Down payments on properties 20.5 0 0.0 0 n.m. 

Down payments on property investments 0.2 0 545.2 14 0

Intangible assets 53.4 1 34.0 1 57

Financial and other assets 81.3 2 92.4 2 – 12

Deferred tax assets 55.6 1 0.8 0 > 100

Long-term assets 3,830.9 87 3,207.8 84 19

     

Receivables 63.0 1 47.6 1 32

Inventory intended for trading 168.4 4 0.0 0  

Cash equivalents and securities 332.6 8 568.1 15 – 41

Short-term assets 563.9 13 615.6 16 – 8

     

Total assets 4,394.8 100 3,823.4 100 15

     

Shareholders’ equity 1,854.7 42 2,265.5 59 – 18

Shareholders’ equity as % of balance sheet total 42 %  59 %   

liabilities from bonds 194.9 4 194.4 5 0

long-term financial liabilities 1,640.0 37 962.2 25 70

Short-term financial liabilities 88.9 2 251.1 7 – 65

other liabilities 410.7 9 57.4 2 > 100

Deferred tax liabilities 205.7 5 92.9 2 > 100

     

Total liabilities 4,394.8 100 3,823.4 100 15
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Financial liabilities 
the increase in long-term financial liabilities from 

€ 962.2 m as at 31 December 2007 to € 1,640.0 m as at 
31 December 2008 largely reflects the debt financing 
linked to the acquisition of shares in Vivico as well as 
the initial consolidation of Vivico’s financial liabilities. A 
short-term interim loan of € 0.5 bn was originally taken 
out to cover the purchase price of Vivico. About € 170 m 
of this liability was repaid during or before the fourth 
quarter of 2008. the remaining € 330 m was transferred to 
a longer-term financing structure with a term of 20 years 
(with a bank break option after three years) during the 
fourth quarter of 2008. 

Financial liabilities due to mature in less than one year 
amounted to € 88.9 m as at 31 December 2008.

Since the beginning of the year, therefore, the net debt 
(financial liabilities less cash and cash equivalents) has 
risen from € 839.6 m to € 1,591.1 m; the gearing (ratio 
of net debt to shareholders’ equity) rose from 37 % as at 
31 December 2007 to 86 % as at 31 December 2008. 

As at 31 December 2008, the maturity profile of financial 
liabilities was as follows (yearly progression):

Fixed interest rates and maturing of financial liabilities 
are always aligned in the investment portfolio with terms 
that are typical for property investments.

After taking account of the interest rate hedges in each 
case, the average interest on loans (including the bond) at 
the end of the business year 2008 was 5.32 % (4.98 % in 
2007). Around 98 % of all loans were taken out in euro. 
Given the long-term nature of financing, and for reasons 
of prudence, the basic policy of CA Immo when conclud-
ing a loan agreement is to hedge the relevant interest level 
for the long term. In most cases, this is achieved by means 
of interest rate SWAp contracts. As at 31 December 2008, 
the interest rates on 73 % of the financial liabilities were 
fixed by means of SWAp contracts, 13 % were fixed-rate 
loans and 14 % were floating-rate loans. 

Net asset value
owing to the annual loss and the other factors described 

above, the nAV (shareholders’ equity excluding minority 
interests) fell by –16%, from € 1,922.9 m as at 31 De-
cember 2007 to € 1,623.0 m as at 31 December 2008. the 
nAV per share fell by –14% to € 18.92 as at 31 December 
2008 compared with € 22.04 as at 31 December 2007. the 
smaller drop in the nAV per share is due to the reduced 
number of outstanding shares resulting from the buy-back 
of own shares carried out in 2008.

the computation of the nnnAV based on nAV in ac-
cordance with the Best practice policy Recommendations 
of the european public Real estate Association (epRA) 

MAtuRIty pRoFIle oF FInAnCIAl lIABIlItIeS   2008 to 2014ff  

  Germany/Austria       CA Immo International

€ m
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is shown in the table below. the significant factor here 
is the consideration of the effect of discounting on de-
ferred taxes as well as value adjustments for development 
projects amounting to € 82,6 m. the latter are linked to 
a series of projects in Germany for which the value ac-
cording to valuation reports exceeds the values shown 
in the balance sheet at acquisition cost, thus giving rise 
to undisclosed reserves (negative differences from report 
values have already been taken into account in the bal-
ance sheet).

As at 31 December 2008, therefore, the nnnAV stood at 
€ 1,758.4 m or € 20.5/share (9 % less than in 2007)

Key FInAnCInG FIGuReS 

€ m 2008 2007

Shareholders’ equity 1,854.7 2,265.5

Short-term financial liabilities 88.9 251.1

long-term financial liabilities (includ-

ing bond) 1,834.9 1,156.6

Cash and cash equivalents – 332.6 – 568.1

Net debt 1,591.1 839.6

Gearing 86 % 37 %

EBITDA/net interest (factor) 1.4 1.8

ASSet VAlue (nAV AnD nnnAV AS DeFIneD By epRA) 

€ m 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Equity (NAV) 1,623.0 1,922.9

NAV/share in € 18.92 22.04

Computation of nnnAV

exercise of options 0,0 0.0

nAV after exercise of options 1,623.0 1,922.9

Value adjustment for projects based on IFRS fair-value method
82.6 10.3

Value adjustment for tenant leases held as finance leases
0.0 0.0

Value adjustment for properties held as current assets
0.0 0.0

Value adjustment for financial instruments 52.1 – 20.6

Deferred taxes 96.8 58.0

NAV after adjustments 1.854.5 1,970.7

Value adjustment for financial instruments – 52.1 20.6

Value adjustment for liabilities 18.0 4.4

Deferred taxes – 62.0 – 31.4

EPRA NNNAV 1,758.4 1,964.4

EPRA NNNAV per share in € 20.5 22.51

Change of nnnAV against previous year – 8.9 % 6,10 %

price (31.12)/nnnAV per share -1 in € – 79.5 – 31.92

number of outstanding shares 85,764,524 87,258,600
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FInAnCIAl AnD non-FInAnCIAl 
peRFoRMAnCe InDICAtoRS 

At the heart of the business strategy pursued by 
CA Immo International lies a commitment to achieving a 
sustained increase in enterprise value. Financial perform-
ance indicators (key figures or ratios) are an important 
identifier and measure of the main factors that contribute 
to raising enterprise value long-term, and are thus used 
for value management purposes.

the primary such indicator is the net income generated 
with the money shareholders have invested (Roe – Return 
on equity). the target is to produce a ratio that is higher 
than the imputed cost of equity (we assume a medium-
term rate of around 7.5 %) and thus to generate share-
holder value. As a consequence of the substantial devalu-
ation of property assets, the return on equity for 2008 is 
significantly below zero – the general target was not met, 
therefore, in the year under review. Having revised our 
strategy in the light of the prevailing challenging climate, 
we remain confident, however, of generating an adequate 
return on equity again in the medium term. 

Among the other quantitative factors used to measure 
and manage our shareholders’ long-term yield are the 
change in nAV per share, the operating cash flow per 
share, return on capital employed (RoCe) and economic 
value added (eVA):

Since the financial indicators ultimately demonstrate 
the operational success of our property business, they 
are preceded by a series of performance indicators that 
cannot be immediately quantified in financial terms, 
which are key to measuring and managing the operating 
business.

- Vacancy rate and average rent
 Sound economic data nurture the demand for com-

mercially used premises and invigorate both building 
activity and the property market. Cyclical discrepan-
cies between supply and demand are reflected in the 
occupancy rate and attainable rents. Viewed over time, 
the vacancy rate and average rent are key indicators 
of a portfolio‘s quality and its successful management 
on the one hand, and of the asset managers’ ability to 
respond timely to economic influences. 

- location quality
 the quality of sites is a major criterion in property 

marketing. the accessibility of a location, deter-
mined by the infrastructure, plays a crucial role in 
this context. Changes in the quality of a location take 
place gradually and are eventually reflected not only 
in price, but also in the difficulty of attracting new 
tenants.

- Local presence
 local knowledge and familiarity with the territory 

are critical factors in the effective cultivation of very 
diverse regional markets. For this reason, CA Immo 
International maintains its own offices in Belgrade, 
Bucharest, Budapest and Warsaw.

- Know-how and synergies
 the competitive edge of CA Immo International stems 

from the local knowledge of its operating employees 
and the leverage of synergies in the Group, in particu-
lar in project development and property marketing.

VAlue InDICAtoRS 

2008 2007 2006

nAV/share 18.9 22.0 20.6

Change in nAV/share  % – 14.1 6.1 6.4

operating cash flow/share € 1.32 1.10 0.93

Roe 1) in %  % – 13.4 3.3 5.9

RoCe 2) in %  % negative 5.2 5.8

eVA 3) € m negative 2.7 11.3

1) Return on equity (profit generating efficiency) = consolidated net income after minority interests / average equity (without minority interests)

2) Return on capital employed = net operating profit after tax (nopAt) / capital employed 

3) eVA (economic value added) is a registered trademark of Stern Stewart & Co; eVA = capital employed * (RoCe – WACC); WACC 2008 = 5.3  %; (WACC is 

the weighted average cost of debt and equity)
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Market environment
According to the most recent macroeconomic forecasts, 

the overall economic situation is unlikely to ease in the 
short term (see also the chapter entitled “economic cli-
mate”). the global property sector is currently encoun-
tering a significant contraction in the amount of capital 
being made available for investments. this shortfall is 
prompting an appreciable downturn in the volume of 
transactions and sustained pressure on property securi-
ties. With negative reports still arising from the banking 
sector at the beginning of 2009 and continuing pressure 
on the capital markets, this year is sure to be a challeng-
ing one for the property sector and, therefore, CA Immo. 
the situation is not expected to become any calmer until 
capital begins to flow into the sector again, especially 
from the banks.

Fresh impetus is anticipated from the forthcoming de-
velopment of interest rates in particular – at the start of 

2009, property yields in europe are substantially higher 
than the reference interest rates, so that the relative ap-
peal of property investments is increasing. 

Outlook for CA Immo
CA Immo is aware of the possible effects of this difficult 

economic environment and consequently – as outlined in 
the chapter entitled “Strategy” – will place its operating 
emphasis for 2009 on measures to maintain and strength-
en its operating cash flow and on the selective implemen-
tation of strategically important development projects. 
therefore, 2009 will be a year of consolidation for the 
CA Immo Group.

In concrete terms, we anticipate that rental income will 
follow a stable pattern in 2009. Since, owing to the long-
term nature of lease contracts, these are not expected 
to suffer any immediate effect from the decline in the 
property market, and appropriate counter-measures can 

BuDApeSt R70 office Complex

outlooK FoR 2009
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be taken by the pro-active avoidance of vacancies. As 
regards indirect costs, a 10 to 15 % reduction compared to 
the 2008 level is targeted.

the outlook for property valuation, which was of 
course the main factor in the 2008 result, can be gauged 
only with difficulty given the current market turbulence. 
Viewed from today‘s perspective, the valuation underly-
ing the present annual financial statements fully covers 
the current situation on the property markets. However, 
should the market conditions deteriorate in the course of 
the year beyond the scale currently anticipated, further 
adjustments cannot be ruled out. 

As far as the investments planned for 2009 are con-
cerned, the emphasis is on the selective implementation 
of strategically important development projects. An in-
vestment volume of around € 300 m to 350 m is expected 
to be recognised in the balance sheet, some two-thirds of 
it in Germany. this will be offset by planned disposals 
on a similar scale, which are intended to make a positive 
liquidity contribution and a neutral to slightly positive 
contribution to earnings. 

no substantial new property acquisitions are planned 
for 2009. As a result of the investment activity, it can-
not be ruled out that the equity ratio will fall below our 
40 % target in the short term; however, it is expected to 
rise again to above this level at any rate in the medium 
term as a result of new partnerships formed for individual 
projects, as well as property sales.

Outlook on the capital market
Despite billions being spent on rescue packages for 

the banking and car industries and the introduction of 
economic stimulation programmes at national level, it is 
difficult to judge how long and how deeply the financial 
crisis will affect the global property industry. Conse-
quently, stock market experts anticipate another difficult 
year on the share markets in 2009. the CA Immo share is 
therefore also likely to be subject to further high volatility.

Principal risks and uncertainties  
concerning 2009 outlook
our expectations for 2009 are based on certain assump-

tions concerning the general conditions and the specific 
circumstances governing the real estate business. the 
extremely volatile current economic situation entails ad-
ditional uncertainties as regards the ability to meet targets 
for investment volume, timing of realisation and yield 
quality. 

the following, in our view, are the critical parameters 
most likely to influence the envisaged pattern of business 
in 2009:

- Further developments on the international capital 
markets and their effect on the economies in the re-
gions in which we are active

- the extent to which the anticipated economic decline 
affects rental demand and the level of rents in the in-
dividual regions

- the availability and the cost of borrowing
- Further developments on the property investment 

market and, by association, the price trend and its ef-
fect on the valuation of our portfolio 

- Speed at which the planned development projects are 
realised, which depends in particular on the avail-
ability of the requisite outside borrowed and equity 
capital

- political, fiscal, legal and economic risks, and the 
transparency and extent of development of the indi-
vidual property markets, especially in the See and 
CIS regions 

- the development of the euR exchange rate vis-à-vis 
the local currencies and uSD
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SuppleMentARy RepoRt

We can report the following activities in the first few 
months of the current business year:

Sale of ATMOS office building, Munich
the ATMOS office block in Munich has been sold to 

union Investment Real estate AG at a purchase price of 
over € 100 m. the six-storey office building is situated in 
the Arnulfpark® urban district of Munich and was com-
pleted in January 2009 by CA Immo subsidiary Vivico. It 
has been designed and constructed as a “Green Building”. 
the building has a rental area of about 26,500 sqm and 
270 parking spaces for cars. International pharmaceuti-
cals company Bristol-Myers Squibb had already signed 
a lease agreement for some 10,600 sqm office space in 
AtMoS even before the start of construction and intends 
to set up its German head office there.

Tower185 in Frankfurt moves into the next 
 phase of construction
Discussions on the financing of the office block 

 Tower185 in Frankfurt’s europaviertel district have been 
successfully completed. loan finance for the planned 
€ 450 m project is thus secure. A banking consortium 
headed by eurohypo AG is to provide a loan volume of 
€ 254 m to fund construction of the building, which is al-
ready 60 % pre-let even before building work commences. 
In addition to eurohypo, the banking consortium is made 
up of DG Hyp, DeutSCHe Hypo and RZB. 

the 50-storey office block tower185 forms the entrance 
to the Frankfurt europaviertel district, currently under 
development by CA Immo subsidiary Vivico. tower185 
will have a total rentable area of 100,000 sqm, principally 
for office use with local amenities in the basement. Ac-
countancy firm pricewaterhouseCoopers AG (pwC) was 
acquired as the anchor tenant even before construction 
started. tower185 is being built with a view to ecological 
sustainability. It will move into the structural engineering 
phase from March 2009 and final completion of the tower 
is planned for the end of 2011.

Siemens Austria terminates rental agreement
In accordance with the rental agreement, Siemens öster-

reich AG has terminated its rental agreement for about 
40 % of the rental space in the erdberger lände property 
in Vienna with effect from 28 February 2010. Activities 
for re-letting the space are already under way. In order to 
further increase the value of the location, CA Immo has 
been working with the city of Vienna in initiating a town-
planning competition for which tenders were invited 
from across europe. 

Activities of the H1 hotel fund suspended
As a result of the economic conditions on the interna-

tional property and financial markets, specifically in Rus-
sia, Cee Hotel Development AG has decided not to enter 
into any investments at present. the investment manage-
ment agreement with H1 Hotelentwicklungs GmbH was 
cancelled in January 2009 and activities of the H1 hotel 
fund (H1 Hotelentwicklungs GmbH), which specialises 
in hotel projects in eastern europe, were suspended. the 
projects already submitted were declined without further 
costs being incurred.
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Research and development in the CA Immo Group is 
focused on a single central issue: the sustainable devel-
opment of real estate. this focus became even stronger 
with the incorporation of the German company Vivico, 
which specialises in the transformation of inner city real 
estate formerly given over to industrial or railway usages. 
Quality-based project development – one of the core ac-
tivities of CA Immo – depends not only on choice of loca-
tion, architecture and the quality of fittings, but also on 
the sustainability and energy efficiency of the structure. 
the objective is to enhance the value of real estate over 
the long term.

Helping to create a sustainability seal of approval
to clarify what is meant by ‘sustainable construction’, 

the CA Immo Group, through its German subsidiary 
Vivico, was heavily involved in the development of an 
energy certificate for real estate. the Group supported the 
creation of a seal of approval from the German Sustain-
able Building Council (DGnB) by taking part in the pilot 
phase. the seal aims to enable both investors and users 
to assess the sustainability of real estate much more effec-
tively than has hitherto been possible.

Triple-certified sustainability
the Group has also placed a clear emphasis on sus-

tainability in its operational business: three projects 
managed by the CA Immo subsidiary Vivico received 
certification from the DGnB. the AtMoS and laim290 
office buildings in Munich and the tower185 high-rise 
in Frankfurt am Main, which is currently under con-
struction, were thereby singled out as environmentally 
friendly, resource-conserving and economically efficient 
development projects. 

ATMOS, an office building spanning around 41,000 
square metres in Munich’s Arnulfpark®, was awarded the 
silver version of the German Seal for Sustainable Build-
ing. the structure, which was completed in 2008, was 
erected in accordance with stringent sustainability crite-
ria and in close cooperation with Bristol-Myers Squibb, 
the principal tenant. to avoid energy-intensive transports, 
for example, only ecologically neutral and regional ma-
terials were utilised. Moreover, the building derives over 
half of its energy requirement from renewable sources, 
35 percent above the level stipulated by current energy 
savings regulations. 

the Tower185 office building is at an early stage of 
construction in Frankfurt’s europaviertel. the 185-metre 

project has earned the certificate preliminary to the 
silver German Seal for Sustainable Building. the office 
high-rise, which will have a floor span of approximately 
130,000 square metres, is due to be completed by the 
end of 2011. the structure will be built by means of 
solid reinforced concrete construction using the tube-in-
tube system, which will ensure ample storage mass for a 
pleasant interior climate and low energy consumption. 
With heating / cooling ceilings, the building equipment 
more than satisfies current energy savings regulations 
and ensures low energy consumption for cooling, heating 
and power. the tower185 project will also seek to secure 
gold leeD certification (leadership in energy and envi-
ronmental Design). 

the Laim290 office building, which spans around 
14,500 square metres, was completed in 2008 and was 
also awarded the silver version of the German Seal for 
Sustainable Building. the construction boasts impressive 
ecological and economic attributes, with thermoactive 
ceilings and usage of groundwater. Around 85 percent of 
the structure, which marks the emergence of a new office 
and commercial zone in the laim area of Munich, had 
been rented prior to completion. the building has since 
been sold to union Investment Real estate AG.

For more details on the projects above, please see the 
Segment Report for Germany on page 58.

For a report on the subject of sustainability, please see 
page 19. 

ReSeARCH AnD 
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CoRpoRAte SoCIAl  
ReSponSIBIlIty

the mandate and the purpose of CA Immo’s German 
subsidiary Vivico is to find attractive new applications for 
inner city real estate formerly given over to industrial or 
railway usages. With the acquisition of Vivico at the be-
ginning of 2008, the development of mixed-use zones in 
German cities became one of the most important business 
fields for the CA Immo Group.

City districts with prospects
Developing an entire city district (i.e. several structural 

complexes with a community centre, often in an inner 
city location) is generally a long-term undertaking with 
significant town planning implications – after all, such 
city zones must comply with stringent requirements in 
terms of quality (of life), energy efficiency and architec-
ture. the CA Immo Group meets this social responsibil-
ity thanks to an integrated planning approach which 
coordinates the needs and intentions of the company 
with the demands and wishes of potential users, investors 
and partners as well as residents, politicians and rel-
evant local authorities whilst taking account of economic, 
social and environmental considerations. Alongside its 
activities as a project developer (principally in Germany, 
but also in Austria and eastern europe), the Group also 
pursues this approach as an investor by purposely award-
ing contracts for ecologically sustainable structures and 
buildings.

Urban development with a future
Modern city districts brim with possibilities and meet 

every need of the contemporary urban lifestyle. they of-
fer cultural and social diversity by skillfully blending uti-
lisations and bringing together different generations; they 
engage the senses with wide-ranging cultural and service 
facilities; and not least, they create partnerships between 
public and private authorities and future users.

the future of city centres – and thus the creation and 
optimisation of living and working space for city dwellers 
– is the central concern of Vivico. In line with the global 
trend towards inner city revitalisation and renaissance, 
the company develops habitable space in urban areas in 

spite of ever greater population density. over the long 
term, redesigning city districts to meet modern needs 
enhances the quality of life for those who live and work 
in such areas. the city zones forge their own clear identi-
ties with which people can identify: every urban quarter 
becomes a distinctive part of a city. 

the planning also takes account of key emerging trends 
as regards facilities and functionality in commercial real 
estate. these cover aspects of family friendliness and the 
balance between work and home life – for example, mak-
ing it easier for residents to organise their lives by creat-
ing an urban landscape of fast access, greater inner city 
mobility, high recreational value based on wide-ranging 
options that appeal to diverse target groups and concen-
trating compatible utilisations in specific areas.

Focus on resource conservation
Concerning the development of real estate and city 

districts, the main focus – aside from the factors outlined 
above – is on ecological sustainability and the purpose-
ful conservation of resources. this includes the usage of 
renewable energy, as in the deployment of geothermal 
energy in buildings in Munich’s Arnulfpark®. In addition, 
new wide green spaces are intodruced, water features and 
parkland in many of the projects developed by CA Immo, 
such as erlenmatt® in Basel, Belsenpark in the Düssel dorf 
district of oberkassel and the europaviertel® in Frankfurt.

the economically viable transformation of former in-
dustrial land into service zones is also creating highly 
skilled jobs, particularly in inner city areas. As a result, 
space needs to be generated and the demand for centrally 
sited residential units is rising as the traditional lines 
between work and home life are ever more blurred. Given 
these developments, combined with the finite nature of 
new premises and the ongoing densification of city cen-
tres, it will be a major challenge for developers and urban 
planners to continue to create intelligent and sustainable 
concepts.
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RISK MAnAGeMent

over recent years, risk management has become increas-
ing important as part of integrated management systems. 
this is certainly the case for CA Immo, which defines risk 
management as the systematic and continuous manage-
ment of corporate risks and opportunities. the main 
priority is not to avoid risk, but to handle threats in a con-
trolled and effective manner whilst identifying and realis-
ing opportunities in appropriate time. the Management 
Board of CA Immo, which is involved in all decisions 
and risk management processes, takes ultimate respon-
sibility. Group controlling centrally combines planning, 
information provision, control and monitoring tasks with 
a view to informing the Management Board of existing 
and potential risks in good time. Current business-related 
risks in particular are monitored and controlled by means 
of clear internal guidelines and strategies, business and 
investment plans and the implementation of continuous 
reporting systems at all corporate levels. the increas-
ing complexity and interlinking of business areas also 
intensifies the specific risk situation of the company. 
In order to gauge the risk position on a continual basis, 
the company evaluates risk by means of regular report-
ing at corporate and sectoral level. the effectiveness of 
risk management at CA Immo is appraised annually by 
the auditor, who reports findings to the Supervisory and 
Management Boards. In addition to this, an external con-
sultant assisted in the creation of a company-specific risk 
profile in 2008, taking into account the current corporate 
and market position of the CA Immo Group. the prevail-
ing risk situation was discussed from the viewpoint of 
the relevant heads of department and summarised in a 
specific risk evaluation report. the objective was to de-
termine the risk situation (taking into consideration all 
measures and controls presently implemented at strategic 
and operational level) and to define additional measures 
designed to minimise risk. In the course of this process, 
new areas of risk not previously evident were identified 
and incorporated in the risk inventory; by the same token, 
others were classified as non-critical in view of the chang-
ing business environment and removed from the risk 
inventory. 

Risk management at all corporate levels
CA Immo assesses all risks according to content, impact 

and likelihood of occurrence. on this basis, risk manage-
ment is realised at all levels of the company, strategic as 
well as operational. Strategic risk management involves, 
amongst other things, the compilation of compulsory 
guidelines for investment policy. the investment strat-
egy of CA Immo – and the associated opportunities and 
threats – are assessed annually by the Management and 

Supervisory Boards, and risks are limited by focussing on 
existing strengths and expertise. operational risk man-
agement is concerned with the management of property-
specific and general business risks.the company averts 
unforeseen risks by utilising early warning tools such as 
rent projections and vacancy analyses and by continually 
monitoring lease contract terms and termination clauses.

tHe RISKS In DetAIl

Strategic risks

- Capital market risk: the worsening crisis of confi-
dence in the viability of the financial markets is making 
it much more difficult to raise additional equity capital 
(normally through capital increases) and to acquire loan 
capital (loan financing).

CA Immo addresses capital market risk at several levels. 
Firstly, the company is highly skilled at planning and 
securing liquidity in order to avoid bottlenecks. Secondly, 
CA Immo covers itself by entering into equity partner-
ships (joint ventures) at project level as an alternative and 
supplement to established sources of equity capital pro-
curement. As regards the raising of loan capital, CA Immo 
is making greater efforts to establish or develop business 
relationships with domestic and foreign banks (in addi-
tion to Bank Austria, its principal bank).

- Geopolitical risks: owing to the corporate structure, 
these risks principally apply to the subsidiary CA Immo 
International. With the exception of Russia and Serbia, 
all of the countries in which the company has a presence 
are eu members, which means greater legal certainty and 
lower risk of fundamental shifts in political or economic 
policy.

In non-eu member states, consideration is given in spe-
cific cases to insuring investments against expropriation, 
political violence and the convertibility of local currency, 
and precautions are taken as appropriate.

- Expansion risk: the realisation of investment plans, 
the integration of fully acquired property packages and 
companies and, not least, the higher proportion of project 
development constitute major challenges for the company 
and its employees. 

CA Immo flexibly adjusts the pace of its expansion to 
global and (above all) regional conditions. In line with 
current market conditions, the company has recently 
slowed the pace of growth considerably. 

MAnAGeMent RepoRt

M
A

n
A

G
e

M
e

n
t

 R
e

p
o

R
t

85



expansion planning is carefully coordinated with the 
planning of financial and personnel resources. to prevent 
organisational bottlenecks, service processes have been 
developed; these are continually adapted. Staff develop-
ment is addressed through active personnel management.

- Market and liquidation risk: As an investor, CA Immo 
is exposed to external, market-specific risks such as mac-
roeconomic trends, developments in tenant sectors, rent 
development, the activities of other market players and 
the development of real estate yield across the various 
segments. 

Bearing this in mind, CA Immo performs its own ex-
haustive market analyses and maintains constant contact 
with leading experts in the sector. to minimise regional 
risks, the ideal resale times for the largest properties in 
the portfolio are considered as part of regular discussions 
concerning location quality, property quality and market 

changes. In this way, CA Immo reduces the risk of not be-
ing able to sell properties, or only being able to sell them 
at a discount.

- Concentration (cluster) risk: ‘Cluster risk’ arises where 
certain investments are overrepresented in the portfolio.

CA Immo addresses the risk of certain properties domi-
nating the portfolio by purposely distributing property 
assets according to both usage type and geographical loca-
tion. As a rule, no single investment may exceed 20  % of 
the total portfolio value for a particular region; joint ven-
ture partners are sought for large-scale investment plans.

Property-specific risks

- Property valuation risk: Real estate prices are sub-
ject to considerable fluctuation on account of changing 
economic conditions (rising and falling interest rates, 
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expanding or contracting economies, imbalance between 
the supply and demand of real estate and other factors). 
In common with most companies in the sector, CA Immo 
opted for the market value method in the conversion of 
its accounting to IFRS. As a consequence, changes in 
market value can lead to major discrepancies in results; 
this has produced some very positive outcomes in recent 
years, but also an extremely negative outcome in 2008. 
Value reductions curtail not only results but also equity 
capital; this in turn adversely affects creditworthiness, 
with loan-to-value covenants unable to be upheld in some 
circumstances.

CA Immo has its properties externally valued once 
every year (quarterly in eastern europe in view of the 
significantly higher volatility of property prices). owing 
to the current distortion on the capital market, the limited 
liquidity and associated low level of transactions, the lack 
of comparable transactions and the prospect of distress 
sales, value assessment has been significantly hampered 
and properties may only be sold with greater liquidation 
expenditure, even at the values quoted.

to maintain its creditworthiness, CA Immo agrees an 
appropriate leverage in advance and secures appropriate 
restoration periods in connection with financing.

- Location risk: the location of a property has a decisive 
influence on rentability and long-term letting potential as 
well as the earning power and sales revenue of a property. 
location is therefore the greatest risk associated with real 
estate investment. 

to minimise this risk, CA Immo invites external experts 
to carry out regular analyses of locations and trends. 
locations that are candidates for investment are assessed 
separately according to stringent criteria.

- Investment cost / project development risk: Since 
2006, the CA Immo Group has significantly increased the 
proportion of project development in its property assets; 
the acquisition of Vivico Real estate GmbH in Germany 
has given project development a much higher profile. the 
objective is to generate additional income through the 
addition of the value inherent to project development. 
In eastern europe, these activities are mainly managed 
by the CA Immo new europe project development fund. 
project business is, however, associated with higher risk. 
Risks can arise from imponderables such as delays in 
the property use approval or planning permission proc-
esses, cost/deadline overruns, construction defects and so 
on. these risks can never be completely ruled out, even 
with meticulous planning and monitoring. CA Immo was 

making greater use of forward purchases at fixed returns 
in 2007, mainly through the subsidiary CA Immo Inter-
national. In such cases, price risk can also arise where 
property market trends lead to rising returns.

Having gained experience in project development, the 
CA Immo Group endeavours to reduce the risk by work-
ing with local partners, concentrating on well-established 
companies and those with whom CA Immo has registered 
positive experiences in order to minimise the selection 
risk. With Vivico, CA Immo has brought a robust and 
experienced project development player into the Group. 
A strict reporting system ensures precise monitoring of 
costs and deadlines. In 2008, project development risk 
intensified significantly owing to the greater capital mar-
ket risk, increased geopolitical risks and the changes in 
general conditions that resulted from this. Consequently, 
original project costings have had to be revised, in some 
instances considerably. CA Immo is responding to the 
evolving situation as necessary, adjusting book values 
clearly and appropriately.

- Profit fluctuation risk: this risk group essentially com-
prises the aforementioned resale risk along with vacancy 
risk (where floor space is not let, income is forfeited, 
vacancy costs arise and the value of a property falls). We 
cannot rule out the possibility that the present economic 
crisis will impact the rental market more rapidly than has 
previously been the case, with the effects being felt as 
early as 2009.

to keep vacancy to an absolute minimum, CA Immo 
screens the creditworthiness and reputation of potential 
tenants. the budgeted and actual revenues generated by 
all properties are continually monitored, and structured 
quality checks are carried out. the company also cooper-
ates with reputable estate agents when seeking new ten-
ants. In certain cases, CA Immo has circumvented prob-
able future risks by selling a property – a measure that 
can be deployed only sparingly at the present time.

- Management risk: the build quality of a property has 
a not inconsiderable influence on the costs of its man-
agement. A property that does not comply with current 
standards can generate higher investment costs in con-
nection with restoration and improvement measures, or 
fail to attract tenants; this in turn adversely affects the 
earning power of that property.

to stop this happening, CA Immo undertakes technical 
due diligence prior to acquisition in order to determine 
a property’s quality and the compliance of its fixtures 
and fittings. the company also maintains close contact 
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with tenants and property managers so that any hidden 
construction defects can be remedied quickly and cost-
effectively.

- Contract risk: In order to minimise risks linked to legal 
disputes, CA Immo works with lawyers on its relevant 
target markets, integrating them into decision-making 
processes at appropriate stages. At the present time, no 
lawsuits or arbitration proceedings which could have a 
material influence on the company’s economic situation 
are pending or foreseeable.

- Environmental risk: Increasingly stringent environ-
mental regulations are establishing ecological impact 
as a determining factor in property valuation to an ever 
greater degree. Aside from the bearing on value, ecologi-
cal damage can lead to properties being left vacant or 
abandoned.

CA Immo incorporates this consideration into its wide-
ranging assessments prior to every purchase. Appropriate 

guarantees are also required from sellers. In its capac-
ity as a builder, CA Immo makes use of environmentally 
sustainable materials and energy-saving technologies 
wherever possible.

General business risks

- Financial risk: Risks linked to liquidity, interest rates 
and currencies make up the main financial risks. these 
risks, along with a corresponding liquidity analysis, are 
reproduced in the notes section (income and balance 
sheet analysis).

- Interest rate risk: CA Immo uses a mix of long-term 
fixed-rate and floating-rate loans to cut the interest rate 
risk. In the case of floating-rate loans, derivative financial 
instruments (interest rate caps and interest rate swaps) are 
also used. Without exception, such instruments are used 
to hedge against the risk of interest rate changes arising 
from underlying transactions. these financial instruments 
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-  Mix of long-term pegged interest rates 
and loans bearing variable interest

-  use of derivate financial instruments

-  natural hedging where loans are 
agreed in the same currency as rental 
agreements
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when changing currency in the rental 
agreements

-  exchange rate hedging

-  Continual short- and medium-term 
updating of liquidity planing

-  optimisation of investment

-  Continual checks on credit agree-
ments (including derivatives) for any 
need for adjustment

-  project-related, long-term financing 
agreements

Reduced Group success if interest 
rates rise

Significant fluctuation in earnings 
owing to exchange rate gains/losses

Attractive investments cannot be 
realised

Cost drawbacks during the term of 
the agreement

CHAnGe In InteReSt RAteS
evaluating interest rate development
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evaluating the relationship of the euR 
to the uSD 
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lack of liquidity

CReDIt AGReeMentS
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may be subject to changes in value. Changes in the value 
of contracts that can be defined as cash flow hedges (the 
majority of the SWAps used by CA Immo fall under this 
category) are shown as equity capital. Changes in the val-
ue of contracts classified as fair-value SWAps are directly 
depicted as expenditure or income in the income state-
ment. the reference value for interest rate SWAps is the 
euribor. In the second half of 2008, there was a significant 
drop in the euribor (see section ‘economic environment’) 
as a result of which the cash values of the SWAp con-
tracts turned negative. Most of these related to valuation 
losses which had no effect on cash.

As at 31 December 2008, CA Immo was investing liquid 
assets mainly as daily allowances or commercial papers. 
Since the latter are exposed to creditworthiness and li-
quidity risks, future fluctuations in value cannot be ruled 
out. to further reduce risk, the stock of near-money mar-
ket funds (the performance of which has plummeted in 
the capital market crisis) was successively reduced from 
€ 376 m at the start of the year to € 11.3 m on the balance 
sheet date. At the end of 2008 the remaining investment 
held in near-money market funds was dissolved and the 
assessed money has been transferred in deposits on the 
one hand, and on the other hand the remaining stock of 
near-money market funds (ABS funds) now is held di-
rectly and represents the sole position of securities.

no risks constituting a serious and permanent threat to 
the company exist at the present time. Sufficient provi-
sions have been formed for all identified risks.

- Currency (change) risk: owing to investment activ-
ity abroad, the management of currency risks is another 
important element of risk management. exchange rate 
fluctuations can impact on results where rents are pay-
able in foreign currencies or loans were raised in uS 
dollars, Czech krone or Swiss francs. non-cash effects on 
consolidated net income can result from the translation of 
individual financial statements of subsidiaries outside the 
eurozone.

For this reason, the subsidiary CA Immo International 
seeks to peg rents to a hard currency when acquiring new 
properties in eastern and Southeastern europe. loans are 
taken out in the currency underlying the relevant lease. 
owing to the volatility of eastern european currencies, 
exept operating costs, which have to be paid in local cur-
rency, all payments in local currency are converted into 
euros upon receipt. 

- Taxation law risk: national taxation systems are 
subject to ongoing change on the target markets of the 
CA Immo Group. 

Working with international consultants, CA Immo moni-
tors all relevant debates and decisions taken by national 
legislators. Despite this, short- and long-term tax rises 
linked to changing legal frameworks pose a constant risk 
to revenue.
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ConSolIDAteD FInAnCIAl StAteMentS

A. ConSolIDAteD InCoMe StAteMent

€ 1,000 Notes 2008 2007

Rental income 175,283.6 123,276.5

operating costs passed on to tenants 30,278.5 18,400.0

Income from the sale of properties intended for trading 88,269.2 0.0

Revenues from construction contracts 3,700.4 0.0

other turnover 1,258.5 2,897.9

Gross revenues 2.1.1. 298,790.2 144,574.4

operating expenses 2.1.2. – 37,549.1 – 20,918.6

other expenses directly related to long-term properties 2.1.2. – 28,846.9 – 14,969.4

Book value of properties intended for trading 2.1.1. – 69,541.7 0.0

expenses for construction contracts 2.1.1. – 2,665.9 0.0

Net operating income 160,186.6 108,686.4

noI as a % of the gross revenues 54 % 75 %

  

profit from the sale of long-term properties 175,433.3 40,314.4

Book value of long-term properties sold – 163,695.4 – 34,591.9

Result from the sale of long-term properties 2.1.3. 11,737.9 5,722.5

Administrative expenses 2.1.4. – 52,207.0 – 27,886.8

own works capitalised 2.1.5. 5,323.5 0.0

other operating income 2.1.6. 12,735.0 4,163.1

EBITDA 137,776.0 90,685.2

eBItDA as a % of the gross revenues 46 % 63 %

Depreciation and amortisation of long-term assets – 97,853.2 – 4,626.7

Depreciation of properties intended for trading – 14,446.0 0.0

Depreciation and amortisation 2.1.7. – 112,299.2 – 4,626.7

Revaluation gains 16,650.7 84,099.3

Revaluation losses – 194,743.8 – 18,671.2

Change from revaluation 2.1.8. – 178,093.1 65,428.1

Operating result (EBIT) – 152,616.3 151,486.6

eBIt as a % of the gross revenues – 105 %

Financing costs 2.1.9. – 105,113.8 – 57,440.1

Foreign currency losses/gains 2.1.10. – 3,467.6 4,752.3

Result of derivative instruments 2.1.11. – 15,874.5 – 1,269.7

Result of financial investments 2.1.12. 4,433.6 8,262.0

Result from financial assets 2.1.13. – 7,800.9 0.0

Result from investments in associates 2.1.14. – 15,071.1 379.8

Minority interests held by limited partners 2.1.15. 111.6 0.0

Financial result – 142,782.7 – 45,315.7

Net income before taxes (EBT) – 295,399.0 106,170.9

taxes on income 2.2.12. 510.2 – 22,197.4

Consolidated net income – 294,888.8 83,973.5

of which: attributable to minority shareholders – 57,768.2 31,917.0

of which: attributable to the parent company – 237,120.6 52,056.5

earnings per share in € (undiluted equals diluted) 2.3.8. – 2.73 0.67

operating cash flow per share in € 2.3.8. 1.32 1.07

Cash flow from business activities per share in € 2.3.8. 1.96 1.08
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B. ConSolIDAteD BAlAnCe SHeet 

ConSolIDAteD FInAnCIAl StAteMentS

€ 1,000 Notes 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Assets

property assets let 2.2.1. 2,520,674.0 2,319,631.3

property assets under development 2.2.1. 1,079,821.4 215,707.9

Investment property own used 2.2.1. 19,449.6 0.0

prepayments on properties 2.2.1. 20,482.5 0.0

office furniture and equipment 2.2.1. 2,433.7 5,715.8

Intangible assets 2.2.2. 53,391.5 34,037.1

prepayments on investments in properties 2.2.3. 200.0 545,248.3

Investments in associates 2.2.3. 45,978.4 59,683.2

loans to joint ventures 2.2.3. 25,389.4 14,721.8

loans to associates 2.2.3. 6,499.8 3,066.6

other loans 2.2.3. 1,006.3 9,160.1

other financial assets 2.2.3. 7.3 8.6

Deferred tax assets 2.2.12. 55,553.2 784.8

Long-term assets 3,830,887.1 3,207,765.4

long-term assets as a % of balance sheet total 87 % 84 %

property intended for trading 2.2.4. 168,350.1 0.0

Receivables from joint ventures 2.2.5. 6,686.2 156.7

Receivables and other assets 2.2.5. 56,277.9 47,434.2

Securities 2.2.6. 11,251.2 375,584.8

Cash and cash equivalents 2.2.7. 321,380.3 192,468.5

Short-term assets 563,945.7 615,644.2

Total assets 4,394,832.8 3,823,409.6

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Share capital 2.2.8. 634,370.0 634,370.0

Capital reserves 2.2.8. 995,109.5 984,959.2

Retained earnings (incl. valuation result from hedging and other reserves) – 6,525.8 303,612.9

Minority interests 231,700.4 342,511.3

Shareholders’ equity 1,854,654.1 2,265,453.4

shareholders' equity as a % of balance sheet total 42 % 59 %

Shares from limited partners 2,597.7 2,621.7

provisions 2.2.9. 560.1 598.7

Bond 2.2.10. 194,903.6 194,385.4

Financial liabilities 2.2.11. 1,639,961.3 962,187.0

trade creditors 8,251.1 185.1

other liabilities 2.2.13. 111,965.2 6,714.0

Deferred tax liabilities 2.2.12. 205,749.6 92,862.6

Long-term liabilities 2,163,988.6 1,259,554.6

provisions for taxation 2.2.9. 46,340.4 1,447.7

provisions 2.2.9. 89,723.4 22,335.5

Financial liabilities 2.2.11. 88,857.5 251,075.8

payables to joint ventures 3,820.5 398.9

trade creditors 61,100.4 6,381.2

other liabilities 2.2.13. 86,347.9 16,762.5

Short-term liabilities 376,190.1 298,401.6

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity 4,394,832.8 3,823,409.6
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€ 1,000 Notes 2008 2007

Cash flow from operating activities

net income before taxes – 295,399.0 106,170.9

Revaluation losses/gains 2.1.8. 178,093.1 – 65,428.1

Depreciation and amortisation 2.1.7. 112,299.2 4,626.7

Income from the sale of properties and office equipment 2.1.3. – 16,050.0 – 5,722.5

loss from asset disposal 4,344.1 298.4

taxes paid – 11,481.4 – 3,151.2

Interest income/expense 100,680.2 50,447.8

Result from financial assets 2.1.13. 7,800.9 0.0

effect on valuation of interest swaps and caps 2.1.11. 15,874.5 1,269.7

Result from investments in associates 14,959.5 – 379.7

Foreign currency losses/gains 2.1.10. 3,467.6 – 4,752.3

Operating cash flow 114,588.7 83,379.7

property intended for trading 2.2.4. 46,219.4 0.0

Receivables and other assets 2.2.5. 10,442.9 – 3,434.1

trade creditors – 7,908.2 – 2,388.9

provisions 2.2.9. – 518.5 4,277.9

Deferred tax assets/liabilities incl. tax provisions 2.2.12. – 652.6 2,684.4

other short-term liabilities 2.2.13. 7,488.6 – 532.2

Cash flow from change in net current assets 55,071.6 607.2

Cash flow from operating activities 169,660.3 83,986.9

Cash flow from investment activities

Aquisition of property assets 2.2.1. – 191,365.2 – 296,692.4

Acquisition of property companies, less cash and cash equivalents 

in the amount of € 174,534.5 K (2007:  € 9,427.2 K) – 390,945.9 – 82,070.9

Acquisition of office equipment and intangible assets 2.2.1. – 2,064.1 – 2,188.4

prepayments on investments in properties 2.2.4. – 465.0 – 540,690.8

prepayments in respect of properties 2.2.1. – 20,482.5 0.0

Acquisition of financial assets 2.2.3. – 22,077.8 – 22,533.5

Acquisition of own shares (CA Immobilien Anlagen AG) 2.2.8. – 13,722.8 0.0

Acquisition of shares in CAIIAG – 28,586.2 – 14,367.7

Acquisition of short term securities 2.2.6. – 65,804.8 – 670,123.7

Disposal of short term securities 2.2.6. 414,253.1 631,802.7

Financing from joint ventures 17,659.6 4,828.1

Disposal of property assets, property companies and other assets, less cash and 

cash equivalents in the amount of € 2,286.6 K (2007: € 319.6 K) 156,775.7 44.517.1

Dividend payments of associated companies and securities 1,465.5 750.0

Repayments of other loans 550.0 0.0

Interest received from financial investments 17,013.4 9,864.8

Cash flow from investment activities – 127,797.0 –936,904.7

C. ConSolIDAteD CASH FloW StAteMent

ConSolIDAteD FInAnCIAl StAteMentS
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€ 1,000 Notes 2008 2007

Cash flow from financing activities

Cash inflow from financing 951,636.5 296,518.6

Cash flow from capital increases 0.0 645,362.2

Dividend payments of subsidiaries to minorities – 6,477.4 0.0

Cash inflow from minorities 736.2 45,796.5

Costs for the capital increase SICAR 0.0 – 3,651.1

Cash inflow from related companies 400.3 20.2

Repayment of derivative instruments – 1,251.6 0.0

Repayment of loans – 753,478.4 – 35,073.2

Interest paid – 102,498.1 – 51,428.9

Cash flow from financing activities 89,067.5 897,544.3

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 130,930.8 44,626.5

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 192,468.5 148,295.1

Changes in the value of foreign currency – 2,019.0 – 453.1

net change in cash and cash equivalents 130,930.8 44,626.5

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 1) 2.2.7. 321,380.3 192,468.5

1) see 2.2.7. for a break down of cash and cash equivalents.

ConSolIDAteD FInAnCIAl StAteMentS
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D.  StAteMent oF CHAnGeS In  
ConSolIDAteD SHAReHolDeRS’ eQuIty

entWICKlunG DeS KonZeRneIGenKApItAlS FüR DAS GeSCHäFtSJAHR 2007 

 

€ 1,000 Share capital Capital reserves Reserves for 

own shares

Retained earnings Valuation result 

(hedging)

Reserves from 

 associates 1)

Reserves from 

foreign currency 

translation 2)

Shares held by 

the  shareholders 

of the parent 

company

Minority 

interests

Shareholders' 

equity (total)

As at 1 January 2007 422,913.3 540,628.7 0.0 230,893.1 5,270.3 0.0 0.0 1,199,705.4 285,528.0 1,485,233.4

Valuation of cash flow hedge 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 15,397.5 0.0 0.0 15,397.5 – 13.9 15,383.6

Consolidated net income for the period 2007 0.0 0.0 0.0 52,056.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 52,056.5 31,917.0 83,973.5

Total result for the period 0.0 0.0 0.0 52,056.5 15,397.5 0.0 0.0 67,454.0 31,903.1 99,357.1

Capital increase AG 211,456.7 441,628.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 653,085.2 0.0 653,085.2

Capital increase SICAR 0.0 – 1,046.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 1,046.7 – 1,005.6 – 2,052.3

purchase of interests from CAIIAG 0.0 3,748.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3,748.7 – 18,116.4 – 14,367.7

payments from minorities and purchase of minority interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 44,197.7 44,197.7

Group disposal of companies 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 4.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 4.5 4.5 0.0

As at 31 December 2007 634,370.0 984,959.2 0.0 282,945.1 20,667.8 0.0 0.0 1,922,942.1 342,511.3 2,265,453.4

Valuation of cash flow hedge 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 72,801.0 0.0 0.0 – 72,801.0 – 3,439.1 – 76,240.1

Reserve on changes recognised directly in the associate's equity 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 219.2 0.0 – 219.2 – 167.8 – 387.0

Reserve from foreign currency translation 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.1 2.1 0.0 2.1

Consolidated net income for the period 2008 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 237,120.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 237,120.6 – 57,768.2 – 294,888.8

Total result for the period 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 237,120.6 – 72,801.0 – 219.2 2.1 – 310,138.7 – 61,375.1 – 371,513.8

Dividend payments 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 6,477.4 – 6,477.4

purchase of own shares 0.0 0.0 – 11,861.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 11,861.3 0.0 – 11,861.3

purchase of interests from CAIIAG 0.0 21,919.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 21,919.0 – 50,505.2 – 28,586.2

Acquisition of new companies 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6,995.6 6,995.6

payments from minorities and purchase and sale of minority interests 0.0 92.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 92.6 551.2 643.8

As at 31 December 2008 634,370.0 1,006,970.8 – 11,861.3 45,824.5 – 52,133.2 – 219.2 2.1 1,622,953.7 231,700.4 1,854,654.1

 

1) Reserves from associates comprise the changes in equity with no effect on the income statement of one company consolidated at equity, in which the  

valuation of cash flow hedges and the change in reserves from foreign exchange gains/losses are included.

2) Company in Switzerland with functional currency CHF, see 1.5.
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entWICKlunG DeS KonZeRneIGenKApItAlS FüR DAS GeSCHäFtSJAHR 2007 

 

€ 1,000 Share capital Capital reserves Reserves for 

own shares

Retained earnings Valuation result 

(hedging)

Reserves from 

 associates 1)

Reserves from 

foreign currency 

translation 2)

Shares held by 

the  shareholders 

of the parent 

company

Minority 

interests

Shareholders' 

equity (total)

As at 1 January 2007 422,913.3 540,628.7 0.0 230,893.1 5,270.3 0.0 0.0 1,199,705.4 285,528.0 1,485,233.4

Valuation of cash flow hedge 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 15,397.5 0.0 0.0 15,397.5 – 13.9 15,383.6

Consolidated net income for the period 2007 0.0 0.0 0.0 52,056.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 52,056.5 31,917.0 83,973.5

Total result for the period 0.0 0.0 0.0 52,056.5 15,397.5 0.0 0.0 67,454.0 31,903.1 99,357.1

Capital increase AG 211,456.7 441,628.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 653,085.2 0.0 653,085.2

Capital increase SICAR 0.0 – 1,046.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 1,046.7 – 1,005.6 – 2,052.3

purchase of interests from CAIIAG 0.0 3,748.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3,748.7 – 18,116.4 – 14,367.7

payments from minorities and purchase of minority interests 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 44,197.7 44,197.7

Group disposal of companies 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 4.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 4.5 4.5 0.0

As at 31 December 2007 634,370.0 984,959.2 0.0 282,945.1 20,667.8 0.0 0.0 1,922,942.1 342,511.3 2,265,453.4

Valuation of cash flow hedge 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 72,801.0 0.0 0.0 – 72,801.0 – 3,439.1 – 76,240.1

Reserve on changes recognised directly in the associate's equity 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 219.2 0.0 – 219.2 – 167.8 – 387.0

Reserve from foreign currency translation 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.1 2.1 0.0 2.1

Consolidated net income for the period 2008 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 237,120.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 237,120.6 – 57,768.2 – 294,888.8

Total result for the period 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 237,120.6 – 72,801.0 – 219.2 2.1 – 310,138.7 – 61,375.1 – 371,513.8

Dividend payments 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 6,477.4 – 6,477.4

purchase of own shares 0.0 0.0 – 11,861.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 11,861.3 0.0 – 11,861.3

purchase of interests from CAIIAG 0.0 21,919.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 21,919.0 – 50,505.2 – 28,586.2

Acquisition of new companies 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6,995.6 6,995.6

payments from minorities and purchase and sale of minority interests 0.0 92.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 92.6 551.2 643.8

As at 31 December 2008 634,370.0 1,006,970.8 – 11,861.3 45,824.5 – 52,133.2 – 219.2 2.1 1,622,953.7 231,700.4 1,854,654.1

 

1) Reserves from associates comprise the changes in equity with no effect on the income statement of one company consolidated at equity, in which the  

valuation of cash flow hedges and the change in reserves from foreign exchange gains/losses are included.

2) Company in Switzerland with functional currency CHF, see 1.5.
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Segmentation by sectors

€ 1,000 2008 2007 2008 2007

Income 

producing

Trading Develop-

ment 1)

Total Income 

producing

Develop-

ment

Total Austria Germany 1) CEE/SEE/CIS Total Austria Germany 1) CEE/SEE/CIS Total

Rental income 152,438.3 13,521.7 9,323.6 175,283.6 122,943.7 332.8 123,276.5 45,153.6 91,470.4 38,659.6 175,283.6 41,133.2 44,033.4 38,109.9 123,276.5

Income from sale of properties intended for trading 0.0 88,269.2 0.0 88,269.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 88,269.2 0.0 88,269.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Revenues from construction contracts 0.0 0.0 3,700.4 3,700.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3,700.4 0.0 3,700.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

other turnover 1,258.5 0.0 0.0 1,258.5 2,897.9 0.0 2,897.9 0.0 0.0 1,258.5 1,258.5 0.0 0.0 2,897.9 2,897.9

operating costs passed on to tenants 28,314.2 1,635.6 328.7 30,278.5 18,367.1 32.9 18,400.0 6,689.7 11,512.9 12,075.9 30,278.5 5,664.8 1,409.3 11,325.9 18,400.0

Gross revenues 182,011.0 103,426.5 13,352.7 298,790.2 144,208.7 365.7 144,574.4 51,843.3 194,952.9 51,994.0 298,790.2 46,798.0 45,442.7 52,333.7 144,574.4

operating expenses – 29,610.8 – 3,931.5 – 4,006.9 – 37,549.1 – 20,781.9 – 136.7 – 20,918.6 – 8,756.5 – 16,481.8 – 12,310.8 – 37,549.1 – 7,662.7 – 1,467.5 – 11,788.4 – 20,918.6

expenses directly related to long-term properties – 16,890.7 – 3,190.2 – 8,766.0 – 28,846.9 – 14,668.4 – 301.0 – 14,969.4 – 6,008.2 – 20,344.1 – 2,494.6 – 28,846.9 – 7,073.5 – 3,673.9 – 4,222.0 – 14,969.4

Book value of properties intended for trading 0.0 – 69,541.7 0.0 – 69,541.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 69,541.7 0.0 – 69,541.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

expenses for construction contracts 0.0 0.0 – 2,665.9 – 2,665.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 2,665.9 0.0 – 2,665.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Net operating income 135,509.5 26.763,1 – 2,086.0 160,186.6 108,758.4 – 72.0 108,686.4 37,078.6 85,919.4 37,188.6 160,186.6 32,061.8 40,301.3 36,323.3 108,686.4

noI as a % of the gross revenues 75 % 26 % – 16 % 54 % 75 % – 20 % 75 % 72 % 44 % 72 % 54 % 69 % 89 % 69 % 75 %

Result from the sale of long-term properties 10,715.2 0.0 1,022.7 11,737.9 5,722.5 0.0 5,722.5 – 759.7 5,484.1 7,013.5 11,737.9 1,783.1 0.0 3,939.4 5,722.5

Administrative expenses – 23,909.0 – 8,562.5 – 19,735.5 – 52,207.0 – 23,308.2 – 4,578.6 – 27,886.8 – 8,579.3 – 29,973.4 – 13,654.3 – 52,207.0 – 9,483.4 – 3,856.0 – 14,547.4 – 27,886.8

own works capitalised 0.0 0.0 5,323.5 5,323.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5,323.5 0.0 5,323.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

other operating income 7,148.2 5,394.7 192.1 12,735.0 4,057.5 105.6 4,163.1 954.2 10,108.9 1,671.9 12,735.0 2,648.8 162.6 1,351.7 4,163.1

EBITDA 129,464.0 23,595.3 – 15,283.3 137,776.0 95,230.2 – 4,545.0 90,685.2 28,693.8 76,862.5 32,219.7 137,776.0 27,010.3 36,607.9 27,067.0 90,685.2

eBItDA as a % of the gross revenues 71 % 23 % – 46 % 66 % – 63 % 55 % 39 % 62 % 46 % 58 % 81 % 52 % 63 %

Depreciation and amortisation of long-term assets – 3,214.0 0.0 – 1,615.9 – 4,829.9 – 2,079.9 – 163.4 – 2,243.3 – 1,025.3 – 1,777.1 – 2,027.5 – 4,829.9 – 524.9 0.0 – 1,718.5 – 2,243.4

Impairment losses – 1,638.3 – 14,446.1 – 91,384.9 – 107,469.3 0.0 – 2,383.3 – 2,383.3 – 16,690.6 – 45,234.1 – 45,544.6 – 107,469.3 – 2,383.3 0.0 0.0 – 2,383.3

Revaluation result – 178,009.6 0.0 – 83.5 5) – 178,093.1 47,987.0 17,441.1 65,428.1 – 64,607.6 – 66,819.5 – 46,666.0 – 178,093.1 5,395.3 2,460.1 57,572.7 65,428.1

Operating result (EBIT) – 53,398.0 9,149.2 – 108,367.6 – 152,616.3 141,137.2 10,349.1 151,486.6 – 53,629.7 – 36,968.2 – 62,018.4 – 152,616.3 29,497.4 39,068.0 82,921.2 151,486.6

eBIt as a % of the gross revenues – 9 % – – 98 % – 105 % – – – – 63 % 86 % 158 % 105 %

Financing costs and result of financial investments – 70,692.7 989.6 – 30,977.1 – 100,680.2 – 41,069.7 – 8,108.4 – 49,178.1 – 28,846.3 – 65,190.0 – 6,643.9 – 100,680.2 – 17,001.1 – 25,576.6 – 6,600.4 – 49,178.1

Result of derivative instruments – 10,547.2 0.0 – 5,327.3 – 15,874.5 – 1,269.7 0.0 – 1,269.7 – 11,154.3 – 4,720.2 0.0 – 15,874.5 – 1,269.7 0.0 0.0 – 1,269.7

Result from financial assets 0.0 0.0 – 7,800.9 – 7,800.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 7,800.9 – 7,800.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Result from investments in associates 0.0 0.0 – 15,071.1 – 15,071.1 – 5.9 385.7 379.8 0.0 – 5.7 – 15,065.4 – 15,071.1 0.0 0.0 379.8 379.8

Minority intrests held by limited partners 32.5 – 43.2 122.3 111.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 111.6 0.0 111.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Foreign currency losses / gains – 2,656.3 – 25.6 – 785.7 – 3,467.6 5,080.6 – 328.3 4,752.3 – 396.2 115.9 – 3,187.3 – 3,467.6 127.1 – 0.1 4,625.3 4,752.3

Net income before taxes (EBT) – 137,261.7 10,070.0 – 168,207.3 – 295,399.0 103,872.5 2,298.4 106,170.9 – 94,026.5 – 106,656.6 – 94,715.9 – 295,399.0 11,353.7 13,491.3 81,325.9 106,170.9

Segment property assets IAS 40 2,520,674.0 0.0 0.0 2,520,674.0 2,319,631.3 0.0 2,319,631.3 747,938.0 1,184,549.0 588,187.0 2,520,674.0 805,205.3 915,454.0 598,972.0 2,319,631.3

other segment property assets 2) 39,932.1 168,350.0 1,079,821.5 1,288,103.6 0.0 215,707.9 215,707.9 72,647.3 1,051,972.5 163,483.8 1,288,103.6 87,320.7 18,963.0 109,424.2 215,707.9

other segment assets 243,115.0 7,153.4 280,233.6 530,502.0 1,169,923.9 117,361.7 1,287,285.6 80,218.8 210,622.2 239,661.0 530,502.0 456,821.3 567,813.2 262,651.1 1,287,285.6

Deferred tax assets 23,760.4 8,220.4 23,572.4 55,553.2 637.1 147.7 784.8 0.0 54,142.9 1,410.3 55,553.2 0.0 328.4 456.4 784.8

Balance sheet total 2,827,481.5 183,723.8 1,383,627.5 4,394,832.8 3,490,192.3 333,217.3 3,823,409.6 900,804.1 2,501,286.6 992,742.1 4,394,832.8 1,349,347.3 1,502,558.6 971,503.7 3,823,409.6

Segment liabilities 1,588,994.8 76,898.7 622,195.2 2,288,088.7 1,388,973.7 74,672.2 1,463,645.9 453,279.5 1,442,275.1 392,534.1 2,288,088.7 598,708.6 606,819.7 258,117.6 1,463,645.9

Deferred tax liabilities incl. tax provisions 91,877.7 24,784.7 135,427.6 252,090.0 85,566.2 8,744.1 94,310.3 31,933.8 179,094.2 41,062.0 252,090.0 62,434.4 7,906.0 23,969.9 94,310.3

Segment debts 1,680,872.5 101,683.4 757,622.8 2,540,178.7 1,474,539.9 83,416.3 1,557,956.2 485,213.3 1,621,369.3 433,596.1 2,540,178.7 661,143.0 614,725.7 282,087.5 1,557,956.2

Capital expenditure 3) 481,627.0 250,339.3 1,127,182.5 1,859,148.8 220,801.4 190,164.6 410,966.0 40,747.7 1,629,553.5 188,847.6 1,859,148.8 138,553.2 127,693.2 144,719.6 410,966.0

employees 4) 56 182 90 328 53 0 151 204

1) Incl. one property in Switzerland      2) other segment property assets include property developments, own-used properties, properties held for sale and prepayments on properties

3) Capital expenditure includes all acquisitions in property assets (long-term and short term), office furniture and equipment, and intangible assets.

e. ConSolIDAteD SeGMent RepoRtInG
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Segmentation by sectors

€ 1,000 2008 2007 2008 2007

Income 

producing

Trading Develop-

ment 1)

Total Income 

producing

Develop-

ment

Total Austria Germany 1) CEE/SEE/CIS Total Austria Germany 1) CEE/SEE/CIS Total

Rental income 152,438.3 13,521.7 9,323.6 175,283.6 122,943.7 332.8 123,276.5 45,153.6 91,470.4 38,659.6 175,283.6 41,133.2 44,033.4 38,109.9 123,276.5

Income from sale of properties intended for trading 0.0 88,269.2 0.0 88,269.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 88,269.2 0.0 88,269.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Revenues from construction contracts 0.0 0.0 3,700.4 3,700.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3,700.4 0.0 3,700.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

other turnover 1,258.5 0.0 0.0 1,258.5 2,897.9 0.0 2,897.9 0.0 0.0 1,258.5 1,258.5 0.0 0.0 2,897.9 2,897.9

operating costs passed on to tenants 28,314.2 1,635.6 328.7 30,278.5 18,367.1 32.9 18,400.0 6,689.7 11,512.9 12,075.9 30,278.5 5,664.8 1,409.3 11,325.9 18,400.0

Gross revenues 182,011.0 103,426.5 13,352.7 298,790.2 144,208.7 365.7 144,574.4 51,843.3 194,952.9 51,994.0 298,790.2 46,798.0 45,442.7 52,333.7 144,574.4

operating expenses – 29,610.8 – 3,931.5 – 4,006.9 – 37,549.1 – 20,781.9 – 136.7 – 20,918.6 – 8,756.5 – 16,481.8 – 12,310.8 – 37,549.1 – 7,662.7 – 1,467.5 – 11,788.4 – 20,918.6

expenses directly related to long-term properties – 16,890.7 – 3,190.2 – 8,766.0 – 28,846.9 – 14,668.4 – 301.0 – 14,969.4 – 6,008.2 – 20,344.1 – 2,494.6 – 28,846.9 – 7,073.5 – 3,673.9 – 4,222.0 – 14,969.4

Book value of properties intended for trading 0.0 – 69,541.7 0.0 – 69,541.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 69,541.7 0.0 – 69,541.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

expenses for construction contracts 0.0 0.0 – 2,665.9 – 2,665.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 2,665.9 0.0 – 2,665.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Net operating income 135,509.5 26.763,1 – 2,086.0 160,186.6 108,758.4 – 72.0 108,686.4 37,078.6 85,919.4 37,188.6 160,186.6 32,061.8 40,301.3 36,323.3 108,686.4

noI as a % of the gross revenues 75 % 26 % – 16 % 54 % 75 % – 20 % 75 % 72 % 44 % 72 % 54 % 69 % 89 % 69 % 75 %

Result from the sale of long-term properties 10,715.2 0.0 1,022.7 11,737.9 5,722.5 0.0 5,722.5 – 759.7 5,484.1 7,013.5 11,737.9 1,783.1 0.0 3,939.4 5,722.5

Administrative expenses – 23,909.0 – 8,562.5 – 19,735.5 – 52,207.0 – 23,308.2 – 4,578.6 – 27,886.8 – 8,579.3 – 29,973.4 – 13,654.3 – 52,207.0 – 9,483.4 – 3,856.0 – 14,547.4 – 27,886.8

own works capitalised 0.0 0.0 5,323.5 5,323.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5,323.5 0.0 5,323.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

other operating income 7,148.2 5,394.7 192.1 12,735.0 4,057.5 105.6 4,163.1 954.2 10,108.9 1,671.9 12,735.0 2,648.8 162.6 1,351.7 4,163.1

EBITDA 129,464.0 23,595.3 – 15,283.3 137,776.0 95,230.2 – 4,545.0 90,685.2 28,693.8 76,862.5 32,219.7 137,776.0 27,010.3 36,607.9 27,067.0 90,685.2

eBItDA as a % of the gross revenues 71 % 23 % – 46 % 66 % – 63 % 55 % 39 % 62 % 46 % 58 % 81 % 52 % 63 %

Depreciation and amortisation of long-term assets – 3,214.0 0.0 – 1,615.9 – 4,829.9 – 2,079.9 – 163.4 – 2,243.3 – 1,025.3 – 1,777.1 – 2,027.5 – 4,829.9 – 524.9 0.0 – 1,718.5 – 2,243.4

Impairment losses – 1,638.3 – 14,446.1 – 91,384.9 – 107,469.3 0.0 – 2,383.3 – 2,383.3 – 16,690.6 – 45,234.1 – 45,544.6 – 107,469.3 – 2,383.3 0.0 0.0 – 2,383.3

Revaluation result – 178,009.6 0.0 – 83.5 5) – 178,093.1 47,987.0 17,441.1 65,428.1 – 64,607.6 – 66,819.5 – 46,666.0 – 178,093.1 5,395.3 2,460.1 57,572.7 65,428.1

Operating result (EBIT) – 53,398.0 9,149.2 – 108,367.6 – 152,616.3 141,137.2 10,349.1 151,486.6 – 53,629.7 – 36,968.2 – 62,018.4 – 152,616.3 29,497.4 39,068.0 82,921.2 151,486.6

eBIt as a % of the gross revenues – 9 % – – 98 % – 105 % – – – – 63 % 86 % 158 % 105 %

Financing costs and result of financial investments – 70,692.7 989.6 – 30,977.1 – 100,680.2 – 41,069.7 – 8,108.4 – 49,178.1 – 28,846.3 – 65,190.0 – 6,643.9 – 100,680.2 – 17,001.1 – 25,576.6 – 6,600.4 – 49,178.1

Result of derivative instruments – 10,547.2 0.0 – 5,327.3 – 15,874.5 – 1,269.7 0.0 – 1,269.7 – 11,154.3 – 4,720.2 0.0 – 15,874.5 – 1,269.7 0.0 0.0 – 1,269.7

Result from financial assets 0.0 0.0 – 7,800.9 – 7,800.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 7,800.9 – 7,800.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Result from investments in associates 0.0 0.0 – 15,071.1 – 15,071.1 – 5.9 385.7 379.8 0.0 – 5.7 – 15,065.4 – 15,071.1 0.0 0.0 379.8 379.8

Minority intrests held by limited partners 32.5 – 43.2 122.3 111.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 111.6 0.0 111.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Foreign currency losses / gains – 2,656.3 – 25.6 – 785.7 – 3,467.6 5,080.6 – 328.3 4,752.3 – 396.2 115.9 – 3,187.3 – 3,467.6 127.1 – 0.1 4,625.3 4,752.3

Net income before taxes (EBT) – 137,261.7 10,070.0 – 168,207.3 – 295,399.0 103,872.5 2,298.4 106,170.9 – 94,026.5 – 106,656.6 – 94,715.9 – 295,399.0 11,353.7 13,491.3 81,325.9 106,170.9

Segment property assets IAS 40 2,520,674.0 0.0 0.0 2,520,674.0 2,319,631.3 0.0 2,319,631.3 747,938.0 1,184,549.0 588,187.0 2,520,674.0 805,205.3 915,454.0 598,972.0 2,319,631.3

other segment property assets 2) 39,932.1 168,350.0 1,079,821.5 1,288,103.6 0.0 215,707.9 215,707.9 72,647.3 1,051,972.5 163,483.8 1,288,103.6 87,320.7 18,963.0 109,424.2 215,707.9

other segment assets 243,115.0 7,153.4 280,233.6 530,502.0 1,169,923.9 117,361.7 1,287,285.6 80,218.8 210,622.2 239,661.0 530,502.0 456,821.3 567,813.2 262,651.1 1,287,285.6

Deferred tax assets 23,760.4 8,220.4 23,572.4 55,553.2 637.1 147.7 784.8 0.0 54,142.9 1,410.3 55,553.2 0.0 328.4 456.4 784.8

Balance sheet total 2,827,481.5 183,723.8 1,383,627.5 4,394,832.8 3,490,192.3 333,217.3 3,823,409.6 900,804.1 2,501,286.6 992,742.1 4,394,832.8 1,349,347.3 1,502,558.6 971,503.7 3,823,409.6

Segment liabilities 1,588,994.8 76,898.7 622,195.2 2,288,088.7 1,388,973.7 74,672.2 1,463,645.9 453,279.5 1,442,275.1 392,534.1 2,288,088.7 598,708.6 606,819.7 258,117.6 1,463,645.9

Deferred tax liabilities incl. tax provisions 91,877.7 24,784.7 135,427.6 252,090.0 85,566.2 8,744.1 94,310.3 31,933.8 179,094.2 41,062.0 252,090.0 62,434.4 7,906.0 23,969.9 94,310.3

Segment debts 1,680,872.5 101,683.4 757,622.8 2,540,178.7 1,474,539.9 83,416.3 1,557,956.2 485,213.3 1,621,369.3 433,596.1 2,540,178.7 661,143.0 614,725.7 282,087.5 1,557,956.2

Capital expenditure 3) 481,627.0 250,339.3 1,127,182.5 1,859,148.8 220,801.4 190,164.6 410,966.0 40,747.7 1,629,553.5 188,847.6 1,859,148.8 138,553.2 127,693.2 144,719.6 410,966.0

employees 4) 56 182 90 328 53 0 151 204

1) Incl. one property in Switzerland      2) other segment property assets include property developments, own-used properties, properties held for sale and prepayments on properties

3) Capital expenditure includes all acquisitions in property assets (long-term and short term), office furniture and equipment, and intangible assets.

Segmentation by regions

4) Situation as at 31.12.2008 (31.12.2007), companies consolidated on a proportional basis are included at 100 %.      5) Revaluation of projects which were 

reclassified after completion as income producing.
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F.  noteS to tHe ConSolIDAteD FInAnCIAl StAteMentS 
AS At 31 DeCeMBeR 2008

1. GeneRAl noteS

1.1. Scope of business

CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft and its subsidiaries (the “CA Immo Group”) is an internationally active 
property group. the parent company is CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft (“CA Immo AG”), domiciled at 
1030 Vienna, Mechelgasse 1. Subsidiaries exist in Austria, Germany, Switzerland, Bulgaria, estonia, Croatia, luxem-
burg, the netherlands, poland, Romania, Russia, Serbia, Slovakia, Slovenia, the Czech Republic, Hungary and Cyprus. 
As at 31 December 2008, the CA Immo Group held properties in all of the aforementioned countries (except the nether-
lands, luxemburg, Croatia and Cyprus).

1.2. Accounting principles
the Consolidated Financial Statements of CA Immo AG were prepared in accordance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS), to the extent these standards are applicable to companies within the european union.

the accounts of the companies included in the Consolidated Financial Statements are based on the uniform account-
ing principles of the CA Immo Group. the balance sheet date of all companies is 31 December 2008. the Consolidated 
Financial Statements are presented in one thousand euros (“€K”, rounded according to the commercial rounding meth-
od). the use of automatic data processing equipment may give rise to rounding differences in the addition of rounded 
amounts and percentage rates.

Since 1 January 2008, the German property development group Vivico, with Vivico Real estate GmbH, Frankfurt as 
its parent company (the “Vivico Group”), has been shown as fully consolidated as a result of which the following items 
have been added to the balance sheet and income statement:

Consolidated balance sheet: 

- properties intended for trading (mainly the trading portfolio of the Vivico Group)
- Investment properties own used (in Germany and Austria)

Consolidated income statement:

- Sales revenue (income from the sale of properties intended for trading)
- Book value of properties intended for trading: this item includes the book value of stock properties sold, changes to 

stock and other development costs in connection with properties intended for trading.
- own works capitalised: this item includes capitalised items in connection with properties under development.
- Revenues and expenses of construction contracts (through service companies)

the main effects which the Vivico Group has had on items in the consolidated cash flow statement are as follows: 
the cash flow from changes in net current assets mainly includes changes in connection with properties intended for 
trading, in particular changes in connection with properties intended for trading (stock), changes to receivables and 
trade creditors for properties intended for trading and changes to pre-payments received on properties intended for 
trading which have been sold.

1.3. List of consolidated companies
the following companies are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements in addition to CA Immobilien Anla-

gen Aktiengesellschaft:
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Company Domicile Nominal 

capital

Currency Interest 

held %

Consolidation 

method 1) 

Betriebsobjekte Verwertung Gesellschaft m.b.H. & Co. leasing oHG Vienna 4,135,427 euR 100 FC

BIl-S Superädifikatsverwaltungs GmbH Vienna 70,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Asset Management GmbH Vienna 100,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo BIp liegenschaftsverwaltung GmbH Vienna 3,738,127 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Galleria liegenschaftsverwaltung GmbH Vienna 35,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Germany Holding GmbH Vienna 35,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo International AG Vienna 315,959,907 euR 61,7 FC

CA Immo International Holding GmbH Vienna 35,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo lp GmbH Vienna 146,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo projektentwicklungsgmbH Vienna 72,500 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Rennweg 16 GmbH Vienna 35,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo-RI-Residential property Holding GmbH Vienna 35,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immobilien Anlagen Beteiligungs GmbH Vienna 36,500 euR 100 FC

CA Immobilien Anlagen Beteiligungs GmbH & Co Finanzierungs oeG Vienna 7,000 euR 100 FC

MI Immobilienverwertungs-Gesellschaft m.b.H. Vienna 109,500 euR 100 FC

I.n.A. Handels GmbH Vienna 37,000 euR 100 FC

parkring 10 Immobilien GmbH Vienna 35,000 euR 100 FC

SQuARe S Holding GmbH Vienna 35,000 euR 100 FC

Blitz F07-neunhundert-sechzig-acht GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Blitz F07-neunhundert-sechzig-neun GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo null Verwaltungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo eins GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Zwei GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Drei GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Vier GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Fünf GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Sechs GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Sieben GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Acht GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo neun GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Zehn GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo elf GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo GB GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo GB eins GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 25,000 euR 94,9 FC

CeRep Allermöhe GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 99,7 FC

CM Komplementär F07-888 GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 25,000 euR 94,9 FC

Vivico AG Frankfurt 50,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Real estate GmbH Frankfurt 5,000,000 euR 99,7 FC

1) FC = full consolidation

ConSolIDAteD FInAnCIAl StAteMentS

C
o

n
S

o
l

ID
A

t
e

D
 F

In
A

n
C

IA
l

 S
t

A
t

e
M

e
n

t
S

103



As at 31 December 2008, the CA Immo Group held 99.7 % of the shares in Vivico Real estate GmbH, Frankfurt am 
Main (“Frankfurt”). therefore the following subsidiaries and joint ventures of Vivico Real estate GmbH, Frankfurt, are 
also included in the Consolidated Financial Statements: 

 
Company Domicile Nominal 

capital

Currency Interest 

held %

Consolidation 

method 1) 

Boulevard Süd 4 GmbH & Co. KG ulm 200,000 euR 50 pC

Boulevard Süd 4 Verwaltungs-GmbH ulm 25,000 euR 50 pC

Dorotheenhöfe - Grundstücks GmbH & Co. KG Berlin 255,646 euR 100 FC 

Dorotheenhöfe Grundstücksverwaltungs-GmbH Frankfurt 25,565 euR 100 FC

einkaufszentrum erlenmatt AG Basel 100,000 CHF 50 pC

Isargärten thalkirchen GmbH & Co. KG Grünwald 30,000 euR 33,3 eQ

Isargärten thalkirchen Verwaltungs GmbH Grünwald 25,000 euR 33,3 eQ

omniCon Verwaltungs GmbH Dreieich 100,000 euR 100 FC

omniCon Gesellschaft für innovatives Bauen mbH Dreieich 100,000 euR 100 FC

omnipro Gesellschaft für projektmanagement mbH Dreieich 25,000 euR 100 FC

ReC Frankfurt objekt KG Frankfurt 50,000 euR 100 FC

ReC Frankfurt objekt Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH  Hamburg 25,000 euR 50 pC

SKyGARDen Arnulfpark GmbH & Co. KG Grünwald 100,000 euR 50 pC

SKyGARDen Arnulfpark Verwaltungs GmbH Grünwald 25,000 euR 50 pC

VIADoR GmbH Frankfurt 100,000 euR 70 FC

Vivico Berlin Hallesches ufer GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier  Verwaltungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC 

Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 3 GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 5,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 4 GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 5,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 5 GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 5,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 6 GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 5,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 7 GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 5,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 8 GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 5,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 9 GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 5,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Berlin Schöneberger ufer Beteiligungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Berlin Schöneberger ufer GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 2,500,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Berlin Schöneberger ufer Verwaltungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC 

Vivico Berlin unter den linden Beteiligungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Berlin unter den linden GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 2,500 euR 100 FC

Vivico Berlin unter den linden Verwaltungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt Bauphase I GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 5,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt Bauphase I Verwaltungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt Hotel Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt nord 1 Beteiligungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt nord 1 projekt GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 5,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt nord 1 Verwaltungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt nord 4 GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 5,000 euR 100 FC 

Vivico Frankfurt nord 4 Verwaltungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt tl Hotel Verwaltungs-GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt tower185 Beteiligungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt tower185 projekt GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 5,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt tower185 Verwaltungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt tower-2-Besitz GmbH & Co. KG Frankfurt 5,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt tower-2-Geschäftsführungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Frankfurt tower-2-Hotelbetriebsgesellschaft mbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC 

Vivico Frankfurt tower-2-Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

ConSolIDAteD FInAnCIAl StAteMentS

104 



Company Domicile Nominal 

capital

Currency Interest 

held %

Consolidation 

method 1) 

Vivico Köln K1 GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Köln K2 GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico Köln K3 GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico München HKW - Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico München lokhalle Beteiligungs-GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico München MI 1 - Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico München MI 3 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico München MI 5 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico München MI 6 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico München MK 2 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC 

Vivico München MK 3 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico München MK 4 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico München MK 6 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

Vivico München perlach Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH Frankfurt 25,000 euR 100 FC

1) 1) FC = full consolidation, pC = proportional consolidation, eQ = at-equity consolidation

As at 31 December 2008, the CA Immo Group held 61.7 % of the shares in CA Immo International AG, Vienna. there-
fore the following subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies of CA Immo International AG, Vienna are also 
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements:

Company Domicile Nominal 

capital

Currency Interest 

held %

Consolidation 

method 1) 

CA Immo International Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH Vienna 35,000 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Investment Management GmbH Vienna 100,000 euR 100 FC

Cee Hotel Development Aktiengesellschaft Vienna 70,000 euR 50 pC

Cee Hotel Management und Beteiligungs GmbH Vienna 35,000 euR 50 pC

H 1 Hotelentwicklungs GmbH Vienna 35,000 euR 33,3 2) pC

uBM Realitätenentwicklung AG Vienna 5,450,463 euR 25 eQ

CA Immo d.o.o. Belgrade 100,500 euR 100 FC

log Center d.o.o. Belgrade 40,515 RSD 50 pC

tM Immo d.o.o. Belgrade 367,466,398 RSD 100 FC

BA Business Center a.s. Bratislava 226,000,000 SKK 100 FC

Starohorska Development s.r.o. Bratislava 200,000 SKK 50 pC

CA Immo Holding Hungary Kft. Budapest 13,000,000 HuF 100 FC

Canada Square Kft. Budapest 113,500,000 HuF 100 FC

Casa property Kft. Budapest 51,310,000 HuF 100 FC

CSB Vagyonkezelő Kft. Budapest 12,500,000 HuF 100 FC

Kapas Center Kft. Budapest 772,560,000 HuF 100 FC

Kilb Kft. Budapest 30,000,000 HuF 100 FC

R 70 Invest Budapest Kft. Budapest 5,250,000 HuF 100 FC

Skogs Buda Business Center II. Kft. Budapest 327,100,000 HuF 100 FC

Skogs Hungary Kft. Budapest 327,000,000 HuF 100 FC

Váci 76 Kft. Budapest 3,000,000 HuF 100 FC

CA Immobilien S.R.l. Bucharest 947,100 Ron 100 FC

opera Center one S.R.l. Bucharest 2,531,150 Ron 100 FC

opera Center two S.R.l. Bucharest 4,700,400 Ron 100 FC

S.C. BBp leasing S.R.l. Bucharest 14,637,711 Ron 100 FC

Astrakhan Hotelinvest B.V. Hoofddorp 25,000 euR 50 pC
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Company Domicile Nominal 

capital

Currency Interest 

held %

Consolidation 

method 1) 

CA Immo Holding B.V. Hoofddorp 51,200,000 euR 100 FC

Cee Development B.V. Hoofddorp 25,000 euR 50 pC

CA Immobilien Anlagen d.o.o. ljubljana 50,199 euR 100 FC

CA Immo neW euRope pRopeRty FunD S.C.A. SICAR luxemburg 114,530,000 euR 60 FC

CA Immo S.á.r.l. luxemburg 33,000 euR 100 FC

ooo BBM Moscow 10,000 RuB 50 pC

ooo Business Center Maslovka Moscow 23,500,000 RuB 50 pC

larico limited nicosia 1,438 euR 50 pC

triastron Investments limited nicosia 1,737 euR 50 pC

2p s.r.o. pilsen 240,000 CZK 100 FC

europort Airport Center a.s. prague 14,100,000 CZK 100 FC

FCl property a.s. prague 2,000,000 CZK 100 FC

officecenter Mladost eooD Sofia 5,000 BGn 100 FC

officecenter Mladost 2 eooD Sofia 5,000 BGn 100 FC

Soravia Center oü tallinn 100,000 eeK 40 eQ

CA Betriebsobjekte polska Sp. z.o.o. Warsaw 50,000 pln 50 pC

Doratus Sp. z.o.o. Warsaw 2,000,000 pln 100 FC

Mahler property Services Sp. z.o.o. Warsaw 50,000 pln  50 pC

Warsaw Financial Center Sp. z.o.o. Warsaw 100,634,600 pln 50 pC

CA Immo projekt d.o.o. Zagreb 11,800,000 HRK 100 FC

1) FC = full consolidation, pC = proportional consolidation, eQ = At equity consolidation

2) the 66.7 % interest held in Cee Hotel Management und Beteiligungs GmbH, a 50 % proportion of which is shown in the Consolidated Financial State-

ments of CA Immo International

 

As at 31 December 2008, CA Immo International AG for its part held 60 % of the shares in CA Immo neW euRope 
pRopeRty FunD S.C.A. SICAR, luxemburg. therefore the following subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated com-
panies of CA Immo neW euRope pRopeRty FunD S.C.A SICAR, luxemburg are also included in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements:

 
Company Domicile Nominal 

capital

Currency Interest 

held %

Consolidation 

method 1) 

CA Immo office park d.o.o. Belgrade 500 euR 100 FC

CA Immo Sava City d.o.o. Belgrade 6,100,000 euR 100 FC

tC Investments Arad SRl Bucharest 4,018,560 Ron 95.9 FC

tC Investments turda SRl Bucharest 200 Ron 70 FC

pannonia Shopping Center Kft. Györ 380,000,000 HuF 50 pC

CAIne B.V. Hoofddorp 18,151 euR 100 FC

pulkovo B.V. Hoofddorp 25,000 euR 100 FC

CAIne S.á.r.l. luxemburg 12,500 euR 100 FC

ooo BB Invest Moscow 10,000 RuB 50 pC

ooo BBV Moscow 7,987,787 RuB 31.8 2) pC

tavero enterprises limited nicosia 1,710 euR 50 pC

Kornelco Holdings limited nicosia 1,741 euR 50 pC

K&K Investments SRl Sibiu 15,000 Ron 90 FC

oAo Avielen AG St. petersburg 370,000,000 RuB 25 eQ

poleczki Business park Sp. z.o.o. Warsaw 3,936,000 pln 50 pC

1) FC = full consolidation, pC = proportional consolidation, eQ = At equity consolidation

2) the 63.5 % interest held in ooo BB Invest, Moscow, a 50 % proportion of which is shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements of CA Immo new 

europe property Fund S.C.A. SICAR
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the number of consolidated companies developed as follows in the business year 2008:

Full  

consolidation

Proportional  

consolidation

At equity

As at 1 January 2008 76 11 3

Acquisition of the Vivico Group, January 2008 41 6 2

other acquisitions and establishments 16 9 0

Sales – 3 0 0

Disposals as a result of reorganisation – 1 0 0

As at 31 December 2008 129 26 5

of which foreign companies 108 23 4

   

In the business year 2008, the CA Immo Group acquired the following companies:

 
Company name/domicile Interest 

held 1) 

Purchase 

price

Date of  

acquisition

 % € 1,000

Vivico Real estate GmbH, Frankfurt 99.7 % 1,036,013.40 01.01.2008

- Boulevard Süd 4 GmbH & Co. KG, ulm 50 % - 01.01.2008

- Boulevard Süd 4 Verwaltungs-GmbH, ulm 50 % - 01.01.2008

- Dorotheenhöfe - Grundstücks GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Dorotheenhöfe Grundstücksverwaltungs-GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Isargärten thalkirchen GmbH & Co. KG, Grünwald 33.3 % - 01.01.2008

- Isargärten thalkirchen Verwaltungs GmbH, Grünwald 33.3 % - 01.01.2008

- ReC Frankfurt objekt KG, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- ReC Frankfurt objekt Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg 50 % - 01.01.2008

- SKyGARDen Arnulfpark GmbH & Co. KG, Grünwald 50 % - 01.01.2008

- SKyGARDen Arnulfpark Verwaltungs GmbH, Grünwald 50 % - 01.01.2008

- VIADoR GmbH, Frankfurt 70 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin Hallesches ufer GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier  Verwaltungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 3 GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 4 GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 5 GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 6 GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 7 GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 8 GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 9 GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin Schöneberger ufer Beteiligungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin Schöneberger ufer GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin Schöneberger ufer Verwaltungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin unter den linden Beteiligungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin unter den linden GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Berlin unter den linden Verwaltungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Frankfurt Bauphase I GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Frankfurt Bauphase I Verwaltungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Frankfurt Hotel Vermietungsgesellschaft mbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008
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Company name/domicile Interest 

held 1) 

Purchase 

price

Date of  

acquisition

 % € 1,000

- Vivico Frankfurt nord 1 Beteiligungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Frankfurt tl Hotel Verwaltungs-GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Frankfurt tl Hotel GmbH & Co. KG 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Frankfurt tower185 Beteiligungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Frankfurt tower-2-Hotelbetriebsgesellschaft , Frankfurt mbH 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Köln K1 GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Köln K2 GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico Köln K3 GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico München HKW - Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico München MI 1 - Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico München MI 3 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico München MI 5 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico München MI 6 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico München MK 2 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico München MK 3 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico München MK 4 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico München MK 6 -  Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- Vivico München perlach Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % - 01.01.2008

- einkaufszentrum erlenmatt AG, Basel 50 % - 01.01.2008

Vivico Frankfurt nord 4 Verwaltungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % 27.5 01.01.2008

tM Immo d.o.o., Belgrade 100 % 27,802.5 31.01.2008

Vivico Frankfurt tower-2-Geschäftsführungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % 27.5 01.03.2008

Vivico Frankfurt tower-2-Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Frankfurt 100 % 27.5 01.03.2008

Vivico Frankfurt tower185 Verwaltungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % 27.5 01.03.2008

Vivico Frankfurt nord 1 Verwaltungs GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % 27.5 15.04.2008

tavero enterprises limited, nicosia 2) 50 % 0.9 30.04.2008

 - Kornelco Holdings limited, nicosia 50 % - 30.04.2008

 - ooo BB Invest, Moskow 50 % - 30.04.2008

 - ooo BBV, Moskow 31.8 % - 30.04.2008

CeRep Allermöhe GmbH, Hamburg 99.7% 36,044.5 30.06.2008

omniCon Verwaltungs GmbH, Dreieich 3) 100 % 1,052.1 01.07.2008

- omniCon Gesellschaft für Innovatives Bauen mbH, Dreieich 100 % - 01.07.2008

- omnipro Gesellschaft für projektmanagement mbH, Dreieich 100 % - 01.07.2008

2p s.r.o., pilsen 100 % 5,795.0 31.07.2008

pannonia Shopping Center Kft., Györ 50 % 1,578.0 31.08.2008

log Center d.o.o., Belgrade 50 % 25.9 16.09.2008

Starohorska Development s.r.o., Bratislava 50 % 120.2 15.10.2008

Vivico München lokhalle Beteiligungs-GmbH, Frankfurt 100 % 27.5 20.10.2008

1) the percentage interests shown relate to the valuations of interests in the relevant subgroup.

2) tavero enterprises limited holds direct and indirect interests in Kornelco Holdings limited, ooo BB Invest and ooo BBV.

3) omniCon Verwaltungs GmbH holds direct interests in omniCon Gesellschaft für Innovatives Bauen mbH and omnipro Gesellschaft für 

projektmanagement.

In the business year 2008, the CA Immo Group acquired 99.7 % of the shares in Vivico Real estate GmbH, Frankfurt at 
Main, which acquired 100 % of the shares in the German developer omniCon during the business year amongst others. 
As at 31 December 2008, Vivico Real estate GmbH, Frankfurt held interests in a total of 27 property development com-
panies, 9 property companies, 2 service companies and 22 intermediate holding companies. 
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two of the companies acquired in eastern/South east europe are property companies, 3 are intermediate holding 
companies and 4 are property development companies. the CA Immo Group also acquired a property company in 
Germany.

the results of the acquired companies are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the relevant date of 
acquisition. the acquisitions were carried in the Consolidated Financial Statements according to the purchase method 
detailed under 1.4.

the purchase price for the shares in Vivico Real estate GmbH, Frankfurt was fixed at € 1,033,000.0K (excl. auxiliary 
costs) and was fully paid in with € 1,025,000.0K being paid on 15 January 2008 and € 8,000.0K on 13 october 2008. 
the purchase price for the other companies amounted to a further € 72,584.1K which was paid up to € 9,842.9K. the 
first-time consolidation of the newly acquired companies was carried out at the relevant date of acquisition.

RtW Sp. z.o.o., Warsaw was sold using 1 January 2008 as the value date. the selling price was € 19,636.0K and up to 
€ 530.6K was paid. Hotel Management d.o.o., ljubljana (with 1 April 2008 as the value date) was also sold at a selling 
price of € 175.0K along with ooo “Start-t”, togliatti (with 1 october 2008 as the value date) which was sold at a sell-
ing price of € 0.3K.

the acquisition and sale of these companies has had the following effect on the composition of the Consolidated Fi-
nancial Statements (values at the time of acquisition or sale):

€ 1,000 Vivico Group Other 

Acquisitions

Sales Total

property assets 1,107,533.8 224,383.9 – 54,830.0 1,277,087.7

properties intended for trading 222,671.3 6,326.2 0.0 229,015.5

Intangible assets 31,275.3 0.0 0.0 31,275.3

office furniture and equipment 2,352.6 17.0 – 166.5 2,203.1

other assets 51,417.8 5,679.8 – 1,121.1 55,958.6

Cash and cash equivalents 169,452.5 5,083.6 – 2,286.5 172,249.6

Deferred taxes – 140,108.9 – 3,108.0 2,664.6 – 140,552.3

provisions – 52,195.3 – 1,544.9 10.5 – 53,729.7

Financial liabilities – 201,829.3 – 135,338.3 20,867.7 – 316,299.9

Minority interests – 425.4 – 6,570.0 0.0 – 6,995.4

Receivables/payables in respect of related companies 0.0 – 13,128.4 17,659.5 4,531.1

other liabilities – 150,305.8 – 10,333.2 4,343.8 – 156,295.2

Net assets 1,039,838.6 71,467.8 – 12,858.1 1,098,448.4

For 2008, the gross revenues of the acquired companies amounted to € 141,739.1K from the date of acquisition 
(since 1 January 2008 € 145,501.2K) while income before taxes amounted to € – 64,897.5K (since 1 January 2008 
€ – 62,581.0K). the acquired companies are included in the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2008 as assets 
of € 1,690,255.7K and liabilities of € 797,132.4K.

In addition, the following companies were established and consolidated for the first time in the business year 2008:
- Astrakhan Hotelinvest B.V., Hoofddorp (holding company)
- Cee Development B.V., Hoofddorp (holding company)
- Vivico Frankfurt nord 1 projekt GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt (project company)
- Vivico Frankfurt nord 4 GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt (project company)
- Vivico Frankfurt tower-2-Besitz GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt (project company)
- Vivico Frankfurt tower185 projekt GmbH & Co. KG, Frankfurt (project company)
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Capital contributions to the established companies totalled € 50.0K.
the companies: 

- CA Betriebsobjekte polska Sp. z.o.o., Warsaw, 
- Cee Hotel Development AG, Vienna, 
- Cee Hotel Management und Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna,
- H1 Hotelentwicklungs GmbH, Vienna, 
- larico limited, nicosia, 
- Mahler property Services Sp. z.o.o., Warsaw, 
- ooo Business Center Maslovka, Moscow, 
- ooo BBM, Moscow, 
- poleczki Business park Sp. z.o.o., Warsaw, 
- triastron Investments limited, nicosia, 
- Warsaw Financial Center Sp. z.o.o., Warsaw, 
- Boulevard Süd 4 GmbH & Co. KG, ulm (since 1 January 2008),
- Boulevard Süd 4 Verwaltungs-GmbH, ulm (since 1 January 2008),
- einkaufszentrum erlenmatt AG, Basle (since 1 January 2008),
- ReC Frankfurt objekt Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Hamburg (since 1 January 2008),
- SKyGARDen Arnulfpark GmbH & Co. KG, Grünwald (since 1 January 2008),
- SKyGARDen Arnulfpark Verwaltungs GmbH, Grünwald (since 1 January 2008),
- Cee Development B.V., Hoofddorp (since 12 March 2008),
- Kornelco Holdings limited, nicosia (since 30 April 2008),
- ooo BB Invest, Moscow (since 30 April 2008),
- ooo BBV, Moscow (since 30 April 2008),
- tavero enterprises limited, nicosia (since 30 April 2008),
- Astrakhan Hotelinvest B.V., Hoofddorp (since 13 June 2008),
- pannonia Shopping Center Kft., Györ (since 31 August 2008),
- log Center d.o.o., Belgrade (since 16 September 2008),
- Starohorska Development s.r.o., Bratislava (since 15 october 2008),

were included in the Consolidated Financial Statements by means of proportional consolidation with the following 
proportional values (50 % each) in total:

€ 1,000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

long-term assets 161,807.2 123,522.1

Short-term assets 11,008.5 7,056.0

long-term liabilities 95,397.4 57,982.7

Short-term liabilities 17,504.3 3,832.6

Gross revenues 7,603.2 7,920.6

Revaluation result according to IAS 40 10,039.0 17,546.6

Depreciation and amortisation – 29,895.3 – 366.0

other expenses – 19,399.2 – 16,042.0

other income 634.0 2,369.0

Regarding the companies that are included in the consolidated financial statements at-equity, which are:

- oAo Avielen AG, St. petersburg
- Soravia Center oü, tallinn
- uBM Realitätenentwicklung AG, Vienna
- Isargärten thalkirchen GmbH & Co. KG, Grünwald (since 1 January 2008)
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- Isargärten thalkirchen Verwaltungs GmbH, Grünwald (since 1 January 2008)
the following information regarding assets, liabilities, revenues and result is available:

€ 1,000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

long-term assets 413,964.2 331,818.1

Short-term assets 156,398.2 150,041.1

long-term liabilities 296,156.6 171,104.2

Short-term liabilities 152,906.4 207,025.4

Gross revenues 87,858.7 77,536.7

net income for the period 7,627.6 1,763.3

1.4. Consolidation methods
the first-time consolidation of a newly acquired subsidiary in the Consolidated Financial Statements is undertaken in 

accordance with the purchase method by allocating the acquisition costs to the revalued assets (especially properties) 
and liabilities of the subsidiary.

All group-internal transactions between companies included in the Consolidated Financial Statements by means of 
full and proportional consolidation and the relevant income and expenses, receivables and payables as well as inter-
company gains and losses were eliminated.

If a definitive influence can be exerted on the business and financial policy of companies (associated companies), 
these companies are carried at equity and the proportional annual surplus/loss of the company is entered under the 
book value of the shares. the value of any dividends is proportionally reduced.

1.5. Foreign currency translation

Business operations in foreign currency
the individual group companies record foreign currency transactions at the mean rate of exchange ruling on the day 

of the relevant transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currency existing at the balance sheet date are 
translated into the Group currency, the euro, at the mean rate of exchange ruling on that date. Any resulting foreign cur-
rency gains or losses are recognised in the income statement of the relevant business year.

Translation of individual financial statements denominated in foreign currency
the Group currency is the euro (euR). 

Since the euro is also the functional currency of the companies located outside the european Monetary union in 
eastern/South east europe and included in the Consolidated Financial Statements, the financial statements prepared 
in foreign currency are translated in accordance with the re-measurement method. under this method, investment 
property as well as monetary assets and liabilities are translated at closing rates whereas non-monetary assets are trans-
lated at historical exchange rates. Items from the income statements are translated at the average exchange rates of the 
relevant reporting period. Any gains and losses resulting from foreign currency translation are recognised in the income 
statement. 

the functional currency of the subsidiary in Switzerland is the Swiss franc as the company is an economically inde-
pendent unit within the context of IAS 21. Balance sheet values are translated at the valid closing rates. only the share-
holders’ equity is translated at historical exchange rates. Items from the income statements are translated at the average 
exchange rates of the relevant reporting period. Any gains and losses resulting from the application of the closing rate 
method are not recognised in the income statement and are reported under shareholders’ equity in the reserve from 
foreign currency translation.
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the foreign currency translation was based on the following rates of exchange:

Croatia Hungary Slovakia Czech Rep. poland Romania Bulgaria Cyprus 1)

HRK HuF SKK CZK pln Ron BGn Cyp

Closing rate 31.12.2008 7.3990 265.5500 30.1260 26.5000 4.1880 4.0300 1.9550 –

Average exchange rate 2008 7.2300 251.1000 31.1743 24.9875 3.5355 3.7075 1.9528 –

Closing rate 31.12.2007 7.3400 253.2500 33.6500 26.6150 3.5950 3.5900 1.9500 0.5853

Average exchange rate 2007 7.3440 251.9083 33.8375 27.7879 3.7773 3.3493 1.9563 0.5572

Russia Serbien Switzerland CHF uSD

RuB RSD CHF Selling Buying Selling Buying

Closing rate 31.12.2008 41.4500 89.3000 1.4932 1.4996 1.4868 1.4140 1.4040

Average exchange rate 2008 36.7831 81.7625 1.5810     

Closing rate 31.12.2007 35.9000 79.8000 – 1.6649 1.6521 1.4780 1.4680

Average exchange rate 2007 35.1147 79.9000 –     

1) Introduction of euro as at 1 January 2008

1.6. Accounting and valuation principles

Application of new accounting and valuation methods
All compulsory amendments to existing IASs and IFRSs and IFRIC and SIC interpretations as well as all new IFRSs 

and IFRICs to be applied in the european union (eu) as at 31 December 2008 were taken into account in the prepa-
ration of the Consolidated Financial Statements. In the business year 2008, the following standards were applied for 
the first time: IFRIC 11 (IFRS 2 – Group and treasury Share transactions), IFRIC 14 (IAS 19 - the limit on a Defined 
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interaction) and IAS 39/IFRS 7 (Amendment to IAS 39 and 
IFRS 7).

Amendments to existing, or new, standards and interpretations which were issued prior to 31 December 2008 for 
application within the eu but have not yet become effective, were not applied earlier on a voluntary basis. Such 
amendments apply to the following as at 31 December 2008: all amendments made to IFRS standards in 2008, 
IFRS 1/IAS 27 (Amendments to Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary), IFRS 2 (Amendment Vesting Conditions and 
Cancellations), IFRS 8 (operating Segments), IAS 1 (Amendment to presentation of Financial Statements), IAS 23 
(Amendment to Borrowing Costs), IAS 32/IAS 1 (Amendments to puttable FI and obligations Arising on liquidation) 
and IFRIC 13 (Customer loyalty programmes).

other standards which have however not yet been adopted by the eu as at 31 December 2008 include the following: 
IFRS 1 (Revised IFRS 1 First time Adoption of IFRS), IFRS 3 (Business Combinations), IAS 27 (Consolidated and Sepa-
rate Financial Statements), IAS 39 (Amendment eligible hedged items), IAS 39/IFRS 7 (Amendment Reclassification of 
Financial Assets: effective Date and transition), IFRIC 12 (Service Concession Arrangements), IFRIC 15 (Agreements for 
the Construction of Real estate), IFRIC 16 (Hedges of a net Investment in a Foreign operation) and IFRIC 17 (Distribu-
tions of non-cash Assets to owners).

owing to the revision of IAS 40, projects which at present are still assessed at net acquisition and production costs 
will in future be valued at fair value.

Apart from that, the amendments listed are unlikely to have any material consequences on the presentation of the 
Group’s asset,  financial and earnings position.
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Change of accounting and valuation principles for the preceding period
In accordance with IAS 8, a retrospective adjustment was made during the second half of 2007 on account of the 

change of accounting method, based on the statement by the Austrian Financial Reporting and Auditing Committee 
(AFRAC) published on 18 September 2007. As already presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements as at 
31 December 2007, in the opening balance sheet as at 1 January 2006, a deferred tax in the amount of € 8,989.9K was 
written off and the retained earnings were adjusted accordingly. However, this does not affect the Consolidated Income 
Statement for 2007 and 2008.

Properties held as financial investments
properties held as financial investments are carried as financial investments in accordance with the Fair Value method 

specified as an option under IAS 40. thus the property asset is carried at the fair value as at the balance sheet date. 
Changes to the current book value before revaluation (fair value from the previous year plus subsequent/additional 
acquisition costs minus subsequent reductions in the acquisition price) are recognised in the income statement in the 
revaluation result. For further details, see under point 2.2.1.

Properties under development, properties own used and other tangible assets
properties under development, properties own used and other tangible assets are valued in accordance with the 

acquisition cost method, i. e. at acquisition or production costs less regular depreciation and value impairment costs. 
Investment grants are recognised as reductions of acquisition costs if a binding agreement exists. Financing costs in the 
construction of properties are capitalised at acquisition and production costs if the financing can be attributed directly 
to the property. In the case of projects, in the business year 2008, total financing costs in the amount of € 4,434.8K 
(weighted average interest rate of 4.80 %) were capitalised while in the business year 2007, total financing costs in the 
amount of € 422.9K (weighted average interest rate of 6.98 %) were capitalised.

Regular depreciation of other tangible assets is done on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 
years or, in the case of properties for own use, 10 to 75 years using the component approach.

As office furniture and equipment was included in the valuation reports for properties let, the book values as at 31 
December 2008 were reclassified at a value of € 3,528.1K as property assets.

Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are carried in the balance sheet at acquisition cost less straight-line amortisation and value impair-

ment costs. For the amortisation of computer software, a useful life of 3 to 5 years was assumed.

the balance sheet item “other intangible assets” is the difference between the distribution of acquisition costs over 
the relevant fair values of the properties acquired and the relevant deferred tax liabilities not discounted in accordance 
with IAS 12. It represents the benefit resulting from the subsequent maturity of the deferred tax liabilities and is carried 
in the tax expense subject to maturity.

Financial assets
Securities held as short-term assets are subject to common management and are assigned to the category “At fair value 

through profit and loss” as the portfolio is taxed on the basis of its relevant fair value. Securities from long-term and 
short-term assets are valued at fair value at the time of purchase and are recognised as income in subsequent periods at 
the relevant fair values resulting from the relevant stock market quotations. the result of the market valuation is rec-
ognised in the income statement under the result from financial investments. purchases and sales are recognised at the 
trading date.

loans granted by the company and pre-payments in respect of investments in properties (held-to-maturity) are carried 
at amortised cost. 

Stakes in associated companies are valued at equity. Changes in the equity capital of associated companies recognised 
in the income statement are taken into account in the income statement under income from associated companies. 
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Changes in the equity capital not recognised in the income statement are included in the reserve for associated 
companies.

Properties intended for trading
properties intended for trading as part of the ordinary course of business and properties under development or con-

struction for the purpose of such a sale are recognised as stock in accordance with IAS 2.

In contrast to the classification of property assets in accordance with IAS 40, properties are shown as being intended 
for trading if the relevant property is intended to be sold during the ordinary course of business or is being constructed 
with a view to selling it at a later date during the ordinary course of business. 

the properties are first valued at acquisition or production cost. thereafter they are valued at the lower of acquisition 
or production cost and net realisable value as of the relevant balance sheet date. 

the net sale value is the estimated sales revenue attainable in the normal course of business less the estimated costs 
to completion and the estimated necessary selling costs. 

the need to write stocks down to the net realisable value is examined separately for each individual property. the net 
realisable value of the properties classified as stock is estimated based on market value reports and internal valuations.

If the conditions that previously caused write-downs to the net selling price no longer exist due to changes in circum-
stances, then the write-down is reversed up to the historic acquisition and production cost as a maximum. In the busi-
ness year 2008, no reversal of write-downs was carried out. See 2.2.1. for explanatory notes.

Financing costs in the construction of properties intended for trading too are capitalised at acquisition and produc-
tion costs if the financing can be attributed directly to the property. In the case of properties intended for trading, in the 
business year 2008, total financing costs in the amount of € 178.5K (weighted average interest rate 3.96 %) were capital-
ised (2007: € 0.0K).

Impairment losses (value impairments)
If signs of a value impairment are evident, the CA Immo Group determines the recoverable amount for properties un-

der development, other tangible assets and intangible assets. the recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less 
the cost of selling (net selling price) and the value in use. 

the fair value is equivalent to the proceeds attainable through the sale of an asset in a single transaction under market 
conditions between competent, willing and mutually independent parties. 

the value in use is the cash value of the expected future cash flows that are likely to be generated by the continued 
use of an asset and its retirement at the end of its useful life. If the recoverable amount is lower than the carrying value 
of the asset, the asset is written down to this value.

the calculated impairment loss is recognised in the income statement. In the business year 2008, an impairment loss 
on long-term assets in the amount of € 93,023.3K (2007: € 2,383.3K) was recognised. For details, see sub-section 2.2.1. 
and 2.1.7. A write-down of € 14,446.0K (2007: € 0.0K) was carried out for properties intended for trading.

If at a later date a value impairment ceases to exist, the impairment loss which is recognised in the income state-
ment is reversed up to the carrying amount of the amortised original acquisition or production cost as a maximum. In 
the business year 2008, no impairment losses were reversed for either the long-term or the short-term property assets 
(2007: € 0.0K).

Receivables and other assets
Receivables and other assets are stated at amortised acquisition cost. Recognisable individual risks are considered by 

means of appropriate value adjustments.

Order completion
Contracts for the provision of services directly connected with the completion of an asset are carried in accordance 

with IAS 11 and – if requirements apply – under trade debtors.
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Within the context of the profit realisation method to be used (“percentage of completion method”), order income and 
order costs in connection with order completion are recognised according to the progress of performance as at the bal-
ance sheet date. losses expected in connection with the completion order are included immediately as expenditure.

the accrued costs of order completion for projects in progress as of the balance sheet date stand at € 1,137.7K. the 
accrued costs of order completion are counteracted by down payments received of € 1,137.7K. profits entered according 
to work performed amount to € 18.9K. there are no retentions.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, sight deposits with banks as well as investments with banks with a term of 

up to three months at the time of investment.

Payment obligations to employees
In accordance with legal requirements, CA Immo AG is obliged to pay employees taken on in Austria before 1 Janu-

ary 2003 a one-off severance payment in the event of termination or on reaching retirement age. this will depend on 
the number of years of service and the definitive salary in respect of severance and will be between two and twelve 
months’ salary. A provision has been made to cover this obligation. the reserve carried is calculated in the same way as 
it was calculated last year in accordance with IAS 19 using the projected unit Credit method based on an interest rate 
of 5.75 % (2007: 5.25 %), salary increases of 2.0 % expected in the future, 2.0 % inflation expected and an accumulation 
period of 25 years. All actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the income statement in the year they occur.

the CA Immo Group has the legal obligation to pay 1.53 % of the monthly salary of all domestic staff employed after 
31 December 2002 into a staff provision fund. there are no other obligations. this scheme is a defined contribution 
plan. In 2008, an amount of € 75.0K (2007: € 54.0K) was paid in and recognised immediately in the income statement.

Based on an agreement with a pension fund in Austria and with a support fund for medium-sized companies in Ger-
many, there is a defined contribution pension obligation in respect of employees in Austria and Germany who have 
worked a certain number of years of service. In the year under report, an amount of € 235.5K (2007: € 151.2K) was paid 
in and recognised in the income statement. 

In addition, the managing directors of Vivico Real estate GmbH of Frankfurt are entitled to defined pension commit-
ments reinsured with insurance agreements. the cash value of the commitment is determined using the projected unit 
credit method. In view of the full financing with plan assets, no balance sheet entry is made where IAS 19 is applied, 
i.e. the balance sheet entry for this defined pension scheme is the same as the entry for a defined contribution plan. 
Since a single premium was paid in 2006, no pension plan reinsurance payments were made in business year 2008. 

Other provisions
other provisions are stated if the CA Immo Group has legal or actual payment obligations towards third parties due to 

a past event and if this obligation is likely to lead to an outflow of funds. Such provisions are stated at the value which 
can be determined through the best possible estimate at the time of preparation of this Annual Report. If a reasonable 
estimate of the amount is not possible, a provision is not set up and an explanation of the facts must be given in the 
notes. If the cash value of the provisions determined on the basis of prevailing market interest rates differs substantial-
ly from the nominal value, the cash value of the obligation is stated.

Taxes
the income tax expense reported for the business year contains the income tax of the individual subsidiaries calcu-

lated from their taxable income, the tax rate applicable in the relevant country (“current tax”), the change in deferred 
taxes recognised in the income statement as well as tax expenses resulting from equity capital postings not recognised 
in the income statement (e.g. taxes concerning issuing costs of capital increases and the valuation of own shares) and 
the amortisation of the item “other intangible assets” (cf. sub-section 2.2.2.).
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In accordance with IAS 12, all temporary differences between tax accounts and Consolidated Balance Sheet are con-
sidered in the calculation of deferred taxes. Deferred taxes on losses carried forward are capitalised to the extent that 
such losses carried forward are likely to be netted against future tax profits within the next 5 to 7 years.

For the calculation of deferred taxes, the tax rates expected to apply at the time of reversing the temporary difference 
are used. the calculation of deferred taxes was based on the following tax rates: Austria 25 % (2007: 25 %), Bulgaria 
10 % (2007: 10 %), Germany 15.825 % to 31.925 % (2007: 15.825 %), Croatia 20 % (2007: 20 %), luxemburg 29.63 % 
(2007: 29.63 %), the netherlands 20 % (2007: 20 % to 25.5 %), poland 19 % (2007: 19 %), Romania 16 % (2007: 16 %), 
Russia 24 % (2007: 24 %), Serbia 10 % (2007: 10 %), Slovakia 19 % (2007: 19 %), Slovenia 20 % (2007: 20 %), the Czech 
Republic 19 % (2007: 19 %), Hungary 16 % (2007: 16 %), Cyprus 10 % (2007: 10 %) and Switzerland 29.92 %.

the following applies to property: 

tax on profits is basically payable in respect of property in Austria, Germany and Switzerland on both the rental 
income from the relevant property and profits from the sale of the property (as an individual asset or if the property 
company is sold). therefore deferred taxes are carried in full for these properties. 

Deferred taxes relating to the properties of companies in eastern/South east europe are only carried to the extent of 
the tax expenses associated with the letting and sale of these properties. While tax on profits is basically payable on 
the rental income from foreign properties in the relevant country, profits from the sale of stakes in foreign companies 
are exempt from corporation tax if certain requirements are met. It is the intention of the CA Immo Group to meet these 
requirements. therefore with regard to properties in eastern/South east europe, the extent of the deferred taxes carried 
is oriented towards the average period of time during which the properties are expected to be held and also the ratio 
between taxable and tax-exempt refluxes from investments in properties. the expected value is brought up-to-date at 
each balance- sheet date. up to 31 December 2005, this tax expense was classified as insignificant and so only low tax 
deferrals were made for this. In the business year 2006, the provision for deferred tax liabilities was adjusted in line 
with the current estimated period of time for holding properties in view of the increasing number of properties and the 
continued increase in fair values. In the business year 2008, another review took place and the estimated period of time 
for holding properties was adjusted accordingly which gave rise to a provision for income taxes in respect of property 
transactions in eastern/South east europe in the amount of € 36,923.3K.

As at 31 December 2008, the deferred tax liabilities relating to properties located in Austria and abroad (held long-
term and intended for trading) amount to € 203,744.5K (31 December 2007: € 106,872.3K).

In the business year 2005, a group and tax compensation agreement was concluded in Austria for the formation of 
a group of companies within the meaning of Section 9 of the Austrian Corporation tax Act (KStG) with effectiveness 
from the business year 2005. In the business year 2007, an agreement on amendments and supplements to the group 
and tax compensation agreement was concluded between CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft and CA Immo In-
ternational AG as well as CA Immo Investment Management GmbH. the head of the group is CA Immobilien Anlagen 
Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna. the following companies are members of the group in 2008:
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- CA Immo Anlagen Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna
- CA Immo International AG, Vienna
- CA Immo International Holding GmbH, Vienna
- CA Immo projektentwicklungsgmbH, Vienna
- CA Immo Rennweg 16 GmbH, Vienna
- CA Immo - RI - Residential property Holding GmbH, Vienna
- MI Immobilienverwertungs-Gesellschaft m.b.H, Vienna 
- CA Immo Asset Management GmbH, Vienna (from 2006)
- CA Immo BIp liegenschaftsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna (from 2006)
- CA Immo Galleria liegenschaftsverwaltung GmbH, Vienna (from 2006)
- CA Immo Investment Management GmbH, Vienna (from 2006)
- SQuARe S Holding GmbH, Vienna (from 2006)
- BIl-S Superädifikatsverwaltungs GmbH, Vienna (from 2007)
- CA Immo International Beteiligungsverwaltungs GmbH, Vienna (from 2007)
- CA Immo Germany Holding GmbH, Vienna (from 2008)
- CA Immo lp GmbH, Vienna (from 2008)
- parkring 10 Immobilien GmbH, Vienna (from 2008)

the Vivico Group which was consolidated for the first time on 1 January 2008 formed tax groups for corporation tax 
and trade tax with effect from the business year 2005 in accordance with German law. the parent company is Vivico 
Real estate GmbH, Frankfurt. the members of the tax group which concluded profit-pooling contracts with Vivico Real 
estate GmbH included the following:

- Vivico Bauphase I VerwaltungsGmbH, Frankfurt
- Vivico tl Hotel Verwaltungs GmbH, Frankfurt
- Vivico unter den linden Verwaltungs GmbH, Frankfurt
- Vivico Schöneberger ufer Verwaltungs GmbH, Frankfurt
- Vivico unter den linden Beteiligungs GmbH, Frankfurt
- Vivico Schöneberger ufer Beteiligungs GmbH, Frankfurt
- Vivico München MK 2 Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH, Frankfurt
- Vivico München MK 6 Arnulfpark Grundstücksverwertungs GmbH, Frankfurt
- Vivico Köln K1 GmbH, Frankfurt
- Vivico Köln K2 GmbH, Frankfurt
- Vivico Köln K3 GmbH, Frankfurt

under the profit-pooling contracts, the members of the tax groups are obliged to pay over all their profits (the profit for 
the financial year before profit-pooling less any loss carried forward from the previous year – subject to the formation or 
release of reserves) to the parent company. Vivico Real estate GmbH, Frankfurt is obliged to compensate for any other 
annual deficits incurred during the term of the contract as long as this is not done by taking amounts put in during the 
term of the contract from the other appropriated reserves.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are stated at the amount actually received. Any difference between the amount received and the 

repayment amount is allocated over the term of the financing according to the effective interest rate method and recog-
nised under financing costs.

Trade creditors and other liabilities
trade creditors and other liabilities are measured at amortised acquisition cost.
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Derivative financial instruments
the CA Immo Group uses interest rate caps in order to reduce risks which may result from interest rate hikes. the 

CA Immo Group also uses interest rate swaps in order to manage the risk of interest rate fluctuations. the Group does 
not use any financial instruments for trading purposes. Swaps without underlying transactions were noted on the 
balance sheet key date (see also 2.3.1). Interest rate caps and interest rate swaps are stated in the balance sheet at fair 
value. this corresponds to the value which the Group would receive or pay upon liquidation of the deal at the balance 
sheet date.

Realised and unrealised valuation results from derivative financial instruments are recognised in the financial result 
under the result from derivative transactions unless the financial instruments are cash flow hedges. Valuation results of 
cash flow hedges are recognised under equity capital with no effect on profit or loss.

Recognition of revenues
Rental income is recognised on the basis of the lease contracts. 

With regard to the entry of gross revenues for property transactions, it is obligatory in accordance with IAS 18 to break 
down contracts into individual services if significantly different services have been agreed within a contract (multi-
component activity). A multi-component activity exists if a contract contains a number of complementary but differ-
ent individual services, e.g. a service-related activity as well as a sales-related activity. the various components of a 
contract lead to the realisation of separate income if it is possible to separate them in terms of both content and value. 
In such cases, the contractually agreed purchase price will be broken down into the purchase price for the property and 
the purchase price for the services still to be provided. the purchase price for the property is recognised according to 
the criteria for income realisation in connection with sales. Income for services (development services or other services) 
is realised based on the progress of performance. the share of the purchase price which is attributable to the income 
not yet realised is shown on the liabilities side under other liabilities (prepayment received) until the time of realisa-
tion. If the services are provided in subsequent business years, the prepayment received will be accumulated until the 
date on which the services are provided. 

Income from services (completion orders) is entered – under consideration of IAS 11 – according to the extent of 
the services provided as at the balance sheet date using the “percentage of completion method” based on the relevant 
progress of performance. In order to determine the progress of performance of the individual completion order, the 
ratio between the order costs incurred up to the value date and the estimated total order costs as at the value date is 
determined.

Financial result
Financing costs comprise interest payable for external funds, expenses similar to interest as well as results from hedg-

ing transactions. Interest is deferred over time.

Foreign currency gains/losses which primarily arise in connection with financing and investment are shown separate-
ly in the financial result.

Results from derivative transactions include profits and losses from the sale or valuation of interest rate swaps and in-
terest rate caps unless these transactions are cash flow hedges which are recognised under equity capital with no effect 
on profit or loss.

Results from financial investments include interest, dividends and similar income from the investment of funds and 
investments in financial assets as well as profits and losses from the sale of securities and the valuation of securities as 
at the balance sheet date. 

the expenses from financial assets refer to the valuation of loans and pre-payments on investments in properties.
the result from investment in associates encompasses the individual results of companies valued at equity.
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2.  noteS to tHe ConSolIDAteD InCoMe StAteMent AnD to tHe ConSolIDAteD BAlAnCe SHeet

2.1. Consolidated Income Statement

2.1.1. Gross revenues and segment reporting
the Consolidated Income Statement is structured in line with the recommendation of epRA (european public Real 

estate Association). the presentation of segments is done in regions and property sectors. the segmentation by region 
complies with the Group’s internal reporting system. 

the primary segmentation comprises the regions of Austria, Germany incl. a property in Switzerland and eastern/
South east europe. 

As a result of the acquisition of the Vivico Group and its main activity in the field of development, segmentation is 
also carried out by sector. this involves assignment to categories of properties or activities of the management compa-
nies. the figures of 2007 were adjusted. the segmentation comprises:

- Income-producing: investment property in accordance with IAS 40 and properties own used
- Development: projects (future investment property in accordance with IAS 40) that are valued at amortised produc-

tion cost during the development phase in accordance with IAS 16
- trading: properties intended for trading which are valued as stock in accordance with IAS 2

the rental segment is as follows:

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Rental

Rental income 175,283.6 123,276.5

other turnover 1,258.5 2,897.9

operating costs passed on to tenants 30,278.5 18,400.0

Gross rental income 206,820.6 144,574.4

operating expenses – 37,549.1 – 20,918.6

other expenses directly related to long-term properties – 28,846.9 – 14,969.4

Net rental income 140,424.6 108,686.4

noI as a % of the gross rental income 68 % 75 %

other turnover relates to income from the hotel business in ljubljana which was sold in the second quarter of 2008.

As a result of the acquisition of the Vivico Group in 2008, the segments covering property transactions and order 
completion were added to gross revenues. In the business year 2008, the result for these two segments is as follows 
(no comparison figures for 2007 in the CA Immo Group):
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€ 1,000 2008

Trading

Sales revenue 88,269.2

Book value of properties intended for trading – 69,768.8

Changes in inventory and other development costs 227.1

Result from property transactions 18,727.5

noI as a % of sales revenue 21 %

Order completion

Gross revenue from orders completed 3,700.4

Changes in stock and material costs – 2,665.9

Result from order completion 1,034.5

noI as a % of completion revenue 28 %

the result from property trading is attributable to current sales and the results from subsequent revenues  realised 
(multi-component approach) for trading properties with a transfer of benefits and burdens for properties sold in 
 previous years (no comparison figures for 2007 in the CA Immo Group).

€ 1,000 2008

Result from sales in the current business year 16,481.5

Revenue from the multi-component approach 1,938.8

profit from surveying 80.2

Changes in inventory and other development costs 227.1

Net trading result 18,727.6

2.1.2. Operating costs and other expenses directly related to long-term properties
the expenses listed here are expenses in connection with long-term properties.

€ 1,000 2008 2007

operating costs passed on to tenants 27,959.5 18,197.1

own operating costs (vacancy costs) 9,589.6 2,721.5

Operating costs 37,549.1 20,918.6

Maintenance costs 14,823.8 9,358.3

Agency fees 4,575.5 744.0

project development and project execution 2,794.9 0.0

Administrative fees 2,099.7 727.4

Bad debt expenses and valuation adjustments 1,724.8 2,156.6

property tax 670.9 427.5

Insurance fees 490.4 508.9

Claims 449.4 202.2

other directly related expenses 1,217.5 844.5

Other expenses directly related to long-term properties 28,846.9 14,969.4

Total 66,396.0 35,888.0
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own operating costs have risen, mainly due to the acquisition of the Vivico Group and also the increased number of 
properties which is mainly because of the strategic vacancy during projects.

Maintenance costs mainly relate to current expenditure in the amount of € 5,217.6K for the “Hesse portfolio” in Ger-
many and in the amount of € 5,104.6K for the Vivico Group.

the expenses relating to project development and project implementation relate to non-capitalised expenditure for 
properties under development.

Agency fees mainly relate to the forward purchase sale of a property under development, the hand-over of which is 
planned for 2011.

Bad debt expenses and valuation adjustments are mainly due to receivables value adjustments in respect of tenants in 
Germany.

2.1.3. Result from the sale of long-term properties
this item contains the result from sales of long-term properties held and let and projects under development.

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Result from the sale of investment properties 10,715.2 5,722.5

Result from the sale of projects 1,022.7 0.0

Result from the sale of long-term properties 11,737.9 5,722.5

the result from the sale of investment property relates to the sale of the Hotel Mövenpick in Frankfurt, other prop-
erties in Austria and the sale of the company RtW Sp. z o.o., Warsaw (2007: sale of properties in Austria and sale of 
shares in Delta park a.s., prague). the result from the sale of projects encompasses the sale of projects in Germany and 
the rescinding of 2 projects in Austria.

2.1.4. Administrative expenses

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Internal management

Staff expenses (excl. staff expenses at hotel in ljubljana) 22,510.4 7,721.6

office rent 2,200.4 326.9

Administrative and management fees 1,601.8 1,326.0

travel expenses and transportation costs 1,360.4 661.4

office expenses and other leasing costs 570.0 73.1

telephone fees 569.5 152.9

Vehicle costs 549.6 121.6

Membership fees and licences 462.2 62.2

Seminar and training costs 254.4 58.5

other 1,048.8 1,323.8

31,127.5 11,827.8
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€ 1,000 2008 2007

Legal, auditing and consultancy fees

Solicitor’s fees 3,101.7 2,267.5

Cost of expert opinions 2,727.5 615.3

Auditing costs 1,905.6 777.2

tax consulting and accounting fees 1,517.6 1,073.5

Cost of recruiting and appointing staff 519.8 215.9

technical consulting fees 297.4 68.7

notary’s fee 224.5 173.0

other fees 733.0 561.5

11,027.1 5,752.6

Other administrative expenses

Advertising and representation fees 3,421.1 2,462.5

non-deductible VAt 2,197.7 560.7

Hotel expenses (ljubljana) incl. staff expenses at hotel 887.8 1,843.8

taxes and duties 759.4 153.1

penalties and cases of damage 704.9 61.0

Marketing and distribution fees (portfolio commission) 614.8 3,875.7

Bank charges and bank guarantee fees 668.7 708.4

publication costs 416.9 393.5

Insurance fees 264.3 100.2

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board 116.8 147.5

10,052.4 10,306.4

Total 52,207.0 27,886.8

the rise in all items of administrative expenses compared to the previous year is due to the acquisition of the Vivico 
Group which accounts for € 26,633.2K, 50 % of the administrative expenses. At € 25,573.8K, the expenditure of the 
CA Immo Group for 2008 excluding the Vivico Group has decreased by € 2,313.0K compared to the previous year.

Because of the average of 157 employees within the Vivico Group (€ 14,984.3K), staff expenses have risen significantly 
compared to the previous year. 

the rise in rent is mainly attributable to the office rent of the Vivico Group in Frankfurt.
Administrative and management fees mainly relate to management services in Austria (netting of reporting and staff 

fees), services provided by the joint venture partner in Moscow and the administrative activity of the CA Immo neW 
euRope pRopeRty FunD S.C.A. SICAR, luxemburg.

As at 31 December 2008, the CA Immo Group held over 300 properties in total (2007: over 200 properties) in Austria, 
Germany and eastern/South east europe as a result of which the cost of external valuation reports as at the balance-
sheet date had increased considerably compared to the previous year. the Vivico Group accounts for € 4,001.6K of the 
total legal, auditing and consultancy fees while € 2,897.4K are attributable to eastern/South east europe and € 4,128.1K 
to other companies. 

the item “non-deductible VAt” mainly relates to Germany which accounts for € 1,801.2K and eastern/South east 
europe which accounts for € 395.3K.

Hotel expenses relate to the costs of managing the hotel in ljubljana which was sold using 1 April 2008 as the value 
date.
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2.1.5. Own works capitalised
this item includes the pro rata indirect expenditure attributable to properties under development.

2.1.6. Other operating income

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Costs passed on to tenants 4,063.8 611.7

Release of provisions 4,009.0 367.9

Settlements from cancellation of tenancy agreements 1,867.5 1,425.0

Release of value adjustment 868.8 236.0

Discharge of lapsed liabilities 470.4 0.0

Insurance compensation 286.9 261.3

property management revenue 154.9 135.0

other 1,013.7 1,126.2

12,735.0 4,163.1

Income from costs passed on to tenants and income from the release of provisions mainly relate to Germany.  
Settlements relate to the early termination of tenancy agreements in Germany, Romania and poland.

2.1.7. Depreciation and amortisation
this item includes the regular depreciation on properties own used and office furniture and equipment as well as 

impairment losses on long-term properties (under development and own used) and properties intended for trading. 
Depreciation is composed as follows:

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Impairment losses on long-term properties 93,023.3 2,383.3

Impairment losses on properties intended for trading 14,446.0 0.0

Depreciation 4,829.9 2,243.4

112,299.2 4,626.7

Impairment charges for long-term assets of € 93,023.3K (€ 2,383.3K in 2007) are allotted to property assets under 
 development at the amount of € 91,384.9K (€ 2,383.3K in 2007), and to owner-occupied property assets at the amount 
of € 1,638.4K (€ 0.0K in 2007).

2.1.8. Change from revaluation

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Revaluation gain 16,650.7 84,099.3

Revaluation loss – 194,743.8 – 18,671.2

– 178,093.1 65,428.1

the revaluation gains in 2008 mainly originate from properties in poland and Romania. the revaluation losses 
mainly relate to the write-downs of € 68,047.4K in Germany, € 66,246.1K in Austria, € 36,473.6K in eastern europe and 
€ 23,976.6K in South east europe. See 2.2.1. for explanatory notes.
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2.1.9. Financing costs

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Bank interest – 86,969.6 – 44,272.7

Bond interest – 10,768.2 – 10,741.0

Interest expenses in connection with joint venture partners – 2,622.0 – 1,643.2

Interest expenses associates – 25.3 – 20.2

other interest and financial expenses – 4,728.7 – 763.0

– 105,113.8 – 57,440.1

other interest and financial expenses mainly relate to the accumulated long-term liabilities.

2.1.10. Foreign currency gains/losses
the foreign currency losses totalling € -3,467.6K (2007: foreign currency gains of € 4,752.3K) are mainly due to the 

balance of unrealised results from the end-of-period valuation of foreign currency loans taken in uSD and CZK and 
from the investment of cash and cash equivalents in foreign currency.   

2.1.11. Result from derivative transactions

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Value of derivative transactions (unrealised – interest rate swap and interest rate cap) – 9,908.3 – 1,269.7

Realised result from derivative transactions – 5,966.2 0.0

– 15,874.5 – 1,269.7

the fair values of the interest rate swaps and the interest rate cap are calculated by discounting the future cash flows 
from variable payments on the basis of generally recognised models of financial mathematics. there is no cash flow 
hedge relation for interest rate swaps without a concurrent loan agreement or documentation required in accordance 
with IFRS (recognised directly in equity) so that changes from the valuation of the interest rate swaps are shown in 
the financial result (unrealised). See 2.2.1. for explanatory notes. For valuation of financial instruments see 2.3.1. for 
explanatory notes.

During the business year, the CA Immo Group also prematurely redeemed a partial amount of € 65,000K on a short-
term loan; no cash flow hedge relationship has existed since then and the value adjustments to the underlying interest 
swaps are recognised as affecting net income. In business year 2008, the value adjustments for these interest swaps as 
entered on the income statement amounted to € – 4,909.1K.

In the business year 2008, the CA Immo Group dissolved interest rate swaps prior to maturity with a total nominal 
value of € 171,718.0K for which there was no cash flow hedge relation. As a result, losses in the amount of € – 5,966.2K 
were realised. As at 1 January 2009, new interest rate swaps with a total nominal value of € 78,074.3K had been con-
cluded for which there is now a cash flow hedge relation.
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2.1.12. Result of financial investments

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Result from securities – 15,244.8 – 374.8

Income from bank interest 13,951.8 5,859.8

Income from interest from loans to associates and joint ventures 3,074.3 2,673.6

other interest income 2,652.3 103.4

Result of financial investments 4,433.6 8,262.0

For investment of financial resources see 2.2.6. for explanatory notes. 

the result from securities is included in the result from financial investments in the amount of € – 15,244.8K (2007: 
€ – 374.8K) and is composed as follows:

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Realised result from securities – 9,844.4 5,112.2

Valuation securities (not realised) – 5,400.4 – 5,487.0

Result from securities – 15,244.8 – 374.8
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In accordance with the categories from IAS 39, financing expenses and income (financing costs, result from financial 
investments and result from derivative transactions) are broken down as follows:

€ 1,000 Category 1) 2008 2007

Net profits and net losses

Valuation securities FV/p&l – 5,400.4 – 5,487.0

Total from instruments designated FV/P&L – 5,400.4 – 5,487.0

Changes in the value of interest rate swaps (CFH frozen)  HFt 1,066.9 0.0

Changes in the value of interest rate swaps (CFH relation terminated) HFt – 4,909.1 0.0

Changes in the value of interest rate swaps (fair value swap) HFt – 6,064.8 – 1,268.9

Changes in the value of interest rate caps HFt – 1.3 – 0.8

Total HFT – 9,908.3 – 1,269.7

Total net profits and net losses – 15,308.7 – 6,756.7

Interest income and interest expenditure

Interest income from loans HtM 3,074.3 4,383.8

other interest income l&R 16,604.1 4,253.0

Interest income from financial instruments not valued at FV/p&l 19,678.4 8,636.8

Interest income from securities FV/p&l 0.0 5,112.2

Total interest income 19,678.4 13,749.0

Interest expenditure from liabilities l&R – 105,113.8 – 57,440.1

Interest expenditure from financial instruments not valued at FV/p&l – 105,113.8 – 57,440.1

expenditure from interest rate swaps HFt – 5,966.2 0.0

expenditure from securities FV/p&l – 9,844.4 0.0

Total interest expenditure – 120,924.4 – 57,440.1

1) FV/p&l   At fair value through profit or loss     HFt   Held for trading     l&R   loans and Receivables     HtM   Held-to-maturity     CFH  Cash flow Hedge

2) cf. 2.1.11. Result of derivative transactions

2.1.13. Result from financial assets
the expenditure from investments in the amount of € 7,800.9K (2007: € 0.0K) relates to the value adjustment in con-

nection with a prepayment on investments in property amounting to € 5,479.8K and a loan to an associated company 
amounting to € 2,321.1K.

2.1.14. Result from investments in associates
the result from investments in associates is composed as follows:

€ 1,000 2008 2007

uBM Realitätenentwicklung AG, Vienna 1,999.1 385.7

oAo Avielen AG, St. petersburg – 17,064.4 0.0

Isargärten thalkirchen GmbH & Co. KG, Grünwald – 5.8 0.0

Soravia Center oü, tallinn 0.0 – 5.9

Result from investments in associates – 15,071.1 379.8
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2.1.15. Minority interests held by limited partners
this item includes the proportional results for German minority shareholders, whose investments have been recog-

nised in the balance sheet as liabilities under the item “Minority interests held by limited partners”.

2.2. Consolidated Balance Sheet

2.2.1. Long-term property assets and other tangible assets

€ 1,000 long-term property assets Office  

furniture and 

equipment

Total

let own used under 

development

pre-

payments

Market values 1) /acquisition costs

As at 1.1.2007 1,227,758.6 0.0 90,876.7 797,709.6 7,460.7 2,123,805.6

Additions resulting from company acquisitions 72,455.2 0.0 107,581.9 0.0 1,267.3 181,304.4

Additions resulting from property acquisitions 127,429.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 127,429.8

Additions resulting from investments in  

properties and projects 13,468.9 0.0 80,813.9 0.0 2,041.9 96,324.7

Disposals – 45,010.8 0.0 – 110.4 0.0 – 540.0 – 45,661.2

Reclassifications 858,101.5 0.0 – 60,763.4 – 797,709.6 334.9 – 36.6

Revaluation 65,428.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 65,428.1

As at 31.12.2007 = 1.1.2008 2,319,631.3 0.0 218,398.7 0.0 10,564.8 2,548,594.8

Additions resulting from company acquisitions 426,246.7 8,052.5 897,618.6 0.0 2,369.6 1,334,287.4

Additions resulting from property acquisitions 0.0 0.0 39,250.3 20,482.5 0.0 59,732.8

Additions resulting from investments in  

properties and projects 17,472.4 4,910.8 159,049.4 0.0 1,992.0 183,424.6

Disposals – 122,914.9 0.0 – 76,356.6 0.0 – 8,063.2 – 207,334.7

Reclassifications 2) 58,331.6 9,139.7 – 61,051.8 0.0 – 3,528.3 2,891.1

Revaluation – 178,093.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 178,093.1

As at 31.12.2008 2,520,674.0 22,103.0 1,176,908.5 20,482.5 3,334.9 3,743,502.9

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1.1.2007 0.0 0.0 344.1 0.0 2,977.9 3,322.0

Disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 297.6 – 297.6

Depreciation 0.0 0.0 2,383.3 0.0 2,168.7 4,552.0

Reclassifications 0.0 0.0 – 36.6 0.0 0.0 – 36.6

As at 31.12.2007 = 1.1.2008 0.0 0.0 2,690.8 0.0 4,849.0 7,539.8

Disposals 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 7,130.1 – 7,130.1

Depreciation 0.0 2,082.7 92,269.8 0.0 3,182.3 97,534.8

Reclassifications 0.0 570.7 2,126.5 0.0 0.0 2,697.2

As at 31.12.2008 0.0 2,653.4 97,087.1 0.0 901.2 100,641.7

Book value as at 1.1.2007 1,227,758.6 0.0 90,532.6 797,709.6 4,482.8 2,120,483.6

Book value as at 31.12.2007 = 1.1.2008 2,319,631.3 0.0 215,707.9 0.0 5,715.8 2,541,055.0

Book value as at 31.12.2008 2,520,674.0 19,449.6 1,079,821.4 20,482.5 2,433.7 3,642,861.2

1) properties let are carried at market value in accordance with IAS 40 while properties own used and properties under development are carried at acquisition 

cost in accordance with IAS 16.

2) As office furniture and equipment were included in the valuation reports for properties let, the book values as at 31 December 2008 were reclassified for 

properties let.
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Additions resulting from company acquisitions and investments in existing properties and projects (current additions) 
relate to the following regions (excl. office furniture and equipment):

€ 1,000 Company acquisitions Current investments Total

Austria 0.0 39,817.9 39,817.9

Germany 1,226,290.7 125,314.5 1,351,605.2

eastern/South east europe 105,627.1 76,033.0 181,660.1

1,331,917.8 241,165.4 1,573,083.2

Disposals mainly relate to the sale of one property in Frankfurt and one in Warsaw as well as projects in Munich and 
Frankfurt.

All the main properties let as well as properties under development (with the exception of the Matryoshka project, 
the project partner’s valuation report for which is enclosed) were valued as at 30 november 2008 or 31 December 2008 
by independent experts operating internationally under consideration of the current market situation. Valuation was 
basically carried out in accordance with the standards defined by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), 
the German regulation on the determination of value for properties abroad and national valuation regulations (property 
Valuation Act, önoRM B1802, etc) for properties in Austria.

the calculated market value of properties let is based on discounted cash flows expected in the future or capitalised 
rental income. In the case of properties under development, the calculated market value is based on the projected earn-
ings value of the projects upon completion, less an appropriate developer profit and taking into consideration the out-
standing cost to completion.  Any risks were considered either in the expected future cash flows, the estimated rent or 
in the discount or capitalisation interest rates used. the discount factors vary, in particular depending on the different 
property locations, and were determined based on experts’ empirical values. 

With reference to the valuation of the property assets outlined above, the current development of the market is worthy 
of special note. the present crisis in the global financial system has triggered considerable uncertainty in commercial 
property markets worldwide. For a certain period, therefore, prices and values can be subject to significant fluctua-
tions while the market absorbs and adjusts to various changes. the current lack of liquidity in the capital markets could 
make it more difficult to sell the property assets in the short term.

In the context of evaluating the property assets under development, special attention is to be paid to the Matryoshka 
project. CA Immo new europe property Fund S.C.A SICAR (Caine) is developing retail outlets in Russia in a joint ven-
ture. up until the balance sheet date, Caine had contributed financial resources in the amount of € 5.3m to the project. 
Depending on the contractually defined conditions precedent, Caine has an obligation to contribute further financial 
resources in the amount of € 13.1m to the project. In view of the current market development in Russia and an external 
valuation report provided by the joint venture partner, however, it is currently to be assumed that the financial resourc-
es will not be fully recovered within the framework of the transaction unless key project parameters are changed. For 
these reasons, an appropriate impairment loss was recognised as at 31 December 2008.

the book value of the tangible assets pledged as collateral for long-term loans amounts to € 2,503,755.8K (2007: 
€ 1,659,568.0K).

See 2.2.1. or 2.1.8. for explanatory notes on depreciation and amortisation and revaluation gains/losses.
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2.2.2. Intangible assets

€ 1,000 Software Other Total

Acquisition costs

As at 1.1.2007 159.7 32,017.1 32,176.8

Additions 283.2 5,623.9 5,907.1

Disposals – 1.2 0.0 – 1.2

As at 31.12.2007 = 1.1.2008 441.7 37,641.0 38,082.7

Additions 397.0 30,967.7 31,364.7

Disposals – 119.9 0.0 – 119.9

Reclassifications 1) – 176.5 0.0 – 176.5

As at 31.12.2008 542.3 68,608.7 69,151.0

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1.1.2007 43.5 1,754.6 1,798.1

Amortisation 74.7 2,172.8 2,247.5

As at 31.12.2007 = 1.1.2008 118.2 3,927.4 4,045.6

Amortisation 318.4 11,515.1 11,833.5

Disposals – 119.6 0.0 – 119.6

As at 31.12.2008 317.0 15,442.5 15,759.5

Book value as at 1.1.2007 116.2 30,262.5 30,378.7

Book value as at 31.12.2007 = 1.1.2008 323.5 33,713.6 34,037.1

Book value as at 31.12.2008 225.3 53,166.2 53,391.5

1) As all asset values were included in the valuation reports for properties let, the book values (Software) as at 31 December 2008 were reclassified 

for properties let.

the item “other intangible assets” is the difference between the distribution of acquisition costs over the relevant fair 
values of the properties acquired and the relevant deferred tax liabilities not discounted in accordance with IAS 12. In 
terms of content, it represents the benefit resulting from the subsequent maturity of the deferred tax liabilities and is 
carried in the tax expense subject to maturity.
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2.2.3. Financial assets

 
€ 1,000 Cate-

gory in 

acc. with 

IAS 39

Acquisi-

tion cost

Changes in value rec-

ognised in the income 

statement

Changes in 

value not 

recognised 

in profit or 

loss 

Redemp-

tion / Re-

payment

Fair value Book Value

31.12.2008

Book Value

31.12.2007

2008 accumu-

lated

pre-payments on investments 

in properties HtM 5,203.4 – 5,101.4 – 5,003.4 0.0 0.0 200.0 200.0 545,248.3

loans to joint ventures HtM 21,745.4 2,231.3 3,720.7 0.0 – 76.7 25,389.4 25,389.4 14,721.8

loans to associated 

companies HtM 8,292.6 – 1,843.9 – 1,792.8 0.0 0.0 6,499.8 6,499.8 3,066.6

other loans HtM 930.0 55.0 76.3 0.0 0.0 1,006.3 1,006.3 9,160.1

Total HTM 36,171.4 – 4,659.0 – 2,999.2 0.0 – 76.7 33,095.5 33,095.5 572,196.8

Stakes in associated 

companies Ae 61,876.9 – 15,071.2 – 14,691.5 – 383.1 – 825.0 45,978.4 45,978.4 59,683.2

other stakes Ae 7.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.3 7.3 7.3

Total AE 61,884.2 – 15,071.2 – 14,691.5 – 383.1 – 825.0 45,985.7 45,985.7 59,690.5

Interest rate caps HFT 812.7 – 1.3 – 812.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3

98,868.3 – 19,731.5 – 18,503.3 – 383.1 – 901.7 79,081.2 79,081.2 631,888.6

HtM   Held-to-Maturity      Ae   at equity      HFt   Held for trading

As at 31 December 2008, the item “pre-payments on investments in properties” which is to be closed at a later date 
includes the prepayment in respect of a project development company in prague (forward purchase). As at the balance 
sheet date, there was a contractual obligation from the forward purchase. the purchase price is calculated at approxi-
mately € 45,000.0K; however, the precise schedule for project implementation has not been finalised because planning 
permission has not yet been secured. the final purchase price is determined at the time of closing. In the previous year, 
this item mainly related to the down-payment in respect of the Vivico Group in Germany. 

loans to joint ventures relate to interest-bearing loans to five companies in which a 50 % stake is held (last year to 
three companies in which a 50 % stake was held). loans to associated companies relate to two interest-bearing loans 
to two associated companies. other loans relate to another interest-bearing loan. the fair value corresponds to the dis-
counted future repayments based on the current market interest rate.

the item “Stakes in associated companies” contains the 25 % stake plus 4 shares in uBM Realitätenentwicklung AG, 
Vienna, (book value as at 31 December 2008: € 30,475.3K; 2007: € 29,683.2K), the 33.3 % stake in each of the German 
companies Isargärten thalkirchen GmbH & Co. KG and Isargärten thalkirchen Verwaltungs GmbH (shareholder: GmbH 
& Co. KG), Dreieich (book value as at 31 December 2008: € 0.0; date of acquisition: 1 January 2008), the 40 % stake in 
Soravia Center oü, tallinn (book value as at 31 December 2008: € 0.0; 2007: € 0.0) and the 25 % stake in oAo Avielen 
AG, St. petersburg (book value as at 31 December 2008: € 15,503.2K; 2007: € 30,000.0K) which are all valued at equity. 

As at 29 December 2008, the share price for uBM Realitätenentwicklung AG was € 30.00. therefore, the stock ex-
change value of 750,004 shares at a price of € 30.00 amounted to € 22,500.1K.
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Interest rate caps relate to premiums paid for the agreement on two interest rate ceilings which will be valid until 31 
January 2010. the fair value corresponds to the amount which CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft would re-
ceive upon liquidation of the transactions on the balance sheet date.

2.2.4. Properties intended for trading
the item “properties intended for trading” in the amount of € 168,350.1K (2007: € 0.0K) includes properties of the 

Vivico Group in Germany in the amount of € 167,102.9K and properties in Slovakia in the amount of € 1,247.2K.

the acquisition or production costs of properties intended for trading as at 31 December 2008 amount to 
€ 182,796.1K.

the book value of properties intended for trading and pledged as security for liabilities is € 38,440.8K (2007: € 0.0K).

2.2.5. Receivables and other assets

€ 1,000 Category in 

acc. with

IAS 39

Classes Book value 

31.12.2008

Fair Value 

31.12.2008

Book value 

31.12.2007

Fair Value 

31.12.2007

Receivables from joint venture partners 

(50 % stake)

L&R Receivables LuL 6,686.2 6,686.2 156.7 156.7

Receivables and other assets:

trade debtors l&R trade debtors 14,355.2 14,355.2 6,252.1 6,252.1

Receivables from sales l&R trade debtors 13,031.0 13,031.0 749.5 749.5

Receivables from fiscal authorities l&R other receivables 9,116.8 9,116.8 3,776.1 3,776.1

Fixed deposits with restrictions on disposal l&R other receivables 7,465.6 7,465.6 0.0 0.0

loans granted l&R other receivables 3,779.3 3,779.3 2,629.4 2,629.4

Accruals l&R other receivables 1,491.8 1,491.8 1,747.1 1,747.1

Receivables from interest rate caps l&R other receivables 1,381.9 1,381.9 702.5 702.5

positive market value of derivative financial 

instruments (hedge accounting) CFH Derivate 0.0 0.0 27,144.9 27,144.9

other receivables and assets l&R other receivables 5,656.3 5,656.3 4,432.6 4,432.6

Receivables and other assets 56,277.9 56,277.9 47,434.2 47,434.2

62,964.1 62,964.1 47,590.9 47,590.9

of which l&R 62,964.1 62,964.1 20,446.0 20,446.0

of which CFH 0.0 0.0 27,144.9 27,144.9

*) l & R: loans and Receivables     CFH: Cash flow Hedge
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Ageing of receivables and other assets:

As at 31.12.2008 Not due Overdue Total

€ 1,000 < 30 days 31– 180 

days

181– 360 

days

> 1 year

Nominal values of receivables

Receivables from joint venture partners 6,686.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6,686.2

trade debtors 11,908.8 1,618.9 349.6 672.9 1,595.9 16,146.1

Receivables from sales 11,771.3 1,250.0 0.0 0.0 457.3 13,478.6

loans granted 3,779.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3,779.3

Accruals 1,491.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,491.8

other receivables and assets 21,847.6 993.0 741.0 11.6 97.0 23,690.2

Total as at 31.12.2008 57,485.0 3,861.9 1,090.6 684.5 2,150.2 65,272.2

Receivables value adjustments

Receivables from trade debtors – 27.9 – 4.2 – 53.8 – 288.9 – 1,416.1 – 1,790.9

Receivables from sales 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 447.6 – 447.6

other receivables and assets – 26.1 – 43.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 69.6

As at 31.12.2008 – 54.0 – 47.7 – 53.8 – 288.9 – 1,863.7 – 2,308.1

Book values of receivables

Receivables from joint venture partners 6,686.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6,686.2

trade debtors 11,880.9 1,614.7 295.8 384.0 179.8 14,355.2

Receivables from sales 11,771.3 1,250.0 0.0 0.0 9.7 13,031.0

loans granted 3,779.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3,779.3

Accruals 1,491.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,491.8

other receivables and  assets 21,821.5 949.5 741.0 11.6 97.0 23,620.6

As at 31.12.2008 57,431.0 3,814.2 1,036.8 395.6 286.5 62,964.1

As at 31.12.2007

Nominal values of receivables

Receivables from joint venture partners 156.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 156.7

trade debtors 3,304.4 1,209.2 1,643.8 945.0 3,512.7 10,615.1

Receivables from derivative financial instruments 27,144.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 27,144.9

loans granted 2,629.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2,629.4

Receivables from sales 749.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 749.5

Accruals 1,747.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,747.1

other receivables and assets 6,809.8 98.5 729.8 922.7 350.4 8,911.2

Total as at 31.12.2007 42,541.8 1,307.7 2,373.6 1,867.7 3,863.1 51,953.9

Receivables value adjustments

Receivables from trade debtors – 215.7 – 74.1 – 369.4 – 620.4 – 3,083.4 – 4,363.0

As at 31.12.2007 – 215.7 – 74.1 – 369.4 – 620.4 – 3,083.4 – 4,363.0

Book values of receivables

Receivables from joint venture partners 156.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 156.7

trade debtors 3,088.7 1,135.1 1,274.4 324.6 429.3 6,252.1

Receivables from derivative financial instruments 27,144.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 27,144.9

loans granted 2,629.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2,629.4

Receivables from sales 749.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 749.5

Accruals 1,747.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,747.1

other receivables and assets 6,809.8 98.5 729.8 922.7 350.4 8,911.2

As at 31.12.2007 42,326.1 1,233.6 2,004.2 1,247.3 779.7 47,590.9
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Development of value adjustments:
 

€ 1,000 2008 2007

As at 1 January 4,363.0 4,326.2

Appropriation (value adjustment expenses) 2,031.3 1,704.9

Additions from first-time consolidation 3,547.7 0.0

use – 6,750.6 – 1,406.6

Release – 868.8 – 236.0

Interest income from impaired financial assets – 7.1 – 10.3

Foreign currency gains/losses – 7.4 – 15.2

As at 31 December 2,308.1 4,363.0

the allocation to individual allowances for receivables depends on the status of the dunning procedure and the indi-
vidual credit rating of the relevant debtor in consideration of the securities received.

there is usually a default risk associated with rent receivables. this default risk is limited by several factors and con-
trolled. Because of the regional diversification of the property portfolio and the heterogeneous composition of tenants, 
the cluster risk has been avoided in this area. As a rule, in order to minimise the default risk, tenants are required to 
provide securities (cash bonds, bank guarantees). In order to identify risks early on, a constant check is generally kept 
on the credit rating of tenants and more extensive checks are carried out in individual cases.

2.2.6. Securities
As at 31.12.2007 and up to the third quarter of 2008, most of the securities were invested in near-money market funds. 

Because of the bank crisis and the increasing margins, the actual return was not in line with expectations so that in the 
third quarter of 2008, the remaining investments held were released and the monies invested were reallocated to time 
deposits on the one hand while on the other hand, shares which up until then had been held in near-money market 
funds were then held directly in an ABS fund and thus represented the single remaining security item. the acquisition 
costs for the securities entered as at 31.12.2008 amounted to € 16,651.7K (2007: € 381,070.5K). A loss from valuation as 
at the value date was recognised in the income statement for securities held as at 31 December 2008 in the amount of 
€ 5,400.4K while last year, the loss from valuation of securities held as at 31 December 2007 amounted to € 5,487.0K.

the following securities are held by the CA Immo Group:

31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Share € 1,000 Share € 1,000

ABS Dynamic Cash 1,826 11,251.3 0 0.0

R 311 Fund 0 0.0 1,808,572 196,863.0

Diversified euro Cash Fund 0 0.0 1,425 147,946.6

Institutional Money Market Fund 0 0.0 2,012 20,182.6

pIA euro Cash 0 0.0 122,500 10,592.6

1,826 11,251.2 1,934,509 375,584.8

the securities as at 31 December 2008 were pledged in favour of a credit of Bank Austria/uniCredit Group.
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2.2.7. Cash and cash equivalents

€ 1,000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Credit balances with banks 321,357.5 192,448.6

Cash on hand 22.8 19.9

321,380.3 192,468.5

 

2.2.8. Shareholders’ equity
the fully paid-in nominal capital of CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft in the amount of € 634,370,022 is 

stated as share capital. It is subdivided into 87,258,600 shares of no par value, 4 of which are registered and 87,258,596 
of which are bearer shares. the registered shares are held by Bank Austria/uniCredit Group and carry the right to 
nominate one Supervisory Board member each. this right has not been exercised. All Supervisory Board members were 
elected by the General Meeting.

At the 21st ordinary General Meeting of shareholders held on 13 May 2008, the Management Board was authorised to 
buy back the company’s own shares in accordance with Section 65 para. 1 sentence 8 of the Austrian Stock Corpora-
tion Act (AktG). the Management Board made use of this authority with consent from the Supervisory Board from the 
beginning of July 2008. the reasons for buying back the company’s own shares were to create an acquisition currency 
for purchasing companies and properties as well as to increase demand for CA Immo shares on the Vienna stock market 
but with trading in own shares for the purpose of acquisition being excluded.

the buy-back programme started on 14 July 2008 and will continue for a period of one year so that it will end on 14 
July 2009 at the latest. up to the balance-sheet date, a total of 1,494,076 bearer shares (1.7 % of the share capital) had 
been bought back via the stock market at an average price of € 9.18 by CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft. the 
company’s own share reserve was constantly added to during the year and amounts to € 6,276.9K as at 31 December 
2008  (31 December 2007: € 0.0K).

the individual financial statements of CA Immo AG show appropriated capital reserves in the amount of 
€ 868,545.0K (31 December 2007: € 1,030,376.3K). In accordance with the resolution of the Management Board of 25 
February 2009, free reserves in the amount of € 19,803.4K, statutory reserves in the amount of € 23.3K and appropriated 
capital reserves in the amount of € 161,831.3K were reversed in the order prescribed by law in accordance with Section 
130 para. 4 of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act in order to balance out a net loss which would otherwise have been 
shown in the individual financial statements of CA Immo AG in the financial year 2008.

As at the value date of 31 December 2008, there is unused authorised capital which can be used for capital increases 
up to 8 August 2012 at the latest in the amount of € 317,185.0K.
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2.2.9. Provisions

€ 1,000 Current taxes Employees Other Total

As at 1 January 2008 1,447.7 2,992.2 19,942.0 24,381.9

exchange rate differences – 29.4 0.0 – 243.5 – 272.9

Additions from first-time consolidation 8,886.5 3,242.1 41,611.7 53,740.3

Disposals from final consolidation 0.0 0.0 – 9.0 – 9.0

use – 2,478.6 – 4,893.1 – 35,110.8 – 42,482.4

Release – 363.7 – 733.7 – 5,845.2 – 6,942.6

Set-up 38,877.9 3,049.0 66,281.8 108,208.7

As at 31 December 2008 46,340.4 3,656.5 86,627.0 136,623.9

of which: short-term 46,340.4 3,096.4 86,627.0 136,063.8

of which: long-term 0.0 560.1 0.0 560.1

Staff provisions mainly relate to the cash value of the long-term liabilities resulting from  severance payments to 
employees in the amount of € 560.1K (2007: € 598.7K), premiums just for employees of the Vivico Group based on indi-
vidual contractual arrangements in the amount of € 2,139.4K (2007: CA Immo Group € 1,932.8K) and unused holiday in 
the amount of € 822.0K (2007: € 440.4K). the cash value of severance payment obligations developed as follows:

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Provisions for severance payments

Cash value of severance payment obligations as at 1 January 598.7 370.9

Appropriation of reserve – 325.0 0.0

Interest expense 23.9 14.8

Service cost 262.5 213.0

Cash value of severance payment obligations as at 31 December 560.1 598.7

Interest expense and service cost are included in staff expenses and thus in administrative expenses.

other provisions were set up mainly for construction services in the amount of € 59,139.2K (2007: € 12,518.7K), for 
property tax and registration fees in the amount of € 10,345.9K (2007: € 96.6K), for warranty and technical risks from 
sales in the amount of € 4,095.6K (2007: € 0.0K), for subsequent costs in connection with properties sold in the amount 
of € 2,356.7K (2007: € 0.0K), for legal consultancy fees in the amount of € 1,548.4K (2007: € 1,841.1K), for commission 
in the amount of € 1,476.9K (2007: € 2,074.0K), for auditing costs in the amount of € 1,324.8K (2007: € 640.8K), for 
operating costs and outstanding purchasing invoices in the amount of € 1,321.8K (2007: € 578.0K), for expert opinions 
in the amount of € 1,258.5K (2007: € 235.3K), for tax consultancy fees in the amount of € 813.9K (2007: € 383.8K), for 
property tax in the amount of € 670.3K (2007: € 470.0K) and for the Annual Report in the amount of € 215.8K (2007: 
€ 290.6K).

2.2.10. Bond
In the business year 2006, CA Immo AG issued a bond with a nominal value of € 200,000.0K with a term of 10 years 

up to 22 September 2016 at a nominal interest rate of 5.125 %.
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In accordance with IAS 39.43, the transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition have been deducted and 
distributed over the term of the loan in the form of an effective interest rate. the effective interest rate is 5.53 %. As at 
31 December 2008, the loan rate was € 91.00.

2.2.11. Financial liabilities

€ 1,000 Maturity 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

up to 1 year 1–5 years more than 5 years Total Total

Investment credit 84,989.9 566,862.2 1,041,979.1 1,693,831.1 1,196,724.4

Deferred interest on loan 2,813.2 0.0 0.0 2,813.2 2,813.2

other 1,054.5 23,238.5 7,881.5 32,174.5 13,725.2

88,857.5 590,100.7 1,049,860.6 1,728,818.8 1,213,262.8

the terms of the major financial liabilities are as follows as at 31 December 2008:

Type of financing and currency Effective inter-

est rate as at 

31.12.2008

Floating/fixed 

interest

Maturity Book values Fair values

 % € 1,000 € 1,000

Investment credit/euR 6.787 floating 01/2009 1,510.2 1,510.2

Investment credit/euR 5.002 floating 02/2009 7,828.6 7,828.6

Investment credit/euR 3.959 floating 03/2009 13,953.0 13,953.0

Investment credit/euR 6.637 floating 06/2009 4,750.0 4,750.0

Investment credit/euR 6.755 floating 12/2009 9,877.3 9,877.3

Investment credit/euR 6.987 floating 10/2010 11,674.1 11,674.1

Investment credit/euR 7.037 floating 12/2010 5,303.5 5,303.5

Investment credit/euR 4.113 floating 02/2011 16,964.7 16,964.7

Investment credit/euR 4.732 floating 07/2011 14,789.3 14,789.3

Investment credit/euR 6.803 floating 07/2011 23,899.6 23,899.6

Investment credit/euR 4.485 floating 10/2011 1,963.0 1,963.0

Investment credit/euR 4.402 floating 12/2011 15,054.0 15,054.0

Investment credit/euR 6.232 floating 12/2011 56,426.7 56,426.7

Investment credit/euR 6.331 floating 12/2011 12,563.9 12,563.9

Investment credit/euR 6.453 floating 12/2011 27,982.0 27,982.0

Investment credit/euR 6.305 floating 12/2011 44,250.9 44,250.9

Investment credit/euR 6.453 floating 12/2011 24,040.7 24,040.7

Investment credit/euR 6.319 floating 12/2011 100,545.5 100,545.5

Investment credit/euR 6.155 floating 12/2011 12,955.7 12,955.7

Investment credit/euR 6.155 floating 12/2011 11,189.9 11,189.9

Investment credit/euR 6.305 floating 12/2011 23,818.8 23,818.8

Investment credit/euR 5.400 floating 12/2011 1,332.0 1,332.0

Investment credit/euR 4.485 floating 05/2012 8,500.0 8,500.0

Investment credit/euR 5.161 fixed 12/2013 13,020.7 13,739.1

Investment credit/euR 9.467 floating 09/2014 5,293.2 5,293.2

Investment credit/euR 6.000 floating 12/2014 24,190.0 24,190.0

Investment credit/euR 4.750 floating 11/2015 30,126.0 30,126.0

Investment credit/euR 4.780 floating 12/2015 17,085.4 17,085.4

Investment credit/euR 7.636 floating 03/2016 34,420.9 34,420.9
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Type of financing and currency Effective inter-

est rate as at 

31.12.2008

Floating/fixed 

interest

Maturity Book values Fair values

 %
€ 1,000 € 1,000

Investment credit/euR 5.192 floating 07/2016 28,465.7 28,465.7

Investment credit/euR 4.720 floating 12/2016 31,872.4 31,872.4

Investment credit/euR 4.410 floating 01/2017 541,484.4 541,484.4

Investment credit/euR 4.878 floating 03/2017 65,675.0 65,675.0

Investment credit/euR 4.912 floating 10/2017 7,812.8 7,812.8

Investment credit/euR 4.958 floating 10/2017 14,518.4 14,518.4

Investment credit/euR 5.078 floating 12/2017 48,336.7 48,336.7

Investment credit/euR 5.043 floating 12/2017 13,367.9 13,367.9

Investment credit/euR 5.531 floating 06/2018 79,472.1 79,472.1

Investment credit/euR 7.384 floating 09/2019 13,073.5 13,073.5

Investment credit/euR 6.007 floating 12/2020 31,758.0 31,758.0

Investment credit/euR 4.609 floating 03/2021 59,204.7 59,204.7

Investment credit/euR 8.987 floating 07/2023 27,846.8 27,846.8

Investment credit/euR 5.814 floating 09/2023 15,744.9 15,744.9

Investment credit/euR 6.142 floating 03/2024 30,640.8 30,640.8

Investment credit/euR 5.432 floating 12/2024 6,614.3 6,614.3

Investment credit/euR 5.987 floating 02/2025 2,800.0 2,800.0

Investment credit/euR 5.811 floating 03/2026 7,179.9 7,179.9

Investment credit/euR 5.483 floating 06/2026 5,898.3 5,898.3

Investment credit/euR 4.360 floating 03/2027 4,400.0 4,400.0

Investment credit/euR 5.357 floating 12/2030 43,946.0 43,946.0

Investment credit/euR 5.483 floating 12/2032 1,883.7 1,883.7

Investment credit/uSD 6.963 floating 10/2010 3,588.7 3,588.7

Investment credit/uSD 5.819 floating 02/2011 17,667.4 17,667.4

Investment credit/uSD 6.963 floating 07/2011 1,324.9 1,324.9

Investment credit/CHF 3.408 floating 02/2015 4,152.7 4,152.7

Investment credit/CZK 5.720 floating 12/2026 7,709.8 7,709.8

Credit from joint venture partners/euR 11.800 fixed 08/2010 10,497.9 12,259.4

Credit from joint venture partners/euR 14.900 fixed 09/2010 11,835.6 14,455.8

Credit from joint venture partners/euR 7.000 fixed 12/2014 1,475.1 2,070.7

Credit from joint venture partners/euR 7.737 floating 12/2016 6,408.1 6,408.1

1,721,966.1 1,727,661.8

the average weighted interest rate, considering the hedging transactions concluded in each case, amounts to about 
5.32 % for all euR investment credits, about 6.07 % for all uSD investment credits, about 3.41 % for the CHF invest-
ment credit and about 5.72 % for the CZK investment credit.

the fair values of the fixed rate investment credits correspond to the book values due to the market situation. the fair 
values of the other financing transactions correspond to the book values due to the floating interest rate, the short-term 
or the statement of the fair values during purchase price Accounting.

In order to hedge the interest rate risk, interest rate caps were concluded in the year 2000 for two long-term loans 
equal to the amount outstanding. these derivative financial instruments are stated under long-term financial assets in 
the amount of the relevant fair value (cf. 2.3.1.).

the CA Immo Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge the interest rate risk. If these derivative financial instruments 
qualify for cash flow hedges, they are considered under equity at the fair value without recognition in the income 
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statement (see 2.3.1.). the remaining swaps which do not qualify for cash flow hedges are recognised in the income 
statement and are entered under the item “Result from derivative transactions”. In total, the nominal value of all inter-
est rate swaps concluded at the balance sheet date amounted to about 82.8 % of the floating rate euR investment cred-
its, about 42.2 % of the floating rate uSD investment credits and 100.0 % of the floating rate CZK investment credit.

2.2.12. Taxes on income
tax expenses are composed as follows:

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Corporation tax (current tax) – 25,733.3 – 2,029.4

trade tax (current tax) – 22,506.4 – 240.4

Corporation tax and trade tax (current tax) – 48,239.7 – 2,269.8

Deferred taxes on changes in equity 0.0 – 7,605.2

Deferred taxes on the valuation of own shares – 1,861.5 0.0

taxes on the valuation of swaps – 6,937.7 0.0

Amortisation of adjustment items from intangible assets – 11,515.1 – 2,172.8

Change in deferred tax liabilities (deferred taxes) 69,064.2 – 10,149.6

510.2 – 22,197.4

temporary differences between the carrying values in the Consolidated Financial Statements and the relevant tax base 
have the following effect on tax deferrals as stated in the balance sheet:

€ 1,000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Deferred tax assets

Intangible assets 21.8 17.1

Receivables and other assets 2,908.7 555.3

Cash and cash equivalents 116.3 0.0

provisions 0.0 81.5

liabilities 19,749.1 0.0

22,795.9 653.9

Deferred tax liabilities

long-term property assets 191,170.6 106,872.3

Short-term property assets (properties intended for trading) 12,573.9 0.0

office furniture and equipment 1.6 212.5

Financial assets 0.0 636.8

Receivables and other assets 0.0 3,923.6

provisions 11,297.6 0.0

liabilities 0.0 4,379.7

215,043.7 116,024.9

Losses carried forward 42,051.4 23,293.2

Tax deferral (net) – 150,196.4 – 92,077.8

Deferred tax assets 55,553.2 784.8

Deferred tax liabilities 205,749.6 92,862.6
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Deferred taxes on losses carried forward are capitalised if they are likely to be used within the next 5 to 7 years. the 
basis of deferred taxes on losses carried forward amounts to € 169,271.7K (2007: € 96,451.8K) for which deferred taxes 
in the amount of € 42,051.4K were used. Deferred taxes on losses carried forward which have not been capitalised 
amount to € 29,435.1K (2007: € 5,229.4K).

the reasons for the difference between the expected tax credit (2007: tax charge) and the stated tax credit (2007: tax 
expense) are as follows:

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Net income before taxes – 295,399.0 106,170.9

Expected tax credit/charge (25 %) – 73,849.8 26,542.7

Change in assessment of period of time during which the properties are expected to be held 36,923.3 0.0

non-usable losses carried forward and adjustment of preceding periods 25,932.6 3,935.8

Amortisation of other intangible assets 1) 11,515.1 2,172.8

Differing tax rates abroad 10,789.3 – 7,128.3

equity investment impairments affecting tax – 9,735.6 – 1,382.8

exchange rate differences not affecting income tax – 8,659.8 686.9

non-tax deductible expense and permanent differences 5,822.3 1,161.4

trade tax 4,453.6 168.4

tax-exempt income – 3,216.0 – 3,030.0

Fair value adjustments – 642.2 – 522.9

Changes in the tax rate 58.6 – 692.4

other 98.3 285.8

Effective tax credit/charge – 510.2 22,197.4

1) see sub-section 1.6. Change of accounting and valuation methods or sub-section 2.2.2. Intangible assets.

tax deferrals developed as follows:

€ 1,000 2008 2007

Deferred taxes as at 1 January (net) – 92,077.8 – 66,731.4

Change due to company acquisitions – 142,175.8 – 13,405.0

Change due to sales of companies 1,617.7 553.9

Change due to exchange rate fluctuations 208.7 – 237.5

Change stated under equity 13,166.6 – 2,108.2

Change recognised in the income statement 69,064.2 – 10,149.6

Deferred taxes as at 31 December (net) – 150,196.4 – 92,077.8
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2.2.13. Other liabilities

€ 1,000 Maturity 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

up to 1 year 1–5 years more than 5 years Total Total

Fair value of derivatives 0.0 6,738.0 74,527.9 81,265.9 7,112.0

pre-payments received 46,451.9 10,447.6 0.0 56,899.5 0.0

outstanding purchase invoices 14,662.0 4,707.7 0.0 19,329.7 6,903.6

Deferred income 3,596.8 2,819.7 9,712.1 16,128.6 2,572.2

Fiscal authorities 15,196.2 0.0 0.0 15,196.2 2,587.3

Rent deposits 719.9 2,993.0 0.0 3,712.9 2,460.7

other 5,761.1 19.2 0.0 5,780.3 1,840.7

86,347.9 27,725.2 84,240.0 198,313.1 23,476.5

pre-payments received mainly include purchase payments received for purchase contracts relating to the sale of prop-
erties incl. services provided for which due to the separation of services, income realisation in connection with services 
is not shown until services have been provided by the Vivico Group in subsequent years (multi-component activity).

the liabilities in respect of outstanding purchase invoices relate to property acquisitions in Germany and Austria and 
to assets and property acquisitions in eastern/South east europe.

Deferred income mainly relates to rent paid in advance where an amount of € 14,465.9K is attributable to Germany, 
€ 1,015.8K to Austria and € 646.9K to eastern/South east europe.

2.3. Other information

2.3.1. Financial instruments
Financial instruments include both primary and derivative financial instruments.

primary financial instruments held within the Group mainly comprise financial assets, lendings, securities, other re-
ceivables, credit balances with banks, financial liabilities, trade debtors and other liabilities.

Derivative financial instruments are composed as follows:

31 December 2008 31 December 2007

€ 1,000 Book value Fair values Nominal value Book value Fair values Nominal value

Interest rate caps 0.0 0.0 6,837.6 1.3 1.3 8,584.3

Forward foreign exchange transactions 0.0 0.0 0.0 – 3,637.7 – 3,637.7 10,218.0

Interest rate swaps – 81,265.9 – 81,265.9 1,582,509.4 23,670.7 23,670.7 950,142.4

- of which cash flow hedges – 64,185.9 – 64,185.9 1,378,914.4 24,939.6 24,939.6 885,142.4

- of which fair value swaps – 17,080.0 – 17,080.0 203,595.0 – 1,268.9 – 1,268.9 65,000.0

Interest rate caps are used exclusively to hedge the interest rate risk related to loans. the forward foreign exchange 
transaction shown in the previous year related to the company RtW Sp. z o.o., Warsaw which was sold on 1 Janu-
ary 2008. the CA Immo Group uses interest rate swaps (floating into fixed) to protect against the risk of interest rate 
fluctuation. 
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Fair value swaps also include interest rate swaps with a nominal value of € 60,500.0K which qualified for a cash flow 
hedge up to a certain value date (3 December 2008, respectively 23 December 2008). In the absence of an underlying 
transaction concluded as at 3 December 2008, respectively as at 23 December or as at the balance sheet date, the value 
as at 3 December 2008, respectively as at 23 December in the amount of € – 4,794.6K, respectively € – 1,471.1K was 
frozen and all subsequent changes in value will be shown in the income statement until the underlying loan has been 
concluded. As at 31 December 2008, the fair value of this interest rate swap amounts to € – 5,198.8K so that the change 
in value for this interest rate swap in the business year 2008 amounted to € 1,066.9K (cf. 2.1.11.).

the market values and conditions of the existing interest rate swaps as at 31 December 2008 are as follows:

Currency Nominal value Start End Fixed inter-

est rate as at 

31.12.2008

Reference 

interest rate

Market value 

31.12.2008

in 1,000  % € 1,000

euR 7,266.9 03/2003 03/2010 3.960 3M-euRIBoR – 137.8

euR 16,478.5 09/2004 12/2011 3.870 3M-euRIBoR – 426.8

euR 16,478.5 09/2004 12/2011 2.990 3M-euRIBoR – 191.7

euR 7,805.1 02/2005 04/2012 3.510 3M-euRIBoR – 124.3

euR 8,239.4 07/2005 12/2011 2.895 3M-euRIBoR 0.3

euR 3,902.5 07/2005 04/2012 3.045 3M-euRIBoR – 7.2

euR 14,750.0 03/2006 12/2014 3.670 3M-euRIBoR – 313.2

euR 14,750.0 03/2006 12/2014 3.300 3M-euRIBoR – 367.2

euR 24,190.0 05/2006 12/2014 4.200 6M-euRIBoR – 1,110.2

euR 16,850.0 07/2006 02/2011 4.152 1M-euRIBoR – 619.2

euR 70,538.7 12/2006 01/2017 3.940 3M-euRIBoR – 2,130.7

euR 467,500.0 12/2006 01/2017 3.905 3M-euRIBoR – 13,428.3

euR 17,550.0 07/2007 07/2011 4.720 3M-euRIBoR – 703.2

euR 1,443.0 07/2007 12/2011 4.695 3M-euRIBoR – 43.3

euR 15,592.3 07/2007 06/2014 4.755 3M-euRIBoR – 1,040.1

euR 13,440.5 07/2007 06/2014 4.750 3M-euRIBoR – 952.0

euR 5,832.7 07/2007 06/2014 4.755 3M-euRIBoR – 410.9

euR 5,704.4 07/2007 06/2014 4.760 3M-euRIBoR – 371.0

euR 13,095.0 07/2007 10/2017 4.173 3M-euRIBoR – 690.4

euR 9,806.3 09/2007 12/2012 4.500 3M-euRIBoR – 509.2

euR 18,000.0 10/2007 07/2017 4.613 3M-euRIBoR – 1,495.1

euR 47,975.0 11/2007 12/2017 4.495 3M-euRIBoR – 3,412.1

euR 14,308.0 12/2007 10/2017 4.378 3M-euRIBoR – 957.7

euR 65,000.0 12/2007 12/2017 4.820 3M-euRIBoR – 6,281.8

euR 62,187.5 01/2008 12/2012 4.250 3M-euRIBoR – 2,773.3

euR 45,000.0 01/2008 12/2017 4.405 3M-euRIBoR – 3,166.2

euR 124,375.0 01/2008 12/2017 4.410 3M-euRIBoR – 7,838.2

euR 62,187.5 01/2008 12/2022 4.550 3M-euRIBoR – 4,887.5

euR 62,500.0 01/2008 12/2022 4.550 3M-euRIBoR – 5,446.5

euR 31,000.0 06/2008 03/2016 4.505 3M-euRIBoR – 2,077.5

euR 50,000.0 07/2008 07/2018 4.789 3M-euRIBoR – 4,848.0

euR 65,670.0 09/2008 03/2017 4.348 3M-euRIBoR – 4,283.6

euR 7,800.0 11/2008 12/2017 4.373 3M-euRIBoR – 500.5

euR 30,126.0 12/2008 11/2015 4.000 3M-euRIBoR – 1,307.4
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Currency Nominal value Start End Fixed inter-

est rate as at 

31.12.2008

Reference 

interest rate

Market value 

31.12.2008

in 1,000  % € 1,000

euR 16,748.3 12/2008 12/2015 4.070 3M-euRIBoR – 739.8

euR 31,200.0 12/2008 09/2016 4.070 3M-euRIBoR – 1,457.7

euR 80,000.0 12/2008 12/2017 4.405 3M-euRIBoR – 5,013.9

uSD 9,508.5 07/2006 02/2011 5.715 1M-lIBoR – 632.8

CZK 7,709.8 06/2008 06/2013 4.620 3M-pRIBoR – 569.9

– 81,265.9

the average weighted interest rate is about 4.21 % for all euR interest rate swaps, about 5.72 % for the uSD interest 
rate swap and about 4.62 % for the CZK interest rate swap.

the fair value corresponds to the value which the relevant company would receive or pay upon liquidation of the 
deal on the balance sheet date. this value was determined by the relevant bank with which these transactions had been 
concluded.

the fair values were calculated by discounting the future cash flows from variable payments on the basis of generally 
recognised models of financial mathematics. the valuation was based on interbank middle rates of exchange.

Changes recognised directly in equity

€ 1,000 2008 2007

As at 1 January 20,890.2 5,506.6

Changes in the value of cash flow hedges – 76,240.2 15,383.6

As at 31 December – 55,350.0 20,890.2

of which valuation result attributable to parent company – 52,133.2 20,667.8

of which valuation result attributable to minority interests – 3,216.8 – 222.4

Capital market risk
the CA Immo Group manages the risks arising from the capital markets in a variety of ways. It takes extensive liquid-

ity planning and safeguarding measures, for example, in order to avoid tight positions. the CA Immo Group also pro-
tects itself by entering into capital partnerships (joint ventures) for project development purposes. this policy serves as 
an alternative to and extension of the customary sources of equity capital. outside capital is procured by the CA Immo 
Group not only from its principal bank, Bank Austria/uniCredit Group, but also and to a growing extent through new 
or developing business relations with other domestic and foreign banks.

Interest rate risk
Risks resulting from changes in interest rates basically concern long-term loans. In order to reduce the interest rate 

risk, a mix of long-term fixed interest rate and variable interest rate loans is used. the variable interest rate loans con-
cluded also include derivative financial instruments (interest rate caps, interest rate swaps). However, the purpose of 
all of these is just to hedge against interest rate risks from underlying transactions.

A list of all major interest rate liabilities and swaps concluded as well as details on maturities is given in 2.2.11. and 
2.3.1. in these notes. there are currently no risks which represent a major and permanent danger to the CA Immo 
Group.
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A change in interest rates of 100 basis points would have the following effect on the income statement and the eq-
uity capital. this analysis is based on the assumption that all other variables, especially exchange rates, will remain 
constant:

€ 1,000 Recognition in profit or loss Recognised directly in equity

100 bp

increase

100 bp

decrease

100 bp

increase

100 bp

decrease

31 December 2008

Variable rate instruments – 18,732.7 18,732.7 0.0 0.0

Interest rate swaps 15,825.1 – 15,825.1 0.0 0.0

Interest rate swaps (valuation) 12,020.9 – 13,189.6 63,904.3 – 68,749.7

9,113.3 – 10,282.0 63,904.3 – 68,749.7

31 December 2007

Variable rate instruments – 11,559.4 11,559.4 0.0 0.0

Interest rate swaps 9,501.4 – 9,501.4 0.0 0.0

Interest rate swaps (valuation) 5,301.6 – 5,301.6 55,699.3 – 55,699.3

3,243.6 – 3,243.6 55,699.3 – 55,699.3

the sensitivity analysis is based on the balance sheet values as at 31 December 2008 assuming a change in interest 
rates of 100 basis points. the floating rate instruments include interest rate-dependent financial liabilities and loans 
without taking account of hedge relations. In the case of the financial derivatives, a change in the interest rate results in 
a component (interest rate and valuation fair value swaps) which has an effect on the income statement as well as the 
change in the value of the cash flow hedges recognised in equity.

Currency risk
Currency risks result from rental income and receivables in foreign currency, especially in SKK 1), BGn, CZK, HuF, 

pln, Ron and RSD. these foreign currency inflows from rents are secured through a linkage of rents to euR and uSD 
so that on balance no major risk exists. on the liabilities side, risks may result from loans taken out in CHF, CZK and 
uSD (cf. notes 2.2.11.). this risk mainly relates to rental income in CZK and uSD. loans are taken out in the same cur-
rency as the one on which the rental agreement in question is based. the translation of individual financial statements 
denominated in local currency relating to companies located outside the euro zone may result in non-cash-related ef-
fects on the consolidated net income.

An assumed uSD exchange rate increase by 10 % (from 1.4040 to 1.5444) since the balance sheet date would have re-
sulted in a currency gain of € 2,052.8K. An assumed uSD exchange rate decrease by 10 % (from 1.4040 to 1.2636) since 
the balance sheet date would have resulted in a currency loss of € 2,509.0K.

An assumed CZK exchange rate increase by 10 % (from 26.5000 to 29.1500) since the balance sheet date would have 
resulted in a currency gain of € 700.9K. An assumed CZK exchange rate decrease by 10 % (from 26.5000 to 23.8500) 
since the balance sheet date would have resulted in a currency loss of € 856.6K.

An assumed CHF exchange rate increase by 10 % (from 1.4868 to 1.6355) since the balance sheet date would have 
resulted in a currency gain of € 377.5K. An assumed CHF exchange rate decrease by 10 % (from 1.4868 to 1.3381) since 
the balance sheet date would have resulted in a currency loss of € 461.4K.

1) Slovakia introduced the euro on 1 January 2009 so that the currency risk for SKK no longer exists in future.
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Credit risk
on the assets side, the amounts stated represent the maximum default risk as no major set-off agreements exist. Where 

recognisable, the risk resulting from rent receivables and receivables from property purchasers is considered by carry-
ing out value adjustments. If there are objective indications of a value impairment (such as e.g. late payment, litigation, 
insolvency), a value impairment is to be recognised. the same applies to financing obtained by joint ventures or associ-
ated companies if, in view of the relevant company’s business development, full repayment is not to be expected. the 
impairment loss is the difference between the current book value of the asset and the cash value of the expected future 
cash flow from the receivable. the default risk of other financial instruments stated on the assets side may be consid-
ered as low since the transactions were mainly concluded with banks of first credit-worthiness.

Fair values
the fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities are stated together with the relevant items. the fair 

value of the other primary financial instruments corresponds to the book value due to day-to-day maturity or very short 
maturities.

2.3.2. Liquidity risk
the liquidity risk is the risk of being unable to settle financial liabilities at the time of maturity. the CA Immo Group 

controls liquidity by ensuring the availability of sufficient financial resources to settle due liabilities, while avoiding 
unnecessary potential losses and risks. In keeping with the investment horizon for real estate, most of the loans raised 
are long-term loans.

the table below shows the contractually agreed (non-discounted) interest payments and repayments relating to pri-
mary financial liabilities and derivative financial instruments.

31.12.2008

€ 1,000

Book value

2008

Contractually 

agreed cash 

flows

Cash flow

2009

Cash flow

2010– 2013

Cash flow

2014 ff.

Primary financial liabilities:

liabilities from loans 194,903.6 – 282,000.0 – 10,250.0 – 41,000.0 – 230,750.0

Financial liabilities 1,728,818.8 – 2,188,706.8 – 138,860.5 – 802,331.2 – 1,247,515.1

trade creditors 69,351.5 – 69,351.5 – 61,100.4 – 8,251.1 0.0

liabilities in respect of minority interests 2,597.7 – 2,597.7 0.0 0.0 – 2,597.7

Interest-bearing liabilities to joint venture partners 799.2 – 818.0 – 818.0 0.0 0.0

interest-free liabilities to joint venture partners 3,021.3 – 3,021.3 – 3,021.3 0.0 0.0

other interest-free liabilities 117,047.2 – 117,047.2 – 86,347.9 – 30,699.3 0.0

Derivative financial liabilities: 1)

Interest rate derivatives in connection with cash flow hedges 64,185.9 – 90,806.8 – 24,956.7 – 56,831.5 – 9,018.6

Interest rate derivatives not connected with hedges 17,080.0 – 22,221.0 – 4,564.5 – 12,259.0 – 5,397.5

2,197,805.2 – 2,776,570.3 – 329,919.3 – 951,372.1 – 1,495,278.9

1) the cash flows of derivative financial liabilities are expected values on the basis of forward rates.
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31.12.2007

€ 1,000

Book value

2007

Contractually 

agreed cash 

flows

Cash flow

2008

Cash flow

2009– 2012

Cash flow

2013 ff.

Primary financial liabilities:

liabilities from loans 194,385.4 – 292,250.0 – 10,250.0 – 41,000.0 – 241,000.0

Financial liabilities 1,213,262.8 – 1,706,449.7 – 312,980.4 – 419,624.2 – 973,845.1

trade creditors 6,566.3 – 6,566.3 – 6,381.2 – 185.1 0.0

liabilities in respect of minority interests 2,621.7 – 2,621.7 0.0 0.0 – 2,621.7

Interest-bearing liabilities to joint-venture partners 398.9 – 404.7 – 404.7 0.0 0.0

other interest-free liabilities 16,364.5 – 16,364.5 – 13,124.8 – 3,239.7 0.0

Derivative financial liabilities:

Interest rate derivatives in connection with cash flow hedges 2,205.4 – 2,375.2 – 321.9 – 1,971.3 – 82.0

Interest rate derivatives not connected with hedges 1,268.9 – 1,502.2 – 148.6 – 1,135.4 – 218.2

Forward foreign exchange transactions 3,637.7 – 3,637.7 – 3,637.7 0.0 0.0

1,440,711.6 – 2,032,172.0 – 347,249.3 – 467,155.7 – 1,217,767.0

2.3.3. Other liabilities and contingent liabilities 

Guarantees
As at 31 December 2008, there are guarantees within the Vivico Group in the amount of € 32,178.0K from urban devel-

opment contracts as well as from purchase contracts concluded with regard to the payment of costs in respect of con-
taminated sites and war damage in the amount of € 3,706.0K. there are also rent guarantees in the amount of € 211.0K 
which have been provided. In addition, letters of intent have been issued for two companies in Germany consolidated 
on a proportional basis. 

As at 31 December 2008, there are guarantees for eastern/South east europe amounting to € 7,182.0K (2007: 0.0) for 
two companies in Slovakia and in Cyprus consolidated on a proportional basis. 

Open lawsuits
the CA Immo Group is involved in several lawsuits resulting from the ordinary course of business. Whenever the 

probability of the enforcement of claims was higher than 50 %, provisions were set up for this purpose.

Significant liabilities in respect of outstanding purchase invoices
the existing obligation to pay the full purchase price for the acquisition of Vivico Real estate GmbH, Frankfurt as at 

31 December 2007 was fully paid in during the year under report.

In addition, by way of the provisions for the acquisition of a property company in Hungary already contained in the 
balance sheet, an obligation in the amount of at least € 51,000.0K exists within the framework of the forward purchase.

Obligations from the use of tangible assets
Rent obligations from the use of tangible assets not included in the balance sheet are as follows:

€ 1,000 2008 2007

up to 1 year 1,446.0 1,471.0

2–5 years 3,414.0 2,967.0

More than 5 years 165.0 0.0

Total 5,025.0 4,438.0
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2.3.4. Lease contracts
the lease contracts concluded by the CA Immo Group usually contain the following major contract provisions:

- linkage to euR or uSD
- value maintenance through linkage to international indices
- medium-term to long-term maturities or waiver of termination

Future minimum rental income from lease contracts existing as at 31 December 2008 which are either limited or sub-
ject to termination waiver amounts to € 1,687,090.0K. of this, € 149,997.6K (2007: € 95,219.8K) is attributable to the 
year 2009, € 440,249.1K (2007: € 294,374.2K) to the years 2010 to 2013 and € 1,096,843.3K (2007: € 1,082,862.8K) to 
subsequent years. the remaining lease contracts may be terminated at short notice.

2.3.5. Business relationships with related companies and parties
Companies and persons related to the CA Immo Group are:

- the executive bodies of CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft
- the Bank Austria/uniCredit Group

The executive bodies of the CA Immo Group are:

the Management Board of CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna now has two members following the 
departure of Gerhard engelsberger on 31 January 2008:

Bruno ettenauer
Wolfhard Fromwald

Supervisory Board of CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 1) 

Gerhard nidetzky, Chairman
Christian nowotny, Deputy Chairman 
Reinhard Madlencnik
Regina prehofer 
Detlef Bierbaum 
Horst pöchhacker

In 2008, the members of the Management Board received remuneration totalling € 1,218.4K (2007: € 2,019.6K), of 
which € 638.0K (2007: € 1,202.0K) was performance-related based on the business year 2007. neither loans nor ad-
vances were granted to Group management executive bodies. Gerhard engelsberger retired from the Management Board 
with effect from 31 January 2008. In the business year, Gerhard engelsberger received a severance payment of € 275.6K 
and a residual payment in the amount of € 100.0K for contractual entitlements. the remuneration of the members 
of the Supervisory Boards of CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft and its subsidiaries amounted to € 116.8K 
(2007: € 147.5K) in the year under report.

As of the indicated balance sheet dates, the following significant receivables from, and liabilities to, subsidiaries in 
which the CA Immo Group held a 50 % interest existed:

1) As at 31.12.2008, all members of the Supervisory Board had been elected by the General Meeting.
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€ 1,000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Loans to joint ventures

triastron Investments limited, nicosia 14,506.8 12,778.9

poleczki Business park Sp. z o.o., Warsaw 6,479.2 1,692.6

Kornelco Holdings limited, nicosia 2,656.5 0.0

Starohorska Development s.r.o., Bratislava 1,493.4 0.0

H1 Hotelentwicklungs GmbH, Vienna 253.5 250.3

Total 25,389.4 14,721.8

Loans to associated companies

oAo Avielen AG, St. petersburg 4,599.8 132.5

Soravia Center oü, tallinn 1,900.0 2,934.1

Total 6,499.8 3,066.6

Receivables from joint ventures

SKyGARDen Arnulfpark GmbH & Co. KG, Grünwald 4,624.9 0.0

Boulevard Süd 4 GmbH & Co. KG, ulm 1,523.9 0.0

einkaufszentrum erlenmatt AG, Basle 458.9 0.0

poleczki Business park Sp. z o.o., Warsaw 68.3 0.0

H1 Hotelentwicklungs GmbH, Vienna 8.5 155.8

Cee Hotel Development Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna 0.6 0.6

Cee Hotelmanagement und Beteiligungs GmbH, Vienna 0.6 0.3

pannonia Shopping Center Kft., Györ 0.5 0.0

Total 6,686.2 156.7

Payables to joint ventures

Boulevard Süd 4 GmbH & Co. KG, ulm 2,970.1 0.0

Warsaw Financial Center Sp. z o.o., Warsaw 799.2 398.9

Mahler property Sp. z o.o., Warsaw 51.2 0.0

Total 3,820.5 398.9

the Bank Austria/uniCredit Group is the principal bank of the CA Immo Group. the company carries out a large pro-
portion of its payment transactions through the Bank Austria/uniCredit Group, places a lot of its financial investments 
with the Bank Austria/uniCredit Group and holds about 32.6 % of the financial liabilities shown in the consolidated 
financial statements with the Bank Austria/uniCredit Group. In the business year 2008, the net interest expenses (incl. 
interest income, swap expenditure and income and loan processing fees) of CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesells-
chaft in respect of the Bank Austria/uniCredit Group amounted to € 1,205.0K (2007: € 342.6K) while those of CA Immo 
subsidiaries in respect of the Bank Austria/uniCredit Group amounted to € 6,264.5K (2007: € 5,210.9K). the marketing 
and distribution fees (portfolio commission) of CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft in respect of the Bank Aus-
tria/uniCredit Group amounted to € 614.8K (2007: € 3,815.7K). In the business year 2008, there were no issuing costs 
(2007: € 18,840.0K). 

As at 31 December 2008, the balance of outstanding receivables from, and liabilities to, the Bank Austria/uniCredit 
Group is € – 453,747.5K (31 December 2007: € – 156,579.4K). there are also interest rate swap transactions with the 
Bank Austria/uniCredit Group with a fair value of € – 54,058.8K (31 December 2007: € 22,099.4K). the terms and 
conditions of the business relationship with the Bank Austria/uniCredit Group are in line with those prevailing in 
the market.

ConSolIDAteD FInAnCIAl StAteMentS

C
o

n
S

o
l

ID
A

t
e

D
 F

In
A

n
C

IA
l

 S
t

A
t

e
M

e
n

t
S

147



2.3.6.  Net profit effect on the income statement of the settlement of transactions within the 
CA Immo Group and the CAINE Group

the CA Immo Group has a majority (61.74 %) stake in CA Immo International AG alongside other investors. CA Immo 
International AG for its part has a majority (60 %) stake in CA Immo neW euRope pRopeRty FunD S.C.A. SICAR, 
luxemburg. the individual financial statements of CA Immo neW euRope pRopeRty FunD S.C.A. SICAR, luxem-
burg and the individual financial statements of CA Immo International AG are shown as fully consolidated in the Con-
solidated Financial Statements of the CA Immo Group so that business transactions with CA Immo International AG 
and CA Immo neW euRope pRopeRty FunD S.C.A. SICAR and its subsidiaries (the CA Immo International Group 
and the CAIne Group for short) are not taken into consideration in the individual items from the annual financial state-
ments but are just shown in the results as minority interests.

linkage of the minority interest in the individual group company CA Immo neW euRope pRopeRty FunD S.C.A. 
SICAR, luxemburg (CAIne) based on group-internal settlements:

€ 1,000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Result of the individual group company CAIne after consolidation of the CA Immo Group – 46,228.4 701.7

of which 39.97 % expected minority interest – 18,476.2 280.5

Current minority interest – 20,819.9 – 1,227.4

Difference 2,343.7 1,507.9

Composition of the difference

Minority interest in respect of asset management fee 1,766.5 1,293.7

Minority interest in respect of acquisition fee 0.0 225.8

Minority interest in respect of interest earnings 558.5 156.5

Minority interest in respect of management fees 39.7 17.0

Minority interest in respect of marketing costs – 21.0 – 14.0

Minority interest in respect of result of a company due to group-internal sales 0.0 – 171.1

Total 2,343.7 1,507.9

2.3.7. Capital management
the aim of the capital management policy within the CA Immo Group is to maintain an appropriate capital structure 

which enables the attainment of a sustainable increase in the value of the company. As a result of investment activity, 
we cannot rule out falling short of our target equity ratio of 40 % in the short term; in the medium term, however, the 
equity ratio is likely to be exceeded once again as partnerships are created in relation to specific projects and certain 
properties are sold off.

pursuant to section 130 para. 4 of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the appropriated capital reserves stated 
in the individual financial statements of CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft may only be released to cover a 
net loss which would otherwise be shown. In accordance with the resolution of the Management Board of 25 February 
2009, free reserves in the amount of € 19,803.4K, statutory reserves in the amount of € 23.3K and appropriated capi-
tal reserves in the amount of € 161,831.3K were reversed in the order prescribed by law in accordance with Section 
130 para. 4 of the Austrian Stock Corporation Act in order to balance out a net loss which would otherwise have been 
shown in the individual financial statements of CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft in the financial year 2008. 
As a result, the individual financial statements of CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft show appropriated capi-
tal reserves in the amount of € 868,545.0K as at 31 December 2008 (31 December 2007: € 1,030,376.4K). 

A distribution of profits may be carried out only up to the amount of the net profit as stated in the individual financial 
statements of the company (31 December 2008: € 0.0).
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the business equity capital corresponds to the equity capital shown in the consolidated balance sheet. With a bal-
ance sheet total of € 4,394,832.8 as at 31 December 2008 (31 December 2007: € 3,823,409.6K), the equity capital ratio 
amounts to 42.2 % (31 December 2007: 59.3 %). 

the management board made use of its authority to buy back the company’s own shares and up to the balance sheet 
date, a total of 1,494,076 bearer shares had been bought back via the stock market (see also 2.2.8.).

the net financial liability and the gearing ratio are definitive key figures for presenting the capital structure of the 
CA Immo Group and show the following development:

€ 1,000 31.12.2008 31.12.2007

Interest-bearing liabilities

loans 194,903.6 194,385.4

Financial liabilities 1,728,818.8 1,213,262.8

Interest-bearing assets

Securities – 11,251.2 – 375,584.8

Cash and cash equivalents – 321,380.3 – 192,468.5

Net financial liability 1,591,090.9 839,594.9

equity capital 1,854,654.1 2,265,453.4

Gearing ratio 86 % 37 %

2.3.8. Key figures per share

Earnings per share
earnings per share are calculated by dividing consolidated net income by the weighted number of ordinary shares 

in circulation during the business year.

2008 2007

Weighted number of shares in circulation number 86,739,128.0 77,935,078.0

Consolidated net income € 1,000 – 237,120.6 52,056.5

loss/profit per share € – 2.73 0.67

Diluted earnings per share corresponds to the earnings per share as no financial instruments with dilution effect were 
issued. Dilution effects could be seen in future, however, owing to existing conditional capital of € 317,185.0K.

Cash flow per share
the cash flow per share is calculated by dividing the operating cash flow and the cash flow from business activities by 

the weighted number of ordinary shares in circulation during the business year.

2008 2007

Weighted number of shares in circulation number 86,739,128.0 77,935,078.0

operating cash flow € 1,000 114,588.7 83,379.7

operating cash flow per share € 1.32 1.07

Cash flow from business activities € 1,000 169,660.3 83,986.9

Cash flow per share € 1.96 1.08
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2.3.9. Payroll
In the business year 2008, the CA Immo Group employed an average of 263 white-collar workers (2007: 104) as well 

as 19 blue-collar workers (2007: 22). of these, an average of 157 white-collar workers were employed by the Vivico 
Group. In addition, an average of 16 of the 263 white-collar workers were involved in the hotel business in ljubljana 
which was sold on 1 April 2008. In addition, an average of 14 white-collar workers (2007: 11) and 20 blue-collar 
workers (2007: 21) were employed by companies consolidated on a proportional basis.

2.3.10. Events after the close of the business year
In the first quarter of 2009, the sale of a property in Munich was agreed at a purchase price of more than € 100 m.
In addition, a bank consortium agreed to provide credit finance of € 254 m for a property under development in 

Germany.

Siemens österreich AG gave notice to quit about 40 % of the space at the property located at erdberger lände in 
 Vienna on 28 February 2010 in accordance with the terms of its contract.

In January 2009, Cee Hotel Development Aktiengesellschaft, Vienna, terminated the investment management agree-
ment with H1 Hotelentwicklungs GmbH, Vienna, and H1 Hotelentwicklungs GmbH terminated that service agreement 
with Deloitte Corporate Finance. the activities of H1 Hotelentwicklungs GmbH were suspended.

Vienna, 13 March 2009

  the Management Board

   
 Bruno ettenauer  Wolfhard Fromwald
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DeClARAtIon oF tHe MAnAGInG BoARD Due to SeCtIon 82 (4) oF tHe AuStRIAn StoCK exCHAnGe ACt

the managing board declares that the consolidated financial statements of the CA Immo Group, which were compiled 
in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the eu, to the best knowl-
edge give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilites, financial position and profit or loss of the CA Immo International 
Group and that the group management report gives a true and fair view of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of the CA Immo Group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainites 
the CA Immo Group faces.

Vienna, 13 March 2009

  the Management Board

   
 Dr. Bruno ettenauer  Mag. Wolfhard Fromwald
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InDepenDent AuDItoR’S RepoRt

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of CA IMMobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft,
Vienna, for the financial year from 1 January to 31 December 2008. those financial statements comprise the balance 

sheet as at 31 December 2008, and the income statement, cash flow statement and statement of changes in equity for the 
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in ac-

cordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the eu. this responsibility includes: 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with laws and regulations applicable in Austria and International Standards on 
Auditing (ISAs), issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board (IAASB) of the International 
Federation of Accountants (IFAC). those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consoli-
dated financial statements. the procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluation of the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
our audit did not give rise to any objections. Based on the results of our audit in our opinion the consolidated finan-

cial statements are in accordance with legal requirements and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi-
tion of the group as at 31 December 2008 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the eu. 
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Report on Other Legal Requirements
law and regulation applicable in Austria require us to perform audit procedures whether the group management 

report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and whether the other disclosures made in the group 
management report do not give rise to misconception of the position of the group.

In our opinion, the Group Management Report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

Vienna, 13 March 2009

   KpMG
  Wirtschaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungs GmbH

  Mag. Walter Reiffenstuhl  ppa Mag. nikolaus urschler

   Austrian Chartered Accountants 

ConSolIDAteD FInAnCIAl StAteMentS
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FInAnCIAl StAteMentS oF CA IMMo AnlAGen AG

pRoFIt AnD loSS ACCount FoR tHe BuSIneSS yeAR enDeD 31 DeCeMBeR 2008 

2008 2007

€ € € 1,000 € 1,000

1. Gross revenues 28,161,717.71 27,616.5

2. Other operating income

a) Income from the sale of fixed assets with  

the exception of financial assets

19,311.21 15,420.8

b) Income from the reduction of provisions 104,968.00 32.6

c) other 2,841,834.08 2,966,113.29 5,486.0 20,939.4

3. Staff expenses

a) Wage – 16,804.17 – 31.7

b) Salaries – 3,549,903.52 – 4,815.0

c) payments relating to dispatching and 

payments into staff welfare funds

– 333,377.25 – 293.9

d) expenses in connection with pensions – 100,063.12 – 115.2

e) payments relating to statutory social security contributions as well as 

payments dependent on remuneration and compulsory contributions

– 701,842.73 – 689.8

f) other social expenses – 82,439.40 – 4,784,430.19 – 17.3 – 5,962.9

4. Depreciation on intangible assets, 

fixed assets and tangible assets 

– 31,974,320.94 – 11,207.9

of which unscheduled depreciation  in accordance with 

§ 204 para. 2 uGB: € 22,511,363.70; previous year: € 1,670.8K

5. Other operating expenses

a) taxes – 350,456.86 – 7,118.6

b) other – 19,640,082.72 – 19,990,539.58 – 40,359.7 – 47,478.3

6. Subtotal from S 1 to 5 (operating result) – 25,621,459.71 – 16,093.2

7. Income from interests 976,100.30 0.0

of which from related companies: 

€ 976,100.30; previous year: € 0.0K

8. Income from loans from financial investments 8,436,685.53 5,843.5

of which from related companies: 

€ 8,436,685.53; previous year: € 5,843.5K

FInAnCIAl StAteMentS oF 
CA IMMo AnlAGen AG
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FInAnCIAl StAteMentS oF CA IMMo AnlAGen AG

2008 2007

€ € € 1,000 € 1,000

9. Other interest and similar income 5,447,797.80 5,874.5

of which from related companies: 

€ 2,646,036.58; previous year: € 2,353.9K

10. Income from the sale of financial assets and short-term securities from current assets 41,324.89 1,797.8

11. Expenses from financial assets and 

from short-term securities from current assets

– 78,697,570.09 – 8,240.8

of which: a) Depreciation and amortisation:

€ 68,811,794.70; previous year: € 4,000.0K

b) expenses from affiliated companies: 

€ 55,965,532.83; previous year: € 4.000.0K

12. Interest and similar expenses – 99,042,675.99 – 19,159.7

of which in connection with related companies:  

€ 18,513,851.28; previous year: € 2,575.2K

13. Subtotal from S 7 to 12 (financial result) – 162,838,337.56 – 13,884.7

14. Result from usual business activity – 188,459,797.27 – 29,977.9

15. Extraordinary income 0.00 3,397.3

16. Taxes on income 6,799,089.43 2,045.7

17. Annual deficit – 181,660,707.84 – 24,534.9

18. Reduction of untaxed reserves

Special items for investment grants 2,333.16 2.3

19. Reduction of capital reserves 161,831,291.87 0.0

20. Reduction of retained profit

a) Statutory reserve 23,345.42 24,490.0

b) other reserves (free reserves) 19,803,411.24

21. Profit carried forward from the previous year 326.15 42.9

22. Profit as shown in the balance sheet 0.00 0.3
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BAlAnCe SHeet AS At 31 DeCeMBeR 2008

31.12.2008 31.12.2007

€ € 1,000

ASSETS

A. Fixed assets

I. Intangible fixed assets

1. Rights 882.86 1.5

2. eDp software 73,708.57 60.7

3. Goodwill 643,439.39 857.9

718,030.82 920.1

II. Tangible fixed assets 

1. property and buildings 308,500,550.79 341,439.0

of which land value: € 65,092,540.59; previous year: € 73,281.6K

2. other assets, office furniture and equipment 1,562,465.73 1,361.1

3. Down-payments made and construction in progress 2,808,110.35 374.4

312,871,126.87 343,174.5

III. Financial assets

1. Stakes in related companies 2,046,090,996.34 1,488,181.0

2. loans to related companies 104,030,577.86 146,794.0

3. equity investments 7,332.69 7.3

2,150,128,906.89 1,634,982.3

2,463,718,064.58 1,979,076.9

B. Current assets

I. Claims

1. trade debtors 237,258.15 442.9

2. Claims on related companies 26,633,221.63 56,506.8

3. other receivables 1,797,483.96 1,821.4

28,667,963.74 58,771.1

II. Other securities 

1. own shares 6,276,870.62 0.0

2. other securities 11,251,300.72 389,952.6

17,528,171.34 389,952.6

III. Cash on hand, credit balances with banks 24,240,239.74 30,388.0

70,436,374.82 479,111.70

C. Deferred expenses 888,725.72 1,143.9

2,535,043,165.12 2,459,332.5

FInAnCIAl StAteMentS oF CA IMMo AnlAGen AG
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BAlAnCe SHeet AS At 31 DeCeMBeR 2008

31.12.2008 31.12.2007

€ € 1,000

LIABILITIES

A. Shareholders’ equity

I. Share capital 634,370,022.00 634,370.0

II. Capital reserves 868,545,036.43 1,030,376.4

III. Retained earnings

1. Statutory reserve 0.00 23.3

2. Reserve for own shares 6,276,870.62 0.0

3. other reserves (free reserves) 0.00 26,080.3

6,276,870.62 26,103.6

IV. Net profit 0.00 0.3

of which profit carried forward: € 326.15; previous year: € 42.9K

1,509,191,929.05 1,690,850.3

B. Untaxed reserves

I. Valuation reserve based on special depreciation in accordance with § 10 a para. 3 of the Income Tax Law 126,202.60 126.2

II. Other untaxed reserves

Special items for investment grants 83,293.32 85.6

209,495.92 211.8

C. Provisions

1. provisions for severance payments 510,485.00 551.2

2. tax provisions 731,416.28 704.6

3. other provisions 37,552,639.02 5,450.9

38,794,540.30 6,706.7

D. Liabilities

1. Bond 200,000,000.00 200,000.0

of which convertible: € 0.00; previous year: € 0.0K

2. liabilities to banks 191,693,213.25 270,069.5

3. trade creditors 790,451.77 1,295.7

4. payables to related companies 587,822,314.67 284,583.9

5. other liabilities 5,204,719.97 4,215.1

of which from taxes: € 623,101.00; previous year: € 1,223.6K

of which in connection with social security:  € 73,877.86; previous year: € 70.8K

985,510,699.66 760,164.2

E. Deferred income 1,336,500.19 1,399.5

2,535,043,165.12 2,459,332.5

Contingent liabilities from guarantees 217,365,000.00 612,614.0

FInAnCIAl StAteMentS oF CA IMMo AnlAGen AG
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otHeR noteS

the financial statements of CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft for the 2008 business year prepared according 
to the Austrian accounting principles and for which an unqualified auditors’ opinion was expressed by KpMG Wirt-
schaftsprüfungs- und Steuerberatungs GmbH will be submitted together with the relevant documents to the Austrian 
Register of Companies of the Commercial Court of Vienna, no. 75895k. these financial statements can be ordered free of 
charge from CA Immobilien Anlagen Aktiengesellschaft, 1030 Vienna.

Vienna, 5 March 2009

the Management Board
 
 

  
 Bruno ettenauer Wolfhard Fromwald

FInAnCIAl StAteMentS oF CA IMMo AnlAGen AG
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I. CA IMMo SHARe  
 

1. ReVIeW oF SHARe RAtIoS

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Key figures per share €

Rental income/share 2.02 1.58 1.50 1.44 1.19

eBItDA/share 1.59 1.16 1.15 1.00 0.86

operating cash flow/share 1.32 1.07 0.93 0.96 0.80

Consolidated net income w/o minorities/share – 2.73 0.67 1.17 1.55 – 0.07

eV/share 22.75 27.96 32.40 24.46 18.89

nnnAV/share 20.50 22.51 21.13 19.66 18.37

price (31 December)/nnnAV per share –1  % – 79.51 – 31.92 4.62 7.07 9.10

Multipliers

p/e ratio (peR) – 1.5 23.0 18.0 13.0 – 

price/cash flow 3.2 14.3 23.0 21.0 25.0

av. eV/eBItDA 18.6 26.9 29.1 28.0 25.0

Valuation € m

Market capitalisation (31 December) 360.2 1,335.1 1,286.2 918.4 712.8

Market capitalisation (annual average) 968.9 1,600.0 1,108.0 777.6 604.1

Shareholders equity 1,854.7 2,265.5 1,485.2 851.3 631.1

Average enterprise Value (eV) 2,560.0 2,439.6 1,721.4 1,084.7 671.5

net asset value (nnnAV) 1,758.4 1,964.4 1,229.4 857.9 653.1

Share

number of shares (31 December) pcs. 85,764,524 87,258,600 58,172,400 43,629,300 35,549,800

Average number of shares pcs. 86,739,128 77,935,078 51,345,223 37,838,992 30,947,736

Average price/share € 11.17 20.53 21.58 20.55 19.52

Highest price € 15.88 25.15 22.11 21.71 20.05

lowest price € 3.15 13.20 21.01 20.00 19.07
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2. DeVelopMent oF SHARe CApItAl

Year Capital increase 

 Nominal value

Number Price Status

share capital

1987 AtS 200,000,000 100 % 200,000,000

1988 AtS 100,000,000 110 % 300,000,000

1989 AtS 100,000,000 113 % 400,000,000

AtS 100,000,000 125 % 500,000,000

AtS 100,000,000 129 % 600,000,000

AtS 200,000,000 135 % 800,000,000

1990 AtS 200,000,000 138 % 1,000,000,000

1991 AtS 250,000,000 140 % 1,250,000,000

1996 100,000,000 165 % 1,350,000,000

13,500,000 98,145,000

1999 € 10,905,000 1,500,000   14.4 €/share 109,050,000

2001 € 10,905,000 1,500,000   16.2 €/share 119,955,000

€ 11,995,500 1,650,000   16.6 €/share 131,950,500

2002 € 13,195,050 1,815,000   17.1 €/share 145,145,550

€ 14,514,555 1,996,500   17.3 €/share 159,660,105

2003 € 14,514,555 1,996,500   18.2 €/share 174,174,660

€ 18,058,680 2,484,000   18.8 €/share 192,233,340

€ 21,359,260 2,938,000   18.7 €/share 213,592,600

2004 € 21,359,260 2,938,000   19.45 €/share 234,951,860

€ 23,495,186 3,231,800   19.7 €/share 258,447,046

2005 € 23,495,186 3,231,800 20.2 €/share 281,942,232

€ 35,242,779 4,847,700 20.85 €/share 317,185,011

2006 € 105,728,337 14,543,100 21.15 €/share 422,913,348

2007 € 211,456,674 29,086,200 23.25 €/share 634,370,022

2008 € 0 0 0 634,370,022

87,258,600 
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II. poRtFolIo AnAlySIS 
 

1. oVeRAll poRtFolIo

Austria Germany Eastern and 

Southeastern 

Europe

Total 

Property assets 31.12.2007 € m 892.5 934.4 708.4 2,535.3

property assets let € m 805.2 915.5 599.0 2,319.6

property assets under development € m 87.3 19.0 109.4 215.7

property own used € m 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

property intended for trading € m 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Acqusition of new properties € m 5.2 1,448.0 112.0 1,565.2

Investments in current projects € m 6.1 118.0 66.5 190.6

Investments in the portfolio stock € m 9.2 35.7 12.0 56.9

Change from revaluation /impairment € m – 81.3 – 112.1 – 92.2 – 285.6

Disposals € m – 31.7 – 187.5 – 55.0 – 274.2

Property assets 31.12.2008 € m 800.1 2,236.5 751.7 3,788.3

property assets let € m 747.9 1,184.5 588.2 2,520.7

property assets under development € m 40.6 876.9 162.2 1,079.8

property own used € m 11.5 7.9 0.0 19.4

property intended for trading € m 0.0 167.1 1.2 168.4

Annual rental income 1) € m 45.2 91.5 38.7 175.3

Annualized rental income € m 46.0 91.4 40.9 178.3

Vacancy rate property assets let  %  9.8  1.3  6.0  5.1 

yield property assets let  %  6.1  6.0  7.3  6.3 

1) incl. annual rental income from properties sold in 2008 (€ 4.4 m)

2. CHAnGe In RentAl InCoMe (2008 CoMpAReD WItH 2007)

€ m Austria Germany Eastern and 

Southeastern 

Europe

Total  

From indexing 1.3 0.0 1.3 2.6

From currency translation 0.0 0.0 – 0.3 – 0.3

From change of vacancy rate or rent reduction – 0.7 0.0 – 1.1 – 1.8

From additions of new properties 0.1 41.9 2.9 44.9

From first-time lease on whole-year basis 3.6 5.5 1.8 10.9

From completed projects 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.4

From property disposals – 0.7 0.0 – 4.0 – 4.7

Total 4.0 47.4 0.5 52.0
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3. SeGMent AnAlySIS – uSABle SpACe By type oF uSe AnD InVentoRy FoR tRADInG

Austria Germany Eastern/South East 

Europe

Total 

sqm % share sqm % share sqm % share sqm % share

office 181,361 44 500,139 57 159,973 70 841,474 55

Hotel 34,968 9 628 0 39,122 17 74,718 5

Retail 73,146 18 3,584 0 12,071 5 88,801 6

Commercial and warehousing 62,416 15 267,370 30 3,006 1 332,791 22

Residential 51,888 13 4,461 1 0 0 56,348 4

other 4,387 1 107,956 12 16,659 7 129,001 8

Useful area 408,165 100 884,138 100 230,831 100 1,523,134 100

number of car-parking spaces 4,463 8,466 3,734 16,663

4. SeGMent AnAlySIS – RentAl InCoMeS By type oF uSe AnD InVentoRy FoR tRADInG

Austria Germany Eastern/South East 

Europe

Total 

sqm % share sqm % share sqm % share sqm % share

office 18,728 42 63,920 79 31,912 83 114,560 69

Hotel 3,458 8 2,270 3 6,330 16 12,059 7

Retail 3,463 8 0 0 0 0 3,463 2

Commercial and warehousing 2,788 6 9,061 11 0 0 11,849 7

Residential 11,654 26 599 1 0 0 12,253 7

other 4,939 11 5,348 7 417 1 10,704 6

Rental income 45,031 100 81,197 100 38,659 100 164,887 100

5. leASe ContRACt AnAlySIS  2009 to 2014 ff  

  Austria       Germany       eastern europe

€ m
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6. lARGeSt tenAntS 

Industry sector Region % Share 1)

Hesse (state of Germany) public administration Germany 23

Siemens AG österreich It, telecommunications Austria 5

H & M Hennes & Mauritz GmbH Fashion retail Germany 4

BIM Berliner Immobilienmanagement GmbH property administration Germany 3

Deutsche Bahn AG public transportation Germany 3

Verkehrsbüro Hotellerie GmbH Hotel trade Austria 2

Bristol-Myers Sqibb GmbH & Co. manufacturers of pharmaceuticals Germany 1

eCM Hotel operations, europort, s.r.o. (end user Marriott) Hotel operator  eastern europe / See 1

eCM Hotel operations plzen s.r.o. (end user Marriott) Hotel operator  eastern europe / See 1

eDS Magyarország Kft. It  eastern europe / See 1

1) by rental income

7. BooK VAlueS By pRopeRty AReA AnD SeGMentS

€ m 31.12.2008 31.12.2008 Change from

before revaluation revaluation

Property assets let

Austria 747.9 812.5 – 64.6

Germany 1,184.5 1,251.4 – 66.8

eastern/South east europe 588.2 634.9 – 46.7

Property assets let 2,520.7 2,698.8 – 178.1

Property assets under development

Austria 40.6 56.6 – 16.0

Germany 876.9 912.0 – 35.1

eastern/South east europe 162.2 202.7 – 40.5

Property assets under development 1,079.8 1,171.3 – 91.5

Property intended for trading

Austria 0.0 0.0 0.0

Germany 167.1 176.5 – 9.4

eastern/South east europe 1.2 6.3 – 5.1

Property intended for trading 168.4 182.9 – 14.5

Property assets own used

Austria 11.5 12.2 – 0.7

Germany 7.9 8.7 – 0.7

eastern/South east europe 0.0 0.0 0.0

Property assets own used 19.4 20.9 – 1.5

Total portfolio 3,788.3 4,073.9 – 285.6

Austria 800.1 881.4 – 81.3

Germany 2,236.5 2,348.6 – 112.1

eastern/South east europe 751.7 843.9 – 92.2
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III. BAlAnCe SHeet AnD InCoMe AnAlySIS (5-yeAR CoMpARISon) 
 

1. CoRpoRAte DAtA/Key FIGuReS

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Income Statement

Rental income € m 175.3 123.3 77.1 54.5 36.7

eBItDA € m 137.8 90.7 59.2 38.0 26.7

operating result (eBIt) € m – 152.6 151.5 90.2 73.6 – 2.3

net income before taxes (eBt) € m – 295.4 106.2 84.3 63.0 – 4.5

Consolidated net income € m – 294.9 84.0 66.4 58.6 – 2.2

Consolidated net income w/o minorities € m – 237.1 52.1 60.3 58.7 – 2.2

operating cash flow € m 114.6 83.4 48.0 36.4 24.6

Balance sheet

Book value of properties € m 3,788.3 2,535.3 2,116.0 1,157.5 717.1

total assets € m 4,394.8 3,823.4 2,712.8 1,313.3 875.6

Shareholders’ equity € m 1,854.7 2,265.5 1,485.2 851.3 631.1

long and short -term financial liabilities € m 1,923.7 1,407.6 1,087.5 400.3 212.8

net debt € m 1,591.1 839.6 598.3 289.6 67.4

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO DATA

total usable space (excl. parking, excl.projects) m² 1,528,837 1,118,778 995,437 566,467 353,361

Gross yield of properties (in relation to book values)  % 6.3 5.8 6.6 6.8 7.4

Vacancy rate  % 5.1 3.8 7.1 11.9 8.4

Capital expenditures € m 1,859.1 411.0 986.3 405.0 177.7

Other Key data

Staff as at 31.12. 330 62 35 26 20

Gearing  % 86 37 40 34 11

equity ratio  % 42 59 55 65 72

equity-to-fixed-assets ratio  % 49 71 68 72 88

Average enterprise value € m 2,560.0 2,439.6 1,721.4 1,084.7 671.5

Average enterprise value / eBItDA 19 27 29 28 25

net asset value (nnnAV) € m 1,758.4 1,964.4 1,229.4 857.9 653.1

Return on equity (Roe)  % – 13.4 4.5 5.7 8.0 – 0.4

Return on Capital employed (RoCe)  % – 4.9 5.2 5.8 6.1 – 0.3

tABleS AnD AnAlySeS
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2. ConSolIDAteD BAlAnCe SHeet

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

€ m  % € m  % € m  % € m  % € m  %

property assets 3,619.9 82 2,535.3 66 1,318.3 49 1,157.5 88 717.1 82

Long-term assets 3,830.9 87 3,207.8 84 2,192.9 81 1,185.6 90 721.2 82

Short-term assets 563.9 13 615.6 16 519.9 19 127.7 10 154.4 18

Total assets 4,394.8 100 3,823.4 100 2,712.8 100 1,313.3 100 875.6 100

Shareholders’ equity 1,854.7 42 2,265.5 59 1,485.2 55 851.3 65 631.1 72

long-term financial liabilities 1,834.9 42 1,156.6 30 1,036.3 38 294.8 22 149.8 17

Short-term financial liabilities 88.9 2 251.1 7 51.2 2 105.5 8 63.0 7

other liabilities 616.5 14 150.3 4 140.7 5 61.7 5 31.6 4

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 4,394.8 100 3,823.4 100 2,712.8 100 1,313.3 100 875.6 100

3. ConSolIDAteD InCoMe StAteMent

€ m 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Rental income/net sales 175.3 123.3 77.1 54.5 36.7

Austria 45.2 41.1 38.6 28.6 21.7

Germany 91.5 44.0 0.3 0.3 0.5

eastern/South east europe 38.7 38.1 38.2 25.6 14.6

Gross revenues 298.8 144.6 92.6 64.3 43.6

net operating income 160.1 108.7 66.6 45.9 31.2

Result from the sale of properties 11.7 5.7 7.3 – 0.1 0.0

eBItDA 137.8 90.7 59.2 38.0 26.7

operating result/eBIt – 152.6 151.5 90.2 73.6 – 2.3

Change from revaluation – 178.1 65.4 32.5 36.7 – 28.7

net income before taxes/eBt – 295.4 106.2 84.3 63.0 – 4.5

Current taxes – 48.2 – 2.3 – 3.9 – 1.0 – 0.8

Deferred taxes 48.7 – 19.9 – 14.0 – 3.4 2.9

taxes on income 0.5 – 22.2 – 17.9 – 4.4 2.1

Consolidated net income – 294.9 84.0 66.4 58.6 – 2.2

of which: attributable to the parent company – 237.1 52.1 60.3 – – 
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4. CASH FloW AnAlySIS

€ m 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Cash flow from

- operating activities 169.7 84.0 47.4 37.3 25.1

- investment activities – 127.8 – 936.9 – 1.203.0 – 251.7 – 221.5

- financing activities 89.1 897.5 1.232.5 224.1 190.0

Change in liquid funds 130.9 44.6 76.8 9.6 – 6.4

liquid funds

- at the beginning of the business year 192.5 148.3 70.7 60.9 67.4

- changes in the value of foreign currency – 2.0 – 0.5 0.7 0.2

- at the end of the business year 321.4 192.5 148.3 70.7 60.9
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IV. GeneRAl lISt oF pRopeRtIeS

plot size in 1,000 sqm      Values in € 1,000

Post-

code

City Address Share Additions 

Month/Year

Plot 1) Office 

space

Retail 

space

Hotel space Resi-

dental 

space

Industrial 

space

Storage 

space

Others Total 

Space 3)

Acquisition 

costs as at 

31.12.2008 

IFRS-Book 

values as at 

31.12.2008 

 2) 

IFRS Book 

values as at 

31.12.2007  
2)

Rental in-

come 2008 

– annualised

Level of 

commercial 

rental in %

Yield 

in % 
4)

PROPERTY ASSETS LET 1,733.7 791.1 87.5 74.1 55.8 40.8 248.3 86.8 1,384.4 2,591,323 2,520,674 2,243,527 157,572 95 % 6.3 %

Property assets let Austria

1010 Vienna Franz-Josefs-Kai 31–33 100 % 10/91 We 0.6 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 2,711 2,790 2,640 72 48 % 2.6 %

1020 Vienna Handelskai 388/DBC 100 % 09/00 9.4 19.9 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.5 1.0 1.0 23.2 51,577 33,600 37,400 1,376 57 % 4.1 %

1030 Vienna erdberger lände 26–32 100 % 09/04 66.4 60.9 2.7 0.0 0.0 13.9 4.6 0.0 82.1 125,668 109,500 130,500 9,383 100 % 8.6 %

1030 Vienna Rennweg 16 (Hotel, vermietetes Büro) 100 % 09/04 5.5 3.7 0.0 30.8 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 35.1 74,765 76,124 66,400 4,083 99 % 5.4 %

1030 Vienna landstraßer Hauptstraße 33/Czapkagasse 18 100 % 12/05 4.3 0.6 0.4 0.0 5.5 0.0 0.1 0.0 6.5 7,048 9,164 8,850 452 100 % 4.9 %

1030 Vienna Rüdengasse 11 100 % 05/03 1.1 4.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.7 9,032 8,000 8,300 555 100 % 6.9 %

1030 Vienna Galleria 100 % 12/05–05/08 We 4.6 13.7 0.0 1.9 0.0 0.9 1.8 23.0 55,043 56,537 56,439 2,923 78 % 5.2 %

1040 Vienna Wiedner Hauptstraße 23–25 100 % 07/89 1.2 1.9 0.9 1.5 1.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.8 7,877 9,800 10,100 477 97 % 4.9 %

1040 Vienna Große neugasse 36/Schäffergasse 18–20 100 % 12/89 1.0 0.0 0.6 0.0 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.8 7,228 7,400 7,400 365 89 % 4.9 %

1040 Vienna Rilkeplatz 5 100 % 05/03 0.5 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.7 6,397 6,700 6,900 469 100 % 7.0 %

1040 Vienna prinz-eugen-Straße 72 100 % 11/88 1.5 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 2.9 7,956 6,200 6,500 304 77 % 4.9 %

1040 Vienna Viktorgasse 26 100 % 07/07 0.3 0.0 0.2 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.4 3,045 2,371 2,929 104 75 % 4.4 %

1060 Vienna Mariahilfer Straße 17 100 % 07/07 0.7 2.6 0.5 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.0 3.5 17,007 16,234 16,428 715 82 % 4.4 %

1070 Vienna Siebensterngasse 20 100 % 08/87 0.7 0.0 0.5 0.0 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.3 1,707 3,690 3,720 140 95 % 3.8 %

1090 Vienna Mariannengasse 14 100 % 12/89 0.9 3.5 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.9 8,266 8,500 8,500 492 81 % 5.8 %

1090 Vienna Stroheckgasse 6 100 % 07/07 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 3,238 3,343 3,457 161 96 % 4.8 %

1090 Vienna Garnisongasse 22 100 % 07/07 0.4 0.2 0.0 0.0 1.2 0.0 0.2 0.0 1.6 3,480 3,307 3,355 104 59 % 3.1 %

1090 Vienna Brünnlbadgasse 3 100 % 07/07 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 3,451 3,305 3,225 161 90 % 4.9 %

1090 Vienna liechtensteinstraße 97 100 % 01/02 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5 1,388 2,220 2,250 113 89 % 5.1 %

1100 Vienna erlachgasse 92b 100 % 11/03 2.7 0.0 6.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.9 12,200 11,000 11,900 871 99 % 7.9 %

1110 Vienna Simmeringer Hauptstraße 99 100 % 12/05 7.5 0.2 1.2 0.0 2.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.5 3,673 3,200 3,830 212 85 % 6.6 %

1120 Vienna Wolfganggasse 58–60 100 % 11/00 7.3 18.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.0 0.4 20.9 40,414 25,730 31,900 1,552 84 % 6.0 %

1120 Vienna Schönbrunner Straße 247 100 % 12/05 1.0 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.9 7,770 8,182 8,075 565 97 % 6.9 %

1150 Vienna linke Wienzeile 234/Storchengasse 1 100 % 03/95 4.0 14.9 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 0.0 17.3 42,930 30,300 35,200 1,943 83 % 6.4 %

1150 Vienna Markgraf-Rüdiger-Str. 6–8 100 % 01/02 2.6 3.3 0.3 0.0 1.7 0.0 0.1 0.0 5.4 6,580 6,900 7,500 452 83 % 6.6 %

1150 Vienna Sparkassaplatz 6 100 % 05/03 0.8 2.2 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.4 4,211 3,710 3,910 293 100 % 7.9 %

1150 Vienna Hütteldorfer Straße 39–41 100 % 05/03 3.3 0.0 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.0 2,802 2,240 2,360 159 100 % 7.1 %

1170 Vienna Geblergasse 22–26 100 % 12/05 2.3 0.0 0.1 0.0 3.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.6 7,321 7,653 7,549 413 83 % 5.4 %

1190 Vienna Döblinger Hauptstraße 66 100 % 05/89 4.2 0.5 0.1 0.0 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.2 2.3 3,196 5,200 5,200 258 89 % 5.0 %

1190 Vienna Heiligenstädter Straße 51–53 100 % 05/89 1.1 1.7 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.0 5,036 4,100 4,240 265 96 % 6.5 %

1200 Vienna Klosterneuburger Straße 23–27 100 % 05/03 0.5 2.3 0.8 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.5 6,136 5,800 5,700 435 93 % 7.5 %

1200 Vienna Klosterneuburgers Straße 76 100 % 07/07 We 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 3,004 3,066 3,088 113 55 % 3.7 %

1210 Vienna Felmayergasse 2 100 % 12/05 6.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.4 0.0 0.0 3.4 2,156 2,175 2,183 159 100 % 7.3 %

1230 Vienna Zetschegasse 17 100 % 11/03 12.2 3.0 5.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.2 10,037 8,750 8,400 661 87 % 7.6 %

1230 Vienna Breitenfurter Straße 142–144 100 % 08/87 6.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.5 0.0 0.0 4.5 4,585 4,200 4,500 491 100 % 11.7 %

2201 Seyring Brünner Straße 160 100 % 11/04 17.4 1.0 4.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.7 0.0 13.0 14,346 17,100 12,700 1,238 100 % 7.2 %

4020 linz Schubertstraße 14–20 100 % 02/90 3.1 0.4 0.2 0.0 2.4 0.0 0.1 0.0 3.1 5,935 5,200 5,800 310 92 % 6.0 %

4020 linz Goethestraße 7 100 % 01/02 1.4 1.1 0.3 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.1 0.1 2.4 2,957 3,300 3,310 173 72 % 5.2 %

4020 linz promenade 22 100 % 12/05 0.8 0.5 0.9 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.1 2,082 2,178 2,096 117 80 % 5.4 %

4600 Wels Kaiser-Josef-platz 49 100 % 12/05 1.7 1.2 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 2,213 2,325 2,253 142 91 % 6.1 %

4614 Marchtrenk Freilinger Straße 44 100 % 01/88 16.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.4 0.0 0.0 8.4 5,133 4,240 2,130 252 100 % 5.9 %

5020 Salzburg AVA Hof – Ferdinand-Hanusch-platz 1 100 % 01/02 3.6 4.9 3.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.8 8.9 21,609 23,000 23,100 1,328 97 % 5.8 %

5020 Salzburg Getreidegasse 34–36/Griessgasse 100 % 12/05 4.1 0.2 3.4 0.0 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.5 14,959 17,011 16,959 1,076 99 % 6.3 %

5020 Salzburg Rathausplatz 2 100 % 05/03 0.4 0.0 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.8 10,000 8,000 10,000 459 100 % 5.7 %

5020 Salzburg Fürbergstraße 18–20 100 % 12/05 We 2.9 3.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.6 0.0 6.7 8,888 7,869 8,320 283 50 % 3.6 %
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plot size in 1,000 sqm      Values in € 1,000

Post-

code

City Address Share Additions 

Month/Year

Plot 1) Office 

space

Retail 

space

Hotel space Resi-

dental 

space

Industrial 

space

Storage 

space

Others Total 

Space 3)

Acquisition 

costs as at 

31.12.2008 

IFRS-Book 

values as at 

31.12.2008 

 2) 

IFRS Book 

values as at 

31.12.2007  
2)

Rental in-

come 2008 

– annualised

Level of 

commercial 

rental in %

Yield 

in % 
4)

PROPERTY ASSETS LET 1,733.7 791.1 87.5 74.1 55.8 40.8 248.3 86.8 1,384.4 2,591,323 2,520,674 2,243,527 157,572 95 % 6.3 %

Property assets let Austria

1010 Vienna Franz-Josefs-Kai 31–33 100 % 10/91 We 0.6 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 2,711 2,790 2,640 72 48 % 2.6 %

1020 Vienna Handelskai 388/DBC 100 % 09/00 9.4 19.9 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.5 1.0 1.0 23.2 51,577 33,600 37,400 1,376 57 % 4.1 %

1030 Vienna erdberger lände 26–32 100 % 09/04 66.4 60.9 2.7 0.0 0.0 13.9 4.6 0.0 82.1 125,668 109,500 130,500 9,383 100 % 8.6 %

1030 Vienna Rennweg 16 (Hotel, vermietetes Büro) 100 % 09/04 5.5 3.7 0.0 30.8 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 35.1 74,765 76,124 66,400 4,083 99 % 5.4 %

1030 Vienna landstraßer Hauptstraße 33/Czapkagasse 18 100 % 12/05 4.3 0.6 0.4 0.0 5.5 0.0 0.1 0.0 6.5 7,048 9,164 8,850 452 100 % 4.9 %

1030 Vienna Rüdengasse 11 100 % 05/03 1.1 4.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.7 9,032 8,000 8,300 555 100 % 6.9 %

1030 Vienna Galleria 100 % 12/05–05/08 We 4.6 13.7 0.0 1.9 0.0 0.9 1.8 23.0 55,043 56,537 56,439 2,923 78 % 5.2 %

1040 Vienna Wiedner Hauptstraße 23–25 100 % 07/89 1.2 1.9 0.9 1.5 1.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.8 7,877 9,800 10,100 477 97 % 4.9 %

1040 Vienna Große neugasse 36/Schäffergasse 18–20 100 % 12/89 1.0 0.0 0.6 0.0 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.8 7,228 7,400 7,400 365 89 % 4.9 %

1040 Vienna Rilkeplatz 5 100 % 05/03 0.5 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.7 6,397 6,700 6,900 469 100 % 7.0 %

1040 Vienna prinz-eugen-Straße 72 100 % 11/88 1.5 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 2.9 7,956 6,200 6,500 304 77 % 4.9 %

1040 Vienna Viktorgasse 26 100 % 07/07 0.3 0.0 0.2 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.4 3,045 2,371 2,929 104 75 % 4.4 %

1060 Vienna Mariahilfer Straße 17 100 % 07/07 0.7 2.6 0.5 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.2 0.0 3.5 17,007 16,234 16,428 715 82 % 4.4 %

1070 Vienna Siebensterngasse 20 100 % 08/87 0.7 0.0 0.5 0.0 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.3 1,707 3,690 3,720 140 95 % 3.8 %

1090 Vienna Mariannengasse 14 100 % 12/89 0.9 3.5 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.9 8,266 8,500 8,500 492 81 % 5.8 %

1090 Vienna Stroheckgasse 6 100 % 07/07 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 3,238 3,343 3,457 161 96 % 4.8 %

1090 Vienna Garnisongasse 22 100 % 07/07 0.4 0.2 0.0 0.0 1.2 0.0 0.2 0.0 1.6 3,480 3,307 3,355 104 59 % 3.1 %

1090 Vienna Brünnlbadgasse 3 100 % 07/07 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 3,451 3,305 3,225 161 90 % 4.9 %

1090 Vienna liechtensteinstraße 97 100 % 01/02 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5 1,388 2,220 2,250 113 89 % 5.1 %

1100 Vienna erlachgasse 92b 100 % 11/03 2.7 0.0 6.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.9 12,200 11,000 11,900 871 99 % 7.9 %

1110 Vienna Simmeringer Hauptstraße 99 100 % 12/05 7.5 0.2 1.2 0.0 2.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.5 3,673 3,200 3,830 212 85 % 6.6 %

1120 Vienna Wolfganggasse 58–60 100 % 11/00 7.3 18.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.0 0.4 20.9 40,414 25,730 31,900 1,552 84 % 6.0 %

1120 Vienna Schönbrunner Straße 247 100 % 12/05 1.0 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.9 7,770 8,182 8,075 565 97 % 6.9 %

1150 Vienna linke Wienzeile 234/Storchengasse 1 100 % 03/95 4.0 14.9 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 0.0 17.3 42,930 30,300 35,200 1,943 83 % 6.4 %

1150 Vienna Markgraf-Rüdiger-Str. 6–8 100 % 01/02 2.6 3.3 0.3 0.0 1.7 0.0 0.1 0.0 5.4 6,580 6,900 7,500 452 83 % 6.6 %

1150 Vienna Sparkassaplatz 6 100 % 05/03 0.8 2.2 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.4 4,211 3,710 3,910 293 100 % 7.9 %

1150 Vienna Hütteldorfer Straße 39–41 100 % 05/03 3.3 0.0 1.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.0 2,802 2,240 2,360 159 100 % 7.1 %

1170 Vienna Geblergasse 22–26 100 % 12/05 2.3 0.0 0.1 0.0 3.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.6 7,321 7,653 7,549 413 83 % 5.4 %

1190 Vienna Döblinger Hauptstraße 66 100 % 05/89 4.2 0.5 0.1 0.0 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.2 2.3 3,196 5,200 5,200 258 89 % 5.0 %

1190 Vienna Heiligenstädter Straße 51–53 100 % 05/89 1.1 1.7 1.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.0 5,036 4,100 4,240 265 96 % 6.5 %

1200 Vienna Klosterneuburger Straße 23–27 100 % 05/03 0.5 2.3 0.8 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.5 6,136 5,800 5,700 435 93 % 7.5 %

1200 Vienna Klosterneuburgers Straße 76 100 % 07/07 We 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 3,004 3,066 3,088 113 55 % 3.7 %

1210 Vienna Felmayergasse 2 100 % 12/05 6.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.4 0.0 0.0 3.4 2,156 2,175 2,183 159 100 % 7.3 %

1230 Vienna Zetschegasse 17 100 % 11/03 12.2 3.0 5.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.2 10,037 8,750 8,400 661 87 % 7.6 %

1230 Vienna Breitenfurter Straße 142–144 100 % 08/87 6.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.5 0.0 0.0 4.5 4,585 4,200 4,500 491 100 % 11.7 %

2201 Seyring Brünner Straße 160 100 % 11/04 17.4 1.0 4.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.7 0.0 13.0 14,346 17,100 12,700 1,238 100 % 7.2 %

4020 linz Schubertstraße 14–20 100 % 02/90 3.1 0.4 0.2 0.0 2.4 0.0 0.1 0.0 3.1 5,935 5,200 5,800 310 92 % 6.0 %

4020 linz Goethestraße 7 100 % 01/02 1.4 1.1 0.3 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.1 0.1 2.4 2,957 3,300 3,310 173 72 % 5.2 %

4020 linz promenade 22 100 % 12/05 0.8 0.5 0.9 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.1 2,082 2,178 2,096 117 80 % 5.4 %

4600 Wels Kaiser-Josef-platz 49 100 % 12/05 1.7 1.2 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 2,213 2,325 2,253 142 91 % 6.1 %

4614 Marchtrenk Freilinger Straße 44 100 % 01/88 16.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.4 0.0 0.0 8.4 5,133 4,240 2,130 252 100 % 5.9 %

5020 Salzburg AVA Hof – Ferdinand-Hanusch-platz 1 100 % 01/02 3.6 4.9 3.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.1 0.8 8.9 21,609 23,000 23,100 1,328 97 % 5.8 %

5020 Salzburg Getreidegasse 34–36/Griessgasse 100 % 12/05 4.1 0.2 3.4 0.0 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.5 14,959 17,011 16,959 1,076 99 % 6.3 %

5020 Salzburg Rathausplatz 2 100 % 05/03 0.4 0.0 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.8 10,000 8,000 10,000 459 100 % 5.7 %

5020 Salzburg Fürbergstraße 18–20 100 % 12/05 We 2.9 3.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.6 0.0 6.7 8,888 7,869 8,320 283 50 % 3.6 %
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plot size in 1,000 sqm      Values in € 1,000

Post-

code

City Address Share Additions 

Month/Year

Plot 1) Office 

space

Retail 

space

Hotel space Resi-

dental 

space

Industrial 

space

Storage 

space

Others Total 

Space 3)

Acquisition 

costs as at 

31.12.2008 

IFRS-Book 

values as at 

31.12.2008 

 2) 

IFRS Book 

values as at 

31.12.2007  
2)

Rental in-

come 2008 

– annualised

Level of 

commercial 

rental in %

Yield 

in % 
4)

5020 Salzburg Innsbrucker Bundesstraße 47 100 % 12/05 We 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 3.3 4,512 4,037 4,096 184 56 % 4.6 %

5020 Salzburg linzer Gasse 9 100 % 12/05 1.1 0.0 0.3 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.0 4,172 3,697 4,216 253 59 % 6.9 %

5020 Salzburg Julius-Welser-Straße 15 100 % 05/03 2.7 3.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 3.4 3,623 3,120 2,990 252 100 % 8.1 %

5020 Salzburg Sigmund-Haffner-Gasse 12 100 % 12/05 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 2,816 3,006 3,002 197 100 % 6.6 %

5020 Salzburg Ignaz-Harrer-Straße 59 100 % 01/90 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 3,613 2,000 2,600 145 91 % 7.3 %

8010 Graz Schießstattgasse 10 100 % 12/05 3.4 0.0 0.2 0.0 4.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.3 6,592 7,009 6,841 408 87 % 5.8 %

9020 Klagenfurt Völkermarkter Straße 140 100 % 12/90 11.2 0.0 7.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.3 10,816 11,200 12,200 819 100 % 7.3 %

9020 Klagenfurt Fallegasse 7 100 % 12/05 9.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.8 0.0 0.0 3.8 2,900 2,900 2,900 353 100 % 12.2 %

22 realties with properties built on third land 333.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 89,723 90,540 95,245 4,852 100 % 5.4 %

41 properties with an IFRS Book value < 2 m Euro 113.0 4.9 6.7 0.0 10.2 6.3 0.5 0.0 28.6 31,873 29,215 32,345 1,754 84 % 6.0 %

Property assets let Austria total 681.9 181.4 73.1 35.0 51.9 40.8 21.6 4.4 408.2 807,701 747,938 783,931 45,890 90 % 6.1 %

Property assets let Germany

10115 Berlin ämtergebäude Invalidenstraße 130/131 100 % 01/08 1.4 3.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.1 5,300 5,280 0 444 100 % 8.4 %

10117 Berlin Mitte, Römischer Hof 100 % 01/08 2.2 7.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 7.9 54,618 50,000 0 2,741 99 % 5.5 %

10785 Berlin Kreuzberg, Königliche Direktion (Schöneberger ufer) 100 % 01/08 13.1 23.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 23.8 36,289 33,000 0 2,436 100 % 7.4 %

10963 Berlin projektgesellschaft Hallesches ufer 100 % 01/08 17.0 11.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 11.5 16,513 15,000 0 1,224 100 % 8.2 %

12277 Berlin Marienfelde, Buckower Chaussee 43–58 100 % 01/08 44.9 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 17.0 8.8 27.6 6,933 6,000 0 792 99 % 13.2 %

48143 Münster ämtergebäude 100 % 01/08 1.1 2.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 2.7 2,020 1,200 0 126 97 % 10.5 %

50668 Cologne parkhaus Rheintriadem 100 % 01/08 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3,563 4,060 0 379 100 % 9.3 %

50668 Cologne Johannisstraße 60 und 64 100 % 01/08 2.1 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 2.8 11,601 11,800 0 644 95 % 5.5 %

50669 Cologne Rheinpalais (ehemaliges K2) 100 % 01/08 2.8 6.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.7 20,191 19,968 0 859 80 % 4.3 %

50670 Cologne RheinAtrium (ehemaliges K3) 100 % 01/08 1.7 7.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.5 25,016 25,000 0 1,450 100 % 5.8 %

70174 Stuttgart Heilbronner Straße 7/Jägerstraße 17 (ehem. BD) 100 % 01/08 13.4 23.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 23.9 18,488 18,232 0 2,054 100 % 11.3 %

80335 Munich Arnulfpark, VeluM (ehemaliges Baufeld MI 1) 100 % 01/08 4.3 0.9 1.4 0.0 1.8 0.0 0.2 0.0 4.3 15,233 13,872 0 863 100 % 6.2 %

81243 Munich erbbaurecht Berga, Bodenseestraße 229 100 % 01/08 7.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.1 7.1 3,140 3,140 0 226 100 % 7.2 %

D Hamburg H&M logistikcenter 100 % 07/07 146.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 114.8 0.0 114.8 118,772 112,000 0 6,960 100 % 6.2 %

D Berlin Alt-Moabit 103, 104; Kirchstraße 6,7 und 12 (Spreebogen) 100 % 10/07 7.9 34.3 0.5 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0 35.6 106,018 99,796 106,000 6,235 94 % 6.2 %

D Kassel Frankfurter Straße 9 + 11 100 % 01/07 13.3 28.3 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 4.1 2.3 34.9 83,752 82,400 83,800 4,373 100 % 5.3 %

D Wiesbaden Schönbergstraße 100 100 % 01/07 110.2 33.8 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 5.6 5.9 45.5 80,441 77,700 82,900 4,573 100 % 5.9 %

D Gießen Schubertstraße 60 100 % 01/07 74.4 20.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.6 6.2 32.2 61,435 55,100 59,100 3,020 100 % 5.5 %

D Mainz-Kastel Wiesbadener Straße 99–103 100 % 01/07 52.8 23.6 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 6.7 6.4 36.7 51,134 48,900 51,800 3,197 100 % 6.5 %

D Gießen Ferniestraße 8 100 % 01/07 29.9 10.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.0 2.1 14.8 46,234 43,480 44,500 2,070 100 % 4.8 %

D Fulda Washingtonallee 1–6 / Severingstraße 1–5 100 % 01/07 48.0 18.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.5 3.6 27.2 41,800 38,757 41,650 2,331 100 % 6.0 %

D Gießen Gutfleischstr. 1 / Marburger Str. 2–4 / ostanlage 7, 15, 17, 19 100 % 01/07 20.6 18.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.9 1.9 25.0 44,911 42,400 45,400 2,246 100 % 5.3 %

D Wiesbaden Kaiser-Friedrich-Ring 75 100 % 01/07 12.3 12.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.0 1.0 16.4 44,635 43,600 44,700 2,178 100 % 5.0 %

D Marburg Robert Koch Straße 5–17 100 % 01/07 27.9 19.7 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 4.1 3.0 27.0 30,926 31,500 31,500 1,957 100 % 6.2 %

D Wiesbaden Mosbacher Straße 55 100 % 01/07 11.0 3.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 11.5 0.3 15.3 24,567 25,000 25,300 1,319 100 % 5.3 %

D Wiesbaden Schaperstraße 16,19 100 % 01/07 9.7 8.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.9 0.8 11.5 23,543 22,100 23,700 1,244 100 % 5.6 %

D Wiesbaden Willy-Brandt-Allee 20–22 100 % 01/07 26.2 6.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.0 1.9 12.6 22,522 20,400 22,600 1,197 100 % 5.9 %

D Wiesbaden Rheinstraße 35–37 100 % 01/07 4.2 6.5 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.0 0.8 8.4 18,426 18,800 19,700 1,028 100 % 5.5 %

D Wiesbaden luisenplatz 5 + 10 100 % 01/07 4.4 5.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.5 6.6 18,234 16,900 18,200 810 100 % 4.8 %

D Darmstadt Steubenplatz 14 100 % 01/07 5.6 5.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.3 6.7 15,869 16,800 17,100 854 100 % 5.1 %

D Hofheim nordring 4–10 100 % 01/07 12.0 6.7 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 2.0 0.5 9.3 15,569 16,400 16,700 932 100 % 5.7 %

D Berlin Joachimsthalerstraße 20 100 % 03/07 1.4 4.1 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 4.6 13,837 11,070 12,950 678 84 % 6.1 %

D Marburg universitätsstraße 48–50 100 % 01/07 10.0 6.7 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 1.3 0.9 9.2 13,744 12,600 13,700 728 100 % 5.8 %

D Wetzlar Schanzenfeldstraße 8 100 % 01/07 20.4 7.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 2.6 10.9 13,872 10,700 12,900 720 100 % 6.7 %

D Marburg Raiffeisenstraße 1+7 100 % 01/07 20.7 8.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 1.1 10.5 11,972 12,000 12,800 695 100 % 5.8 %

D Bensheim Berliner Ring 35 100 % 01/07 12.3 5.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.3 7.4 11,270 11,600 12,000 649 100 % 5.6 %

D Bad Homburg Auf der Steinkaut 10–12 100 % 01/07 6.4 3.6 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 1.2 0.3 5.3 12,293 11,000 11,500 636 100 % 5.8 %
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5020 Salzburg Innsbrucker Bundesstraße 47 100 % 12/05 We 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 3.3 4,512 4,037 4,096 184 56 % 4.6 %

5020 Salzburg linzer Gasse 9 100 % 12/05 1.1 0.0 0.3 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.0 4,172 3,697 4,216 253 59 % 6.9 %

5020 Salzburg Julius-Welser-Straße 15 100 % 05/03 2.7 3.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 3.4 3,623 3,120 2,990 252 100 % 8.1 %

5020 Salzburg Sigmund-Haffner-Gasse 12 100 % 12/05 0.4 0.3 0.4 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 2,816 3,006 3,002 197 100 % 6.6 %

5020 Salzburg Ignaz-Harrer-Straße 59 100 % 01/90 0.4 0.3 0.3 0.0 0.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 3,613 2,000 2,600 145 91 % 7.3 %

8010 Graz Schießstattgasse 10 100 % 12/05 3.4 0.0 0.2 0.0 4.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.3 6,592 7,009 6,841 408 87 % 5.8 %

9020 Klagenfurt Völkermarkter Straße 140 100 % 12/90 11.2 0.0 7.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.3 10,816 11,200 12,200 819 100 % 7.3 %

9020 Klagenfurt Fallegasse 7 100 % 12/05 9.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.8 0.0 0.0 3.8 2,900 2,900 2,900 353 100 % 12.2 %

22 realties with properties built on third land 333.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 89,723 90,540 95,245 4,852 100 % 5.4 %

41 properties with an IFRS Book value < 2 m Euro 113.0 4.9 6.7 0.0 10.2 6.3 0.5 0.0 28.6 31,873 29,215 32,345 1,754 84 % 6.0 %

Property assets let Austria total 681.9 181.4 73.1 35.0 51.9 40.8 21.6 4.4 408.2 807,701 747,938 783,931 45,890 90 % 6.1 %

Property assets let Germany

10115 Berlin ämtergebäude Invalidenstraße 130/131 100 % 01/08 1.4 3.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.1 5,300 5,280 0 444 100 % 8.4 %

10117 Berlin Mitte, Römischer Hof 100 % 01/08 2.2 7.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 7.9 54,618 50,000 0 2,741 99 % 5.5 %

10785 Berlin Kreuzberg, Königliche Direktion (Schöneberger ufer) 100 % 01/08 13.1 23.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 23.8 36,289 33,000 0 2,436 100 % 7.4 %

10963 Berlin projektgesellschaft Hallesches ufer 100 % 01/08 17.0 11.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 11.5 16,513 15,000 0 1,224 100 % 8.2 %

12277 Berlin Marienfelde, Buckower Chaussee 43–58 100 % 01/08 44.9 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 17.0 8.8 27.6 6,933 6,000 0 792 99 % 13.2 %

48143 Münster ämtergebäude 100 % 01/08 1.1 2.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 2.7 2,020 1,200 0 126 97 % 10.5 %

50668 Cologne parkhaus Rheintriadem 100 % 01/08 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3,563 4,060 0 379 100 % 9.3 %

50668 Cologne Johannisstraße 60 und 64 100 % 01/08 2.1 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 2.8 11,601 11,800 0 644 95 % 5.5 %

50669 Cologne Rheinpalais (ehemaliges K2) 100 % 01/08 2.8 6.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.7 20,191 19,968 0 859 80 % 4.3 %

50670 Cologne RheinAtrium (ehemaliges K3) 100 % 01/08 1.7 7.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.5 25,016 25,000 0 1,450 100 % 5.8 %

70174 Stuttgart Heilbronner Straße 7/Jägerstraße 17 (ehem. BD) 100 % 01/08 13.4 23.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 23.9 18,488 18,232 0 2,054 100 % 11.3 %

80335 Munich Arnulfpark, VeluM (ehemaliges Baufeld MI 1) 100 % 01/08 4.3 0.9 1.4 0.0 1.8 0.0 0.2 0.0 4.3 15,233 13,872 0 863 100 % 6.2 %

81243 Munich erbbaurecht Berga, Bodenseestraße 229 100 % 01/08 7.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.1 7.1 3,140 3,140 0 226 100 % 7.2 %

D Hamburg H&M logistikcenter 100 % 07/07 146.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 114.8 0.0 114.8 118,772 112,000 0 6,960 100 % 6.2 %

D Berlin Alt-Moabit 103, 104; Kirchstraße 6,7 und 12 (Spreebogen) 100 % 10/07 7.9 34.3 0.5 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.4 0.0 35.6 106,018 99,796 106,000 6,235 94 % 6.2 %

D Kassel Frankfurter Straße 9 + 11 100 % 01/07 13.3 28.3 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 4.1 2.3 34.9 83,752 82,400 83,800 4,373 100 % 5.3 %

D Wiesbaden Schönbergstraße 100 100 % 01/07 110.2 33.8 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 5.6 5.9 45.5 80,441 77,700 82,900 4,573 100 % 5.9 %

D Gießen Schubertstraße 60 100 % 01/07 74.4 20.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.6 6.2 32.2 61,435 55,100 59,100 3,020 100 % 5.5 %

D Mainz-Kastel Wiesbadener Straße 99–103 100 % 01/07 52.8 23.6 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 6.7 6.4 36.7 51,134 48,900 51,800 3,197 100 % 6.5 %

D Gießen Ferniestraße 8 100 % 01/07 29.9 10.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.0 2.1 14.8 46,234 43,480 44,500 2,070 100 % 4.8 %

D Fulda Washingtonallee 1–6 / Severingstraße 1–5 100 % 01/07 48.0 18.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.5 3.6 27.2 41,800 38,757 41,650 2,331 100 % 6.0 %

D Gießen Gutfleischstr. 1 / Marburger Str. 2–4 / ostanlage 7, 15, 17, 19 100 % 01/07 20.6 18.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.9 1.9 25.0 44,911 42,400 45,400 2,246 100 % 5.3 %

D Wiesbaden Kaiser-Friedrich-Ring 75 100 % 01/07 12.3 12.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.0 1.0 16.4 44,635 43,600 44,700 2,178 100 % 5.0 %

D Marburg Robert Koch Straße 5–17 100 % 01/07 27.9 19.7 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 4.1 3.0 27.0 30,926 31,500 31,500 1,957 100 % 6.2 %

D Wiesbaden Mosbacher Straße 55 100 % 01/07 11.0 3.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 11.5 0.3 15.3 24,567 25,000 25,300 1,319 100 % 5.3 %

D Wiesbaden Schaperstraße 16,19 100 % 01/07 9.7 8.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.9 0.8 11.5 23,543 22,100 23,700 1,244 100 % 5.6 %

D Wiesbaden Willy-Brandt-Allee 20–22 100 % 01/07 26.2 6.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.0 1.9 12.6 22,522 20,400 22,600 1,197 100 % 5.9 %

D Wiesbaden Rheinstraße 35–37 100 % 01/07 4.2 6.5 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.0 0.8 8.4 18,426 18,800 19,700 1,028 100 % 5.5 %

D Wiesbaden luisenplatz 5 + 10 100 % 01/07 4.4 5.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.5 6.6 18,234 16,900 18,200 810 100 % 4.8 %

D Darmstadt Steubenplatz 14 100 % 01/07 5.6 5.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.3 6.7 15,869 16,800 17,100 854 100 % 5.1 %

D Hofheim nordring 4–10 100 % 01/07 12.0 6.7 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 2.0 0.5 9.3 15,569 16,400 16,700 932 100 % 5.7 %

D Berlin Joachimsthalerstraße 20 100 % 03/07 1.4 4.1 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 4.6 13,837 11,070 12,950 678 84 % 6.1 %

D Marburg universitätsstraße 48–50 100 % 01/07 10.0 6.7 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 1.3 0.9 9.2 13,744 12,600 13,700 728 100 % 5.8 %

D Wetzlar Schanzenfeldstraße 8 100 % 01/07 20.4 7.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 2.6 10.9 13,872 10,700 12,900 720 100 % 6.7 %

D Marburg Raiffeisenstraße 1+7 100 % 01/07 20.7 8.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 1.1 10.5 11,972 12,000 12,800 695 100 % 5.8 %

D Bensheim Berliner Ring 35 100 % 01/07 12.3 5.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.3 7.4 11,270 11,600 12,000 649 100 % 5.6 %

D Bad Homburg Auf der Steinkaut 10–12 100 % 01/07 6.4 3.6 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 1.2 0.3 5.3 12,293 11,000 11,500 636 100 % 5.8 %
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D Kassel Friedrich-ebert-Straße 104–106 100 % 01/07 18.7 6.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.8 8.1 9,887 10,600 10,900 561 100 % 5.3 %

D Rüsselsheim eisenstraße 60 100 % 01/07 10.0 3.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.4 5.1 12,206 8,650 9,800 518 100 % 6.0 %

D Rüsselsheim Johann-Sebastian-Bach-Straße 45 100 % 01/07 6.7 3.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.3 4.9 7,768 8,850 9,200 405 100 % 4.6 %

D Idstein Gerichtstraße 1 + 3 100 % 01/07 4.4 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.4 3.8 8,619 8,250 8,600 457 100 % 5.5 %

D Kassel Vor dem osterholz 10–14 (logistikpark) 100 % 07/07 19.9 7.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.8 0.0 11.5 8,004 7,740 7,300 484 100 % 6.3 %

D Bad Hersfeld Hubertusweg 19 100 % 01/07 7.8 5.8 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.2 0.4 7.5 7,846 6,900 7,700 472 100 % 6.8 %

D Michelstadt erbacher Straße 46, 47, 48 100 % 01/07 15.5 4.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 0.6 6.7 7,493 6,200 7,000 425 100 % 6.9 %

D Düsseldorf neuss Sperberweg 6 100 % 05/03 12.0 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.3 0.0 6.5 8,317 6,504 6,554 324 74 % 5.0 %

D Friedberg Homburger Str. 18 100 % 01/07 8.2 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 0.3 4.6 5,312 4,900 5,600 320 100 % 6.5 %

D Hofheim Zeilsheimer Straße 59 100 % 01/07 11.2 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.4 2.9 5,634 4,500 5,600 310 100 % 6.9 %

D Gießen leihgesterner Weg 52 100 % 01/07 5.1 2.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.1 3.7 4,436 5,000 4,700 273 100 % 5.5 %

D Bad Hersfeld Kleine Industriestraße 3 100 % 01/07 6.9 3.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.5 4.6 4,612 4,050 4,500 264 100 % 6.5 %

D Korbach Medebacher landstraße 29 100 % 01/07 8.6 3.6 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.7 0.4 4.9 4,148 3,650 4,000 245 100 % 6.7 %

D Hofgeißmar neue Straße 21 100 % 01/07 8.9 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.4 4.3 3,484 2,500 3,600 222 100 % 8.9 %

D Homberg/efze August-Vilmar-Straße 20 100 % 01/07 13.0 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.7 3.9 3,924 2,950 3,500 211 100 % 7.1 %

D Kassel Knorrstraße 32, 34 100 % 01/07 11.3 2.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.9 3.6 2,911 2,800 3,100 228 100 % 8.2 %

D Wiesbaden Willy-Brandt-Allee 2 100 % 01/07 2.1 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.7 1.7 3,583 2,950 3,300 179 100 % 6.1 %

Property assets let Germany total 970.4 449.8 2.3 0.0 3.9 0.0 223.7 65.7 745.4 1,252,864 1,184,549 915,454 70,768 99 % 6.0 %

Property assets let Eastern and South East Europe

BG Sofia Mladost office Building 100 % 03/03 5.7 3.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 4.0 9,028 9,085 11,675 1,281 100 % 14.1 %

BG Sofia Mladost II 100 % 05/06 2.9 6.9 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 7.2 16,383 16,120 18,160 1,504 100 % 9.3 %

CZ prague eCM Airport Center 100 % 07/05 e 0.0 3.5 13.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 17.7 41,503 51,660 60,250 3,501 97 % 6.8 %

CZ prague english International School 100 % 10/07 24.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.8 6.8 12,972 11,580 12,960 739 100 % 6.4 %

H Budapest Víziváros office Center 100 % 09/05 4.0 11.7 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 13.4 25,847 33,770 37,428 2,439 97 % 7.2 %

H Budapest R70 office Complex 100 % 06/03 3.9 16.1 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 18.0 29,161 33,780 39,634 2,575 83 % 7.6 %

H Budapest Buda Business Center 100 % 09/05 1.8 5.5 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 6.1 11,849 9,870 11,145 824 73 % 8.3 %

H Budapest Canada Square 100 % 07/05 1.4 5.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 5.3 12,174 13,700 15,117 1,038 98 % 7.6 %

H Budapest Bártok Ház 100 % 08/05 3.7 14.3 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 17.1 43,909 47,690 52,800 3,529 99 % 7.4 %

pl Warsaw Wspolna 100 % 11/01 e 6.2 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 7.1 20,409 22,520 20,360 1,460 98 % 6.5 %

pl Warsaw Warsaw Financial Center 50 % 09/05 1.3 23.2 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 24.9 71,173 96,260 85,942 5,477 82 % 5.7 %

CZ pilsen Hotel Diplomat 100 % 08/08 2.9 3.9 0.0 10.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 14.3 27,148 27,980 0 2,442 100 % 8.7 %

Ro Bucharest opera Center 1 100 % 09/03 2.6 10.3 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 11.5 23,379 37,678 36,293 2,625 100 % 7.0 %

Ro Bucharest opera Center 2 100 % 03/04 0.8 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 3.3 6,345 10,344 10,018 697 100 % 6.7 %

Ro Bucharest Bucharest Business park 100 % 10/05 15.7 23.8 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.9 25.8 61,657 67,630 81,365 5,355 100 % 7.9 %

SRB Belgrade Belgrade office park 100 % 12/07 e 8.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 0.0 10.1 29,285 26,000 0 1,998 92 % 7.7 %

SRB Belgrade Belgrade office park 2 6) 100 % 12/07 e 9.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.3 11.1 26,771 26,540 0 0

SK Bratislava BBC 100 % 01/00 7.9 7.3 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 9.3 19,414 12,870 16,525 1,278 91 % 9.9 %

SI laibach Austria trend Hotel 100 % 04/05 2.9 0.0 2.6 15.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 17.9 42,351 33,110 34,470 2,154 100 % 6.5 %

Property assets let Eastern and South East Europe total 81.4 160.0 12.1 39.1 0.0 0.0 3.0 16.7 230.8 530,758 588,187 544,142 40,914 94 % 7.3 %

PROPERTY ASSETS UNDER DEVELOPMENT 4,408.7 270.0 194.0 181.4 7.1 2.9 17.3 18.4 691.1 1,191,864 1,079,821 207,081 10,031

Land reserve Austria

1020 Vienna praterstraße 10 / Ferdinandstraße 1 100 % 07/07 0.3 2,069 1,547 2,069 0

1020 Vienna lilienbrunngasse 13–15 100 % 07/07 1.2 3,718 2,737 3,390 0

1020 Vienna Rembrandtstraße 21 100 % 07/07 0.7 3,980 2,646 3,306 0

1020 Vienna Vorgartenstraße 200 100 % 07/07 0.5 1,390 680 996 3

1060 Vienna Millergasse 22 100 % 07/07 0.5 1,190 993 1,190 0

1060 Vienna Webgasse 9 100 % 07/07 1.7 5,830 3,533 5,368 1
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D Kassel Friedrich-ebert-Straße 104–106 100 % 01/07 18.7 6.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.8 8.1 9,887 10,600 10,900 561 100 % 5.3 %

D Rüsselsheim eisenstraße 60 100 % 01/07 10.0 3.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.8 0.4 5.1 12,206 8,650 9,800 518 100 % 6.0 %

D Rüsselsheim Johann-Sebastian-Bach-Straße 45 100 % 01/07 6.7 3.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.3 4.9 7,768 8,850 9,200 405 100 % 4.6 %

D Idstein Gerichtstraße 1 + 3 100 % 01/07 4.4 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.4 3.8 8,619 8,250 8,600 457 100 % 5.5 %

D Kassel Vor dem osterholz 10–14 (logistikpark) 100 % 07/07 19.9 7.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.8 0.0 11.5 8,004 7,740 7,300 484 100 % 6.3 %

D Bad Hersfeld Hubertusweg 19 100 % 01/07 7.8 5.8 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 1.2 0.4 7.5 7,846 6,900 7,700 472 100 % 6.8 %

D Michelstadt erbacher Straße 46, 47, 48 100 % 01/07 15.5 4.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 0.6 6.7 7,493 6,200 7,000 425 100 % 6.9 %

D Düsseldorf neuss Sperberweg 6 100 % 05/03 12.0 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.3 0.0 6.5 8,317 6,504 6,554 324 74 % 5.0 %

D Friedberg Homburger Str. 18 100 % 01/07 8.2 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 0.3 4.6 5,312 4,900 5,600 320 100 % 6.5 %

D Hofheim Zeilsheimer Straße 59 100 % 01/07 11.2 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.4 2.9 5,634 4,500 5,600 310 100 % 6.9 %

D Gießen leihgesterner Weg 52 100 % 01/07 5.1 2.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 0.1 3.7 4,436 5,000 4,700 273 100 % 5.5 %

D Bad Hersfeld Kleine Industriestraße 3 100 % 01/07 6.9 3.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.5 4.6 4,612 4,050 4,500 264 100 % 6.5 %

D Korbach Medebacher landstraße 29 100 % 01/07 8.6 3.6 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.7 0.4 4.9 4,148 3,650 4,000 245 100 % 6.7 %

D Hofgeißmar neue Straße 21 100 % 01/07 8.9 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.4 4.3 3,484 2,500 3,600 222 100 % 8.9 %

D Homberg/efze August-Vilmar-Straße 20 100 % 01/07 13.0 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.7 3.9 3,924 2,950 3,500 211 100 % 7.1 %

D Kassel Knorrstraße 32, 34 100 % 01/07 11.3 2.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.9 3.6 2,911 2,800 3,100 228 100 % 8.2 %

D Wiesbaden Willy-Brandt-Allee 2 100 % 01/07 2.1 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.7 1.7 3,583 2,950 3,300 179 100 % 6.1 %

Property assets let Germany total 970.4 449.8 2.3 0.0 3.9 0.0 223.7 65.7 745.4 1,252,864 1,184,549 915,454 70,768 99 % 6.0 %

Property assets let Eastern and South East Europe

BG Sofia Mladost office Building 100 % 03/03 5.7 3.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 4.0 9,028 9,085 11,675 1,281 100 % 14.1 %

BG Sofia Mladost II 100 % 05/06 2.9 6.9 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 7.2 16,383 16,120 18,160 1,504 100 % 9.3 %

CZ prague eCM Airport Center 100 % 07/05 e 0.0 3.5 13.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 17.7 41,503 51,660 60,250 3,501 97 % 6.8 %

CZ prague english International School 100 % 10/07 24.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.8 6.8 12,972 11,580 12,960 739 100 % 6.4 %

H Budapest Víziváros office Center 100 % 09/05 4.0 11.7 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 13.4 25,847 33,770 37,428 2,439 97 % 7.2 %

H Budapest R70 office Complex 100 % 06/03 3.9 16.1 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.6 18.0 29,161 33,780 39,634 2,575 83 % 7.6 %

H Budapest Buda Business Center 100 % 09/05 1.8 5.5 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 6.1 11,849 9,870 11,145 824 73 % 8.3 %

H Budapest Canada Square 100 % 07/05 1.4 5.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.4 0.0 5.3 12,174 13,700 15,117 1,038 98 % 7.6 %

H Budapest Bártok Ház 100 % 08/05 3.7 14.3 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 17.1 43,909 47,690 52,800 3,529 99 % 7.4 %

pl Warsaw Wspolna 100 % 11/01 e 6.2 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 7.1 20,409 22,520 20,360 1,460 98 % 6.5 %

pl Warsaw Warsaw Financial Center 50 % 09/05 1.3 23.2 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 24.9 71,173 96,260 85,942 5,477 82 % 5.7 %

CZ pilsen Hotel Diplomat 100 % 08/08 2.9 3.9 0.0 10.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 14.3 27,148 27,980 0 2,442 100 % 8.7 %

Ro Bucharest opera Center 1 100 % 09/03 2.6 10.3 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 11.5 23,379 37,678 36,293 2,625 100 % 7.0 %

Ro Bucharest opera Center 2 100 % 03/04 0.8 3.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 3.3 6,345 10,344 10,018 697 100 % 6.7 %

Ro Bucharest Bucharest Business park 100 % 10/05 15.7 23.8 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.9 25.8 61,657 67,630 81,365 5,355 100 % 7.9 %

SRB Belgrade Belgrade office park 100 % 12/07 e 8.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 0.0 10.1 29,285 26,000 0 1,998 92 % 7.7 %

SRB Belgrade Belgrade office park 2 6) 100 % 12/07 e 9.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.3 11.1 26,771 26,540 0 0

SK Bratislava BBC 100 % 01/00 7.9 7.3 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 9.3 19,414 12,870 16,525 1,278 91 % 9.9 %

SI laibach Austria trend Hotel 100 % 04/05 2.9 0.0 2.6 15.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 17.9 42,351 33,110 34,470 2,154 100 % 6.5 %

Property assets let Eastern and South East Europe total 81.4 160.0 12.1 39.1 0.0 0.0 3.0 16.7 230.8 530,758 588,187 544,142 40,914 94 % 7.3 %

PROPERTY ASSETS UNDER DEVELOPMENT 4,408.7 270.0 194.0 181.4 7.1 2.9 17.3 18.4 691.1 1,191,864 1,079,821 207,081 10,031

Land reserve Austria

1020 Vienna praterstraße 10 / Ferdinandstraße 1 100 % 07/07 0.3 2,069 1,547 2,069 0

1020 Vienna lilienbrunngasse 13–15 100 % 07/07 1.2 3,718 2,737 3,390 0

1020 Vienna Rembrandtstraße 21 100 % 07/07 0.7 3,980 2,646 3,306 0

1020 Vienna Vorgartenstraße 200 100 % 07/07 0.5 1,390 680 996 3

1060 Vienna Millergasse 22 100 % 07/07 0.5 1,190 993 1,190 0

1060 Vienna Webgasse 9 100 % 07/07 1.7 5,830 3,533 5,368 1
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plot size in 1,000 sqm      Values in € 1,000

Post-

code

City Address Share Additions 

Month/Year

Plot 1) Office 

space

Retail 

space

Hotel space Resi-

dental 

space

Industrial 

space

Storage 

space

Others Total 

Space 3)

Acquisition 

costs as at 

31.12.2008 

IFRS-Book 

values as at 

31.12.2008 

 2) 

IFRS Book 

values as at 

31.12.2007  
2)

Rental in-

come 2008 

– annualised

Level of 

commercial 

rental in %

Yield 

in % 
4)

1090 Vienna Beethovengasse 6–8 100 % 07/07 1.4 3,094 3,094 3,094 5

1180 Vienna Gersthofer Straße 122 100 % 07/07 0.6 1,017 1,017 1,017 0

1190 Vienna Muthgasse 42–48 100 % 04/02 14.5 23,603 17,900 23,297 6

Land reserve Austria total 21.5 45,891 34,147 43,728 15

Actual projects Austria

1030 Vienna Rennweg 16 (Büros) 100 % 09/04 0 0 22,493 0

1120 Vienna Altmannsdorfers Straße 80–84 100 % 07/07 3.9 0.0 0.0 9.3 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 10.4 12,219 5,316 11,294 30

1180 Vienna theresiengasse 36 100 % 12/05 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 1,181 1,185 1,180 67

Actual projects Austria total 4.3 0.0 0.0 9.3 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 11.5 13,399 6,501 34,966 97

Land reserve Germany

10557 Berlin tiergarten, entwicklungsgebiet Heidestraße 100 % 01/08 173.3 45,005 44,638 0 1,488

10557 Berlin tiergarten, lehrter Stadtquartier 8 100 % 01/08 1.6 33,954 32,822 0 0

10557 Berlin tiergarten, lehrter Stadtquartier 9 100 % 01/08 1.8 19,618 17,598 0 6

10557 Berlin tiergarten, Invalidenstraße 51/52 am Kanal 100 % 01/08 19.3 4,680 4,676 0 0

10963 Berlin Kreuzberg, Gleisdreieck 100 % 01/08 170.3 35,369 35,369 0 789

12207 Berlin lichterfelde, landweg, osdorfer Straße, Reaumurstraße 100 % 01/08 965.2 4,373 4,361 0 291

13355 Berlin Wedding, Brunnenstr., Gbhf. nordend, S-Bhf. Gesundbrunnen 100 % 01/08 105.7 8,650 8,650 0 496

13589 Berlin tiergarten, lehrter Gbf 100 % 01/08 46.8 2,970 2,970 0 112

40210 Düsseldorf Harkortstraße 100 % 01/08 13.1 6,043 5,944 0 187

40211 Düsseldorf Schirmerstraße 100 % 01/08 5.9 2,634 2,634 0 6

40227 Düsseldorf Mindener Straße 100 % 01/08 54.1 3,392 3,392 0 152

40545 Düsseldorf Belsenpark oberkassel 100 % 01/08 81.7 19,404 17,000 0 102

60327 Frankfurt ueC tower 1 100 % 01/08 3.7 26,026 26,000 0 0

60327 Frankfurt Mannheimer Straße 35 (Khasana-Gelände) 100 % 01/08 8.3 8,870 8,870 0 1,221

60327 Frankfurt Idsteiner Straße 100 % 01/08 56.9 8,819 8,819 0 1

60327 Frankfurt europaallee nord 2 100 % 01/08 6.1 8,731 8,000 0 0

60327 Frankfurt europaallee nord 3 100 % 01/08 5.7 10,692 8,500 0 0

60327 Frankfurt europaallee nord 4 100 % 01/08 0.9 2,284 2,284 0 0

60327 Frankfurt europaallee Süd 1 100 % 01/08 7.9 15,914 13,000 0 1

60327 Frankfurt europaallee Süd 6 100 % 01/08 4.4 9,559 7,610 0 0

60327 Frankfurt FFM, tower 365 100 % 01/08 13.1 75,292 73,600 0 0

80335 Munich Schlossviertel nymphenburg 100 % 01/08 238.5 36,344 36,344 0 57

80335 Munich laim 290 100 % 01/08 16.1 8,050 8,050 0 444

80939 Munich Bf Freimann I 100 % 01/08 37.9 4,290 4,290 0 363

80993 Munich eggartensiedlung 100 % 01/08 146.6 13,685 13,685 0 5

80993 Munich ladehof Moosach 100 % 01/08 36.9 10,407 9,500 0 55

81241 Munich Gleisdreieck pasing 100 % 01/08 223.8 12,239 12,239 0 403

81379 Munich Isargärten thalkirchen 50 % 01/08 23.6 11,003 11,003 0 28

81673 Munich Bw München 4 100 % 01/08 124.5 11,869 11,869 0 75

85622 Feldkirchen/München naherholungsgebiet “Heimstettener See” 100 % 01/08 452.0 2,248 2,248 0 152

D Gießen Ferniestraße 8 100 % 01/07 0.0 7,520 7,520 7,520 0

D Fulda Severingstraße 7–9 100 % 01/07 0.0 11,443 11,443 11,443 0

properties with an IFRS Book value < 2 m Euro 364.2 6,144 6,144 0 224

Land reserve Germany total 3,410.0 487,520 471,072 18,963 6,656

Actual projects Germany

10557 Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 100 % 01/08 13.1 3.6 3.5 76.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 83.8 69,107 62,900 0 26

50668 Cologne Rheinforum 100 % 01/08 5.2 0.0 0.0 33.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 33.6 4,393 4,320 0 0
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1090 Vienna Beethovengasse 6–8 100 % 07/07 1.4 3,094 3,094 3,094 5

1180 Vienna Gersthofer Straße 122 100 % 07/07 0.6 1,017 1,017 1,017 0

1190 Vienna Muthgasse 42–48 100 % 04/02 14.5 23,603 17,900 23,297 6

Land reserve Austria total 21.5 45,891 34,147 43,728 15

Actual projects Austria

1030 Vienna Rennweg 16 (Büros) 100 % 09/04 0 0 22,493 0

1120 Vienna Altmannsdorfers Straße 80–84 100 % 07/07 3.9 0.0 0.0 9.3 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 10.4 12,219 5,316 11,294 30

1180 Vienna theresiengasse 36 100 % 12/05 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 1,181 1,185 1,180 67

Actual projects Austria total 4.3 0.0 0.0 9.3 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 11.5 13,399 6,501 34,966 97

Land reserve Germany

10557 Berlin tiergarten, entwicklungsgebiet Heidestraße 100 % 01/08 173.3 45,005 44,638 0 1,488

10557 Berlin tiergarten, lehrter Stadtquartier 8 100 % 01/08 1.6 33,954 32,822 0 0

10557 Berlin tiergarten, lehrter Stadtquartier 9 100 % 01/08 1.8 19,618 17,598 0 6

10557 Berlin tiergarten, Invalidenstraße 51/52 am Kanal 100 % 01/08 19.3 4,680 4,676 0 0

10963 Berlin Kreuzberg, Gleisdreieck 100 % 01/08 170.3 35,369 35,369 0 789

12207 Berlin lichterfelde, landweg, osdorfer Straße, Reaumurstraße 100 % 01/08 965.2 4,373 4,361 0 291

13355 Berlin Wedding, Brunnenstr., Gbhf. nordend, S-Bhf. Gesundbrunnen 100 % 01/08 105.7 8,650 8,650 0 496

13589 Berlin tiergarten, lehrter Gbf 100 % 01/08 46.8 2,970 2,970 0 112

40210 Düsseldorf Harkortstraße 100 % 01/08 13.1 6,043 5,944 0 187

40211 Düsseldorf Schirmerstraße 100 % 01/08 5.9 2,634 2,634 0 6

40227 Düsseldorf Mindener Straße 100 % 01/08 54.1 3,392 3,392 0 152

40545 Düsseldorf Belsenpark oberkassel 100 % 01/08 81.7 19,404 17,000 0 102

60327 Frankfurt ueC tower 1 100 % 01/08 3.7 26,026 26,000 0 0

60327 Frankfurt Mannheimer Straße 35 (Khasana-Gelände) 100 % 01/08 8.3 8,870 8,870 0 1,221

60327 Frankfurt Idsteiner Straße 100 % 01/08 56.9 8,819 8,819 0 1

60327 Frankfurt europaallee nord 2 100 % 01/08 6.1 8,731 8,000 0 0

60327 Frankfurt europaallee nord 3 100 % 01/08 5.7 10,692 8,500 0 0

60327 Frankfurt europaallee nord 4 100 % 01/08 0.9 2,284 2,284 0 0

60327 Frankfurt europaallee Süd 1 100 % 01/08 7.9 15,914 13,000 0 1

60327 Frankfurt europaallee Süd 6 100 % 01/08 4.4 9,559 7,610 0 0

60327 Frankfurt FFM, tower 365 100 % 01/08 13.1 75,292 73,600 0 0

80335 Munich Schlossviertel nymphenburg 100 % 01/08 238.5 36,344 36,344 0 57

80335 Munich laim 290 100 % 01/08 16.1 8,050 8,050 0 444

80939 Munich Bf Freimann I 100 % 01/08 37.9 4,290 4,290 0 363

80993 Munich eggartensiedlung 100 % 01/08 146.6 13,685 13,685 0 5

80993 Munich ladehof Moosach 100 % 01/08 36.9 10,407 9,500 0 55

81241 Munich Gleisdreieck pasing 100 % 01/08 223.8 12,239 12,239 0 403

81379 Munich Isargärten thalkirchen 50 % 01/08 23.6 11,003 11,003 0 28

81673 Munich Bw München 4 100 % 01/08 124.5 11,869 11,869 0 75

85622 Feldkirchen/München naherholungsgebiet “Heimstettener See” 100 % 01/08 452.0 2,248 2,248 0 152

D Gießen Ferniestraße 8 100 % 01/07 0.0 7,520 7,520 7,520 0

D Fulda Severingstraße 7–9 100 % 01/07 0.0 11,443 11,443 11,443 0

properties with an IFRS Book value < 2 m Euro 364.2 6,144 6,144 0 224

Land reserve Germany total 3,410.0 487,520 471,072 18,963 6,656

Actual projects Germany

10557 Berlin lehrter Stadtquartier 100 % 01/08 13.1 3.6 3.5 76.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 83.8 69,107 62,900 0 26

50668 Cologne Rheinforum 100 % 01/08 5.2 0.0 0.0 33.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 33.6 4,393 4,320 0 0
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commercial 

rental in %
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in % 
4)

60327 Frankfurt europaviertel, t185 100 % 01/08 13.3 96.8 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.6 0.0 100.5 91,523 91,523 0 62

60327 Frankfurt t 105, Hotel HyAtt 100 % 01/08 4.1 0.0 0.2 46.6 4.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 51.6 10,204 10,204 0 0

60327 Frankfurt europaviertel, Skyline plaza 100 % 01/08 41.4 0.2 43.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.5 8.0 56.9 50,105 45,000 0 0

60327 Frankfurt europaviertel, nord 1 100 % 01/08 5.6 19.6 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5 0.0 23.7 18,128 18,128 0 0

80335 Munich Arnulfpark, Skygarden 50 % 01/08 6.1 15.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 16.5 20,387 20,387 0 0

80335 Munich Arnulfpark, Atmos 100 % 01/08 8.7 26.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.9 0.0 28.0 87,038 86,877 0 822

80939 Munich lokhalle 50 % 01/08 86.2 0.0 17.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 7.1 25.7 29,524 27,500 0 640

4031 Basel (CH) erlenmatt – Shoppingcenter Multidevelopment 100 % 01/08 128.8 2.2 20.8 10.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.3 36.8 44,843 39,026 0 1,713

Actual projects Germany total 312.5 164.4 88.8 167.4 4.8 0.0 13.5 18.4 457.3 425,252 405,865 0 3,263

Land Reserve Eastern and South East Europe

Ro Arad Arad 100 % 12/07 31.7 2,890 2,890 251 0

SRB Belgrade log Center 50 % 09/08 265.0 1,780 1,780 0 0

CZ prague eCM City Deco 100 % 06/07 6.3 0 0 0 0

Land Reserve Eastern and South East Europe total 303.0 4,670 4,670 251 0

Actual projects Eastern and South East Europe

Hu Budapest Capital Square (Vaci ut 76) 100 % 01/07 8.5 31.0 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.0 33.7 41,008 41,008 9,933 0

pl Warsaw poleczki Business park phase 1 50 % 03/07 72.4 19.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.7 1.4 0.0 22.2 25,470 21,499 14,420 0

Ro Sibiu Retail Centre Sibiu 100 % 12/07 218.9 0.0 80.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 80.5 27,510 23,519 23,681 0

Ru Moskow Maslov 50 % 12/06 3.3 15.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 15.3 33,611 18,087 23,013 0

Ru St. petersburg Airport City St. petersburg 5) 25 % 12/07 15.6 7.8 0.0 4.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.5 0 0 0 0

Ru Moskaow Matryoshka 50 % 06/08 7.5 0.0 12.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.1 20,243 8,285 0 0

SRB Belgrade Sava City 100 % 02/07 e 16.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 0.7 0.0 18.6 48,817 38,650 32,458 0

Hu Györ pannonia Shopping Center 50 % 09/08 21.2 0.0 8.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.2 4,855 3,177 0 0

SK Bratislava BBC plus 100 % 01/00 6.3 13.8 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.0 14.7 10,552 2,095 5,668 0

SK Bratislava Sekyra tower 50 % 09/08 3.7 1.8 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.4 3,065 1,247 0 0

Actual projects Eastern and South East Europe total 357.4 105.6 105.2 4.8 0.0 2.9 3.8 0.0 222.3 215,132 157,567 109,173 0

INVESTMENT PROPERTY OwN USED 0.0 5.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 5.7 18,258 19,450 0 0

Investment property own used Austria

1030 Vienna Rennweg 16 (Büros) 100 % 09/04 0.0 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.9 11,587 11,517 0 0

Investment property own used Austria total 0.0 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.9 11,587 11,517 0 0

Investment property own used Germany

D Berlin Joachimsthaler Straße 20 100 % 03/07 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.9 495 2,230 0 0

50669 Cologne Konrad-Adenauer-ufer 5–9 100 % 01/08 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 2,130 2,074 0 0

80335 Munich Klaus-Mann-platz 1 100 % 01/08 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 4,046 3,628 0 0

Investment property own used Germany total 0.0 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 2.8 6,671 7,933 0 0

PROPERTY INTENDED FOR TRADING 1,530.8 50.3 1.3 0.6 13 0.0 43.7 42.2 151.1 182,796 168,350 0 10,707

Property intended for trading Germany

10771 Berlin Am Güterbahnhof Halensee 1–29 u. a. 100 % 01/08 28.2 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 2.5 2.7 3,539 3,539 0 161 96 % 4.5 %

10829 Berlin Werdauer Weg 20–39 100 % 01/08 34.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.3 0.0 2.3 5,372 5,372 0 593 100 % 11.0 %

10829 Berlin Werdauer Weg 4–23 100 % 01/08 41.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.2 4,100 4,100 0 429 100 % 10.5 %

10829 Berlin Kolonnenstraße 30k, 30l         100 % 01/08 6.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.0 6.0 3,930 3,930 0 291 100 % 7.4 %

12247 Berlin Wunsiedler Weg 26          100 % 01/08 67.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6,360 5,000 0 566 100 % 11.3 %

12277 Berlin Motzener Straße 36–38          100 % 01/08 38.4 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 17.3 0.1 18.9 7,035 6,900 0 388 96 % 5.6 %

tABleS AnD AnAlySeS
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plot size in 1,000 sqm      Values in € 1,000

Post-

code

City Address Share Additions 

Month/Year

Plot 1) Office 

space

Retail 

space

Hotel space Resi-

dental 

space

Industrial 

space

Storage 

space

Others Total 

Space 3)

Acquisition 

costs as at 

31.12.2008 

IFRS-Book 

values as at 

31.12.2008 

 2) 

IFRS Book 

values as at 

31.12.2007  
2)

Rental in-

come 2008 

– annualised

Level of 

commercial 

rental in %

Yield 

in % 
4)

60327 Frankfurt europaviertel, t185 100 % 01/08 13.3 96.8 1.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.6 0.0 100.5 91,523 91,523 0 62

60327 Frankfurt t 105, Hotel HyAtt 100 % 01/08 4.1 0.0 0.2 46.6 4.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 51.6 10,204 10,204 0 0

60327 Frankfurt europaviertel, Skyline plaza 100 % 01/08 41.4 0.2 43.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.5 8.0 56.9 50,105 45,000 0 0

60327 Frankfurt europaviertel, nord 1 100 % 01/08 5.6 19.6 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.5 0.0 23.7 18,128 18,128 0 0

80335 Munich Arnulfpark, Skygarden 50 % 01/08 6.1 15.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 0.0 16.5 20,387 20,387 0 0

80335 Munich Arnulfpark, Atmos 100 % 01/08 8.7 26.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.9 0.0 28.0 87,038 86,877 0 822

80939 Munich lokhalle 50 % 01/08 86.2 0.0 17.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.3 7.1 25.7 29,524 27,500 0 640

4031 Basel (CH) erlenmatt – Shoppingcenter Multidevelopment 100 % 01/08 128.8 2.2 20.8 10.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 3.3 36.8 44,843 39,026 0 1,713

Actual projects Germany total 312.5 164.4 88.8 167.4 4.8 0.0 13.5 18.4 457.3 425,252 405,865 0 3,263

Land Reserve Eastern and South East Europe

Ro Arad Arad 100 % 12/07 31.7 2,890 2,890 251 0

SRB Belgrade log Center 50 % 09/08 265.0 1,780 1,780 0 0

CZ prague eCM City Deco 100 % 06/07 6.3 0 0 0 0

Land Reserve Eastern and South East Europe total 303.0 4,670 4,670 251 0

Actual projects Eastern and South East Europe

Hu Budapest Capital Square (Vaci ut 76) 100 % 01/07 8.5 31.0 1.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.1 0.0 33.7 41,008 41,008 9,933 0

pl Warsaw poleczki Business park phase 1 50 % 03/07 72.4 19.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.7 1.4 0.0 22.2 25,470 21,499 14,420 0

Ro Sibiu Retail Centre Sibiu 100 % 12/07 218.9 0.0 80.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 80.5 27,510 23,519 23,681 0

Ru Moskow Maslov 50 % 12/06 3.3 15.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 15.3 33,611 18,087 23,013 0

Ru St. petersburg Airport City St. petersburg 5) 25 % 12/07 15.6 7.8 0.0 4.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.5 0 0 0 0

Ru Moskaow Matryoshka 50 % 06/08 7.5 0.0 12.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.1 20,243 8,285 0 0

SRB Belgrade Sava City 100 % 02/07 e 16.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 0.7 0.0 18.6 48,817 38,650 32,458 0

Hu Györ pannonia Shopping Center 50 % 09/08 21.2 0.0 8.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 8.2 4,855 3,177 0 0

SK Bratislava BBC plus 100 % 01/00 6.3 13.8 0.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.0 14.7 10,552 2,095 5,668 0

SK Bratislava Sekyra tower 50 % 09/08 3.7 1.8 2.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.4 3,065 1,247 0 0

Actual projects Eastern and South East Europe total 357.4 105.6 105.2 4.8 0.0 2.9 3.8 0.0 222.3 215,132 157,567 109,173 0

INVESTMENT PROPERTY OwN USED 0.0 5.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 5.7 18,258 19,450 0 0

Investment property own used Austria

1030 Vienna Rennweg 16 (Büros) 100 % 09/04 0.0 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.9 11,587 11,517 0 0

Investment property own used Austria total 0.0 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.9 11,587 11,517 0 0

Investment property own used Germany

D Berlin Joachimsthaler Straße 20 100 % 03/07 0.0 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.9 495 2,230 0 0

50669 Cologne Konrad-Adenauer-ufer 5–9 100 % 01/08 0.0 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 2,130 2,074 0 0

80335 Munich Klaus-Mann-platz 1 100 % 01/08 0.0 1.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.2 4,046 3,628 0 0

Investment property own used Germany total 0.0 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 2.8 6,671 7,933 0 0

PROPERTY INTENDED FOR TRADING 1,530.8 50.3 1.3 0.6 13 0.0 43.7 42.2 151.1 182,796 168,350 0 10,707

Property intended for trading Germany

10771 Berlin Am Güterbahnhof Halensee 1–29 u. a. 100 % 01/08 28.2 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 2.5 2.7 3,539 3,539 0 161 96 % 4.5 %

10829 Berlin Werdauer Weg 20–39 100 % 01/08 34.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.3 0.0 2.3 5,372 5,372 0 593 100 % 11.0 %

10829 Berlin Werdauer Weg 4–23 100 % 01/08 41.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 0.2 4,100 4,100 0 429 100 % 10.5 %

10829 Berlin Kolonnenstraße 30k, 30l         100 % 01/08 6.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.0 6.0 3,930 3,930 0 291 100 % 7.4 %

12247 Berlin Wunsiedler Weg 26          100 % 01/08 67.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6,360 5,000 0 566 100 % 11.3 %

12277 Berlin Motzener Straße 36–38          100 % 01/08 38.4 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 17.3 0.1 18.9 7,035 6,900 0 388 96 % 5.6 %
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plot size in 1,000 sqm      Values in € 1,000

Post-

code

City Address Share Additions 

Month/Year

Plot 1) Office 

space

Retail 

space

Hotel space Resi-

dental 

space

Industrial 

space

Storage 

space

Others Total 

Space 3)

Acquisition 

costs as at 

31.12.2008 

IFRS-Book 

values as at 

31.12.2008 

 2) 

IFRS Book 

values as at 

31.12.2007  
2)

Rental in-

come 2008 

– annualised

Level of 

commercial 

rental in %

Yield 

in % 
4)

12277 Berlin Schwechtenstraße 5–8             100 % 01/08 133.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2,292 2,270 0 86 94 % 3.8 %

14059 Berlin Sophie-Charlotten-Straße 4, 4a–d 100 % 01/08 33.4 2.1 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 9.4 0.0 12.3 13,869 12,500 0 940 100 % 7.5 %

14129 Berlin Breisgauer Straße 3              100 % 01/08 32.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6,621 6,621 0 42 62 % 0.6 %

22765 Hamburg Museumstraße 39                  100 % 01/08 12.1 32.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 32.9 24,107 24,107 0 5,073 100 % 21.0 %

60327 Frankfurt europaallee Süd 3 100 % 01/08 5.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 24,114 24,114 0 0 0.0 %

60327 Frankfurt europaallee Süd 4 50 % 01/08 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7,243 7,243 0 0 0.0 %

76133 Karlsruhe lammstraße 19                    100 % 01/08 4.0 5.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.9 3,902 3,900 0 377 100 % 9.7 %

80335 Munich Arnulfpark Baufeld MK 3 100 % 01/08 8.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 17,086 17,086 0 0 0.0 %

80995 Munich Ratoldstraße 100 % 01/08 73.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5,000 5,000 0 28 100 % 0.6 %

4031 Basel (CH) erlenstraße 15 100 % 01/08 8.0 3.7 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.9 0.2 5.1 5,048 5,048 0 417 100 % 8.3 %

Properties with an IFRS Book value < 2 m Euro 1,000.5 4.4 0.4 0.6 0.1 0.0 13.5 33.4 52.5 36,852 30,373 0 1,319 84 % 4.3 %

Property intended for trading Germany total 1,530.8 50.3 1.3 0.6 0.5 0.0 43.7 42.2 138.7 176,470 167,103 0 10,707 97 % 6.4 %

Property intended for trading Eastern and South East Europe

SK Bratislava Sekyra tower 50 % 09/08 12.5 12.5 6,326 1,247 0 0

Property intended for trading Eastern and South East Europe total 12.5 12.5 6,326 1,247 0 0

Properties sold in 2008

Austria 86.4 3.8 2.0 0.0 2.4 6.1 0.0 0.0 14.5 0 0 29,901 0

Germany 1,349.6 2.6 0.0 15.9 1.4 0.0 22.5 53.1 95.6 0 0 0 0

eastern europe e 16.8 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 17.5 0 0 54,830 0

Properties sold in 2008 total 1,436.1 23.3 2.5 15.9 3.8 6.1 22.7 53.1 127.5 0 0 84,731 0

Property assets let 1,733.7 791.1 87.5 74.1 55.8 40.8 248.3 86.8 1,384.4 2,591,323 2,520,674 2,243,527 157,572 95 % 6.3 %

property assets let Austria 681.9 181.4 73.1 35.0 51.9 40.8 21.6 4.4 408.2 807,701 747,938 783,931 45,890 90 % 6.1 %

property assets let Germany 970.4 449.8 2.3 0.0 3.9 0.0 223.7 65.7 745.4 1,252,864 1,184,549 915,454 70,768 99 % 6.0 %

property assets let eastern and South east europe 81.4 160.0 12.1 39.1 0.0 0.0 3.0 16.7 230.8 530,758 588,187 544,142 40,914 94 % 7.3 %

Property assets under development 4,408.7 270.0 194.0 181.4 7.1 2.9 17.3 18.4 691.1 1,191,864 1,079,821 207,081 10,031

land reserve Austria 21.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 45,891 34,147 43,728 15

Actual projects Austria 4.3 0.0 0.0 9.3 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 11.5 13,399 6,501 34,966 97

land reserve Germany 3,410.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 487,520 471,072 18,963 6,656

Actual projects Germany 312.5 164.4 88.8 167.4 4.8 0.0 13.5 18.4 457.3 425,252 405,865 0 3,263

land Reserve eastern and South east europe 303.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4,670 4,670 251 0

Actual projects eastern and South east europe 357.4 105.6 105.2 4.8 0.0 2.9 3.8 0.0 222.3 215,132 157,567 109,173 0

Investment property own used 0.0 5.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 5.7 18,258 19,450 0 0

Investment property own used Austria 0.0 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.9 11,587 11,517 0 0

Investment property own used Germany 0.0 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 2.8 6,671 7,933 0 0

Property intended for trading 1,530.8 50.3 1.3 0.6 13.0 0.0 43.7 42.2 151.2 182,796 168,350 0 10,707

property intended for trading Germany 1,530.8 50.3 1.3 0.6 0.5 0.0 43.7 42.2 138.7 176,470 167,103 0 10,707

property intended for trading eastern and South east europe 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.5 6,326 1,247 0 0

Properties sold in 2008 1,436.1 23.3 2.5 15.9 3.8 6.1 22.7 53.1 127.5 0 0 84,731 0

Total 7,673.2 1,117.0 282.8 256.2 75.9 43.7 309.5 147.4 2,232.4 3,984,241 3,788,295 2,450,608 178,311

Total (incl. properties sold) 9,109.3 1,140.3 285.3 272.1 79.7 49.8 332.2 200.5 2,359.9 3,984,241 3,788,295 2,535,339 178,311

tABleS AnD AnAlySeS

1) Residental ownership (We), properties built on third party land (Sä), perpetual lease (e)       

2) IFRS values: property assets let and properties held for sale are valued At FAIR MARKet VAlue, property assets under development At CoSt      
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plot size in 1,000 sqm      Values in € 1,000

Post-

code

City Address Share Additions 

Month/Year

Plot 1) Office 

space

Retail 

space

Hotel space Resi-

dental 

space

Industrial 

space

Storage 

space

Others Total 

Space 3)

Acquisition 

costs as at 

31.12.2008 

IFRS-Book 

values as at 

31.12.2008 

 2) 

IFRS Book 

values as at 

31.12.2007  
2)

Rental in-

come 2008 

– annualised

Level of 

commercial 

rental in %

Yield 

in % 
4)

12277 Berlin Schwechtenstraße 5–8             100 % 01/08 133.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2,292 2,270 0 86 94 % 3.8 %

14059 Berlin Sophie-Charlotten-Straße 4, 4a–d 100 % 01/08 33.4 2.1 0.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 9.4 0.0 12.3 13,869 12,500 0 940 100 % 7.5 %

14129 Berlin Breisgauer Straße 3              100 % 01/08 32.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6,621 6,621 0 42 62 % 0.6 %

22765 Hamburg Museumstraße 39                  100 % 01/08 12.1 32.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 32.9 24,107 24,107 0 5,073 100 % 21.0 %

60327 Frankfurt europaallee Süd 3 100 % 01/08 5.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 24,114 24,114 0 0 0.0 %

60327 Frankfurt europaallee Süd 4 50 % 01/08 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7,243 7,243 0 0 0.0 %

76133 Karlsruhe lammstraße 19                    100 % 01/08 4.0 5.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5.9 3,902 3,900 0 377 100 % 9.7 %

80335 Munich Arnulfpark Baufeld MK 3 100 % 01/08 8.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 17,086 17,086 0 0 0.0 %

80995 Munich Ratoldstraße 100 % 01/08 73.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 5,000 5,000 0 28 100 % 0.6 %

4031 Basel (CH) erlenstraße 15 100 % 01/08 8.0 3.7 0.0 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.9 0.2 5.1 5,048 5,048 0 417 100 % 8.3 %

Properties with an IFRS Book value < 2 m Euro 1,000.5 4.4 0.4 0.6 0.1 0.0 13.5 33.4 52.5 36,852 30,373 0 1,319 84 % 4.3 %

Property intended for trading Germany total 1,530.8 50.3 1.3 0.6 0.5 0.0 43.7 42.2 138.7 176,470 167,103 0 10,707 97 % 6.4 %

Property intended for trading Eastern and South East Europe

SK Bratislava Sekyra tower 50 % 09/08 12.5 12.5 6,326 1,247 0 0

Property intended for trading Eastern and South East Europe total 12.5 12.5 6,326 1,247 0 0

Properties sold in 2008

Austria 86.4 3.8 2.0 0.0 2.4 6.1 0.0 0.0 14.5 0 0 29,901 0

Germany 1,349.6 2.6 0.0 15.9 1.4 0.0 22.5 53.1 95.6 0 0 0 0

eastern europe e 16.8 0.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 17.5 0 0 54,830 0

Properties sold in 2008 total 1,436.1 23.3 2.5 15.9 3.8 6.1 22.7 53.1 127.5 0 0 84,731 0

Property assets let 1,733.7 791.1 87.5 74.1 55.8 40.8 248.3 86.8 1,384.4 2,591,323 2,520,674 2,243,527 157,572 95 % 6.3 %

property assets let Austria 681.9 181.4 73.1 35.0 51.9 40.8 21.6 4.4 408.2 807,701 747,938 783,931 45,890 90 % 6.1 %

property assets let Germany 970.4 449.8 2.3 0.0 3.9 0.0 223.7 65.7 745.4 1,252,864 1,184,549 915,454 70,768 99 % 6.0 %

property assets let eastern and South east europe 81.4 160.0 12.1 39.1 0.0 0.0 3.0 16.7 230.8 530,758 588,187 544,142 40,914 94 % 7.3 %

Property assets under development 4,408.7 270.0 194.0 181.4 7.1 2.9 17.3 18.4 691.1 1,191,864 1,079,821 207,081 10,031

land reserve Austria 21.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 45,891 34,147 43,728 15

Actual projects Austria 4.3 0.0 0.0 9.3 2.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 11.5 13,399 6,501 34,966 97

land reserve Germany 3,410.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 487,520 471,072 18,963 6,656

Actual projects Germany 312.5 164.4 88.8 167.4 4.8 0.0 13.5 18.4 457.3 425,252 405,865 0 3,263

land Reserve eastern and South east europe 303.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4,670 4,670 251 0

Actual projects eastern and South east europe 357.4 105.6 105.2 4.8 0.0 2.9 3.8 0.0 222.3 215,132 157,567 109,173 0

Investment property own used 0.0 5.6 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 5.7 18,258 19,450 0 0

Investment property own used Austria 0.0 2.9 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.9 11,587 11,517 0 0

Investment property own used Germany 0.0 2.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.0 2.8 6,671 7,933 0 0

Property intended for trading 1,530.8 50.3 1.3 0.6 13.0 0.0 43.7 42.2 151.2 182,796 168,350 0 10,707

property intended for trading Germany 1,530.8 50.3 1.3 0.6 0.5 0.0 43.7 42.2 138.7 176,470 167,103 0 10,707

property intended for trading eastern and South east europe 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 12.5 6,326 1,247 0 0

Properties sold in 2008 1,436.1 23.3 2.5 15.9 3.8 6.1 22.7 53.1 127.5 0 0 84,731 0

Total 7,673.2 1,117.0 282.8 256.2 75.9 43.7 309.5 147.4 2,232.4 3,984,241 3,788,295 2,450,608 178,311

Total (incl. properties sold) 9,109.3 1,140.3 285.3 272.1 79.7 49.8 332.2 200.5 2,359.9 3,984,241 3,788,295 2,535,339 178,311
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3) All plot sizes relate to the share held by CA IMMo, CA IMMo International or the CA IMMo new europe in the property companies as shown in the 

column headed “Share”      4) Calculation yield (gross yield): Rental income annualized / Book value IAS 40     

5) At-equity-Interest     6) Bop 2: completion in December 2008, not included in yield
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IMpoRtAnt FInAnCIAl VoCABulARy

GloSSARy

AD-HoC RepoRt
Corporate information with a potential influence on 

the share price must be published by stock corpora-
tions in the form of ad-hoc reports pursuant to Article 
48d of the Stock exchange Act. Issuers of financial 
instruments quoted in official trading or registered for 
trading on the unlisted securities market must disclose 
without delay any information which might affect 
the financial and earnings position of the company 
or materially influence the stock exchange prices of 
securities. the company concerned is itself responsi-
ble for the content of such reports. Ad-hoc reports are 
meant to ensure that all market participants are equally 
well informed.

Atx
the Austrian traded Index covers all blue chips listed 

on the Vienna Stock exchange. It is the underlying value 
for options and futures. the Atx comprises 20 shares 
of the prime segment (prime Market) with the highest 
liquidity and market capitalisation.

AutHoRISeD CApItAl
Authorisation granted by resolution of the General 

Meeting to the Management Board for a maximum 
period of five years to increase the share capital by 
the issue of new shares up to a certain extent without 
further consultation of the General Meeting.

BenCHMARK
external comparative value used to measure various 

operating ratios, also used to measure the performance of 
various investment instruments.

BuIlDInG on tHIRD-pARty lAnD
Building erected by a tenant or leaseholder on third-

party property and owned by the tenant or leaseholder.

CApItAlISAtIon RAte
Is used to determine the reselling price at the end of 

a planning period and is oriented towards the discount 
rate determined for each project.

CASH FloW
the cash flow calculation provides an overview of the 

liquid funds which have flowed into and out of a compa-
ny during the reporting period. they are stated separately 
by operating, investment and financing activities.

Cee
Abbreviation for Central and eastern europe, an area 

comprising the following states: estonia, latvia, lithua-
nia, Hungary, Czech Republic, Slovakia, poland, Slov-
enia, Croatia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Serbia, Montene-
gro, Albania, Macedonia, Bulgaria, Romania, Moldova, 
ukraine, Belarus and Russia. CA Immo Group has 
investments in the following Cee-states: poland, Czech 
Republic, Slovakia and Hungary.

CIS
Abbreviation for Commonwealth of Independent 

States. this CIS comprises the former Soviet Republics 
of Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Georgia, Kazakhstan, 
Kyrgyzstan, Moldova, the Russian Federation, tajikistan, 
turkmenistan, ukraine and uzbekistan. the Common-
wealth was established in 1991 in order to strengthen 
economic, ecological, social and cultural cooperation, 
(re)create a common economic zone and promote the 
coordination of foreign policy.

CoMplIAnCe CoDe 
Binding rules of conduct for issuers of securities which 

primarily refer to the avoidance of conflicts of interests 
(insider information).

ConSolIDAteD net InCoMe
Income after taxes.

CoRpoRAte GoVeRnAnCe
Compliance with the rules of proper and responsible 

management and control of a company.

CountRy SpReADS
Refers to the spread of risk in relation to national 

bonds. Can be assessed either in direct comparison 
with the interest on government securities from another 
country (Germany is usually chosen on account of the 
good credit rating and high liquidity of bonds) or in 
terms of the costs of insurance against failure (credit 
default swap). the higher a country spread, the greater 
the probability of failure of the government bonds in 
question from the viewpoint of investors.

DeFeRReD tAxeS
the IFRS apply the “temporary concept” by using 

the balance sheet liability method. According to this 
method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are to be 

180 



GloSSARy

calculated for all differences between the carrying values 
of assets or liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 
and its respective tax base. this difference is expected 
to increase or decrease the income tax charge in the 
future (temporary differences). Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are not discounted. Deferred tax assets in 
relation to loss carry-forwards must be recognised and 
treated like any other asset with respect to its realisation.

DISCount RAte
the discount rate is determined on the basis of the net 

initial returns of comparable property transactions in the 
market.

DIVeRSIFICAtIon
In the context of asset management, the spreading of 

investments over various types of investment with the aim 
of minimising risks. In real estate investments, the spread-
ing of the portfolio over various regions and sectors.

DIVIDenD
Distribution of profit e. g. of a stock corporation to its 

shareholders. the amount of the dividend is dependent 
on the profit of a company.

eBIt
earnings before interest and taxes.

eBItDA
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 

amortisation.

eBIt MARGIn
eBIt in relation to sales, operating sales return.

eBt
earnings before taxes.

epRA
european public Real estate Association.

epS
earnings per share; net income divided by the  weighted 

number of shares.

eQuIty CApItAl
Money raised by the owner of a company for fi-

nancing the business or kept in retained earnings 

(reinvestment of profits). Share capital plus reserves 
plus net profit/loss. the equity capital on the balance 
sheet comprises also minority interests.

eQuIty-to-FIxeD-ASSetS RAtIo
equity capital in relation to fixed assets; indicates the 

extent to which the property assets and other fixed as-
sets are covered by the equity capital.

eV
enterprise value; defined as market capitalisation plus 

net debt.

FAIR VAlue
price at which an asset is exchanged, or an obligation 

settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an 
arm’s length transaction (market value).

GeARInG
Relation between net debt and equity capital.

GRoSS yIelD oF pRopeRtIeS
Annualised actual rents related to book values.

IAS 40
IAS 40 is an international accounting standard 

for companies. It regulates a sub-section of the 
International Financial Reporting System (IFRS), the 
carrying of investment property and the relevant 
reporting rules.

IAtx
the most important real estate securities listed on 

the Vienna Stock exchange are covered by the IAtx 
(Immobilien-Atx), a benchmark index for Austrian 
property securities.

IFRS
International Financial Reporting Standards.

InSIDeR InFoRMAtIon
Information about confidential facts relating to se-

curities or issues which is liable to influence con-
siderably the price of a security if such information 
becomes known to the public. the use of insider in-
formation e. g. for the purchase and sale of securities 
is forbidden and punishable under the Austrian Stock 
exchange Act.
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InteReSt-RAte CAp
Contractually agreed ceiling for floating-rate liabilities 

protecting borrowers against a rise in interest rates. A 
lower limit to interest rates is an interest rate floor.

InVeStMent HoRIZon
the period of time over which investors intend to in-

vest their capital.

InVeStMent InCoMe tAx
Interest and dividends earned from Austrian se-

curities are subject to 25 % investment income tax 
(Kapitalertragsteuer/KeSt.).

ISIn
International Security Identification number.

MARKet CApItAlISAtIon
number of shares issued multiplied by the market 

price = value of a company measured by the market 
value of its shares.

MARKet pRICe (QuotAtIon)
price of securities traded on the stock exchange.

MARKet VAlue
See fair value.

nAV
net asset value: equates to the equity capital on the 

balance sheet without minority interests.

nnnAV
Calculation method according to epRA; nAV adjusted 

for value adjustments (for financial instruments and de-
velopment projects) and deferred taxes.

nAV / SHARe 
net asset value of the company divided by the number 

of shares.

net DeBt
Balance of financial liabilities less liquid funds.

peR
the price/earnings ratio indicates how often the 

earnings per share go into the price of a stock. the peR 

is an important ratio for the valuation of shares. It is 
especially meaningful in comparisons (historical, with 
competitors, with the overall market, etc.).

peRFoRMAnCe
total return of an investment. Considers changes in the 

value of the capital employed, but also distributions and 
their re-investment.

peRpetuAl leASe
Right applied in poland that allows the use and 

management of property belonging to the state for a 
specified period of time (40 to 99 years).

pRICe
See market price.

pRICe / CASH FloW RAtIo
the price/cash flow ratio (pCR) is an important 

performance ratio in which the current stock price is 
divided by the cash flow per share. the lower the pCR, 
the more attractive the respective securities.

pRICe GAIn
the positive difference between the price at which se-

curities were purchased and the price at which they are 
currently quoted or have been sold.

pRICe / nAV RAtIo
the current market price of a share divided by the net 

asset value per share.

Re-InVeStMent oF pRoFItS
profits earned are fully re-invested into the company, 

thus increasing its intrinsic value.

RetuRn
Key ratio for the profit derived from an investment 

(property).total return of an investment in relation to 
the capital employed; specified in percent. In contrast 
to the performance, value adjustments are not taken 
into account.

RISK MAnAGeMent
Systematic approach for identifying and assessing 

 potential risks and chances as well as selecting and 
using measures for coping with risks.
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See
Abbreviation for Southern eastern europe, an area 

comprising the following states: Albania, Bosnia and 
Herzegovina, Bulgaria, Greece, Croatia, Macedonia, 
Moldova, Montenegro, Romania, Serbia, Slovenia, 
Hungary and turkey. CA Immo Group has invest-
ments in the following See-states: Romania, Bulgaria, 
Slovenia and Serbia.

SHARe CApItAl
Share capital of a stock corporation corresponding 

to the nominal value of all shares issued (minimum 
of € 70,000).

SHAReHolDeR VAlue
orientation towards shareholder value implies the 

consistent focus of managerial action on increasing the 
enterprise value for shareholders.

StAKeHolDeR VAlue
In contrast to the shareholder value principle, which 

regards the needs and expectations of stockholders in 
a company (e. g. the shareholders in a stock corpora-
tion) as the central concern, the stakeholder principle 
aims to encompass the company in its overall socio-
economic context and reconcile the needs of various 
stakeholder groups.

SWAp
exchange of one security for another. there are three 

basic categories of swaps: interest-rate swaps, currency 
swaps and combined interest rate and currency swaps. 
the swap partners may e. g. exchange fixed for float-
ing-rate obligations or loans in different currencies.

unDISCloSeD ReSeRVeS
Market value less stated value of the property assets.

VolAtIlIty
A measure of the average fluctuation margin of a price 

within a certain period of time. the higher the (histori-
cal) volatility of an investment instrument, the higher 
the risk involved.

VotInG RIGHt
Right of the shareholder to vote for or against motions 

presented at the General Meeting. ownership of a share 
usually carries the right to vote.

yIelD
See return.
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